

To facilitate comparison with current statutes, this annotated bill shows changes in existing statutory language (other than relocation of existing language) as strikethrough for deletions and underlining for additions. Language that is not underlined is directly from the current statutes, just relocated to the new Chapter 160D. In the 2015-16 General Assembly, the N.C. Bar Association's recommended bill was introduced as H. 548. This bill incorporates edits to that bill approved by the sponsors, amendments subsequently made to affected statutes by the 2015 and 2016 sessions of the General Assembly, and edits by the Bar Association's technical drafting committee to incorporate review comments received in 2015 and 2016.

AN ACT TO REORGANIZE AND CLARIFY STATUTES REGARDING LOCAL PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT REGULATION.

WHEREAS a coherent organization of the statutes that authorize local government planning and development regulation is needed to make the statutes simpler to find, easier to follow, and more uniform for all local governments; and

WHEREAS the parallel system of separate city and county statutes regarding planning and development regulation has led to redundancy and unintended differences in the wording of planning and development regulation statutes on the same subject; and

WHEREAS numerous specialized statutes affecting local planning and development regulation have been added in disparate Chapters of the General Statutes over past decades; and

WHEREAS antiquated and confusing language exists in the planning and development regulation statutes; and

WHEREAS other than collecting some of these statutes into Article 19 of Chapter 160A in 1971 and Article 18 of Chapter 153A in 1973, no comprehensive reorganization of North Carolina's planning and development regulation statutes has been undertaken; and

WHEREAS the General Assembly intends to collect and organize existing statutes regarding local planning and development into a single Chapter of the General Statutes and to consolidate the statutes affecting cities and counties, and

WHEREAS the intent of this bill is to neither eliminate, diminish, enlarge, nor expand the authority of local governments to exact land, construction, or money as part of the development approval process or otherwise substantially alter the scope of local authority to regulate development and any modifications from earlier versions of this bill should not be interpreted to affect the scope of local government authority.

The General Assembly of North Carolina enacts:

SECTION 1. Article 18 of Chapter 153A of the General Statutes is repealed.¹

SECTION 2. Article 19 of Chapter 160A of the General Statutes is repealed.²

SECTION 3. Chapter 160D of the General Statutes is created to read:³

“Chapter 160D
Local Planning and Development Regulation

ARTICLE 1. GENERAL PROVISIONS

160D-1-1. Application.⁴

(a) The provisions of this Article shall apply to all development regulations and programs adopted pursuant to this Chapter or applicable or related local acts.⁵ To the extent there are contrary provisions in local charters or acts, G.S. 160D-1-12 is applicable unless this Chapter expressly provides otherwise. The provisions of this Article also apply to any other local ordinance that substantially affects land use and development.⁶

(b) The provisions of this Article are supplemental to specific provisions included in other Articles of this Chapter. To the extent there are conflicts between the provisions of this Article and the provisions of other Articles of this Chapter, the more specific provisions shall control.

(c) Local governments may apply any of the definitions and procedures authorized by this Chapter to any ordinance adopted under the general police power of cities and counties, Article 8 of Chapter 160A and Article 6 of Chapter 153A respectively, and may employ any organizational

¹ The previous provisions on local government planning and development regulation, Articles 18 in Chapter 153A and Article 19 in Chapter 160A, are merged into a single Chapter 160D that applies to both counties and cities. All of the provisions previously in both of these prior Articles are incorporated into the new Chapter. See the appended chart for a depiction of where sections previously located in Chapters 153A and 160A are located within the proposed Chapter 160D. Where there are intentional policy differences in the city and county statutes (e.g., the bona fide farming exemption from county zoning), those differences are retained and incorporated into the new Chapter. Otherwise the city and county provisions are merged to secure greater uniformity and simplicity. Also, footnotes within Chapter 160D indicate the Chapter 153A and 160A origins of material incorporated into this bill.

² See previous note regarding the incorporation of city and county development regulation statutes into Chapter 160D.

³ For ease of comparison, existing statutory language is shown with additions underlined and deletions with strikethrough.

⁴ New section.

⁵ See G.S. 160D-10 for retained language of G.S. 160A-366 on validation of prior city ordinances. Also note G.S. 160D-1-12 retains current G.S. 160A-3 and 153A-3 regarding current law relating to relation of general statutes to existing local acts and G.S. 160D-1-14 does not require re adoption of existing local ordinances. Current language of G.S. 160A-391 regarding local acts and city charters is repealed as redundant (see deletion at G.S. 160D-7-7).

⁶ Regulations substantially affecting land use must comply with the procedural requirements for land use ordinances. While some development regulations could also be authorized under the general police power, to establish consistent procedures for adoption, amendment, repeal, administration, and enforcement of development regulations, the procedures set by Chapter 160D for development regulations should be consistently applied to all such ordinances.

structure, board, commission, or staffing arrangement authorized by this Chapter to any or all aspects of those ordinances.⁷

(d) This Chapter does not expand, diminish, or alter the scope of authority for planning and development regulation authorized by other Chapters of the General Statutes.⁸

§ 160D-1-2. Definitions.⁹

Unless otherwise specifically provided, or unless otherwise clearly required by the context, the words and phrases defined in this section shall have the meaning indicated when used in this Chapter.

- (1) "Administrative decision" means decisions made in the implementation, administration, or enforcement of development regulations that involves the determination of facts and the application of objective standards set forth in this Chapter or local government development regulations. These are sometimes referred to as "ministerial" decisions or "administrative determinations."
- (2) "Administrative hearing"¹⁰ means a proceeding to gather facts needed to make an administrative decision.
- (3) "Bona fide farm purposes" means those agricultural activities set forth in G.S. 160D-9-3.
- (4) "City"¹¹ shall have the same meaning as set forth in G.S. 160A-1(2).¹²
- (5) "Charter" shall have the same meaning as set forth in G.S. 160A-1(2).¹³

⁷ Allows use of procedural aspects of Chapter 160D with local government ordinances adopted pursuant to other statutory authority. Current law has this same provision for unified development ordinances (now in G.S. 160D-1-3). This extends the same options to general police power ordinances while not enlarging or constricting the scope of authority granted to cities or counties. Does not expand or contract the scope of authority provided for in other statutory authorizations.

⁸ The scope of authority provided by one regulatory authorization does not implicitly alter the scope of authority provided elsewhere in the statutes.

⁹ New section. Consolidates definitions used in the Chapter, while leaving definitions specific or particular to individual Articles in those Articles.

¹⁰ Evidentiary hearings are required for quasi-judicial decisions and legislative hearings for legislative decisions. In most instances no hearings are required for administrative decisions. However, some Articles (housing code administration particularly) allow or require staff members to hold a hearing to gather facts or allow affected persons to present information prior to making an administrative decision.

¹¹ Relocated from G.S. 160A-385.1(b). G.S. 160A-442 deleted as redundant.

¹² G.S. 160A-1 defines a city as "a municipal corporation organized under the laws of this State for the better government of the people within its jurisdiction and having the powers, duties, privileges, and immunities conferred by law on cities, towns, and villages. The term "city" does not include counties or municipal corporations organized for a special purpose. "City" is interchangeable with the terms "town" and "village," is used throughout this Chapter in preference to those terms, and shall mean any city as defined in this subdivision without regard to the terminology employed in charters, local acts, other portions of the General Statutes, or local customary usage. The terms "city" or "incorporated municipality" do not include a municipal corporation that, without regard to its date of incorporation, would be disqualified from receiving gasoline tax allocations by G.S. 136-41.2(a), except that the end of status as a city under this sentence shall not affect the levy or collection of any tax or assessment, or any criminal or civil liability, and shall not serve to escheat any property until five years after the end of such status as a city, or until September 1, 1991, whichever comes later."

¹³ G.S.160A-1(2) provides that charter means "the entire body of local acts currently in force applicable to a particular city, including articles of incorporation issued to a city by an administrative agency of the State, and any

- (6) “Comprehensive plan”¹⁴ means those plans ~~the comprehensive plan, land use plan, small area plans, neighborhood plans, transportation plan, capital improvement plan, official map, and any other plans regarding land use and development that have been~~ officially adopted by the governing board pursuant to G.S. 160D-5-1(c).
- (7) “Conditional zoning”¹⁵ means a legislative zoning map amendment with site specific conditions incorporated into the zoning map amendment.
- (8) “County”¹⁶ means any one of the counties listed in G.S. 153A-10.
- (9) “Decision-making board” means a governing board, planning board, board of adjustment, historic district board, or other board assigned to make quasi-judicial decisions under this Chapter.
- (10) “Determination” means a written, final and binding order, requirement, or determination regarding an administrative decision.
- (11) “Developer”¹⁷ means a person, including a governmental agency or redevelopment authority, who ~~intends to~~ undertakes any development and who ~~has a legal or equitable interest in~~ is the landowner of the property to be developed or who has been authorized by the landowner to undertake development on that property.
- (12) “Development”¹⁸, unless otherwise defined in a separate Section or Article of this Chapter,¹⁹ means:
 - (a) the construction, erection, alteration, enlargement, renovation, substantial²⁰ repair, movement to another site, or demolition of any structure;
 - (b) excavation, grading, filling, clearing, or alteration of land;

amendments thereto adopted pursuant to 1917 Public Laws, Chapter 136, Subchapter 16, Part VIII, sections 1 and 2, or Article 5, Part 4, of Chapter 160A.”

¹⁴ Relocated from G.S. 160A-400.21 and 153A-349.2.

¹⁵ Section 160D-7-3 continues to authorize purely legislative conditional zoning as is the case with the current statutes, but it eliminates the hybrid legislative/quasi-judicial conditional use district and special use district of zoning so that all rezonings are exclusively legislative. The concept of special use district and conditional use district zoning was incorporated into the zoning statutes in the 1980s as work-around to avoid contract zoning when individualized site-specific conditions were deemed to be needed. The “conditional use district” concept requires a concurrent legislative rezoning and quasi-judicial conditional use permit. Subsequent case law and statutory amendment now allow purely legislative conditional zoning. The former practice of concurrent consideration of a legislative rezoning to a conditional use district and a quasi-judicial conditional use permit is legally complicated and has been a source of considerable confusion for local governments, land owners, and neighbors. The revised statutes allow use of the now legal and more widely used conditional zoning (as well as continued use of special use permits outside the context of a hybrid rezoning). As it is no longer needed, the combined rezoning and quasi-judicial process is eliminated.

¹⁶ Applies the same definition as G.S. 153A-1.

¹⁷ Relocated from G.S. 160A-400.21 and 153A-349.2.

¹⁸ Adapted from the definitions of development in G.S. 160A-400.9 (historic preservation), 160A-400.21 and 153A-349.2 (development agreements), and 113A-105(5) (Coastal Area Management Act).

¹⁹ Clarifies that this general definition does not override more specific provisions elsewhere in this Chapter, such as defining development subject to a certificate of appropriateness in 160D-9-47, subject to a development agreement in 160D-10-2, or subject to a building permit in 160D-11-8.

²⁰ Since application of these terms is a fact-specific inquiry that will vary with the exact context involved, rather than mandate a statewide definition of the terms “substantial” and “material” in this definition, the usual and ordinary definition of these phrases apply.

- (c) the subdivision of land as defined in G.S. 160D-8-2; or
- (d) the initiation or substantial change in the use of land or the intensity of use of land.
- (13) “Development approval” means an administrative or quasi-judicial approval made pursuant to this Chapter that is written and that is required prior to commencing development or undertaking a specific activity, project or development proposal. Development approvals include, but are not limited to, zoning permits, site plan approvals, special use permits, variances, and certificates of appropriateness. It also includes plat approvals issued pursuant to Article 8, development agreements entered into pursuant to Article 10, and building permits issued pursuant to Article 11.²¹
- (14) “Development regulation”²² means a unified development ordinance, zoning regulation, subdivision regulation, erosion and sedimentation control regulation, floodplain or flood damage prevention regulation, mountain ridge protection regulation, stormwater control regulation, wireless telecommunication facility regulation, historic preservation or landmark regulation, housing code, State Building Code enforcement, or any other regulation adopted pursuant to this Chapter, or a local act or charter that regulates land use or development.²³
- (15) “Dwelling”²⁴ means any building, structure, manufactured home or mobile home, or part thereof, used and occupied for human habitation or intended to be so used, and includes any outhouses and appurtenances belonging thereto or usually enjoyed therewith, except that for purposes of Article 12 it does not include any manufactured home, mobile home, or recreational vehicle, ~~which is~~ if used solely for a seasonal vacation purpose.
- (16) “Evidentiary hearing” means a hearing to gather competent, material, and substantial evidence in order to make findings for a quasi-judicial decision required by a development regulation adopted under this Chapter.
- (17) “Governing board”²⁵ means the city council or board of county commissioners. The term is interchangeable with the terms “board of aldermen” and “boards of commissioners” and shall mean any governing board without regard to the terminology employed in charters, local acts, other portions of the General Statutes, or local customary usage.

²¹ The building code applied in Article 11 is the uniform State Building Code adopted by the state, not an ordinance adopted by local governments. This sentence includes the building permits issued by local governments as mandated by Article 11 within local “development approvals” even though they are not issued pursuant to an ordinance adopted by the local government. Incorporates definition of “permit” in early drafts of 160D in favor of using a single term to provide greater clarity and simplicity. A “development approval” does not include a legislative decision, such as a rezoning, or an advisory action, such as a letter confirming the existing zoning or a non-binding staff opinion as to how an ordinance might be interpreted.

²² Updated to reflect scope of Chapter 160D, from G.S. 160A-400.21 and 153A-349.2.

²³ The listed regulations are all local ordinances previously authorized by Article 19 of Chapter 160A or Article 18 of Chapter 153A.

²⁴ Relocated from G.S. 160A-442. This section of Chapter 160A is also applicable to counties

²⁵ Adapted from G.S. 160A-1(3). Replaces the term “governing body” that was used in some places for improved consistency and clarity.

- (18) "Landowner"²⁶ or "owner" means the holder of the title in fee simple. Absent evidence to the contrary, a local government may rely on the county tax records to determine who is a "landowner."²⁷ The landowner may ~~allow~~ authorize a person holding a valid option, lease, or contract to purchase to act as his or her agent or representative for the purpose of making applications for development approvals. ~~for purposes of submitting a proposed site specific development plan or a phased development plan under this section, in the manner allowed by ordinance.~~²⁸
- (19) "Legislative hearing"²⁹ means a hearing to solicit public comment on a proposed legislative decision.
- (20) "Legislative decision" means the adoption, amendment, or repeal of a regulation under this Chapter or an applicable local act. It also includes the decision to approve, amend, or rescind a development agreement consistent with the provisions of Article 10 of this Chapter.
- (21) "Local act"³⁰ shall have the same meaning as set forth in G.S. 160A-1(2).
- (22) "Local government" means a city or county.
- (23) "Manufactured home"³¹ or "mobile home" means a structure as defined in G.S. 143-145(7).
- (24) "Person"³² means an individual, partnership, firm, association, joint venture, public or private corporation, trust, estate, commission, board, public or private institution, utility, cooperative, interstate body, the State of North Carolina and its agencies and political subdivisions, or other legal entity.
- (25) "Planning and development regulation jurisdiction" means the geographic area defined in Part 2 of this Chapter within which a city or county may undertake planning and apply the development regulations authorized by this Chapter.
- (26) "Planning board"³³ means any ~~planning~~ board or commission established pursuant to G.S. 160D-3-1.

²⁶ Adapted from G.S. 160A-385.1(b) and 153A-344.1(b).

²⁷ Relocated from G.S. 160A-385(a)(2), the former provision on qualifying protest petitions.

²⁸ Deleted language is applicable only to site specific vesting plans, so since this definition has broader applicability, it is omitted here. In several provisions within the Chapter, specific direction is provided as to how a local government is to identify the "landowner." Examples include use of county tax records to identify the landowner to receive notices of proposed rezonings (G.S. 160D-6-2 and qualification for protest petitions (G.S. 160D-6-3(b)).

²⁹ Previously these were often referred to as "public hearings" or simply "hearings." The more specific language is used to clarify when an evidentiary hearing is required and when a legislative hearing is required.

³⁰ From G.S. 160A-1, which provides this "means an act of the General Assembly applying to one or more specific cities by name, or to all cities within one or more specifically named counties. "Local act" is interchangeable with the terms "special act," "public-local act," and "private act," is used throughout this Chapter in preference to those terms, and shall mean a local act as defined in this subdivision without regard to the terminology employed in charters, local acts, or other portions of the General Statutes."

³¹ Relocated from G.S. 160A-442.

³² Relocated from G.S. 160A-400.21 and 153A-349.2. The more contemporary definition of "person" from G.S. 113A-206(1), the Mountain Ridge Protection Act, is substituted here.

³³ Relocated from G.S. 160A-400.21 and 153A-349.2.

- (27) “Property”³⁴ means all real property subject to land-use regulation by a local government and includes any improvements or structures customarily regarded as a part of real property.
- (28) “Quasi-judicial decision”³⁵ means a decision involving the finding of facts regarding a specific application of an ordinance development regulation and that requires the exercise of discretion when applying the standards of the ordinance regulation. Quasi-judicial decisions include but are not limited to decisions involving variances, special ~~and conditional~~ use permits, certificates of appropriateness,³⁶ and appeals of administrative determinations. Decisions on the approval of subdivision plats and site plans are quasi-judicial in nature if the ordinance regulation authorizes a decision-making board to approve or deny the site plan application based not only upon whether the application complies with the specific requirements set forth in the ~~ordinance, regulation,~~ but also on whether the application complies with one or more generally stated standards requiring a discretionary decision on the findings ~~of fact~~ to be made by the decision-making board.
- (29) “Site plan”³⁷ means a scaled drawing and supporting text showing the relationship between lot lines and the existing or proposed uses, buildings, or structures on the lot, including but not limited to, site-specific details such as building areas, building height and floor area, setbacks from lot lines and street rights-of-way, intensities, densities, utility lines and locations, parking, access points, roads, and stormwater control facilities, required to show compliance with all legally required development regulations that are applicable to the project and the site plan review. A site plan approval based solely upon application of objective standards is an administrative decision and a site plan approval based in whole or in part upon the application of standards involving judgment and discretion is a quasi-judicial decision.
- (30) “Special use permit”³⁸ means a permit issued to authorize development or land uses in a particular zoning district upon presentation of competent, material, and substantial evidence establishing compliance with one or more general standards requiring that judgment and discretion be exercised as well as compliance with specific standards.

³⁴ Relocated from G.S. 160A-400.21 and 153A-349.2. Similar definition in G.S. 160A-385.1 and 153A-344.1 deleted as redundant.

³⁵ Relocated from G.S. 160A-393(a). This section of Chapter 160A is also applicable to counties.

³⁶ Note that G.S. 160D-9-47 allows certificates of appropriateness for defined minor work to be designated as an administrative decision.

³⁷ G.S. 160A-385.1 and 153A-344.1 (G.S. 160D-1-8(c)(3) below) defined “site specific development plans” for vested rights purposes. Also previously defined in local legislation for Durham (S.L. 1973-400) and Raleigh (S.L. 1985-498).

³⁸ Simplification. The existing statutes use “special use permit,” “conditional use permit,” and “special exception” as synonyms. The use of multiple terms in different jurisdictions and sometimes within the same ordinance is a source of confusion for the public and for boards and administrators making these decisions. Use of the term “conditional use permit” also confuses these permits with legislative conditional zoning. For clarity, only one term – “special use permits” – is used for these quasi-judicial permits and the term “conditional” is confined to legislative rather than quasi-judicial decisions. Local development regulations may still assign some special use permits to one board and others to a different board as this change is one of terminology only. Section 8 provides that local ordinances using different terminology are deemed amended to reflect the new terminology.

- This definition includes permits previously referred to as “conditional use permits” or “special exceptions.”
- (31) “Subdivision” means the division of land for the purpose of sale or development as specified in G.S. 160D-8-2.
 - (32) “Subdivision regulation” means a subdivision regulation authorized by Article 8 of this Chapter or the subdivision portion of a unified development ordinance.
 - (33) “Vested right”³⁹ means the right to undertake and complete the development and use of property under the terms and conditions of an approval secured as specified in G.S. 160D-1-8 or under common law. ~~approved site specific development plan or an approved phased development plan.~~
 - (34) “Zoning map amendment” or “rezoning” means an amendment to a zoning regulation to change the zoning district that is applied to a specified property or properties. It does not include the initial adoption of a zoning map by a local government or the repeal of a zoning map and readoption of a new zoning map for the entire planning and development regulation jurisdiction. It does not include updating the zoning map to incorporate amendments to the names of zoning districts made by zoning text amendments where there are no changes in the boundaries of the zoning district or land uses permitted in the district. It does include the initial application of zoning when land is added to the territorial jurisdiction of a local government that has previously adopted zoning regulations. It does include the application of an overlay zoning district or a conditional zoning district.
 - (35) “Zoning regulation” means a zoning regulation authorized by Article 7 of this Chapter or the zoning portion of a unified development ordinance.

§ 160D-1-3. Unified development ordinance.⁴⁰ A ~~city~~ local government may elect to combine any of the ~~ordinances~~ regulations authorized by this ~~Article~~ Chapter into a unified ordinance. Unless expressly provided otherwise, a ~~city~~ local government may apply any of the definitions and procedures authorized by law to any or all aspects of the unified ordinance and may employ any organizational structure, board, commission, or staffing arrangement authorized by law to any or all aspects of the ordinance. Inclusion of a regulation authorized by this Chapter or local act in a unified development ordinance does not expand, diminish, or alter the scope of authority for those regulations.⁴¹

§ 160D-1-4. Development approvals run with the land.⁴² Unless provided otherwise by law, all rights, privileges, benefits, burdens, and obligations created by development approvals made pursuant to this Chapter attach to and run with the land.

³⁹ Relocated from G.S. 160A-385.1 and 153A-344.1.

⁴⁰ Relocated from G.S. 160A-363((d) and 153A-322(d).

⁴¹ The merger of ordinances authorized by individual Articles of this Chapter into a single unified development ordinance does not alter the scope of authority set by those individual Articles.

⁴² New section. Confirms that permits and development approvals are not personal rights that may be transferred to other sites, but are property rights tied to a specific parcel.

§ 160D-1-5. Maps.⁴³

(a) Zoning map. Zoning district boundaries and any other boundaries included within a map that is part of a development regulation adopted pursuant to this Chapter shall be drawn on a map that is adopted or incorporated within a duly adopted development regulation. Zoning district maps that are so adopted shall be maintained in the office of the local government clerk or such other office as specified in the development regulation.⁴⁴ The maps may be in paper or a digital format approved by the local government.

(b) Incorporation by reference. Development regulations adopted pursuant to this Chapter may reference or incorporate by reference flood insurance rate maps and watershed boundary maps officially adopted or promulgated by state and federal agencies. For these maps, a regulation text or zoning map may reference a specific officially adopted map or may incorporate by reference the most recent officially adopted version of such maps.⁴⁵ When zoning district boundaries are based on these maps, the regulation may provide that the zoning district boundaries are automatically amended to remain consistent with changes in the promulgated state or federal maps, provided a copy of the currently effective version of any incorporated map shall be maintained for public inspection as provided in subsection (a) of this section.⁴⁶

(c) Copies. Copies of the zoning district map reproduced by any method of reproduction that gives legible and permanent copies, when certified by the local government clerk in accordance with G.S. 160A-79 or 153A-50, shall be admissible in evidence and shall have the same force and effect as would the original map.⁴⁷

§ 160D-1-6. Refund of illegal fees.⁴⁸ If ~~the city~~ a local government is found to have illegally ~~exacted~~ imposed a tax, fee, or monetary contribution for development or a development approval

⁴³ New section. Provides that official copy of the zoning map and any other map incorporated within a development ordinance is to be maintained by the local government clerk. Reflects current law in G.S. 153A-19 relative to county clerk maintaining township boundary maps and 160A-22 regarding city boundary maps. Authority is provided to have the maps in digital or paper format. Authority is provided to incorporate by reference maps officially adopted by state and federal agencies, including updates to those maps that are subsequently officially adopted by state and federal agencies. As is provided by G.S. 160A-22 for city boundary maps, copies of such maps produced by the local government clerk are admissible in evidence in judicial proceedings.

⁴⁴ Consistent with requirement that current and past zoning maps be retained in the local government official records maintained by the clerk.

⁴⁵ G.S. 153A-47 and 160A-76 allow incorporation by reference into local ordinances “any published technical code or any standards or regulation promulgated by any public agency.” This provision clarifies that maps officially adopted by state or federal agencies, including approved updates to those maps, can be incorporated by reference into local development regulations. G.S. 143-215.52 and 143-215.56 mandate use of base floodplain maps prepared by the National Flood Insurance Program or approved by the state. Local government flood regulations must use state and federally approved flood hazard delineations without amendment. This provision allows (but does not require) updated flood hazard delineations to be automatically incorporated into local ordinances, preventing inadvertent use of outdated and inaccurate maps or zoning district delineations.

⁴⁶ Consistent with requirement in G.S. 160A-76 and 153A-47 that copies of incorporated technical codes and standards be maintained in the clerk’s office, provisions in 160A-78 for current copies of codes of ordinances and rate schedules to be maintained by the clerk’s office., and 160A-78 and 153A-49 for the ordinance book to be maintained in the clerk’s office.

⁴⁷ This allows admission of certified zoning maps as evidence in quasi-judicial proceedings before a board of adjustment and in court proceedings on judicial review,

⁴⁸ Relocated from G.S. 160A-363(e) and 153A-324(b).

~~permit~~ not specifically authorized by law, the ~~city~~ local government shall return the tax, fee, or monetary contribution plus interest of six percent (6%) per annum to the person who made the payment or as directed by a court if the person making the payment is no longer in existence.⁴⁹

§ 160D-1-7. Moratoria.⁵⁰

(a) Authority. As provided in this subsection, ~~cities and counties~~ local governments may adopt temporary moratoria on any ~~city or county~~ development approval required by law, except for the purpose of developing and adopting new or amended plans or ~~ordinances as to development regulations governing~~ residential uses. The duration of any moratorium shall be reasonable in light of the specific conditions that warrant imposition of the moratorium and may not exceed the period of time necessary to correct, modify, or resolve such conditions.

(b) Hearing required. Except in cases of imminent and substantial threat to public health or safety, before adopting ~~an ordinance~~ development regulation imposing a development moratorium with a duration of 60 days or any shorter period, the governing board shall hold a ~~public legislative~~⁵¹ hearing and shall publish a notice of the hearing in a newspaper having general circulation in the area not less than seven days before the date set for the hearing. A development moratorium with a duration of 61 days or longer, and any extension of a moratorium so that the total duration is 61 days or longer, is subject to the notice and hearing requirements of G.S. 160D-6-1.⁵²

(c) Exempt projects. Absent an imminent threat to public health or safety, a development moratorium adopted pursuant to this section shall not apply to any project for which a valid building permit issued pursuant to G.S. 160D-11-8⁵³ is outstanding, to any project for which a ~~conditional use permit application or~~⁵⁴ special use permit application has been accepted as complete,⁵⁵ to development set forth in a site-specific or phased ~~development~~ vesting plan approved pursuant to G.S. 160D-1-8, to development for which substantial expenditures have already been made in good faith reliance on a prior valid ~~administrative or quasi-judicial permit or development~~ approval, or to preliminary or final subdivision plats that have been accepted for review by the ~~city~~ local government prior to the call for ~~public~~⁵⁶ a hearing to adopt the moratorium. Any preliminary subdivision plat accepted for review by the ~~city~~ local government prior to the call for ~~public~~ a hearing, if subsequently approved, shall be allowed to proceed to final plat approval without being subject to the moratorium.

(d) Required statements. Any ~~ordinance~~ development regulation establishing a development moratorium must ~~expressly~~ include at the time of adoption each of the following:

⁴⁹ Clarifies the recipient of the refund.

⁵⁰ Relocated from G.S. 160A-381(e) and 153A-340(h).

⁵¹ Clarify the type of hearing required to be held.

⁵² Updated cross-reference (formerly G.S. 160A-364 and 153A-323).

⁵³ Updated cross-reference (formerly G.S. 160A-417 and 153A-357).

⁵⁴ Simplification.

⁵⁵ Clarifies that an application has to be complete to trigger an exemption.

⁵⁶ Surplusage.

- (1) A ~~clear~~⁵⁷ statement of the problems or conditions necessitating the moratorium and what courses of action, alternative to a moratorium, were considered by the city local government and why those alternative courses of action were not deemed adequate.
- (2) A ~~clear~~⁵⁸ statement of the development approvals subject to the moratorium and how a moratorium on those approvals will address the problems or conditions leading to imposition of the moratorium.
- (3) A ~~an express~~⁵⁹ date for termination of the moratorium and a statement setting forth why that duration is reasonably necessary to address the problems or conditions leading to imposition of the moratorium.
- (4) A ~~clear~~⁶⁰ statement of the actions, and the schedule for those actions, proposed to be taken by the city local government during the duration of the moratorium to address the problems or conditions leading to imposition of the moratorium.

(e) Limit on renewal or extension. No moratorium may be subsequently renewed or extended for any additional period unless the city local government shall have taken all reasonable and feasible steps proposed to be taken by the ~~city~~ in its ordinance establishing the moratorium to address the problems or conditions leading to imposition of the moratorium and unless new facts and conditions warrant an extension. Any ordinance renewing or extending a development moratorium must ~~expressly~~⁶¹ include, at the time of adoption, the findings set forth in subdivisions (1) through (4) of this subsection, including what new facts or conditions warrant the extension.

(f) Expedited judicial review. Any person aggrieved by the imposition of a moratorium on development approvals required by law may apply to ~~the appropriate division of the General Court of Justice for an order enjoining the enforcement of the moratorium, and the court shall have jurisdiction to issue that order.~~⁶² Actions brought pursuant to this section shall be ~~set down~~ scheduled for immediate hearing, and subsequent proceedings in those actions shall be accorded priority by the trial and appellate courts. In ~~any~~ such actions, the city local government shall have the burden of showing compliance with the procedural requirements of this subsection.

§ 160D-1-8. Vested rights and permit choice.

(a) Findings. ~~Furthermore,~~ The General Assembly recognizes that city local government approval of ~~land use~~ development typically follows significant ~~landowner~~ investment in site evaluation, planning, development costs, consultant fees, and related expenses. The General Assembly finds ~~and declares~~ that it is necessary and desirable, ~~as a matter of public policy,~~⁶³ to provide for the establishment of certain vested rights in order to ensure reasonable certainty, stability, and fairness in the ~~land use planning~~ development regulation process, secure the reasonable expectations of landowners, and foster cooperation between the public and private sectors in ~~the area of land-use planning and development regulation.~~

⁵⁷ Superfluous.

⁵⁸ Superfluous.

⁵⁹ Superfluous.

⁶⁰ Superfluous.

⁶¹ Superfluous.

⁶² Surplusage.

⁶³ Surplusage.

~~The ability of a landowner to obtain a vested right after city approval of a site specific development plan, a phased development plan, will preserve the prerogatives and authority of local elected officials with respect to land use matters. There will be ample opportunities for public participation and the public interest will be served.⁶⁴ These provisions will strike an appropriate balance between private expectations and the public interest, while scrupulously protecting the public health, safety, and welfare.~~

(b) *Permit choice.*⁶⁵ (1) If a permit applicant submits a permit for any type of development an application made in accordance with local regulation is submitted for a development approval required pursuant to this Chapter and a rule or ordinance regulation changes between the time the permit application was submitted and a permit decision is made, the permit applicant may choose which version of the rule or ordinance regulation will apply to the permit application. (2) This section applies to all development permits approvals issued by the State and by local governments.⁶⁶ The duration of vested rights created by development approvals are as set forth in subsection (d) of this section.

(c) *Process to claim vested right.*⁶⁷ A person claiming a statutory or common law vested right may submit information to substantiate that claim to the zoning administrator or other officer designated by a development regulation, who shall make an initial determination as to the existence of the vested right.⁶⁸ The zoning administrator's or officer's determination may be appealed under G.S. 160D-4-5. On appeal the existence of a vested right shall be considered a question of law subject to de novo review.⁶⁹ In lieu of seeking such a determination, a person claiming a vested right may bring an original civil action as provided by G.S. 160D-4-5(b).

(d) *Types and duration of statutory vested rights.*⁷⁰ Except as provided by this section, amendments in local development regulations shall not be applicable or enforceable with regard to development that has been authorized prior to the enactment of the regulation making the change or changes so long as one of the approvals listed in this subsection remains valid and unexpired. Each type of vested right listed below is defined by and is subject to the limitations provided in this section and the cited statutes. Vested rights established under this section are not mutually

⁶⁴ Surplusage.

⁶⁵ Relocated from G.S. 160A-360.1, 153A-320.1. Modified to incorporate defined terms within this Chapter. Subsection numbering deleted for improved clarity, reduction of clutter.

⁶⁶ Amendment made by S.L. 2015-246, Section 5 (H. 44).

⁶⁷ Specifies administrative process to be followed when a vested right is claimed. Provides that the person claiming either a statutory or common law vested right gathers the appropriate supporting information and submits that to the zoning administrator for a determination. That determination, as in other final, binding decisions of the zoning administrator, can be appealed to the board of adjustment and thereafter on to superior court. This allows an expeditious staff level resolution of a vested rights claim, while preserving the right to board of adjustment and court review if the staff determination is disputed. It also efficiently establishes a factual record regarding the foundation of the vested right being claimed.

⁶⁸ Establishes a clear and uniform process for determining the existence of this vested right.

⁶⁹ Explicitly provides that the board of adjustment and reviewing courts consider as a question of law the existence of a common law vested right. G.S. 160D-14-1(j) is also modified to allow a court to accept additional evidence if the record is not adequate to determine the issue.

⁷⁰ Reorganizes provisions of G.S. 160A-385(b) and 153A-344(b) in order to consolidate vested rights provisions in a single section.

exclusive. The establishment of a vested right under one subsection does not preclude vesting under one or more other subsections.⁷¹

(1) Six months -- Building permits. Pursuant to G.S. 160D-11-9, a building permit expires six months after issuance unless work under the permit has commenced. Building permits also expire if work is discontinued for a period of 12 months after work has commenced.

(2) One year -- Other local development approvals. Pursuant to G.S. 160D-4-3(c), unless otherwise specified by statute or local ordinance,⁷² all other local development approvals expire one year after issuance unless work has substantially commenced.⁷³

(3) Two to five years -- Site specific vesting plans.⁷⁴

a. Duration. A vested right ~~which has been vested~~ for a site specific vesting plan ~~as provided for in this section~~ shall remain vested for a period of two years. This vesting shall not be extended by any amendments or modifications to a site specific development vesting plan unless expressly provided by the ~~city~~ local government. ~~Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (d)(1), a city~~ A local government may provide that rights regarding a site specific vesting plan shall be vested for a period exceeding two years, but not exceeding five years, ~~where if warranted by in light of all relevant circumstances, including, but not limited to,~~⁷⁵ the size and phasing of development, the level of investment, the need for the development, economic cycles, and market conditions or other considerations. ~~These~~ This determinations shall be in the ~~sound~~⁷⁶ discretion of the ~~city~~ local government and shall be made following the process specified by subsection (c) below for the particular form of a site specific vesting plan involved. ~~Such vested right shall confer upon the landowner the right to undertake and complete the development and use of said the property under the terms and conditions of the site specific development plan or the phased development vesting plan including any applicable amendments thereto~~⁷⁷

b. Relation to building permits. A right ~~which has been~~ vested as provided in this subsection shall terminate at the end of the applicable vesting period with respect

⁷¹ Explicitly acknowledges the interrelationship of various methods of securing vested rights.

⁷² Statutes set specific time durations for some development approvals. For example, building permits expire in six months if work is not commenced and site specific development plans have a minimum two-year life. Local ordinances also sometimes have specific duration for approvals, such as a provision that a site plan or special use permit expires if work does not commence in two years. Where the statutes set a time period or a local ordinance does so, those are preserved by this section. However, if neither state statute nor local ordinance specifies the duration of a development approval, this section sets a default duration of one year unless work commences.

⁷³ Determining what constitutes a “substantial” commencement of work is a fact-specific inquiry that will vary with the local context. Rather than mandate a statewide uniform definition, the usual and ordinary definitions of the phrase applies. To the extent there is a dispute about a particular application of the term, there is a considerable body of case law on common law vested rights that would be applicable to determine what constitutes “substantial commencement of work” pursuant to a valid development approval.

⁷⁴ Relocated from G.S. 160A-385.1 and 153A-344.1.

⁷⁵ Simplification, clarification. If the applicant and local government agree that a vested right beyond five years is needed, a development agreement may be used.

⁷⁶ Surplusage.

⁷⁷ Surplusage.

to buildings and uses for which no valid building permit applications have been filed. Upon issuance of a building permit, the provisions of G.S.160D-11-9 and G.S. 160D-11-13 shall apply, except that ~~a the~~ permit shall not expire or be revoked because of the running of time while a vested right under this subsection ~~exists. is outstanding.~~

c. Requirements for site specific vesting plans.⁷⁸ ~~For the purposes of this section a "site-specific development vesting plan" means a plan which has been submitted to a city a local government by a landowner pursuant to this section describing with reasonable certainty the type and intensity of use for a specific parcel or parcels of property. Such The plan may be in the form of, but not be limited to, any of the following plans or approvals: A planned unit development plan, a subdivision plat, a site plan, a preliminary or general development plan, a conditional or special use permit, a conditional or special use district zoning plan, a conditional zoning, or any other land use approval designation development approval as may be used by a local government. utilized by a city. Unless otherwise expressly provided by the city local government, such a the plan shall include the approximate boundaries of the site; significant topographical and other natural features effecting development of the site; the approximate location on the site of the proposed buildings, structures, and other improvements; the approximate dimensions, including height, of the proposed buildings and other structures; and the approximate location of all existing and proposed infrastructure on the site, including water, sewer, roads, and pedestrian walkways. What constitutes a site specific development vesting plan under this section that would trigger a vested right shall be finally determined by the city local government pursuant to an ordinance; and the document that triggers such vesting shall be so identified at the time of its approval. However, at At a minimum, the ordinance to be adopted by the city regulation shall designate a vesting point earlier than the issuance of a building permit. In the event a city local government fails to adopt an ordinance setting forth what constitutes a site specific development vesting plan, any development approval shall be considered to be a site specific vesting plan. triggering a vested right,~~ A variance shall not constitute a “site specific development vesting plan,” and approval of a site specific development vesting plan with the condition that a variance be obtained shall not confer a vested right unless and until the necessary variance is obtained. ~~Neither If a sketch plan nor or any other document which fails to describe with reasonable certainty the type and intensity of use for a specified parcel or parcels of property, it may not constitute a site specific development vesting plan.~~

d. Process for approval and amendment of site specific vesting plans.⁷⁹ ~~A vested right shall be deemed established with respect to any property upon the valid~~

⁷⁸ Relocated from G.S. 160A-385.1(b)(5) and 153A-344.1(b)(5). Changes the nomenclature to use the term “vesting plan” to clarify that this plan creates vested rights, as opposed to the more generic and frequently used term “development plan” or “site plan.”

⁷⁹ Relocated from G.S. 160A-385.1(c) and 153A-344.1(c). To improve clarity, throughout this section the terms “site specific development plan” is modified to the term “site specific vesting plan.” This helps distinguish this vesting tool from the more generic “site plan” used in other development regulations. The intent is to clearly note when the plan is submitted and approved to secure vested rights, as distinguished from use of the more generic terms “site plan” or “development plan,” which are often used in contexts other than to establish an extended vested right.

approval of a site specific development plan or a phased development plan.⁸⁰ following notice and public hearing by the city with jurisdiction over the property. If a site specific vesting plan is based on an approval required by a local development regulation, the local government shall provide whatever notice and hearing is required for that underlying approval. If the site specific vesting plan is not based on such an approval, a legislative hearing with notice as required by G.S. 160D-6-2 shall be held.⁸¹ A city local government may approve a site specific development plan or a phased development vesting plan upon such terms and conditions as may reasonably be necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare. Such conditional approval shall result in a vested right, although failure to abide by such terms and conditions will result in a forfeiture of vested rights. A city local government shall not require a landowner to waive his vested rights as a condition of developmental approval. A site specific development plan or a phased development vesting plan shall be deemed approved upon the effective date of the city's local government's action or ordinance relating to decision approving⁸² the plan or such other date as determined by the governing board upon approval. thereto. An approved site specific vesting plan and its conditions may be amended with the approval of the owner and the local government as follows: Any substantial modification must be reviewed and approved in the same manner as the original approval;⁸³ minor modifications may be approved by staff, if such are defined and authorized by local regulation.

(2) "Phased development plan"⁸⁴ means a plan which has been submitted to a city by a landowner or developer for phased development which shows the type and intensity of use for a specific parcel or parcels with a lesser degree of certainty than the plan determined by the city to be a site specific development plan. Notwithstanding the provisions of (d)(1) and (d)(2), the city may provide by ordinance that approval by a city of a phased development plan shall vest the zoning classification or classifications so approved for a period not to exceed five years. The document that triggers such vesting shall be so identified at the time of its approval. The city still may require the landowner to submit a site specific development for approval by the city with respect to each phase or phases in order to obtain final approval to develop within

⁸⁰ Delete as surplusage.

⁸¹ Simplification. In most local governments a site specific vesting plan is defined as approval of a special use permit, site plan, subdivision plat, or other existing local approval. Where that is the case, this allows the local government to follow whatever administrative or quasi-judicial process is required for that approval without the necessity of separate notice and hearing regarding the vesting plan aspect of the approval. If the vesting plan is an independent approval not based on any other required development approval, a legislative hearing is required, as is the case with current law. Specifies that the same notice as is required for a rezoning be followed for that hearing.

⁸² Clarification and simplification of terminology.

⁸³ Explicitly authorizes subsequent amendment of approved plans and specifies process to be followed.

⁸⁴ Delete as obsolete. The 1989 legislation creating the site specific development plan also provided for a more general optional phased development plan for vesting up to five years. Other options now exist that render this option superfluous. The multi-phase development vested right created in 2016 automatically provides for a seven year vesting for larger multi-phase projects. The development agreement vesting, created in 2005, was amended in 2014 to allow any size development to be the subject of a development agreement, with a vesting duration of a reasonable period as agreed to by the parties. Also, the site specific development plan can be extended from two to five years if the parties deem that appropriate,

~~the restrictions of the vested zoning classification or classifications. Nothing in this section shall be construed to require a city to adopt an ordinance providing for vesting of rights upon approval of a phased development plan. A right which has been vested as provided in this section shall terminate at the end of the applicable vesting period with respect to buildings and uses for which no valid building permit applications have been filed.~~

(4) Seven years -- Multi-phase developments.⁸⁵ A multi-phased development shall be vested for the entire development with the zoning ~~regulations, ordinances,~~ subdivision ~~regulations, ordinances,~~ and unified development ordinances then in place at the time a site plan approval is granted for the initial phase of the multi-phased development. ~~A right which has been vested as provided for in this subsection~~ This right shall remain vested for a period of seven years from the time a site plan approval is granted for the initial phase of the multi-phased development. For purposes of this subsection, "multi-phased development" means a development containing 100 acres or more that (i) is submitted for site plan approval for construction to occur in more than one phase and (ii) is subject to a master development plan with committed elements, including a requirement to offer land for public use as a condition of its master development plan approval.

(5) Indefinite -- Development agreements. A vested right of reasonable duration may be specified in a development agreement approved under Article 10 of this Chapter.

(e) Continuing review. Following approval or conditional approval of ~~a site specific development plan or a phased development plan~~ statutory vested right, ~~nothing in this section shall exempt such a plan from a local government may make~~ subsequent reviews and require approvals by the ~~city~~ local government to ensure compliance with the terms and conditions of the original approval, provided that such reviews and approvals are not inconsistent with ~~said the~~ original approval. ~~Nothing in this section shall prohibit the city~~ The local government ~~from revoking~~ may revoke the original approval for failure to comply with applicable terms and conditions of the approval or the ~~zoning ordinance~~ applicable local development regulations.

(f) Exceptions.

(1) A vested right, once established as provided for in this section, precludes any zoning action by a ~~city~~ local government ~~which that~~ would change, alter, impair, prevent, diminish, or otherwise delay the development or use of the property as set forth in an approved vested right,⁸⁶ ~~site specific development plan or an approved phased development plan~~, except:

- a. With the written consent of the affected landowner;
- b. Upon findings, ~~by ordinance~~ after notice and ~~a public~~ an evidentiary⁸⁷ hearing, that natural or man-made hazards on or in the immediate vicinity of the property, if uncorrected, would pose a serious threat to the public health, and

⁸⁵ Added by S.L. 2016-111 (H. 483). Originally codified at G.S. 153A-344, 153A-344.1, 160A-385, and 160A-385.1.

⁸⁶ Provides uniformity and consistency by clarifying that the enumerated exceptions to vested rights applies to all statutory vested rights created by this section. Same edit made throughout this subsection.

⁸⁷ Specifies the type of hearing required, which is evidentiary as this is a quasi-judicial determination. Deletes reference to adoption of an ordinance, as this is a determination about a specific previously approved plan, not a policy choice of approving or revoking a plan.

- safety, and welfare if the project were to proceed as contemplated in the approved vested right; ~~site specific development plan or the phased development plan~~;
- c. To the extent that the affected landowner receives compensation for all costs, expenses, and other losses incurred by the landowner, including, but not limited to, all fees paid in consideration of financing, and all architectural, planning, marketing, legal, and other consultant's fees incurred after approval by the city local government, together with interest as is provided in G.S. 160D-1-6,⁸⁸ ~~thereon at the legal rate until paid~~. Compensation shall not include any diminution in the value of the property which is caused by such action;
 - d. Upon findings, ~~by ordinance~~ after notice and a an evidentiary⁸⁹ hearing, that the landowner or his representative intentionally supplied inaccurate information or made material misrepresentations ~~which that~~ made a difference in the approval by the city local government of the vested right; ~~site specific development plan or the phased development plan~~; or
 - e. Upon the enactment or promulgation of a State or federal law or regulation ~~which that~~ precludes development as contemplated in the approved vested right, ~~site specific development plan or the phased development plan~~, in which case the city local government may modify the affected provisions, upon a finding that the change in State or federal law has a fundamental effect on the plan, ~~by ordinance~~ after notice and a an evidentiary⁹⁰ hearing.
- (2) The establishment of a vested right under this section shall not preclude the application of overlay zoning or other development regulation that ~~which~~ imposes additional requirements but does not affect the allowable type or intensity of use, or ordinances or regulations which are general in nature and are applicable to all property subject to ~~land use development~~ regulation by a city local government, including, but not limited to, building, fire, plumbing, electrical, and mechanical codes. Otherwise applicable new regulations shall become effective with respect to property ~~which that~~ is subject to a vested right established under this section ~~site specific development plan or a phased development plan~~ upon the expiration or termination of the vested rights period provided for in this section.
 - (3) Notwithstanding any provision of this section, the establishment of a vested right under this section shall not preclude, change or impair the authority of a city local government to adopt and enforce ~~zoning ordinance~~ development regulation provisions governing nonconforming situations or uses.
 - (g) *Miscellaneous provisions.*
 - (1) A vested right obtained under this section is not a personal right, but shall attach to and run with the applicable property. After approval of a vested right under this section,

⁸⁸ Provides a uniform rule relative to interest on returned fees.

⁸⁹ Specifies the type of hearing required, which is evidentiary as this is a quasi-judicial determination. Deletes reference to adoption of an ordinance, as this is a determination about a specific previously approved plan, not a policy choice of approving or revoking a plan.

⁹⁰ Specifies the type of hearing required, which is evidentiary as this is a quasi-judicial determination. Deletes reference to adoption of an ordinance, as this is a determination about a specific previously approved plan, not a policy choice of approving or revoking a plan.

- ~~site specific development plan or a phased development plan~~, all successors to the original landowner shall be entitled to exercise such rights.
- (2) Nothing in this section shall preclude judicial determination, based on common law principles or other statutory provisions, that a vested right exists ~~under subsection (b)(1) of this section~~ in a particular case or that a compensable taking has occurred.⁹¹ Except as expressly provided in this section, nothing in this section shall be construed to alter the existing common law.
- (3) ~~In the event a city local government fails to adopt an ordinance setting forth what constitutes a site specific development plan triggering a vested right, a landowner may establish a vested right with respect to property upon the approval of a zoning permit, or otherwise may seek appropriate relief from the Superior Court Division of the General Court of Justice.~~⁹²

§ 160D-1-9. Conflicts of interest.⁹³

(a) Governing board. A ~~city council~~ governing board⁹⁴ member shall not vote on any ~~zoning map or text amendment~~ legislative decision regarding a development regulation adopted pursuant to this Chapter⁹⁵ where the outcome of the matter being considered is reasonably likely to have a direct, substantial, and readily identifiable financial impact on the member. A governing board member shall not vote on any zoning amendment if the landowner of the property subject to a rezoning petition or the applicant for a text amendment is a person with whom the member has a close familial, business, or other associational relationship.⁹⁶

(b) Appointed boards.⁹⁷ Members of appointed boards providing advice to the ~~city council~~ governing board shall not vote on recommendations regarding any ~~zoning map or text amendment~~ legislative decision regarding a development regulation adopted pursuant to this Chapter where the outcome of the matter being considered is reasonably likely to have a direct, substantial, and readily identifiable financial impact on the member. An appointed board member shall not vote on any zoning amendment if the landowner of the property subject to a rezoning petition or the

⁹¹ Previous versions of this bill deleted much of the language of this subsection given codification of the common law vested right. Since that codification has been deleted, this language is left intact.

⁹² Surplusage. A substantively equivalent provision included in the definition of a site specific vesting plan provides that if the local government fails to define a two year vesting plan, any local development approval shall be considered to be a site specific vesting plan that does so.

⁹³ Relocated from G.S. 160A-381(d) and 153A-340(g).

⁹⁴ Stylistic change to use more generic “governing board” in place of “city council” throughout the Article.

⁹⁵ Clarifies that conflict of interest standard applies to legislative decisions for all development regulations, not just zoning ordinances.

⁹⁶ In order to promote public confidence in the integrity of the decision-making process, clarifies that a board member may not vote on a rezoning directly affecting someone with whom they have a close relationship even if no direct financial impact would result for the member. This standard is already applicable to quasi-judicial decisions. While rezoning an individual parcel is legislative in nature, the potential conflict of interest and public perception of a potential conflict warrant extending this restriction to this particular legislative decision.

⁹⁷ Relocated from G.S. 160A-381(d) and 153A-340(g).

applicant for a text amendment is a person with whom the member has a close familial, business, or other associational relationship.⁹⁸

(c) *Administrative staff.*⁹⁹ No staff member shall make a final decision on an administrative decision required by this Chapter if the outcome of that decision would have a direct, substantial, and readily identifiable financial impact on the staff member or if the applicant or other person subject to that decision is a person with whom the staff member has a close familial, business, or other associational relationship.¹⁰⁰ If a staff member has a conflict of interest under this section, the decision shall be assigned to the supervisor of the staff person or such other staff person as may be designated by the development regulation or other ordinance.

No staff member shall be financially interested or employed by a business that is financially interested in a development subject to regulation under this ~~Article~~ Chapter unless the staff member is the owner of the land or building involved. No staff member or other individual or an employee of a company contracting with a ~~city~~ local government to provide staff support shall engage in any work that is inconsistent with his or her duties or with the interest of the ~~city~~ local government, as determined by the ~~city~~ local government.

(d) *Quasi-judicial decisions.*¹⁰¹ A member of any board exercising quasi-judicial functions pursuant to this ~~Article~~ Chapter shall not participate in or vote on any quasi-judicial matter in a manner that would violate affected persons' constitutional rights to an impartial decision maker. Impermissible violations of due process include, but are not limited to, a member having a fixed opinion prior to hearing the matter that is not susceptible to change, undisclosed ex parte communications, a close familial, business, or other associational relationship with an affected person, or a financial interest in the outcome of the matter. If an objection is raised to a member's participation and that member does not recuse himself or herself, the remaining members shall by majority vote rule on the objection.

⁹⁸ In order to promote public confidence in the integrity of the decision-making process, clarifies that a planning board or other appointed board member may not vote on a recommendation regarding a rezoning directly affecting someone with whom they have a close relationship even if no direct financial impact would result for the member. This standard is already applicable to quasi-judicial decisions. While rezoning an individual parcel is legislative in nature, the potential conflict of interest and public perception of a potential conflict warrant extending this restriction to this particular advisory decision.

⁹⁹ Adapted from G.S. 160A-415 and 153A-355. Provides additional clarity and specificity regarding the general provisions in existing statutes (which are retained as the second paragraph of this subsection), which prohibit a staff member being "financially interested" in development subject to their review and prohibits work inconsistent with their duties or the interest of the local government. While some local government personnel policies and rules of conduct have similar prohibitions, this establishes a baseline uniform state standard of conduct.

¹⁰⁰ In order to promote public confidence in the integrity of the decision-making process, clarifies that a staff member may not make an administrative decision that affecting someone with whom they have a close relationship even if no direct financial impact would result. While administrative decisions do not require the exercise of discretion, the potential conflict of interest and public perception of a potential conflict warrant extending this restriction to these particular decisions. The standard on impermissible conflicts is taken from the current statutory provision on quasi-judicial conflicts of interests, set forth in subsection (d) of this section. This establishes a uniform and consistent conflict of interest rule for legislative, quasi-judicial, advisory, and administrative decisions.

¹⁰¹ Relocated from G.S. 160A-388(e)(2), which is applicable to cities and counties.

(e) *Familial relationship*. For purposes of this section, a close familial relationship means a spouse, parent, child, brother, sister, grandparent, or grandchild. The term includes the step, half, and in-law relationships.¹⁰²

§ 160D-1-10. Validation of certain ~~city~~ ordinances.¹⁰³ Any city ordinance regularly adopted before January 1, ~~1972~~ 2019, under authority of general laws revised and reenacted in Chapter 160A, Article 19, or under authority of any city charter or local act concerning the same subject matter, is validated with respect to its application within the corporate limits of the city and as to its application within the extraterritorial jurisdiction of the city. Such an ordinance, and any city ordinance adopted since January 1, ~~1972~~ 2019, under authority of general laws revised and reenacted in Chapter 160A, Article 19, are hereby validated, notwithstanding the fact that such ordinances were not recorded pursuant to previously effective G.S. 160A-360(b) or 160A-364 and notwithstanding the fact that the adopting city council did not also adopt an ordinance defining or delineating by specific description the areas within its extraterritorial jurisdiction pursuant to previously effective G.S. 160A-360; provided that this act shall be deemed to validate ordinances of cities in Mecklenburg County only with respect to their application within the corporate limits of such cities.

§ 160D-1-11. Construction.¹⁰⁴

- (a) G.S. 153A-4 and 160A-4 are applicable to this Chapter.
- (b) “Written” or “in writing” is deemed to include electronic documentation.
- (c) Unless specified otherwise, in the absence of evidence to the contrary, delivery by first class mail shall be deemed received on the third business day following deposit of the item for mailing with the United States Postal Service and delivery by electronic mail shall be deemed received on the date sent.

§ 160D-1-12. General laws supplementary. G.S. 153A-3 and 160A-3 are applicable to this Chapter.¹⁰⁵ Nothing in this Chapter repeals or amends a charter or local act in effect as of the

¹⁰² A variety of existing statutes define close family relationships. This version is taken from G.S. 115D-25.3.

¹⁰³ Relocated from G.S. 160A-366. Original dates were tied to the initial adoption of Chapter 160A. Dates updated to reflect proposed effective date of Chapter 160D.

¹⁰⁴ These provisions are currently applicable to city and county development regulations. Provides that the general rules of construction as set out in Article 18 of Chapter 153A and Article 19 of Chapter 160 remain applicable to these relocated statutory provisions. This does not expand, diminish, or alter the scope of authority of cities and counties, but preserves the legal status quo relative to the interpretation of the scope of planning and development regulation powers. As there was no consensus on codification of the case law regarding interpretation of the scope of delegated authority, the current law is left unamended.

¹⁰⁵ The cited statute provides:

“(a) When a procedure that purports to prescribe all acts necessary for the performance or execution of any power, duty, function, privilege, or immunity is provided by both a general law and a city charter or local act, the two procedures may be used as alternatives, and a city may elect to follow either one.

(b) When a procedure for the performance or execution of any power, duty, function, privilege, or immunity is provided by both a general law and a city charter or local act, but the charter or local act procedure does not purport to contain all acts necessary to carry the power, duty, function, privilege, or immunity into execution, the charter or local act procedure shall be supplemented by the general law

effective date of this Chapter¹⁰⁶ unless this Chapter or a subsequent enactment of the General Assembly clearly shows a legislative intent to repeal or supersede that charter or local act.¹⁰⁷

§ 160D-1-13. References deemed amended to conform to Chapter.¹⁰⁸ Whenever a reference is made in another section of the General Statutes or any local act, or any local government ordinance, resolution, or order, to a portion of Article 19 of Chapter 160A or Article 18 of Chapter 153A of the General Statutes that is repealed or superseded by this Chapter, the reference shall be deemed amended to refer to that portion of this Chapter that most nearly corresponds to the repealed or superseded portion of Article 19 of Chapter 160A or Article 18 of Chapter 153A.

§ 160D-1-14. Effect on prior laws.¹⁰⁹ The enactment of this Chapter shall not require the readoption of any local government ordinance enacted pursuant to laws that were in effect before the effective date of this Chapter,¹¹⁰ and are restated or revised herein. The provisions of this Chapter shall not affect any act heretofore done, any liability incurred, any right accrued or vested, or any suit or prosecution begun or cause of action accrued as of the effective date of this Chapter.

procedure; but in case of conflict or inconsistency between the two procedures, the charter or local act procedure shall control.

(c) When a power, duty, function, privilege, or immunity is conferred on cities local governments by a general law, and a charter enacted earlier than the general law omits or expressly denies or limits the same power, duty, function, privilege or immunity, the general laws shall supersede the charter or local act.

(d) Except as provided in this section, nothing in this Chapter repeals or amends a charter or local act in effect as of January 1, 1974 or any portion of such an act, unless this Chapter or a subsequent enactment of the General Assembly clearly shows a legislative intent to repeal or supersede that charter or local act.

¹⁰⁶ Proposed effective date of this Act is January 1, 2019, thereby providing ample time between adoption and effective date for updating local development regulations.

¹⁰⁷ Updated provision comparable to savings provision for local acts in G.S. 160A-3 and 153A-3.

¹⁰⁸ Relocated, updated, from G.S. 160A-5. See the appended chart for a depiction of where sections previously located in Chapters 153A and 160A are located within the proposed Chapter 160D. While it is anticipated that local ordinances will be amended to become consistent with this Act, to provide uniformity and a transition as may be needed, Section 8 of this Act modifies inconsistent provisions in local ordinances to be consistent with this Act.

¹⁰⁹ Comparable provision to G.S. 160A-2, 153A-2.

¹¹⁰ The proposed effective date of the Chapter is January 1, 2019.

ARTICLE 2. PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT REGULATION JURISDICTION

§ 160D-2-1. Planning and development regulation jurisdiction.

(a) Municipalities. All of the powers granted by this ~~Article~~ Chapter may be exercised by any city within its corporate limits ¹¹¹ and within any extraterritorial area established pursuant to G.S. 160D-2.

(b) Counties. ~~All Each~~ of the powers granted ~~to counties by this Article Chapter and by Article 19 of Chapter 160A of the General Statutes~~ may be exercised by any county throughout the county except in areas subject to municipal planning and development regulation jurisdiction. ¹¹² ~~as otherwise provided I G.S. 160A-360.~~

§ 160D-2-2. Municipal extraterritorial jurisdiction. ¹¹³

(a) Geographic scope. ~~In addition, a~~ Any city may exercise ~~these the~~ powers granted to cities under this Chapter within a defined area extending not more than one mile beyond its contiguous corporate limits. ~~With the approval of the board or boards of county commissioners with jurisdiction over the area,~~ ¹¹⁴ In addition and subject to subsection (c), a city of 10,000 or more population but less than 25,000 may exercise these powers over an area extending not more than two miles beyond its limits and a city of 25,000 or more population may exercise these powers over an area extending not more than three miles beyond its limits. In determining the population of a city for the purposes of this ~~Article~~ Chapter, the city council and the board of county commissioners may use the most recent annual estimate of population as certified by the Secretary of the North Carolina Department of Administration. Pursuant to G.S. 160A-58.4, extraterritorial municipal planning and development regulation may be extended only from the primary corporate boundary of a city and not from the boundary of satellite areas of the city. ¹¹⁵

(b) Authority in the extraterritorial area. ~~No~~ A city may not exercise ~~extraterritorially~~ any power conferred by this ~~Article~~ Chapter in its extraterritorial jurisdiction that it is not exercising within its corporate limits. ¹¹⁶ A city may exercise in its extraterritorial area all powers conferred by this Chapter that it is exercising within its corporate limits. If a city fails to extend a particular type of development regulation to the extraterritorial area, the county may elect to exercise that particular type of regulation in the extraterritorial area. ¹¹⁷ .

¹¹¹ Relocated from G.S. 160A-360(a).

¹¹² Relocated from G.S. 153A-320. Edited for parallel construction with preceding subsection on municipal jurisdiction.

¹¹³ Relocated from 160A-360(b) to -360(l). As with current law, local act modifications of city municipal extraterritorial jurisdiction are not affected by this revision to the general statutes.

¹¹⁴ Provisions on county approval of city jurisdiction consolidated in subsection (b).

¹¹⁵ Reiterates in this section the current law that municipal extraterritorial areas can only be extended from a city's primary, contiguous boundaries and may not be applied to satellite areas.

¹¹⁶ Simplification.

¹¹⁷ Does not require a city to exercise powers in ETJ that are not exercised within the city. Addresses situations where city extends some but not all of its development regulation to the ETJ area Under prior law, once ETJ is established the county loses jurisdiction for all development regulations, thereby creating the anomaly of a city and county both having a particular development regulation but neither applying it within an ETJ if city does not extend

(c) County approval of city jurisdiction.¹¹⁸ No city may ~~hereafter~~ extend its extraterritorial powers ~~under this Article~~ into any area for which the county ~~at that time~~ has adopted and is enforcing a county zoning and subdivision regulations.¹¹⁹ ~~ordinances, and subdivision regulations and within which it is enforcing the State Building Code.~~ However, the city may do so where the county is not exercising ~~all three~~ both of these powers, or when the city and the county have agreed upon the area within which each will exercise the powers conferred by this Article Chapter. No city may extend its extraterritorial powers beyond one mile from its corporate limits without the approval of the board or boards of county commissioners with jurisdiction over the area.¹²⁰

(d)(a1) Notice of proposed jurisdiction change. Any municipality ~~planning~~ proposing to exercise extraterritorial jurisdiction under this Article Chapter shall notify the owners of all parcels of land proposed for addition to the area of extraterritorial jurisdiction, as shown on the county tax records. The notice shall be sent by first-class mail to the last addresses listed for affected property owners in the county tax records. The notice shall inform the landowner of the effect of the extension of extraterritorial jurisdiction, of the landowner's right to participate in a public legislative¹²¹ hearing prior to adoption of any ordinance extending the area of extraterritorial jurisdiction, as provided in G.S. 160D-6-1, and the right of all residents of the area to apply to the board of county commissioners to serve as a representative on the planning board and the board of adjustment, as provided in G.S. 160D-3-3. The notice shall be mailed at least 30 days prior to the date of four weeks prior to the public hearing.¹²² The person or persons mailing the notices shall certify to the city council that the notices were sent by first-class mail, and the certificate shall be deemed conclusive in the absence of fraud.

(e)(b) Boundaries. Any council ~~wishing to exercise~~ exercising extraterritorial jurisdiction under this Article Chapter shall adopt, ~~and may amend from time to time,~~¹²³ an ordinance specifying the areas to be included based upon existing or projected urban development and areas of critical concern to the city, as evidenced by officially adopted plans for its development. ~~The boundaries of the city's extraterritorial jurisdiction shall be the same~~ A single jurisdictional boundary shall be applicable¹²⁴ for all powers conferred in this Article Chapter.¹²⁵ Boundaries

that particular ordinance to the ETJ. The city and county can agree to allow the county to continue to exercise those powers in the ETJ, but absent such an agreement the county is authorized but not required to exercise that regulation in the ETJ.

¹¹⁸ Relocated from G.S. 160A-360(e).

¹¹⁹ Deleted provision regarding the building code is surplusage since all counties are now required to enforce the state building code within their jurisdiction. When the statute authorizing municipal extraterritorial jurisdiction was enacted in 1959, counties were not required to enforce the building code as is now the case.

¹²⁰ Relocated from subsection (a).

¹²¹ Clarify type of hearing to be held.

¹²² Retains extended notice of hearing on extension of ETJ boundaries, but changes from “four weeks” to “30 days” to be more precise. The notice requirement for mailed notice of hearings on zoning map amendments in G.S. 160D-6-2 is also amended to allow the initial notice of a rezoning hearing (which otherwise must be made in the 10 to 25 day period prior to the hearing) to be included within this notice of the ETJ boundary ordinance hearing, with a single hearing possible on both the ETJ boundary ordinance amendment and the rezoning of the area.

¹²³ Surplusage as power to amend is included within power to adopt.

¹²⁴ Simplification.

¹²⁵ Sentence relocated within the section to include all provisions related to the boundary lines in a single subsection.

shall be defined, to the extent feasible, in terms of geographical features identifiable on the ground. Boundaries may follow parcel ownership boundaries. A council may, in its discretion, exclude from its extraterritorial jurisdiction areas lying in another county, areas separated from the city by barriers to urban growth, or areas whose projected development will have minimal impact on the city. The boundaries specified in the ordinance shall at all times be drawn on a map, set forth in a written description, or shown by a combination of these techniques. This delineation shall be maintained in the manner provided in G.S. 160A-22 for the delineation of the corporate limits, and shall be recorded in the office of the register of deeds of each county in which any portion of the area lies.

~~(e)~~ Where the extraterritorial jurisdiction of two or more cities overlaps, the jurisdictional boundary between them shall be a line connecting the midway points of the overlapping area unless the city councils agree to another boundary line within the overlapping area based upon existing or projected patterns of development.

~~(f)(d)~~ County authority within city jurisdiction. ~~If a city fails to adopt an ordinance specifying the boundaries of its extraterritorial jurisdiction, the county of which it is a part shall be authorized to exercise the powers granted by this Article in any area beyond the city's corporate limits.~~¹²⁶ The county may also, on request of the city council, exercise any or all of these powers in any or all areas lying within the city's corporate limits or within the city's specified area of extraterritorial jurisdiction.

~~(e)~~¹²⁷ ~~No city may hereafter extend its extraterritorial powers under this Article into any area for which the county at that time has adopted and is enforcing a zoning ordinance and subdivision regulations and within which it is enforcing the State Building Code. However, the city may do so where the county is not exercising all three both of these powers, or when the city and the county have agreed upon the area within which each will exercise the powers conferred by this Article.~~

(g) Transfer of jurisdiction. When a city annexes, or a new city is incorporated in, or a city extends its jurisdiction to include, an area that is currently being regulated by the county, the county development regulations and powers of enforcement shall remain in effect until (i) the city has adopted such development regulations, or (ii) a period of 60 days has elapsed following the annexation, extension or incorporation, whichever is sooner. ~~During this period~~ Prior to the transfer of jurisdiction the city may hold hearings and take any other measures consistent with G.S. 160D-2-4 that may be required in order to adopt and apply its development regulations for the area at the same time it assumes jurisdiction.¹²⁸

~~(f)~~ When a city relinquishes jurisdiction over an area that it is regulating under this ~~Article~~ Chapter to a county, the city development regulations and powers of enforcement shall remain in effect until (i) the county has adopted ~~this~~ such development regulation or (ii) a period of 60 days¹²⁹ has elapsed following the action by which the city relinquished jurisdiction, whichever is sooner. ~~During this period~~ Prior to the transfer of jurisdiction the county may hold hearings and take other

¹²⁶ Surplusage. Addressed by G.S. 160D-2-2.

¹²⁷ Relocated to subsection (b) of this section.

¹²⁸ Clarify that the receiving jurisdictions regulations can be adopted and take effect concurrently upon assumption of jurisdiction.

¹²⁹ Note that proposed new G.S. 160D-2-4 on pending jurisdiction allows a local government anticipating receipt of jurisdiction to accept applications, hold hearings, and take other actions to allow application of its development regulations concurrently with receipt of jurisdiction.

measures consistent with G.S. 160D-2-4 that may be required in order to adopt and apply its development regulations for the area at the same time it assumes jurisdiction.¹³⁰

(h) Process for local government approval. When a local government is granted powers by this section subject to the request, approval, or agreement of another local government, the request, approval, or agreement shall be evidenced by a formally adopted resolution of ~~that government's legislative body~~ the governing board of the local government. Any such request, approval, or agreement can be rescinded upon two years' written notice to the other ~~legislative bodies governing boards~~ legislative bodies governing boards concerned by repealing the resolution. The resolution may be modified at any time by mutual agreement of the ~~legislative bodies governing boards~~ legislative bodies governing boards concerned.

(i) Local acts. Nothing in this section shall repeal, modify, or amend any local act which defines the boundaries of a city's extraterritorial jurisdiction by metes and bounds or courses and distances.

(j) Effect on vested rights. Whenever a city or county, pursuant to this section, acquires jurisdiction over a territory that theretofore has been subject to the jurisdiction of another local government, any person who has acquired vested rights ~~under a permit, certificate, or other evidence of compliance issued by the local government in the~~¹³¹ surrendering jurisdiction may exercise those rights as if no change of jurisdiction had occurred. The city or county acquiring jurisdiction may take any action regarding such a development approval, ~~permit, certificate, or other evidence of compliance~~ that could have been taken by the local government surrendering jurisdiction pursuant to its ~~ordinances and development~~ development regulations. Except as provided in this subsection, any building, structure, or other land use in a territory over which a city or county has acquired jurisdiction is subject to the ~~ordinances and development~~ development regulations of the city or county.

(j) ~~Repealed by Session Laws 1973, c. 669, s. 1.~~

(k) Agricultural lands and buildings.¹³² ~~As used in this subsection, "bona fide farm purposes" is as described in G.S. 153A-340. As used in this subsection, "property" means a single tract of property or an identifiable portion of a single tract. Property that is located in the geographic area of a municipality's extraterritorial jurisdiction and that is used for bona fide farm purposes is exempt from exercise of a municipality's extraterritorial jurisdiction under this Article. Property that is located in the geographic area of a municipality's extraterritorial jurisdiction and that ceases to be used for bona fide farm purposes it shall become subject to exercise of the municipality's extraterritorial jurisdiction under this Article.~~

(l)¹³³ ~~A municipality may provide in its zoning ordinance that an accessory building of a "bona fide farm" as defined by G.S. 153A-340(b) has the same exemption from the building code as it would have under county zoning as provided by Part 3 of Article 18 of Chapter 153A of the General Statutes.~~

~~This subsection applies only to the City of Raleigh and the Towns of Apex, Cary, Fuquay-Varina, Garner, Holly Springs, Knightdale, Morrisville, Rolesville, Wake Forest, Wendell, and Zebulon.~~

¹³⁰ Clarify that the receiving jurisdictions regulations can be adopted and take effect concurrently upon assumption of jurisdiction.

¹³¹ Simplification.

¹³² Relocated to section on agricultural uses and zoning, G.S. 160D-9-3.

¹³³ Relocated to section on agricultural uses and zoning, G.S. 160D-9-3.

§ 160D-2-3. Split jurisdiction.¹³⁴ If a parcel of land lies within the planning and development regulation jurisdiction of more than one local government, for the purposes of this Chapter the local governments may by mutual agreement pursuant to Article 20 of Chapter 160A and with the written consent of the landowner assign exclusive planning and development regulation jurisdiction under this Chapter for the entire parcel to any one of those local governments. Such a mutual agreement shall only be applicable to development regulations and shall not affect taxation or other non-regulatory matters. The mutual agreement shall be evidenced by a resolution formally adopted by each governing board and recorded with the register of deeds in the county where the property is located within 14 days of the adoption of the last required resolution.¹³⁵

§ 160D-2-4. Pending jurisdiction.¹³⁶ After consideration of a change in local government jurisdiction has been formally proposed, the local government that is potentially receiving jurisdiction may receive and process any application for development approvals that would be required in that local government if the jurisdiction is changed. No final decisions shall be made on any development approval prior to the actual transfer of jurisdiction. Acceptance of jurisdiction and development approvals may be made concurrently.

¹³⁴ New section. Adds authority to provide that where multiple local governments share jurisdiction on a single parcel of land, they may agree to assign exclusive jurisdiction for the entire parcel to one unit of government.

¹³⁵ Applies a recordation requirement similar to that for development agreements to assure that future landowners are provided adequate notice of the agreement on assignment of regulatory jurisdiction.

¹³⁶ New section. Adds authority to process applications and conduct hearings for proposed development by the potential receiving jurisdiction where there is a pending shift in jurisdiction, provided that no final action may be taken prior to the actual transfer of jurisdiction.

ARTICLE 3. BOARDS AND ORGANIZATIONAL ARRANGEMENTS

§ 160D-3-1. Planning boards.¹³⁷

(a) Composition. ~~Any city~~ A local government¹³⁸ may by ordinance provide for the appointment and compensation of a planning board¹³⁹ ~~create or may designate one or more boards or commissions to perform the following duties of a planning board.~~¹⁴⁰ A planning board or commission¹⁴¹ ~~created or designated~~ established pursuant to this section may include, but shall not be limited to, one or more of the following:

- (1) A planning board ~~or commission~~ of any size (with not fewer than three members) or composition deemed appropriate, organized in any manner deemed appropriate;
- (2) A joint planning board created by two or more local governments pursuant to Article 20, Part 1, of Chapter 160A.
- (b) Duties. A planning board may be assigned¹⁴² the following powers and duties:
 - ~~(1) Make studies of the area within its jurisdiction and surrounding areas;~~
 - ~~(2) Determine objectives to be sought in the development of the study area;~~
 - ~~(3) Prepare and adopt plans for achieving these objectives;~~
 - (1) Prepare, review, maintain, monitor, and periodically update and recommend to the governing board a comprehensive plan, and such other plans as deemed appropriate, and conduct ongoing related research, data collection, mapping, and analysis;¹⁴³
 - (2) Facilitate and coordinate citizen engagement and participation in the planning process;¹⁴⁴
 - (3) Develop and recommend policies, ordinances, development regulations, administrative procedures, and other means for carrying out plans in a coordinated and efficient manner;
 - (4) Advise the ~~council governing board~~ concerning the ~~use and amendment of means for carrying out~~ implementation of¹⁴⁵ plans, including, but not limited to, review and comment on all zoning text and map amendments as required by G.S. 160D-6-4.¹⁴⁶

¹³⁷ Relocated from G.S. 160A-361 and 153A-321.

¹³⁸ Updates reference to local governments to include cities and counties.

¹³⁹ Establishes consistent language for creation of planning board and board of adjustment.

¹⁴⁰ While the statutory term is “planning board,” an individual local government can assign the planning board any name deemed suitable by that local government (such as “planning commission,” “zoning commission,” or the like).

¹⁴¹ Simplify language.

¹⁴² Retains full flexibility for range of duties that may be assigned to planning boards. Does not mandate particular duties for all planning boards other than the mandated review and comment on proposed zoning amendments noted in subsection (5).

¹⁴³ Consolidates and updates reference to plan making and analysis functions of a planning board. Original provisions on planning board roles dated to 1919.

¹⁴⁴ Incorporates reference to the role many planning boards play in securing citizen engagement in planning.

¹⁴⁵ Simplification.

¹⁴⁶ Update as needed to cross-reference to mandated statement on plan consistency.

- (5) Exercise any functions in the administration and enforcement of various means for carrying out plans that the ~~council~~ governing board may direct;
- (6) Provide a preliminary forum for review of quasi-judicial decisions, provided that no part of the forum or recommendation may be used as a basis for the deciding board;¹⁴⁷
- (7) Perform any other related duties that the ~~council~~ governing board may direct.

§ 160D-3-2. Boards of adjustment.¹⁴⁸

(a) Composition. ~~The zoning or unified development ordinance may~~ A local government may by ordinance provide for the appointment and compensation of a board of adjustment consisting of five or more members, each to be appointed for three years. In appointing the original members or in the filling of vacancies caused by the expiration of the terms of existing members, the ~~city council~~ governing board may appoint certain members for less than three years so that the terms of all members shall not expire at the same time. The ~~council~~ governing board may appoint and provide compensation for alternate members to serve on the board in the absence or temporary disqualification of any regular member or to fill a vacancy pending appointment of a member. Alternate members shall be appointed for the same term, at the same time, and in the same manner as regular members. Each alternate member serving on behalf of any regular member has all the powers and duties of a regular member.

(b) Duties. The board shall hear and decide all matters upon which it is required to pass under any statute or development regulation adopted under this Chapter.¹⁴⁹ The ordinance may designate a planning board or governing board to perform any of the duties of a board of adjustment in addition to its other duties and may create and designate specialized boards to hear technical appeals. If any board other than the board of adjustment is assigned decision-making authority for any quasi-judicial matter, that board shall comply with all of the procedures and the process applicable to a board of adjustment in making quasi-judicial decisions.¹⁵⁰

§ 160D-3-3. Historic Preservation Commission.¹⁵¹

¹⁴⁷ The practice of submitting a pending quasi-judicial decision to a separate board for an advisory review is common. A 2005 SOG survey indicated over 71% of responding municipalities and 52% of responding counties submitted pending special use permits to the planning board for an advisory review. A number of reviewers of this proposal suggested prohibiting the practice of advisory reviews of quasi-judicial decisions and there was substantial support for that position by many attorneys. However, there was not consensus to prohibit the practice, so this amendment recognizes that practice, but clarifies that the decision must be based on competent evidence presented at the evidentiary hearing and may not be based on these informal, advisory reviews.

¹⁴⁸ Relocated from G.S. 160A-388(a), also applicable to counties as provided by G.S. 153A-345.1.

¹⁴⁹ Relocated from G.S. 160A-388(a1).

¹⁵⁰ Reiterates for clarity the current requirement that any board making quasi-judicial decisions is subject to the same procedures and limitations applicable to boards of adjustment making similar decisions. The same clarification appears in the statute on appeals G.S. 160D-4-6 and for variances and special use permits G.S. 160D-7-5. Update cross-references. Some commentators suggested prohibiting assignment of any quasi-judicial decision to a governing board as these boards are more accustomed to making legislative decisions. However, SOG surveys indicate some 70% of North Carolina cities and counties currently assign at least some special use permits to the governing board (and others send some to planning boards).

¹⁵¹ Relocated from G.S. 160A-400.7, also applicable to counties as provided by G.S. 160A-400.2

(a) Composition. Before it may designate one or more landmarks or historic districts pursuant to Article 9, Part 4 of this Chapter, ~~a municipality the governing board~~¹⁵² shall establish ~~or designate~~ a historic preservation commission. The ~~municipal~~ governing board shall determine the number of the members of the commission, which shall be at least three, and the length of their terms, which shall be no greater than four years. A majority of the members of such a commission shall have demonstrated special interest, experience, or education in history, architecture, archaeology, or related fields. All the members shall reside within the ~~territorial~~ planning and development¹⁵³ regulation jurisdiction of the ~~municipality local government~~ as established pursuant to ~~G.S. 160A-360~~ this Chapter. The commission may appoint advisory bodies and committees as appropriate. Members of the commission may be reimbursed for actual expenses incidental to the performance of their duties within the limits of any funds available to the commission, but shall serve without pay unless otherwise provided in the ordinance establishing the commission.¹⁵⁴

In lieu of establishing a historic preservation commission, a ~~municipality local government~~ may designate as its historic preservation commission, (i) a separate historic districts commission or a separate historic landmarks commission established pursuant to this ~~Chapter Part~~ to deal only with historic districts or landmarks respectively, (ii) a planning board established pursuant to this ~~Article Chapter~~, or (iii) a community appearance commission established pursuant to ~~Part 7 of this Article Chapter~~. In order for a commission or board other than the preservation commission to be designated, at least three of its members shall have demonstrated special interest, experience, or education in history, architecture, or related fields. At the discretion of ~~the municipality a local government~~ the ordinance may also provide that the preservation commission may exercise within a historic district any or all of the powers of a planning board or a community appearance commission.

~~A county and one or more cities in the county~~ Local governments may establish or designate a joint preservation commission. If a joint commission is established or designated, ~~the county and cities~~ it shall have the same composition as specified by this section and the local governments involved shall determine the residence requirements of members of the joint preservation commission.

(b) Duties. The historic preservation commission shall have the duties specified in G.S. 160D-9-42.

§ 160D-3-4. Appearance Commission.¹⁵⁵

(a) Composition. Each ~~municipality and county in the State~~ local government may ~~by ordinance~~ create a special commission, to be known as the ~~official~~ appearance commission ~~for the city or county~~. The commission shall consist of not less than seven nor more than 15 members, to be appointed by the governing board ~~body of the municipality or county~~ for such terms, not to exceed four years, as the governing ~~body~~ board may by ordinance provide. All members shall be

¹⁵² Updated language recognizes counties as well as municipalities may establish historic preservation commissions. This stylistic change is made throughout this section.

¹⁵³ Improve clarity.

¹⁵⁴ Clarification. Adds same language for historic commissions as currently provided for appearance commissions in the next section.

¹⁵⁵ Relocated from G.S. 160A-451, which is applicable to both cities and counties.

residents of the ~~municipality's or county's~~ local government's area of planning and ~~zoning development regulation~~ jurisdiction at the time of appointment. Where possible, appointments shall be made in such a manner as to maintain on the commission at all times a majority of members who have had special training or experience in a design field, such as architecture, landscape design, horticulture, city planning, or a ~~closely~~¹⁵⁶ related field. Members of the commission may be reimbursed for actual expenses incidental to the performance of their duties within the limits of any funds available to the commission, but shall serve without pay unless otherwise provided in the ordinance establishing the commission. Membership of the commission is ~~declared to be~~¹⁵⁷ an office that may be held concurrently with any other elective or appointive office pursuant to Article VI, Sec. 9, of the Constitution.

~~A county and one or more cities in the county~~ Local governments may establish a joint appearance commission. If a joint commission is established, ~~the county and the city or cities~~ it shall have the same composition as specified by this section and the local governments involved shall determine the residence requirements for members of the joint commission.

(b) Duties. The community appearance commission shall have the duties specified in G.S. 160D-9-60.

§ 160D-3-5. Housing Appeals Board.¹⁵⁸

(a) Composition. The governing body board may by ordinance provide for the creation and organization of a housing appeals board. Instead of establishing a housing appeals board, a local government may designate the board of adjustment as its housing appeals board. The housing appeals board, if created, shall consist of five members to serve for three-year staggered terms. ~~It shall have the power to elect its own officers and to fix the times and places for its meetings, to adopt necessary rules of procedure, and to adopt other rules and regulations for the proper discharge of its duties. It shall keep an accurate record of all its proceedings.~~¹⁵⁹

(b) Duties. The housing appeals board shall have the duties specified in G.S. 160D-12-8. to which a

§ 160D-3-6. Other advisory boards. A local government may by ordinance establish additional advisory boards as deemed appropriate. The ordinance establishing such boards shall specify the composition and duties of such boards.¹⁶⁰

§ 160D-3-7. Extraterritorial representation on boards.¹⁶¹

(a) Proportional representation. When a city elects to exercise extraterritorial ~~zoning or subdivision regulation~~ powers under this Chapter G.S. 160A-360, it shall in the ordinance creating

¹⁵⁶ Surplusage.

¹⁵⁷ Surplusage.

¹⁵⁸ Relocated from G.S. 160A-446. This provision is also applicable to counties pursuant to G.S. 160A-442(1).

¹⁵⁹ Delete as redundant of provisions in G.S. 160D-3-8.

¹⁶⁰ Local governments currently have the authority to appoint additional advisory boards. G.S. 160A-361(a) and 153A-321 allow designation of "one or more boards or commissions" to perform the duties of a planning board.

¹⁶¹ Relocated from G.S. 160A-362.

~~or designating its planning board~~ provide a means of proportional representation¹⁶² based on population for residents of the extraterritorial area to be regulated. The population estimates for this calculation shall be updated no less frequently than after each decennial census. Representation shall be provided by appointing at least one resident of the entire extraterritorial ~~zoning and subdivision regulation~~ planning and development regulation area to the planning board, board of adjustment, appearance commission,¹⁶³ and the historic preservation commission if there are historic districts or designated landmarks in the extraterritorial area.¹⁶⁴ ~~that makes recommendations or grants relief in these matters. For purposes of this section, an additional member must be appointed to the planning board or board of adjustment to achieve proportional representation only when the population of the entire extraterritorial zoning and subdivision area constitutes a full fraction of the municipality's population divided by the total membership of the planning board or board of adjustment.~~¹⁶⁵

(b) Appointment. Membership of joint municipal-county planning agencies or boards of adjustment may be appointed as agreed by counties and municipalities. ~~Any advisory board established prior to July 1, 1983, to provide the required extraterritorial representation shall constitute compliance with this section until the board is abolished by ordinance of the city.~~¹⁶⁶ The extraterritorial representatives on ~~the a city~~ planning board and the board of adjustment shall be appointed by the board of county commissioners with jurisdiction over the area. ~~When selecting a new representative to the planning board or to the board of adjustment as a result of an extension of the extraterritorial jurisdiction, the board of county commissioners shall hold a public hearing on the selection. A notice of the hearing shall be given once a week for two successive calendar weeks in a newspaper having general circulation in the area. The board of county commissioners shall select appointees only from those who apply at or before the public hearing.~~¹⁶⁷ The county shall make the appointments within 45 90 days¹⁶⁸ following the ~~public~~ hearing. Once a city provides proportional representation, no power available to a city under ~~G.S. 160A-360~~ this Chapter shall be ineffective in its extraterritorial area solely because county appointments have not yet been made. If there is an insufficient number of qualified residents of the extraterritorial area to meet membership requirements, the board of county commissioners may appoint as many other residents of the county as necessary to make up the requisite number. When the extraterritorial

¹⁶² Rather than attempt to include a complicated formula in the statute, each local government is allowed to follow the ordinary, common definition of “proportional” in meeting this requirement. Since ETJ boundaries are not based on existing governmental boundaries or census tracts, each local government must make reasonable population estimates for the ETJ area and compare that to concurrent estimates of the population within the corporate boundaries.

¹⁶³ The appearance commission statute (previously G.S. 160A-451, now G.S. 160D-3-5) already provides that members reside within the planning and development regulation jurisdiction rather than within corporate limits, so this is a conforming clarification.

¹⁶⁴ Provides for consistent treatment of all boards with regulatory authority in the extraterritorial area.

¹⁶⁵ Simplification. Eliminates redundant language and complicated formula, while retaining requirement for proportional representation on both the planning board and board of adjustment.

¹⁶⁶ Delete as obsolete.

¹⁶⁷ Delete as obsolete. Each county is authorized to set the process it will follow in making appointments to boards. Having a special hearing requirement for ETJ appointments has proven confusing in practice.

¹⁶⁸ Amended for consistency with provision later in section allowing city council to make appointments if no action is taken by county board in 90 days.

area extends into two or more counties, each board of county commissioners concerned shall appoint representatives from its portion of the area, as specified in the ordinance. If a board of county commissioners fails to make these appointments within 90 days after receiving a resolution from the city council requesting that they be made, the city council may make them.

(c) *Voting rights.* If the ordinance so provides, the outside representatives may have equal rights, privileges, and duties with the other members of the board to which they are appointed, regardless of whether the matters at issue arise within the city or within the extraterritorial area; otherwise they shall function only with respect to matters within the extraterritorial area.

§ 160D-3-8. Rules of procedure. Rules of procedure that are consistent with the provisions of this Chapter may be adopted by the governing board for any or all boards created under this Article.¹⁶⁹ In the absence of action by the governing board, each board created under this Article is authorized to adopt its own rules of procedure that are consistent with the provisions of this Chapter. A copy of any adopted rules of procedure shall be maintained by the local government clerk or such other official as designated by ordinance and posted on the local government web site if one exists.¹⁷⁰ Each board shall keep minutes of its proceedings.

§ 160D-3-9. Oath of office.¹⁷¹ All members appointed to boards under this Article shall, before entering their duties, qualify by taking an oath of office as required by G.S. 153A-26 and 160A-61.

§ 160D-3-10. Appointments to boards.¹⁷² Unless specified otherwise by statute or local ordinance, all appointments to boards authorized by this Chapter shall be made by the governing board of the local government. The governing board may establish reasonable procedures to solicit, review, and make appointments.

¹⁶⁹ If rules are set by local act or charter, those would remain binding.

¹⁷⁰ The purpose of this section is to explicitly authorize the common practice of having rules of procedure for these boards and to establish a uniform and consistent location for maintain a copy of the rules, making them readily available and easy to find.

¹⁷¹ Makes uniform the common practice of having all appointed board members take an oath of office. Applied to all boards rather than only boards with decision-making authority for consistency and ease of application.

¹⁷² Clarification. Makes explicit requirement that appointments be made by the city council or county board of commissioners unless that applicable local ordinance provides otherwise.

ARTICLE 4. ADMINISTRATION, ENFORCEMENT, AND APPEALS¹⁷³

§ 160D-4-1. Application.

(a) The provisions of this Article shall apply to all development regulations adopted pursuant to this Chapter. Local governments may apply any of the definitions and procedures authorized by this Article to any ordinance adopted under the general police power of cities and counties, Article 8 of Chapter 160A and Article 6 of Chapter 153A respectively, and may employ any organizational structure, board, commission, or staffing arrangement authorized by this Article to any or all aspects of those ordinances.¹⁷⁴

(b) The provisions of this Article are supplemental to specific provisions included in other Articles of this Chapter. To the extent there is a conflict between the provisions of this Article and other Articles, the more specific provision shall control. This Article does not expand, diminish, or alter the scope of authority for development regulations authorized by this Chapter.¹⁷⁵

§ 160D-4-2. Administrative staff.

(a) Authorization. Local governments may appoint administrators, inspectors, enforcement officers, planners, technicians, and other staff to develop, administer and enforce development regulations authorized by this Chapter.

(b) Duties.¹⁷⁶ Duties assigned to staff may include, but are not limited to, the receipt drafting and implementing plans and development regulations to be adopted pursuant to this Chapter; determining whether applications for development approvals are complete; receipt and processing of applications for permits development approvals; providing notices of applications and hearings; and making permit decisions and determinations regarding development regulation implementation; determining whether applications for development approvals meet applicable standards as established by law and local ordinance; the making of any necessary conducting inspections; issuance or denial of issuing or denying certificates of compliance or occupancy; enforcing development regulations, including issuance of issuing notices of violation, and orders to correct violations, and the recommending bringing of judicial actions against actual or threatened violations; the keeping of adequate records; and any other actions that may be required in order adequately to enforce the laws and development regulations under their jurisdiction. A

¹⁷³ Many of the administrative provisions are adapted from the building code Parts in Chapter 160A and 153A. Under current law most of these provisions are applicable to all development regulations, not just the building code. Some of the provisions have provisions only applicable or relevant to the building code and they remain in Article 11 of the proposed Chapter 160D. The more specific provisions there remain fully applicable to building permit administration.

¹⁷⁴ Current law has this same provision for unified development ordinances (now in G.S. 160D-1-3. Extends the same options to general police power ordinances while not enlarging or constricting the scope of authority granted to cities or counties.

¹⁷⁵ Reiterates provision in G.S. 160D-1-1(d),

¹⁷⁶ Adapted from G.S. 160A-411, 412, 153A-351, -352. Provisions specific to building code administration are in G.S. 160D-11-2 (note that some of the procedures that are optional in Article 4 are mandatory with respect to building code administration in Article 11). Note that G.S. 160D-11-3 continues to require that inspections regarding the State Building Code must still be performed by qualified building inspectors.

development regulation may require that designated staff members take an oath of office.¹⁷⁷ The city local government shall have the authority to enact ~~reasonable and appropriate~~¹⁷⁸ ordinances, procedures, and fee schedules relating to the administration and the enforcement of this ~~Article Chapter~~.¹⁷⁹ The administrative and enforcement provisions related to building permits set forth in Article 11 shall be followed for those permits.

(c) Alternative staff arrangements.¹⁸⁰ A city local government may enter into contracts with another city, county, or combination thereof under which the parties agree to create a joint staff for the enforcement of State and local laws specified in the agreement. The governing boards of the contracting parties may make any necessary appropriations for this purpose.

In lieu of joint staff, a ~~city council~~ governing board may designate staff from any other city or county to serve as a member of its staff with the approval of the governing ~~body board~~ of the other city or county. A staff member, if designated from another city or county under this section, shall, while exercising the duties of the position, be considered an municipal employee agent¹⁸¹ of the local government exercising those duties. The governing board of one local government city may request the governing board of a second local government board of county commissioners of the county in which the city is located to direct one or more of the second local government's county staff members to exercise their powers within part or all of the first local government's city's jurisdiction, and they shall thereupon be empowered to do so until the first local government city officially withdraws its request in the manner provided in G.S. 160D-2-2.

A city local government may contract with an individual, company, council of governments, regional planning agency, metropolitan planning organization, or rural planning agency to designate an individual who is not a city or county employee to work under the supervision of the local government to exercise the functions authorized by this section. The city local government shall have the same potential liability, if any, for inspections conducted by an individual who is not an employee of the city local government as it does for an individual who is an employee of the city local government. The company or individual with whom the city local government contracts shall have errors and omissions and other insurance coverage acceptable to the city-local government.

(d) Financial support.¹⁸² The city local government may appropriate for the support of the staff any funds that it deems necessary. ~~It may provide for paying staff fixed salaries or it may reimburse them for their services by paying over part or all of any fees collected.~~¹⁸³ It shall have power to fix reasonable fees for support, administration, and implementation of programs

¹⁷⁷ Recognizes that many local governments require those staff members who are considered “public officials” rather than “public employees” take an oath of office. These are generally staff members whose position is defined by statute, as is done here, and who exercise discretion rather than performing only ministerial duties.

¹⁷⁸ Surplusage.

¹⁷⁹ Also see G.S. 160D-8-5 for a more specific provision regarding subdivision fees (formerly 160A-4.1, 153A-102.1).

¹⁸⁰ Adapted from G.S. 160A-413, 153A-353.

¹⁸¹ Clarify language to avoid unintended implications for broader human resource issues.

¹⁸² Adapted from G.S. 160A-414, 153A-354.

¹⁸³ Surplusage, unnecessary detail about how local governments finance permit administration.

authorized by this Chapter for issuance of permits, inspections, and other services of the staff, and all such fees shall be used for no other purposes.¹⁸⁴

§ 160D-4-3. Administrative development approvals and determinations.

(a) Development approvals.¹⁸⁵ No person shall commence or proceed with ~~the construction, reconstruction, alteration, repair, movement to another site, removal, or demolition of any building or structure~~ development¹⁸⁶ without first securing any required ~~permits or development~~ approvals from the ~~city~~ local government with jurisdiction over the site of the ~~development.~~ work. ~~Such work or activity~~ The developer shall first secure any ~~and all permits~~ development approvals required by any State or local laws applicable to the development subject to that development approval prior to the initiation of work. A ~~permit~~ development approval shall be in writing and ~~shall~~ may¹⁸⁷ contain a provision that the ~~development work done~~ shall comply with all applicable State and local laws. A local government may issue development approvals in print or electronic form. Any development approval issued exclusively in electronic form shall be protected from further editing once issued. Applications for development approvals may be made by the landowner, a lessee or person holding an option or contract to purchase or lease land, or an authorized agent of the landowner.¹⁸⁸

(b) Determinations and notice of determinations.¹⁸⁹ A development regulations enacted under the authority of this Chapter shall may designate the staff member or members charged with making decisions under the development regulation. As used in this Article, "decision" includes any final and binding order, requirement, or determination.

The official officer making the decision who made the decision shall give written notice to the owner of the property that is the subject of the decision and to the party who sought the decision, if different from the owner. The written notice shall be delivered by personal delivery, electronic mail, or by first-class mail.

It shall be conclusively presumed that all persons with standing to appeal have constructive notice of the decision from the date a sign providing notice that a decision has been made is prominently posted on the property that is the subject of the decision, provided the sign remains on the property for at least 10 days. The a sign shall containing the words "Zoning Decision" or "Subdivision Decision" or similar language for other determinations in letters at least six inches high and shall identifying the means to contact an official a local government staff member for information about the decision.¹⁹⁰ Posting of signs is not the only form of constructive notice. Any such posting shall be the responsibility of the landowner, applicant, or person who sought the

¹⁸⁴ Amendment made by S.L. 2015-145 (H. 255) incorporated. Language generalized to be applicable to all development permits, not just building code enforcement.

¹⁸⁵ Adapted from G.S. 160A-417, 153A-357. The comparable provision for building permits, which is more detailed, is G.S. 160D-11-8 and those more detailed requirements apply to all building permits.

¹⁸⁶ Addition reflects broader application of Article 4 to zoning and other development regulations, not just construction regulated under the building code.

¹⁸⁷ Note that this remains a mandatory provision for building permits in G.S. 160D-11-8, as is the case in current law.

¹⁸⁸ Clarification of who is authorized to make application for a development approval.

¹⁸⁹ Relocated from G.S. 160A-388(b1) (also applicable to counties).

¹⁹⁰ Stylistic changes for improved clarity.

decision. Verification of the posting shall be provided to the ~~official who made~~ staff member responsible for the decision. Absent an ordinance provision to the contrary, posting of signs shall not be required.

(c) Duration of development approval.¹⁹¹ ~~Unless specifically~~ a different period is specified by this ~~provided otherwise by this Article Chapter~~ or other specific applicable law¹⁹² or a different period is provided¹⁹³ by a quasi-judicial development approval, a development agreement, or a local ordinance, a ~~permit development approval~~ issued pursuant to this ~~Article Chapter~~ shall expire ~~six months~~ one year after the date of issuance if the work authorized by the ~~permit development approval~~ has not been substantially commenced.¹⁹⁴ Local development regulations may provide for development approvals of shorter duration for temporary land uses, special events, temporary signs, and similar development. Unless provided otherwise by this Chapter or other specific applicable law or a longer period is provided by local ordinance, if after commencement the work or activity is discontinued for a period of 12 months after commencement, the permit development approval therefor shall immediately expire. Subject to the provisions of G.S. 160D-14-2(m), the time periods set out in this subsection shall be tolled during the pendency of any appeal. No work or activity authorized by any permit development approval that has expired shall thereafter be performed until a new permit development approval has been secured.¹⁹⁵

(d) Changes.¹⁹⁶ After a ~~permit development approval~~ has been issued, no deviations from the terms of the application, ~~plans and specifications,~~¹⁹⁷ or the ~~permit development approval~~ shall be made until ~~specific~~ written approval of proposed changes or deviations has been obtained. A ~~city~~ local government may define by ordinance minor modifications¹⁹⁸ to ~~permits development approvals~~ that can be exempted or administratively approved. The local government shall follow

¹⁹¹ Adapted from G.S. 160A-418, 153A-358. Current statute with a six-month permit duration is applicable only to building permits. This provision is applicable only in those instances where neither the statutes nor the local ordinance sets a duration for a development approval. Applies to permits and other development approvals, but is not applicable to enforcement orders.

¹⁹² Where a shorter period is provided elsewhere in the Chapter, such as the six-month expiration for building permits in G.S. 160D-11-8, those shorter periods are still applicable. Where longer periods are provided by statute, such as with two years for site-specific vesting plans or with development agreements, those specific provisions are still applicable.

¹⁹³ While a one year permit expiration is the statutory default, a local ordinance may provide for longer permit periods for various permits and development approvals.

¹⁹⁴ The permit expiration does not apply to legislative decisions, such as a rezoning or conditional zoning. Determining what constitutes a “substantial” commencement of work is a fact-specific inquiry that will vary with the local context. Rather than mandate a statewide uniform definition, the usual and ordinary definitions of the phrases applies. To the extent there is a dispute about a particular application of the terms, standard case law on interpretation of similar terms that have long been used in zoning (such as with limits on nonconformities) can be applied

¹⁹⁵ As provided in common law and under G.S. 160D-1-8(b), a vested right pursuant to a local development permit expires when the development permit expires unless vesting has been established by some other means (such as making substantial expenditures in reliance on the permit).

¹⁹⁶ Adapted from G.S. 160A- 419, 153A-359.

¹⁹⁷ Superfluous.

¹⁹⁸ Rather than include a statutory definition of “minor modifications” that may not fit the variety of local government settings, each local government is left the flexibility to adopt reasonable regulations making that definition.

the same development review and approval process required for issuance of the development approval in the review and approval of any major modification of that approval.¹⁹⁹

(e) Inspections.²⁰⁰ ~~Local~~ Administrative staff may²⁰¹ inspect work undertaken pursuant to a permit development approval to assure that the work is being done ~~to the provisions of any in~~ accordance with applicable State and local laws and of the terms of the permit approval. In exercising this power, staff ~~shall have a right~~ are authorized to enter ~~on~~ any premises within the jurisdiction of the ~~city~~ local government at all reasonable hours for the purposes of inspection or other enforcement action, upon presentation of proper credentials.

(f) Revocation of development approvals.²⁰² In addition to initiation of enforcement actions under G.S. 160D-4-4, development approvals may be revoked ~~Staff may revoke any permit by the local government issuing the permit development approval by notifying the permit holder in writing stating the reason for the revocation.~~²⁰³ The local government shall follow the same development review and approval process required for issuance of the development approval, including any required notice or hearing, in the review and approval of any revocation of that approval.²⁰⁴ ~~Permits~~ Development approvals shall be revoked for any substantial departure from the approved application, plans, or specifications; for refusal or failure to comply with the requirements of any applicable ~~State or local laws~~ development regulation or any State law enforced by the local government;²⁰⁵ or for false statements or misrepresentations made in securing the permit approval. Any permit development approval mistakenly issued in violation of an applicable State or local law may also be revoked. The revocation of a permit development approval by ~~the staff~~ a staff member ~~A permit revocation may be appealed to the board of adjustment pursuant to G.S. 160D-4-5. No further work shall take place pursuant to a revoked permit order pending a ruling on the appeal. If an appeal is filed regarding a development regulation adopted by a local government pursuant to this Chapter, the provisions of G.S. 160D-4-5(e) regarding stays shall be applicable.~~²⁰⁶

¹⁹⁹ Clarification of the process to be followed for substantial permit modifications. Rather than include a statutory definition of “substantial or major modifications” that may not fit the variety of local government settings, each local government is left the flexibility to adopt reasonable regulations making that definition.

²⁰⁰ Adapted from G.S. 160A-420, 153A-360.

²⁰¹ Inspections are mandatory for building permits as required by G.S. 160D-11-11. Greater flexibility is provided for other local development regulations.

²⁰² Adapted from G.S. 160A-422, 153A-362.

²⁰³ Note that G.S.160D-11-13 preserves the current law on revocation of building permits and Article 10 has more specific provisions regarding breach of development agreements.

²⁰⁴ Staff can issue a notice of violation and a stop work order as an administrative decision to stop work in event of a permit violation. This provision clarifies the process to be followed if the permit itself is to be permanently revoked. When an administratively issued permit is revoked, the revocation is made by the same administrative official who issued the permit. If a quasi-judicial permit is revoked, the board issuing the permit is responsible for the revocation.

²⁰⁵ Clarification as to which state or local law violations trigger a permit revocation.

²⁰⁶ Applies consistent and uniform rule regarding stays during appeals, adopting same provisions as previously applied in G.S. 160A-388.

(g) Certificate of occupancy.²⁰⁷ A local government may, upon completion of work or activity undertaken pursuant to a development approval, make final inspections and issue a certificate of compliance or occupancy if staff finds that the completed work complies with all applicable State and local laws and with the terms of the permit approval. No building, structure, or use of land that is subject to a building permit required by Article 11 shall be occupied or used until a certificate of occupancy or temporary certificate pursuant to G.S. 160D-11-14 has been issued.

(h) Optional communication requirements. A regulation adopted pursuant to this Chapter may require notice and/or informational meetings as part of the administrative decision-making process.²⁰⁸

§ 160D-4-4. Enforcement.

(a) Notices of violation. When staff determines work or activity has been undertaken in violation of a development regulation adopted pursuant to this Chapter or other local development regulation or any State law enforced by the local government or in violation of the terms of a development approval, a written notice of violation may be issued. The notice of violation shall be delivered to the holder of the development approval and to the landowner of the property involved, if the landowner is not the holder of the development approval, by personal delivery, electronic delivery, or first class mail and may be provided by similar means to the occupant of the property or the person undertaking the work or activity. The notice of violation may be posted on the property. The person providing the notice of violation shall certify to the local government that the notice was provided and the certificate shall be deemed conclusive in the absence of fraud.²⁰⁹ Except as provided by G.S. 160D-11-23, 160D-12-6, or otherwise provided by law, a notice of violation may be appealed to the board of adjustment pursuant to G.S. 160D-4-5.²¹⁰

(b) Stop work orders.²¹¹ Whenever any work or activity subject to regulation pursuant to this Article Chapter or other applicable local development regulation or any State law enforced by the local government is undertaken in substantial violation of any State or local law, or in a manner that endangers life or property, staff may order the specific part of the work or activity that is in violation or presents such a hazard to be immediately stopped. The order shall be in writing, directed to the person doing the work or activity, and shall state the specific work or activity to be stopped, the specific reasons therefor, and the conditions under which the work or activity may be

²⁰⁷ Adapted from G.S. 160A-423, 153A-363. A certificate of compliance is mandatory for projects that require a building permit under Article 11 (G.S. 160D-11-14), but are optional means of verifying compliance for other permits.

²⁰⁸ This provision explicitly allows, but does not mandate, provision of notices or meetings with potentially affected persons in the consideration of administrative decisions.

²⁰⁹ This certification provides documentation for the local government files as to the content and timing of the notice of violation. It is similar to the certification that mailed notice of rezoning hearings has been made that has long been included in G.S. 160A-384 and 153A-343 (now G.S. 160D-6-2(a)).

²¹⁰ The cited provisions have specialized appeal routes for building permits where the state building code is involved and housing code enforcement. G.S. 160D-4-5(b) allows direct appeal to the courts where the scope of authority or constitutional claims are at issue.

²¹¹ Adapted from G.S. 160A-421, 153A-361. Amends county provision to conform to municipal provision (county statute previously applied to stop work orders for violation of a “local building law or local building ordinance or regulation”). As with current law, appeals of both municipal and county stop work orders related to state building code violations are made to the Commissioner of Insurance as set out in G.S. 160D-11-12.

resumed. A copy of the order shall be delivered to the holder of the development approval and to the owner of the property involved (if that person is not the holder of the development approval) by personal delivery, ~~email~~-electronic delivery, or first class mail. The person or persons delivering the stop work order shall certify to the local government that the order was delivered and that certificate shall be deemed conclusive in the absence of fraud. Except as provided by G.S. 160D-11-12 and 160D-12-8, a stop work order may be appealed to the board of adjustment pursuant to G.S. 160D-4-5. No further work or activity shall take place in violation of a stop work order pending a ruling on the appeal. Violation of a stop work order shall constitute a Class 1 misdemeanor.²¹²

(c) Remedies.²¹³

- (1) Subject to the provisions of the development regulation, ordinance, any development regulation ordinance adopted pursuant to authority conferred by this ~~Article~~ Chapter ~~or to Chapter 157A~~²¹⁴ may be enforced by any remedy provided by G.S. 160A-175 or G.S. 153A-123. If a building or structure is erected, constructed, reconstructed, altered, repaired, converted, or maintained, or any building, structure or land is used or developed in violation of this ~~Part~~ Chapter or of any development regulation ordinance or other regulation made under authority ~~conferred thereby of this Chapter~~, the city local government, in addition to other remedies, may institute any appropriate action or proceedings to prevent the unlawful erection, construction, reconstruction, alteration, repair, conversion, maintenance, use, or development; to restrain, correct or abate the violation; to prevent occupancy of the building, structure or land; or to prevent any illegal act, conduct, business or use in or about the premises.²¹⁵
- (2)²¹⁶ When ~~any a development regulation ordinance~~ adopted pursuant to authority conferred by this ~~Article~~ Chapter is to be applied or enforced in any area outside the ~~territorial planning and development regulation jurisdiction of the a city as described set forth in G.S. 160A-360(a)~~ Article 2 of this Chapter, the city and the property owner shall certify that the application or enforcement of the city development regulation ordinance is not under coercion or otherwise based on representation by the city that the city's development approval of any land use planning would be withheld ~~from the property owner~~ without the application or enforcement of the city development regulation ordinance outside the ~~territorial~~ jurisdiction of the city. The certification may be evidenced by a signed statement of the parties on any development approval approved plat recorded in accordance with this Article Chapter.
- (3) In case any building, structure, site, area or object designated as a historic landmark or located within a historic district designated pursuant to this ~~Part~~ Chapter is about to be demolished whether as the result of deliberate neglect or otherwise, materially altered, remodeled, removed or destroyed, except in compliance with the development regulation ordinance or other provisions of this ~~Part~~ Chapter, the ~~city or county local government~~, the historic preservation commission, or other party aggrieved by such

²¹² Relocated from G.S. 160A-421(d).

²¹³ Relocated from G.S. 160A-365, 153A-324.

²¹⁴ Obsolete cross-reference in county statute.

²¹⁵ Relocated from G.S. 160A-389.

²¹⁶ Provision added by S.L. 2015-246, Section 3 (H. 44). Edited for clarity.

action may institute any appropriate action or proceedings to prevent such unlawful demolition, destruction, material alteration, remodeling or removal, to restrain, correct or abate such violation, or to prevent any illegal act or conduct with respect to such building, structure, site, area or object.²¹⁷ Such remedies shall be in addition to any others authorized by this Chapter for violation of an ~~municipal~~ ordinance.

§ 160D-4-5. Appeals of administrative decisions.²¹⁸

(a) Appeals. Except as provided in subsection (b), appeals of decisions made by the staff under this Chapter shall be made to the board of adjustment unless a different board is provided or authorized otherwise by statute or an ordinance adopted pursuant to this Chapter.²¹⁹ If this function of the board of adjustment is assigned to any other board pursuant to G.S. 160D-3-2(b), that board shall comply with all of the procedures and processes applicable to a board of adjustment hearing appeals.²²⁰ Appeal of a decision made pursuant to an erosion and sedimentation control regulation, a stormwater control regulation, or a provision of the housing code shall not be made to the board of adjustment unless required by a local government ordinance or code provision. ~~As used in this section, the term "decision" includes any final and binding order, requirement, or determination.~~

(b) Standing.²²¹ Any person who has standing under G.S. 160D-14-2(d) or the ~~city~~ local government may appeal an administrative decision to the board. ~~of adjustment.~~ An appeal is taken by filing a notice of appeal with the ~~city~~ local government clerk or such other local government official as designated by ordinance. The notice of appeal shall state the grounds for the appeal.

(c) Judicial challenge. If otherwise allowed by law, a person with standing may bring a separate and original civil action to challenge the validity of an ordinance or development regulation without filing an appeal under subsection (a).²²²

(d) Time to appeal. The owner or other party shall have 30 days from receipt of the written notice of the decision within which to file an appeal. Any other person with standing to appeal shall have 30 days from receipt from any source of actual or constructive notice of the decision within which to file an appeal. In the absence of evidence to the contrary, notice given by first class mail shall be deemed received on the third business day following deposit of the notice for mailing with the United States Postal Service.

(e) Record of decision. The official who made the decision shall transmit to the board all documents and exhibits constituting the record upon which the ~~action~~ decision appealed from is

²¹⁷ Relocated from G.S. 160A-400.11 (also applicable to counties).

²¹⁸ Most of this section is relocated from the section on appeals in the current zoning enabling statute, G.S. 160A-388(b1), which is also applicable to counties. It is generalized to establish uniform times and procedures for all administrative appeals (with any needed variation provided by specific provisions in other Articles).

²¹⁹ As with current law, G.S. 160D-3-2(b) allows a local development ordinance to create and designate specialized boards to hear technical appeals. Appeals for building permits are addressed in G.S. 160D-11-23.

²²⁰ Reiterates for clarity the current requirement that any board making quasi-judicial decisions is subject to the same procedures and limitations applicable to boards of adjustment making similar decisions. Stylistic changes to reflect this are throughout the section, replacing references to the "board of adjustment" with references to the "board."

²²¹ This and the following subsections relocated from G.S. 160A-388(b1).

²²² Section 160D-14-1 provides for declaratory judgment actions to challenge the validity or constitutionality of ordinances and Section 160D-14-4 provides for other civil actions (while Section 160D-14-2 provides for reviews of quasi-judicial decisions in the nature of certiorari).

taken. The official shall also provide a copy of the record to the appellant and to the owner of the property that is the subject of the appeal if the appellant is not the owner.

(f) *Stays*. An appeal of a notice of violation or other enforcement order stays enforcement of the action appealed from and accrual of any fines assessed unless the official who made the decision certifies to the board of adjustment after notice of appeal has been filed that because of the facts stated in an affidavit, a stay would cause imminent peril to life or property or because the violation is transitory in nature, a stay would seriously interfere with enforcement of the development regulation ordinance. In that case, enforcement proceedings shall not be stayed except by a restraining order, which may be granted by a court. If enforcement proceedings are not stayed, the appellant may file with the official a request for an expedited hearing of the appeal, and the board of adjustment shall meet to hear the appeal within 15 days after such a request is filed.²²³ Notwithstanding the foregoing, appeals of decisions granting a permit development approval or otherwise affirming that a proposed use of property is consistent with the development regulation ordinance shall not stay the further review of an application for permits or permissions development approvals to use such property; in these situations the appellant or local government may request and the board may grant a stay of a final decision of permit development approval applications, including ~~or~~ building permits affected by the issue being appealed.

(g) *Alternative dispute resolution*. The parties to an appeal that has been made under this ~~subsection~~ section may agree to mediation or other forms of alternative dispute resolution. The development regulation ordinance may set standards and procedures to facilitate and manage such voluntary alternative dispute resolution.

§ 160D-4-6. Quasi-judicial procedure.²²⁴

(a) *Process required*. Boards shall follow quasi-judicial procedures in determining appeals of administrative decisions, special use permits, certificates of appropriateness,²²⁵ variances, or any other quasi-judicial decision.²²⁶ ~~The board of adjustment shall follow quasi-judicial procedures when deciding appeals and requests for variances and special and conditional use permits.~~²²⁷

(b) *Notice of Hearing*. Notice of evidentiary²²⁸ hearings conducted pursuant to this ~~section~~ Chapter shall be mailed to the person or entity whose appeal, application, or request is the subject of the hearing; to the owner of the property that is the subject of the hearing if the owner did not initiate the hearing; to the owners of all parcels of land abutting the parcel of land that is the subject of the hearing; and to any other persons entitled to receive notice as provided by the local

²²³ The 15 day time period for a board of adjustment hearing, a feature of current law, applies in those rare instances where an appeal of a stop work order has made but enforcement is not stayed because the zoning administrator has certified there is an imminent danger to public health or safety or that the violation is transitory in nature and the appellant has requested an expedited hearing.

²²⁴ Most of this section is relocated from the section on appeals in the current zoning enabling statute, G.S. 160A-388.

²²⁵ Note that G.S. 160D-9-47 allows certain minor work defined by ordinance to be addressed as an administrative decision.

²²⁶ The section lists the common and usual quasi-judicial decisions made under local development regulations. Occasionally local regulations add discretionary standards for other types of approvals, such as subdivision plats or site plans. To the extent that is done, they are “other quasi-judicial decisions” covered by this section.

²²⁷ Simplification and stylistic modernization.

²²⁸ Clarifies the type of hearing required.

~~development regulation. zoning or unified development ordinance.~~ In the absence of evidence to the contrary, the ~~city local government~~ may rely on the county tax listing to determine owners of property entitled to mailed notice. The notice must be deposited in the mail at least 10 days, but not more than 25 days, prior to the date of the hearing. Within that same time period, the ~~city local government~~ shall also prominently post a notice of the hearing on the site that is the subject of the hearing or on an adjacent street or highway right-of-way.

(c) *Administrative materials.*²²⁹ The administrator or staff to the board shall transmit to the board all applications, reports, and written materials²³⁰ relevant to the matter being considered. The administrative materials may be distributed to the members of the board prior to the hearing if at the same time they are distributed to the board a copy is also provided to the appellant or applicant and to the landowner if that person is not the appellant or applicant. The administrative materials shall become a part of the hearing record. The administrative materials may be provided in written or electronic form. Objections to inclusion or exclusion of administrative materials may be made before or during the hearing. Rulings on unresolved objections shall be made by the board at the hearing.

(d) *Presentation of evidence.* The applicant, the local government, and any person who would have standing to appeal the decision under G.S. 160D-14-2(d) shall have the right to participate as a party at the evidentiary hearing.²³¹ Other witnesses may present competent, material, and substantial evidence that is not repetitive as allowed by the board.

Objections regarding jurisdictional and evidentiary issues, including but not limited to, the timeliness of an appeal or the standing of a party, may be made to the board.²³² The board chair shall rule on any objections and the chair's rulings may be appealed to the full board. These rulings are also subject to judicial review pursuant to G.S. 160D-14-2. Objections based on jurisdictional issues may be raised for the first time on judicial review.

(e) *Appearance of official, new issues.* The official who made the decision ~~or prepared the staff analysis included in the administrative record,~~²³³ or the person currently occupying that

²²⁹ Explicitly provides that the application, staff report, and other relevant administrative materials shall be provided to the board, as is specified in G.S. 160A-388(b1)(5) for appeals. Allows, but does not require, materials to be submitted to the board prior to the hearing, but requires copies be provided to all parties at the same time the material is distributed to the board. This incorporates the standard practice of allowing distribution of a hearing packet to the board prior to the hearing to allow the board to review written material in advance of the hearing, but assures fairness by requiring the material be contemporaneously distributed to all parties.

²³⁰ Reference to "analysis," "staff recommendations," and "comments" deleted and more generic term of "written materials" substituted. Many local governments do not make staff recommendations on quasi-judicial matters, so reference deleted to avoid an implication that these are mandatory.

²³¹ Case law has established that the rights of a party include the right to present evidence, cross-examine witnesses, inspect documents, offer rebuttal evidence and otherwise participate as a party. *Humble Oil & Refining Co. v. Board of Aldermen*, 284 N.C. 458, 470, 202 S.E.2d 129, 137 (1974). Many boards allow persons without standing to present relevant evidence to the board, particularly if there is no objection to that by a party. Other boards only allow parties to submit evidence.

²³² Clarifies that the board rather than the staff must make rulings on standing, timeliness, and similar jurisdictional issues. These board rulings are subject to judicial review, where a de novo review is made.

²³³ Clarification that not all staff members involved in staff review are required to attend the hearing, only the official responsible for the decision. Parties may subpoena witness as need be.

position if the decision-maker is no longer employed by the local government,²³⁴ shall be present at the evidentiary hearing as a witness. The appellant shall not be limited at the hearing to matters stated in ~~the~~ a notice of appeal. If any party or the city local government would be unduly prejudiced by the presentation of matters not presented in the notice of appeal, the board shall continue the hearing.

(f) *Oaths.* The chair of the board or any member acting as chair and the clerk to the board are authorized to administer oaths to witnesses in any matter coming before the board. Any person who, while under oath during a proceeding before the ~~board of adjustment~~ board determining a quasi-judicial matter,²³⁵ willfully swears falsely is guilty of a Class 1 misdemeanor.

(g) *Subpoenas.* The board making a quasi-judicial decision under this Chapter of adjustment²³⁶ through the chair, or in the chair's absence anyone acting as chair, may subpoena witnesses and compel the production of evidence. To request issuance of a subpoena, the applicant, the local government, and any person²³⁷ ~~persons~~ with standing under G.S. 160D-14-2(d) may make a written request to the chair explaining why it is necessary for certain witnesses or evidence to be compelled. The chair shall issue requested subpoenas he or she determines to be relevant, reasonable in nature and scope, and not oppressive. The chair shall rule on any motion to quash or modify a subpoena. Decisions regarding subpoenas made by the chair may be immediately²³⁸ appealed to the full ~~board of adjustment~~. If a person fails or refuses to obey a subpoena issued pursuant to this subsection, the ~~board of adjustment~~ or the party seeking the subpoena may apply to the General Court of Justice for an order requiring that its subpoena be obeyed, and the court shall have jurisdiction to issue these orders after notice to all proper parties.

(h) *Appeals in nature of certiorari.*²³⁹ When hearing an appeal pursuant to ~~G.S. 160A-400.9(e)~~ G.S. 160D-9-47(e) or any other appeal²⁴⁰ in the nature of certiorari, the hearing shall be based on the record below and the scope of review shall be as provided in G.S. 160D-14-2(k).

(i) *Voting.* The concurring vote of four-fifths of the board²⁴¹ shall be necessary to grant a variance. A majority of the members shall be required to decide any other quasi-judicial matter or

²³⁴ Adds provision regarding instances where the decision-maker is no longer reasonably available to testify about the decision.

²³⁵ Recognizes that boards other than the board of adjustment may be assigned quasi-judicial decision-making authority.

²³⁶ Stylistic, reflects that these decisions may be assigned to other boards. Same edit made throughout this subsection.

²³⁷ Clarification. Adopts parallel language from subsection (d) of this section so that the same terminology is used for those entitled to present evidence at a quasi-judicial hearing and those authorized to seek a subpoena to compel production of evidence.

²³⁸ Allows resolution of contested subpoena prior to the hearing, preventing undue delay.

²³⁹ An earlier draft of this bill deleted appeals of historic district commission decisions on certificates of appropriateness to the board of adjustment. As consensus was not reached on that amendment, this subsection is retained. .

²⁴⁰ Delete specific reference to the appeal of a historic district commission decision to the board of adjustment given the proposed amendment of that statute to provide a uniform appeal of quasi-judicial decisions directly to superior court.

²⁴¹ No change in the current statute that a simple majority and a 4/5 majority are both counted based on the membership of the entire board, as clarified in 2005 to exclude from the computation only vacant seats and those ineligible to vote for constitutional due process reasons.

to determine an appeal made in the nature of certiorari. For the purposes of this subsection, vacant positions on the board and members who are disqualified from voting on a quasi-judicial matter under G.S. 160D-1-9(d) shall not be considered members of the board for calculation of the requisite majority if there are no qualified alternates available to take the place of such members.

(j) ~~*Quasi-Judicial Decisions and Judicial Review.*~~ (1) The board shall determine contested facts and make its decision within a reasonable time.²⁴² When hearing an appeal, the board of adjustment may reverse or affirm, wholly or partly, or may modify the decision appealed from and shall make any order, requirement, decision, or determination that ought to be made. The board shall have all the powers of the official who made the decision. Every quasi-judicial decision shall be based upon competent, material, and substantial evidence in the record. Each quasi-judicial decision shall be reduced to writing, reflect the board's determination of contested facts and their application to the applicable standards and be approved by the board and signed by the chair or other duly authorized member of the board. A quasi-judicial decision is effective upon filing the written decision with the clerk to the board or such other office or official as the development regulation ordinance specifies. The decision of the board shall be delivered within a reasonable time by personal delivery, electronic mail, or by first-class mail to the applicant, property landowner, and to any person who has submitted a written request for a copy prior to the date the decision becomes effective.²⁴³ The person required to provide notice shall certify to the local government that proper notice has been made and the certificate shall be deemed conclusive in the absence of fraud. ~~Subject to the provisions of subdivision (e) of this subsection, the board of adjustment shall hear and decide the appeal within a reasonable time.~~²⁴⁴

(k) *Judicial Review.* (2) Every quasi-judicial decision shall be subject to review by the superior court by proceedings in the nature of certiorari pursuant to G.S. ~~160A-393~~ 160D-14-2. Appeals shall be filed within the times specified in G.S. 160D-14-5(d). ~~A petition for review shall be filed with the clerk of superior court by the later of 30 days after the decision is effective or after a written copy thereof is given in accordance with subdivision (1) of this subsection. When first-class mail is used to deliver notice, three days shall be added to the time to file the petition.~~²⁴⁵

²⁴² When this provision was amended by the General Assembly in 2013, there was discussion of adding a specific time period for making a decision. Given the variety of settings across the state, it was deemed best to leave this as a “reasonable” time requirement and this draft does not revisit that decision.

²⁴³ As with the board decision, the delivery of the decision must be made within a reasonable time.

²⁴⁴ Deleted as redundant, required in first sentence of this subsection.

²⁴⁵ Relocated to Article 14 on judicial review.

ARTICLE 5. PLANNING

§ 160D-5-1. Plans.

(a) Preparation of plans and studies. As a condition of adopting and applying zoning regulations under this Chapter,²⁴⁶ a local government shall adopt and reasonably maintain²⁴⁷ a comprehensive plan²⁴⁸ that sets forth goals, policies, and programs intended to guide the present and future physical, social, and economic development of the jurisdiction.

A comprehensive plan is intended to guide coordinated, efficient, and orderly development within the planning and development regulation jurisdiction based on an analysis of present and future needs. Planning analysis may address inventories of existing conditions and assess future trends regarding demographics, economic, environmental, and cultural factors. The planning process shall include opportunities for citizen engagement in plan preparation and adoption.

(b) Contents.²⁴⁹ A comprehensive plan may, among other topics, address any of the following as determined by the local government:

(1) Issues and opportunities facing the local government, including consideration of trends, the values expressed by citizens, community vision, and guiding principles for growth, and development;

(2) The pattern of desired growth and development and civic design, including the location, distribution, and characteristics of future land uses, urban form, utilities, and transportation networks;

(3) Employment opportunities, economic development, and community development;

(4) Acceptable levels of public services and infrastructure to support development, including water, waste disposal, utilities, emergency services, transportation, education,

²⁴⁶ New section. Since 1923 the zoning enabling statute has required that regulation be “in accordance with a comprehensive plan.” Since 2006 an analysis of plan consistency has been required for any proposed zoning amendment. Early case law required that zoning be based on a comprehensive consideration of the entire jurisdiction, rather than focusing on a having a plan. *Shuford v. Town of Waynesville*, 214 N.C. 135 (1938). This provision clarifies that some analysis and planning must serve as the foundation for development regulations by mandating that a plan be prepared and maintained in order to adopt and enforce development regulations. Given the significant impact local development regulations can have on private property rights and community interests, at least some modest effort to prepare and adopt a plan is warranted. This provision leaves the scope and content of plans that are prepared to the good judgment of local elected officials in recognition of wide variety of North Carolina local government needs and capacities, but removes the option of having no plan at all. A 2008 SOG survey indicated that over 75% of responding cities with populations over 10,000 had adopted a comprehensive plan, as did over half the responding counties. Section 8 of this Act allows any local government that does not have a plan a grace period until Dec. 31, 2019 to prepare and adopt a plan.

²⁴⁷ The time frame that is reasonable for updating and refining plans varies significantly depending on the varying conditions applicable for over 500 different North Carolina local governments with zoning ordinances. The rate of growth and change, the population, and the physical, economic, and social conditions are too varied for a uniform period to be “reasonable” under all circumstances. Therefore the schedule for updates is left to the good judgment of each jurisdiction, provided they act in a reasonable fashion under their particular circumstances.

²⁴⁸ Note that given the broad definition of a “comprehensive plan” in Section 160D-1-2 local governments have considerable flexibility in determining the type and nature of planning that is appropriate for their jurisdiction. For example, a small town or rural county with little growth or change could prepare a very simple, quick, and inexpensive plan, while a large city with substantial growth pressures may determine that a more detailed planning effort is warranted.

²⁴⁹ Flexibility is left to each local government to determine the appropriate scope of its planning efforts rather than mandating a particular set of planning requirements for all jurisdictions.

recreation, community facilities, and other public services, including plans and policies for provision of and financing for public infrastructure;

(5) Housing with a range of types and affordability to accommodate persons and households of all types and income levels;

(6) Recreation and open spaces;

(7) Mitigation of natural hazards such as flooding, winds, wildfires, and unstable lands;

(8) Protection of the environment and natural resources, including agricultural resources, mineral resources, and water and air quality;

(9) Protection of significant architectural, scenic, cultural, historical, or archaeological resources; and

(10) Analysis and evaluation of implementation measures, including regulations, public investments, and educational programs.

(c) Adoption and effect of plans. Plans shall be adopted by the governing board with the advice and consultation of the planning board. Adoption and amendment of a comprehensive plan is a legislative decision and shall follow the process mandated for zoning text amendments set by G.S. 160D-6-1.²⁵⁰ Plans adopted under this Chapter may be undertaken and adopted as part of or in conjunction with plans required under other statutes, including but not limited to the plans required by G.S. 113A-110.²⁵¹ Plans adopted under this Chapter shall be advisory in nature without independent regulatory effect. Plans adopted pursuant to this section shall be considered by the planning board and governing board when considering proposed amendments to zoning regulations as required by G.S. 160D-6-4 and 160D-6-5.

§ 160D-5-2. Grants, contracts, and technical assistance.²⁵²

(a) Grants and services. ~~A city or its designated planning board~~ local government²⁵³ may accept, receive, and disburse in furtherance of its functions any funds, grants, and services made available by the federal government and its agencies, the State government and its agencies, any local government and its agencies, and any private and civic sources. ~~Any city, or its designated planning board with the concurrence of the council,~~ local government²⁵⁴ may enter into and carry out contracts with the State and federal governments or any agencies thereof under which financial or other planning assistance is made available to the ~~city~~ local government and may agree to and comply with any reasonable conditions that are imposed upon such assistance.

(b) Contracts. ~~Any city, or its designated planning board with the concurrence of the council,~~ local government may enter into and carry out contracts with any other city, county, or regional council, ~~or~~ planning agency, or private consultant under which it agrees to furnish technical planning assistance to the other local government or planning agency. ~~Any city, or its designated planning board with the concurrence of its council,~~ local government may enter into and carry out

²⁵⁰ Update cross-reference. Requires a public hearing with published notice and planning board referral prior to governing board adoption of a comprehensive plan. Does not affect the validity of plans adopted prior to the effective date of this Act, as provided in Section 8.2

²⁵¹ Where other statutes and regulations set minimum planning requirements, such as with the Coastal Area Management Act, those requirements are still applicable and are not reduced by the flexibility provided in this Article.

²⁵² Relocated from G.S. 160A-363(c) to (e), 153A-322.

²⁵³ Simplification.

²⁵⁴ Simplification, remove redundant language.

contracts with any other city, county, or regional council or planning agency under which it agrees to pay the other local government ~~or planning board~~ for technical planning assistance.

(c) Appropriations, compensation, and financing. ~~Any city council~~ local government is authorized to make ~~any~~ appropriations that may be necessary to carry out ~~any~~ activities or contracts authorized by this Article or to support, and compensate members of ~~a any planning~~ board that it may create pursuant to this ~~Article~~ Chapter, and to levy taxes for these purposes as a necessary expense.

§ 160D-5-3. Coordination of planning. A local government may undertake any of the planning activities authorized by this Article in coordination with other local governments, state agencies, or regional agencies created under Article 19 of Chapter 153A or Article 20 of Chapter 160A.²⁵⁵

²⁵⁵ Clarifies and explicitly authorizes coordinated planning.

ARTICLE 6. PROCESS FOR ADOPTION OF DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS

§ 160D-6-1. Procedure for adopting, amending, or repealing development regulations.²⁵⁶

(a) *Hearing with published notice.* Before adopting, amending, or repealing any ordinance or development regulation authorized by this ~~Article~~ Chapter, the ~~city council~~ governing board shall hold a ~~public legislative~~²⁵⁷ hearing. ~~on it.~~ A notice of the public hearing shall be given once a week for two successive calendar weeks in a newspaper having general circulation in the area.²⁵⁸ The notice shall be published the first time not less than 10 days nor more than 25 days before the date ~~fixed~~ scheduled for the hearing. In computing such period, the day of publication is not to be included but the day of the hearing shall be included.

(b) *Notice to military bases.* If the adoption or modification ~~of the ordinance~~ would result in changes to the zoning map or would change or affect the permitted uses of land located five miles or less from the perimeter boundary of a military base, ~~the governing body of the local government~~ shall provide written notice of the proposed changes by certified mail, return receipt requested, to the commander of the military base not less than 10 days nor more than 25 days before the date fixed for the ~~public~~²⁵⁹ hearing. If the military provides comments or analysis regarding the compatibility of the proposed ~~ordinance~~ development regulation or amendment with military operations at the base, the governing ~~body~~ board of the local government shall take the comments and analysis into consideration before making a final determination on the ordinance.

§ 160D-6-2. Notice of hearing on proposed zoning map amendments.²⁶⁰

(a) *Mailed notice.* The ~~city council~~ ordinance shall provide for the manner in which zoning regulations ~~and restrictions~~ and the boundaries of zoning districts shall be determined, established and enforced, and from time to time amended, supplemented or changed, in accordance with the provisions of this ~~Article~~ Chapter. ~~The procedures adopted pursuant to this section shall provide that whenever there is an amendment, the~~²⁶¹ The owner of that ~~parcel~~ affected parcels of land as ~~shown on the county tax listing,~~²⁶² and the owners of all parcels of land abutting that parcel of land as ~~shown on the county tax listing,~~ shall be mailed a notice of a ~~public~~ the hearing on a proposed zoning map amendment by first class mail at the last addresses listed for such owners on the county

²⁵⁶ Relocated from G.S. 160A-364, 153A-323.

²⁵⁷ Continues the current law in Article 18 of Chapter 153A and Article 19 of Chapter 160A that notice and hearing is required for adoption of all local development regulations. Clarifies the type of public hearing to be held. Term is defined in Article 1. The existing additional notice requirements for zoning map amendments are in the following section. Earlier drafts of the bill included provisions explicitly addressing optional provisions for reversion of conditional rezonings if development did not proceed on the property and the process for review of landowner and third party rezoning proposals. As consensus was not reached on those provisions they were deleted.

²⁵⁸ Several local governments are authorized by local act to substitute electronic publication for newspaper publication. Those special authorizations are not affected by this Act given G.S. 160D-1-11(d).

²⁵⁹ Surplusage.

²⁶⁰ Relocated from G.S. 160A-384, 153A-343 and retitled.

²⁶¹ Edited for clarity, remove archaic language.

²⁶² Redundant given definition of landowner in Article 1 that includes reference to county tax maps to identify the owner.

tax abstracts. For the purpose of this section, properties are “abutting” even if separated by a street, railroad, or other transportation corridor.²⁶³ This notice must be deposited in the mail at least 10 but not more than 25 days prior to the date of the ~~public~~²⁶⁴ hearing. If the zoning map amendment is being proposed in conjunction with an expansion of municipal extraterritorial planning and development regulation jurisdiction under G.S. 160D-2-2, a single hearing on the zoning map amendment and the boundary amendment may be held. In this instance the initial notice of the zoning map amendment hearing may be combined with the boundary hearing notice and the combined hearing notice mailed at least 30 days prior to the hearing.

(b) Option to mailed notice for large-scale zoning map amendments. The first class mail notice required under subsection (a) of this section shall not be required if the zoning map amendment directly affects more than 50 properties, owned by a ~~total of~~ at least 50 different property owners, and the ~~city~~ local government elects to use the expanded published notice provided for in this subsection. In this instance, a ~~city~~ local government may elect to ~~either~~ make the mailed notice provided for in subsection (a) of this section, or ~~may~~ as an alternative, elect to publish notice of the hearing as required by G.S. ~~160A-364~~ 160D-6-1,²⁶⁵ but provided that each advertisement shall not be less than one-half of a newspaper page in size. The advertisement shall only be effective for property owners who reside in the area of general circulation of the newspaper which publishes the notice. Property owners who reside outside of the newspaper circulation area, according to the address listed on the most recent property tax listing for the affected property, shall be notified according to the provisions of subsection (a) of this section.

~~(b1)~~²⁶⁶ ~~This subsection applies only to an application to request a zoning map amendment where the application is not made by the landowner of the parcel of land to which the amendment would apply. This subsection does not apply to a city-initiated zoning map amendment.~~

(c) Posted notice. When a zoning map amendment is proposed, the ~~city~~ local government shall prominently post a notice of the ~~public~~²⁶⁷ hearing on the site proposed for ~~rezoning the amendment~~ or on an adjacent public street or highway right-of-way. The notice shall be posted within the same time period specified for mailed notices of the hearing.²⁶⁸ When multiple parcels are included within a proposed zoning map amendment, a posting on each individual parcel is not required, but the ~~city~~ local government shall post sufficient notices to provide reasonable notice to interested persons.

(d) Actual notice. Except for a ~~city-initiated~~ government-initiated zoning map amendment, when an application is filed to request a zoning map amendment and that application is not made by the ~~owner of the parcel of land to which the amendment would apply~~, landowner or authorized agent, the applicant shall certify to the ~~city council~~ local government that the owner of the parcel of land as shown on the county tax listing has received actual notice of the proposed amendment

²⁶³ Clarifies that even if properties do not touch because they are separated by a transportation right of way that is owned in fee rather than as an easement, notice is required to properties immediately across that right of way.

²⁶⁴ Surplusage.

²⁶⁵ Update cross-reference.

²⁶⁶ Provision on actual notice to owner with third party rezonings is relocated to subsection (d) of this section.

²⁶⁷ Stylistic amendment to provide consistent reference to hearings.

²⁶⁸ To provide consistency with the parallel provisions for mailed and posted notices of hearings on quasi-judicial evidentiary hearings that is in current law [G.S. 160D-4-6(b)], the time period for posting notice of the hearing is specified.

and a copy of the notice of the ~~public~~²⁶⁹ hearing. Actual notice of the ~~proposed amendment and a copy of the notice of public~~²⁷⁰ hearing required under subsection (a) of this section shall be provided in any manner permitted under G.S. 1A-1, Rule 4(j). If notice cannot with due diligence be achieved by personal delivery, ~~registered or~~ certified mail, or by a designated delivery service authorized pursuant to 26 U.S.C. § 7502(f)(2), notice may be given by publication consistent with G.S. 1A-1, Rule 4(j1). The person or persons required to provide notice shall certify to the ~~city council~~ local government that ~~proper~~ actual notice has been provided ~~in fact~~, and such certificate shall be deemed conclusive in the absence of fraud.

(e) *Optional communication requirements.* When a zoning map amendment is proposed, a zoning regulation may require communication by the person proposing the map amendment to neighboring property owners and residents and may require the person proposing the zoning map amendment to report on any communication with neighboring property owners and residents.²⁷¹

§ 160D-6-3. Citizen comments.²⁷²

Zoning regulations ~~ordinances~~ may from time to time be amended, supplemented, changed, modified or repealed. If any resident or property owner in the ~~city~~ local government submits a written statement regarding a proposed amendment, modification, or repeal to a zoning regulation ~~ordinance~~ to the clerk to the board at least two business days prior to the proposed vote on such change, the clerk to the board shall deliver such written statement to the ~~city council~~ governing board.²⁷³ If the proposed change is the subject of a quasi-judicial proceeding under G.S. ~~160A-388~~ 160D-7-5, the clerk shall provide only the names and addresses of the individuals providing written comment, and the provision of such names and addresses to all members of the board shall not disqualify any member of the board from voting.

§ 160D-6-4. Planning board review and comment.²⁷⁴

(a) *Initial zoning.* In order to ~~initially~~²⁷⁵ exercise the zoning powers conferred by this ~~Part~~ Chapter for the first time, a ~~city council~~ local government shall create or designate a planning board under the provisions of this Article or of a special act of the General Assembly. The planning board shall prepare or shall review and comment upon a proposed zoning regulation ~~ordinance~~, including ~~both~~ the full text of such regulation ~~ordinance~~ and maps showing proposed district boundaries. The planning board may hold public meetings and legislative hearings²⁷⁶ in the course

²⁶⁹ Stylistic amendment.

²⁷⁰ Surplusage.

²⁷¹ This is a common requirement in many zoning ordinances that allow conditional zoning. The statute explicitly allows, but does not mandate, these neighborhood meetings as part of the rezoning application process.

²⁷² Provisions relocated from G.S. 160A-385(a) and 160A-386 and retitled. Incorporates provisions of S.L. 2015-160 (H. 201), which replaced the municipal protest petition with these provisions on citizen comments on proposed amendments.

²⁷³ As provision applies to cities and counties, replaces reference to city council with reference to governing board.

²⁷⁴ Relocated from G.S. 160A-387, 153A-344.

²⁷⁵ Since planning board recommendations are required for all zoning amendments (or repeal of the ordinance), the board must continue in existence as long as the local government exercises zoning authority.

²⁷⁶ Clarifies that public meetings as well as hearings may be held and specifies the type of hearing that is held by the planning board, if any are conducted.

of preparing the regulation, ordinance. Upon completion, the planning board shall make a written recommendation regarding adoption of the regulation ordinance to the governing board city council. The governing board city council shall not hold its required ~~public~~ legislative hearing or take action until it has received a recommendation regarding the regulation ordinance from the planning board. Following its required ~~public~~²⁷⁷ hearing, the governing board city council may refer the regulation ordinance back to the planning board for any further recommendations that the board may wish to make prior to final action by the governing board city council in adopting, modifying and adopting, or rejecting the regulation ordinance.

(b) Zoning amendments. Subsequent to initial adoption of a zoning regulation, ordinance, all proposed amendments to the zoning regulation ordinance or zoning map shall be submitted to the planning board for review and comment. If no written report is received from the planning board within 30 days of referral of the amendment to that board, the governing board may ~~proceed in its consideration of act on~~²⁷⁸ the amendment without the planning board report. The governing board is not bound by the recommendations, if any, of the planning board.

*(c) Review of other ordinances and actions.*²⁷⁹ Any development regulation other than a zoning regulation that is proposed to be adopted pursuant to this Chapter may be referred to the planning board for review and comment. Any development regulation other than a zoning regulation may provide that future proposed amendments of that ordinance be submitted to the planning board for review and comment. Any other action proposed to be taken pursuant to this Chapter may be referred to the planning board for review and comment.

*(d) Plan consistency.*²⁸⁰ When conducting a review of proposed zoning text or map amendments pursuant to this section, the planning board shall advise and comment on whether the proposed action amendment is consistent with any comprehensive plan that has been adopted and any other officially adopted plan that is applicable. The planning board shall provide a written recommendation to the governing board that addresses plan consistency and other matters as deemed appropriate by the planning board, but a comment by the planning board that a proposed amendment is inconsistent with the comprehensive plan shall not preclude consideration or approval of the proposed amendment by the governing board. If a zoning map amendment qualifies as a “large-scale rezoning” under G.S. 160D-6-2(b), the planning board statement describing plan consistency may address the overall rezoning and describe how the analysis and policies in the relevant adopted plans were considered in the recommendation made.

(e) Separate board required. Notwithstanding the authority to assign duties of the planning board to the governing board as provided by this Chapter, the review and comment

²⁷⁷ Surplusage.

²⁷⁸ Clarifies that the governing board hearing may be scheduled and action -- other than an actual vote by the governing board -- may be taken during the 30 day period allowed for planning board action.

²⁷⁹ As under current law, amendments to a zoning ordinance or zoning regulations within a unified development ordinance must be referred to the planning board for review and comment. Clarifies that proposed action on other development regulations may also be referred to the planning board for review, but this is not mandated and is at the option of each local government.

²⁸⁰ Relocated from G.S. 160A-383, 153A-341.

required by this section shall not be assigned to the governing board and must be performed by a separate board.²⁸¹

160D-6-5. Governing board statement.

(a) *Plan consistency.*²⁸² When adopting or rejecting any zoning text or map amendment,²⁸³ the governing board shall ~~also~~ approve a statement describing whether its action is consistent with an adopted comprehensive plan and any other officially applicable adopted plan ~~that is applicable~~, and briefly explaining why the board considers the action taken to be reasonable and in the public interest. That statement is not subject to judicial review. If a zoning map amendment qualifies as a “large-scale rezoning” under G.S. 160D-6-2(b), the governing board statement describing plan consistency may address the overall rezoning and describe how the analysis and policies in the relevant adopted plans were considered in the action taken.

(b) *Additional reasonableness statement for rezonings.*²⁸⁴ ~~In addition, When adopting or rejecting any petition for a zoning map amendment,~~²⁸⁵ ~~a special or conditional use district, or a conditional district, or other small-scale rezoning,~~ statement analyzing the reasonableness of the ~~proposed amendment, rezoning, shall be prepared for each petition for a rezoning to. This the statement of reasonableness may consider, among other factors, the size, physical conditions, and other attributes of the tract; the benefits and detriment to the landowner, the neighbors, and the surrounding community; and the relationship between the current actual and permissible development on the tract and adjoining areas and the development that would be permissible under the proposed amendment.~~²⁸⁶ If a zoning map amendment qualifies as a “large-scale rezoning” under G.S. 160D-6-2(b), the governing board statement on reasonableness may address the overall rezoning.

(c) *Single statement permissible.* The statement of reasonableness and the plan consistency statement required by this section may be approved as a single statement.

²⁸¹ While any other functions of a planning board may be assigned to other boards, including the governing board, this clarifies that the mandatory recommendations to the governing board regarding proposed ordinance amendments must be provided by a board other than the governing board itself.

²⁸² Relocated from G.S. 160A-383, 153A-341.

²⁸³ Adopts municipal language on plan consistency statement, clarifying that the statement needs to be “approved” by the governing board and it is not necessary to “adopt” the statement as a separate motion. The city and county statutory provisions were identical when adopted in 2005, but the city provision was amended to make this clarification in 2006. This edit does the same for counties.

²⁸⁴ Relocated from G.S. 160A-382(b), 153A-342(b). The plan consistency statement and statement why the action is reasonable and in the public interest continues to be required for all zoning amendments, both text and map amendments. Subsection (b) adds specificity to the statement of reasonableness when a zoning map amendment is proposed.

²⁸⁵ Clarifies when during the zoning amendment process the statement of reasonableness must be approved. Uses same timing as the plan consistency statement in the prior subsection. Simplifies the requirement by applying it to all zoning map amendments, eliminating the need to determine if a particular rezoning is spot zoning.

²⁸⁶ Elaborates on the 2005 codification of the statement of reasonableness required for conditional zoning and spot zoning by specifying the basic factors. Notes these factors “may” be considered rather than mandating all be addresses because not all factors are relevant to every rezoning.

ARTICLE 7. ZONING REGULATION

§ 160D-7-1. Purposes in view.²⁸⁷

~~Zoning regulations shall be made in accordance with a comprehensive plan. When adopting or rejecting any zoning amendment, the governing board shall also approve a statement describing whether its action is consistent with an adopted comprehensive plan and any other officially adopted plan that is applicable, and briefly explaining why the board considers the action taken to be reasonable and in the public interest. That statement is not subject to judicial review.~~²⁸⁸

Zoning regulations shall be made in accordance with a comprehensive plan²⁸⁹ and shall be designed to promote the public health, safety, and general welfare. To that end, the regulations may address, among other things, the following public purposes: to provide adequate light and air; to prevent the overcrowding of land; to avoid undue concentration of population; to lessen congestion in the streets; to secure safety from fire, panic, and dangers; ~~and~~ to facilitate the efficient and adequate provision of transportation, water, sewerage, schools, parks, and other public requirements; and promoting to promote the health, safety, morals, or the general welfare of the community.²⁹⁰ The regulations shall be made with reasonable consideration, among other things, as to the character of the district and its peculiar suitability for particular uses, and with a view to conserving the value of buildings and encouraging the most appropriate use of land throughout such city.

§ 160D-7-2. Grant of power.²⁹¹

(a) ~~For the purpose of promoting health, safety, morals, or the general welfare of the community,~~²⁹² ~~any city~~ A local government²⁹³ may adopt zoning regulations. ~~and development regulation ordinances. These ordinances may be adopted as part of a unified development ordinance or as a separate ordinance.~~²⁹⁴ A zoning ordinance regulation may regulate and restrict the height, number of stories and size of buildings and other structures; the percentage of lots that may be occupied; the size of yards, courts and other open spaces; the density of population; the

²⁸⁷ Relocated from G.S. 160A-383, 153A-341.

²⁸⁸ Relocated to G.S.160D-6-5.

²⁸⁹ Relocated from preceding paragraph in this same section.

²⁹⁰ Additional provisions to modernize the statement of purposes by including common purposes of contemporary zoning regulations were included in early bill drafts. Given lack of consensus as to the implications of deleting the 1923 language and inserting modernized language, the potential amendments were deleted, leaving the provision essentially as in current statute with no changes proposed that would enlarge or constrict the range purposes of zoning regulation.

²⁹¹ Relocated from G.S. 160A-381, 153A-340.

²⁹² Relocated to section on purposes of zoning, G.S. 160D-7-1.

²⁹³ Amended to provide consistent term to refer to cities and counties and reflects consolidation of provisions for cities and counties rather than continuing separate parallel provisions in Chapters 153A and 160A. Change made throughout proposed Chapter.

²⁹⁴ Redundant given G.S. 160D-1-3.

location and use of buildings, structures and land²⁹⁵ A ~~county~~ local government may regulate the development, including floating homes, over estuarine waters and over lands covered by navigable waters owned by the State pursuant to G.S. 146-12.²⁹⁶ ~~within the bounds of that county. For the purpose of this section, the term "structures" shall include floating homes. The ordinance~~ A zoning regulation shall²⁹⁷ provide density credits or severable development rights for dedicated rights-of-way pursuant to G.S. 136-66.10 or G.S. 136-66.11. Where appropriate a zoning regulation ~~such conditions~~ may include requirements that street and utility rights-of-way be dedicated to the public, ~~and that provision be made of recreational space and facilities, and that performance guarantees be provided, all to the same extent and with the same limitations as provided for in G.S. 160D-8-4.~~²⁹⁸

(b)²⁹⁹ Any ~~zoning and development~~ regulation ~~ordinance~~ relating to building design elements adopted under this Chapter ~~Part, under Part 2 of this Article, or under any recommendation made under G.S. 160A-452(6)c.~~ may not be applied to any structures subject to regulation under the North Carolina Residential Code for One-and Two-Family Dwellings except under one or more of the following circumstances:

- (1) The structures are located in an area designated as a local historic district pursuant to Part 4 of Article 9 of this Chapter. ~~Part 3C of Article 19 of Chapter 160A of the General Statutes.~~
- (2) The structures are located in an area designated as a historic district on the National Register of Historic Places.
- (3) The structures are individually designated as local, State, or national historic landmarks.
- (4) The regulations are directly and substantially related to the requirements of applicable safety codes adopted under G.S. 143-138.
- (5) Where the regulations are applied to manufactured housing in a manner consistent with G.S. 160D-9-7 ~~160A-383.1~~ and federal law.
- (6) Where the regulations are adopted as a condition of participation in the National Flood Insurance Program.

Regulations prohibited by this subsection may not be applied, directly or indirectly, in any zoning district, ~~special use district, conditional use district,~~ or conditional district unless voluntarily consented to by the owners of all the property to which those regulations may be applied as part of and in the course of the process of seeking and obtaining a zoning amendment or a zoning,

²⁹⁵ Early drafts of the bill proposed to modernize the list of items that could be regulated. Given lack of consensus as to the implications of doing so, those potential amendments were deleted, leaving the provision essentially as in current statute with no changes proposed that would enlarge or constrict the scope of zoning regulations.

²⁹⁶ Relocated from G.S. 153A-340(d), (e).

²⁹⁷ Provision amended by S.L. 2015-246, Sect. 16 (H. 44).

²⁹⁸ Relocates zoning impact mitigation authority from G.S. 160A-381(c), 153A-340(c1). Clarifies use and limits on impact mitigation and performance guarantees for commercial, industrial, institutional and other development that do not involve a residential subdivision. Explicitly limits zoning impact mitigation and performance guarantees to the same provisions as provided for subdivisions regulations. Provides for uniformity, consistency, and simplification, especially where zoning and subdivision reviews are concurrently conducted and where zoning and subdivision ordinances are integrated into a unified development ordinance.

²⁹⁹ Provision regarding building design elements added by S.L. 2015-86 (S. 25), effective June 19, 2015. Edits are stylistic and made to provide consistent references to terminology used in Ch. 160D.

subdivision, or development approval, nor may any such regulations be applied indirectly as part of a review pursuant to G.S. ~~160D-6-4 or 160D-6-5~~ ~~160A-383~~ of any proposed zoning amendment for consistency with an adopted comprehensive plan or other applicable officially adopted plan.

For the purposes of this subsection, the phrase "building design elements" means exterior building color; type or style of exterior cladding material; style or materials of roof structures or porches; exterior nonstructural architectural ornamentation; location or architectural styling of windows and doors, including garage doors; the number and types of rooms; and the interior layout of rooms. The phrase "building design elements" does not include any of the following: (i) the height, bulk, orientation, or location of a structure on a zoning lot; (ii) the use of buffering or screening to minimize visual impacts, to mitigate the impacts of light and noise, or to protect the privacy of neighbors; or (iii) regulations adopted pursuant to this Article governing the permitted uses of land or structures subject to the North Carolina Residential Code for One-and Two-Family Dwellings.

(i) Nothing in this subsection ~~(h) of this section~~ shall affect the validity or enforceability of private covenants or other contractual agreements among property owners relating to building design elements.

~~(b) Expired.~~

~~(b1)³⁰⁰ These regulations may provide that a board of adjustment may determine and vary their application in harmony with their general purpose and intent and in accordance with general or specific rules therein contained, provided no change in permitted uses may be authorized by variance.~~

~~(e)³⁰¹ The regulations may also provide that the board of adjustment, the planning board, or the city council may issue special use permits or conditional use permits in the classes of cases or situations and in accordance with the principles, conditions, safeguards, and procedures specified therein and may impose reasonable and appropriate conditions and safeguards upon these permits. When deciding special use permits or conditional use permits, the city council or planning board shall follow quasi-judicial procedures. Notice of hearings on special or conditional use permit applications shall be as provided in G.S. 160A-388(a2). No vote greater than a majority vote shall be required for the city council or planning board to issue such permits. For the purposes of this section, vacant positions on the board and members who are disqualified from voting on a quasi-judicial matter shall not be considered "members of the board" for calculation of the requisite majority. Every such decision of the city council or planning board shall be subject to review of the superior court in the nature of certiorari in accordance with G.S. 160A-388.~~

~~Where appropriate, such conditions may include requirements that street and utility rights-of-way be dedicated to the public and that provision be made of recreational space and facilities.~~³⁰²

~~(d)³⁰³ A city council member shall not vote on any zoning map or text amendment where the outcome of the matter being considered is reasonably likely to have a direct, substantial, and readily identifiable financial impact on the member. Members of appointed boards providing~~

³⁰⁰ Deleted as surplusage, covered by G.S. 160D-7-5 (formerly G.S. 160A-388).

³⁰¹ Special use permit provisions relocated to G.S. 160D-7-5.

³⁰² Relocated from G.S. 160A-388(c), also applicable to counties. Eliminated as redundant given impact mitigation provision earlier in section cross-referencing G.S. 160D-8-4.

³⁰³ Relocated to Article 1 to establish uniform standards on conflicts of interest regarding any legislative decision made pursuant to this Chapter.

~~advice to the city council shall not vote on recommendations regarding any zoning map or text amendment where the outcome of the matter being considered is reasonably likely to have a direct, substantial, and readily identifiable financial impact on the member.~~

~~(f)³⁰⁴ In order to encourage construction that uses sustainable design principles and to improve energy efficiency in buildings, a city may charge reduced building permit fees or provide partial rebates of building permit fees for buildings that are constructed or renovated using design principles that conform to or exceed one or more of the following certifications or ratings:~~

- ~~(1) Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) certification or higher rating under certification standards adopted by the U.S. Green Building Council.~~
- ~~(2) A One Globe or higher rating under the Green Globes program standards adopted by the Green Building Initiative.~~
- ~~(3) A certification or rating by another nationally recognized certification or rating system that is equivalent or greater than those listed in subdivisions (1) and (2) of this subsection.~~

~~(g)³⁰⁵ A zoning or unified development ordinance may not differentiate in terms of the regulations applicable to fraternities or sororities between those fraternities or sororities that are approved or recognized by a college or university and those that are not.~~

§ 160D-7-3. Zoning districts.³⁰⁶

~~(a) *Types of zoning districts.* For any or all these purposes, the city~~ A local government ~~may divide its territorial jurisdiction into zoning districts of any number, shape, and area that may be deemed best suited to carry out the purposes of this Part Article. and Within those districts it may regulate and restrict the erection, construction, reconstruction, alteration, repair or use of buildings, structures, or land. Such Zoning districts may include, but shall not be limited to:~~

- ~~1. Conventional or general use³⁰⁷ districts, in which a variety of uses are permissible in accordance with general standards allowed as permitted uses or uses by right and that may also include uses permitted only with a special use permit;~~
- ~~2. or a conditional use permit and Conditional zoning districts,³⁰⁸ in which site plans and or individualized development conditions are imposed.~~

³⁰⁴ Relocated to G.S. 160D-7-4.

³⁰⁵ Relocated to G.S. 160D-9-6.

³⁰⁶ Relocated from G.S. 160A-382, 153A-342.

³⁰⁷ Simplifies terminology.

³⁰⁸ Simplifies and clarifies zoning law by eliminating use of districts that have no permitted uses but only uses permitted with a special or conditional use permit. This tool was added to the zoning statutes in the 1980s prior to the legalization of purely legislative conditional zoning. At that time this was a necessary work around to avoid contract zoning and to allow site-specific conditions to be applied in the context of a rezoning. However, use of concurrent legislative and quasi-judicial decision-making proved to be legally and practically challenging for local governments and has been a source of considerable confusion for landowners and neighbors, as well as for local governments and the courts. As use of this tool is no longer necessary (given the use of either legislative conditional zoning or quasi-judicial special use permits), its elimination will simplify the law while not reducing the tools available to address development review.

3. Form-based Districts,³⁰⁹ or development form controls, that address the physical form, mass, and density of structures, public spaces, and streetscapes;
4. Overlay districts, in which ~~additional different~~³¹⁰ requirements are imposed on certain properties within one or more underlying conventional, conditional, or form-based districts; and, ~~general or special use or conditional districts and special use districts or conditional use districts, in which uses are permitted only upon the issuance of a special use permit;~~
5. Districts allowed by charter.

(b) Conditional districts. Property may be placed in a ~~special use district, conditional use district, or conditional district~~ only in response to a petition by ~~the all~~ owners of ~~all~~ the property to be included. Specific conditions ~~applicable to these districts~~ may be proposed by the petitioner or the ~~city~~ local government or its agencies, but only those conditions mutually approved by the ~~city~~ local government and the petitioner may be incorporated into the zoning regulations. ~~or permit requirements.~~ Conditions and site-specific standards imposed in a conditional district shall be limited to those that address the conformance of the development and use of the site to ~~city~~ local government ordinances, ~~and an official~~ plans adopted pursuant to G.S. 160D-5-1, ~~comprehensive or other plan~~³¹¹ or ~~and those that address the impacts reasonably expected to be generated by the development or use of the site.~~ The zoning regulation may provide that defined minor modifications in conditional district standards that do not involve a change in uses permitted or the density of overall development permitted may be reviewed and approved administratively.³¹² Any other modification of the conditions and standards in a conditional district shall follow the same process for approval as are applicable to zoning map amendments.³¹³ If multiple parcels of land are subject to a conditional zoning, the owners of individual parcels may apply for modification of the conditions so long as the modification would not result in other properties failing to meet the terms of the conditions. Any modifications approved shall only be applicable to those properties whose owners petition for the modification.

³⁰⁹ A number of jurisdictions now use form-based zoning codes in combination with or replacing traditional conventional zoning districts that are organized around regulation of land uses. Examples include the new Raleigh unified development ordinance and districts along major corridors in Asheville and Chapel Hill. This provision does not expand or contract the scope of zoning powers set forth in G.S. 160D-7-2, but explicitly authorizes use of this emerging zoning tool.

³¹⁰ Clarification. Overlay zoning districts typically apply more restrictive provisions, such as flood damage reduction provisions in floodplain overlay districts. However, they sometimes relax certain standards, as in planned development or mixed use overlay districts. The additional standards, whether more or less restrictive, must be uniformly applied within the overlay district.

³¹¹ Surplusage.

³¹² This is an optional provision for local governments. If desired, the ordinance can define minor modifications to conditional districts and allow those to be approved administratively without going through the full zoning text amendment process. If a local government does not want to allow this, there is no requirement to do so.

³¹³ Explicitly authorizes modification of conditional districts and requires major modifications to follow the legislative process used to rezone property. If property subject to a conditional zoning has multiple parcels, modification requests can be made by some owners without participation of all owners, but the modifications will only apply to those properties whose owners participate in the petition for modification.

~~A statement analyzing the reasonableness of the proposed rezoning shall be prepared for each petition for a rezoning to a special or conditional use district, or a conditional district, or other small-scale rezoning.~~³¹⁴

(c) Uniformity within districts. Except as authorized by the foregoing, all regulations shall be uniform for each class or kind of building throughout each district, but the regulations in one district may differ from those in other districts.

(d) Standards applicable regardless of district. A zoning regulation or unified development ordinance may also include development standards that apply uniformly jurisdiction-wide rather than being applicable only in particular zoning districts.³¹⁵

§ 160D-7-4. Local energy efficiency Incentives.³¹⁶

~~Land Use Development Incentives~~ *Energy efficiency and sustainable development.*³¹⁷ ~~Counties and municipalities; For the purpose of reducing the amount of energy consumption by new development, and thereby promoting the public health, safety, and welfare,~~³¹⁸ local governments may adopt ordinances to grant a density bonus, make adjustments to otherwise applicable development requirements, or provide other incentives ~~to a developer or builder within the county or municipality and its extraterritorial planning and development regulation jurisdiction, if the developer or builder person receiving the incentives agrees to construct new development or reconstruct existing development in a manner that the county or municipality~~ local government determines, based on generally recognized standards established for such purposes, makes a significant contribution to the reduction of energy consumption and increased use of sustainable design principles.

In order to encourage construction that uses sustainable design principles and to improve energy efficiency in buildings, a ~~city~~ local government may charge reduced building permit fees or provide partial rebates of building permit fees for buildings that are constructed or renovated using design principles that conform to or exceed one or more of the following certifications or ratings:³¹⁹

- (1) Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) certification or higher rating under certification standards adopted by the U.S. Green Building Council.
- (2) A One Globe or higher rating under the Green Globes program standards adopted by the Green Building Initiative.

³¹⁴ Relocated to G.S. 160D-5-2.

³¹⁵ Clarifies that while many development standards in a zoning ordinance vary from zoning district to zoning district, it is permissible to have some zoning standards that apply uniformly jurisdiction-wide. For example, an ordinance could require a specified setback from a major arterial road or a perineal stream in all zoning districts.

³¹⁶ Earlier drafts of the bill also included a proposal to expand statewide the provisions for density bonuses for affordable housing. Given a lack of consensus as to the need for doing so, those provisions were deleted and the matter left unchanged from the current statutes and local legislation.

³¹⁷ Relocated from G.S. 160A-383.4, also applicable to counties.

³¹⁸ Surplusage.

³¹⁹ Relocated from G.S. 160A-381(f), 153A-340(i).

- (3) A certification or rating by another nationally recognized certification or rating system that is equivalent or greater than those listed in subdivisions (1) and (2) of this subsection.

~~§ 160A-385. Changes.~~³²⁰

~~§ 160A-385.1/153A-344.1. Vested Rights.~~³²¹

§ 160D-7-5. Board of adjustment. Quasi-judicial zoning decisions.³²²

(a) *Provisions of Ordinance.* The zoning or unified development ordinance may provide that the board of adjustment, planning board, or governing board hear and decide quasi-judicial zoning decisions.³²³ ~~special and conditional use permits, requests for variances, and of administrative officials charged with enforcement of the ordinance. As used in this section, the term "decision" includes any final and binding order, requirement, or determination.~~³²⁴ The board of adjustment shall follow quasi-judicial procedures as specified in G.S. 160D-4-6 when deciding appeals, requests for variances and special and conditional use permits, and making any other quasi-judicial decision. ~~that may by ordinance be assigned to the board.~~³²⁵ ~~The board shall hear and decide all matters upon which it is required to pass under any statute or ordinance that regulates land use or development.~~³²⁶

(a2)³²⁷ ~~Notice of hearings conducted pursuant to this section shall be mailed to the person or entity whose appeal, application, or request is the subject of the hearing; to the owner of the property that is the subject of the hearing if the owner did not initiate the hearing; to the owners of all parcels of land abutting the parcel of land that is the subject of the hearing; and to any other persons entitled to receive notice as provided by the zoning or unified development ordinance. In the absence of evidence to the contrary, the city may rely on the county tax listing to determine owners of property entitled to mailed notice. The notice must be deposited in the mail at least 10 days, but not more than 25 days, prior to the date of the hearing. Within that same time period, the city shall also prominently post a notice of the hearing on the site that is the subject of the hearing or on an adjacent street or highway right of way.~~

³²⁰ G.S. 160A-385(a) regarding protest petitions relocated to G.S. 160D-6-3. G.S. 160A-385(b and G.S. 153A-344(b) regarding building permits and vested rights relocated to Article 1 -- G.S. 160D-1-8 regarding vested rights -- as these sections affect a number of development approvals, not just zoning.

³²¹ All provisions regarding vested rights relocated to Article 1 as that affects a number of development approvals, not just zoning.

³²² Relocated from G.S. 160A-388, which is also applicable to counties. General provisions on quasi-judicial process and appeals that are applicable to development regulations other than zoning are relocated to G.S. 160D-4-5 and 160D-4-6.

³²³ Deleted material that follows is surplusage, as it is addressed in the following subsections or in the general provisions of G.S. 160D-4-5 and 4-6.

³²⁴ Relocated to G.S. 160D-4-5(a).

³²⁵ Surplusage.

³²⁶ Relocated to G.S. 160D-4-5(a).

³²⁷ Relocated to G.S. 160D-4-6(b).

~~(b) Repealed.~~

(b) *Appeals.* Except as otherwise provided by this Chapter, the board of adjustment shall hear and decide appeals from administrative decisions of administrative officials charged with regarding administration and enforcement of the zoning regulation or unified development ordinance and may hear appeals arising out of any other ordinance that regulates land use or development. The provisions of G.S. 160D-4-5 and 4-6 are applicable to these appeals.³²⁸ ; pursuant to all of the following:

- ~~(1) Any person who has standing under G.S. 160A-393(d) or the city may appeal a decision to the board of adjustment. An appeal is taken by filing a notice of appeal with the city clerk. The notice of appeal shall state the grounds for the appeal.~~
- ~~(2) The official who made the decision shall give written notice to the owner of the property that is the subject of the decision and to the party who sought the decision, if different from the owner. The written notice shall be delivered by personal delivery, electronic mail, or by first-class mail.~~
- ~~(3) The owner or other party shall have 30 days from receipt of the written notice within which to file an appeal. Any other person with standing to appeal shall have 30 days from receipt from any source of actual or constructive notice of the decision within which to file an appeal.~~
- ~~(4) It shall be conclusively presumed that all persons with standing to appeal have constructive notice of the decision from the date a sign containing the words "Zoning Decision" or "Subdivision Decision" in letters at least six inches high and identifying the means to contact an official for information about the decision is prominently posted on the property that is the subject of the decision, provided the sign remains on the property for at least 10 days. Posting of signs is not the only form of constructive notice. Any such posting shall be the responsibility of the landowner or applicant. Verification of the posting shall be provided to the official who made the decision. Absent an ordinance provision to the contrary, posting of signs shall not be required.~~
- ~~(5) The official who made the decision shall transmit to the board all documents and exhibits constituting the record upon which the action appealed from is taken. The official shall also provide a copy of the record to the appellant and to the owner of the property that is the subject of the appeal if the appellant is not the owner.~~
- ~~(6) An appeal of a notice of violation or other enforcement order stays enforcement of the action appealed from unless the official who made the decision certifies to the board of adjustment after notice of appeal has been filed that because of the facts stated in an affidavit, a stay would cause imminent peril to life or property or because the violation is transitory in nature, a stay would seriously interfere with enforcement of the ordinance. In that case, enforcement proceedings shall not be stayed except by a restraining order, which may be granted by a court. If enforcement proceedings are not stayed, the appellant may file with the official a request for an expedited hearing of the appeal, and the board of adjustment shall meet to hear the appeal within 15 days after such a request is filed. Notwithstanding the foregoing, appeals of decisions granting a permit or otherwise affirming that a proposed use of property is consistent with the ordinance shall not stay the further review of an application for permits or permissions to use such property; in these situations the appellant may request and the board may~~

³²⁸ Remaining provisions related to appeals process relocated to G.S. 160D-4-5 and 4-6.

- ~~grant a stay of a final decision of permit applications or building permits affected by the issue being appealed.~~
- ~~(7) Subject to the provisions of subdivision (6) of this subsection, the board of adjustment shall hear and decide the appeal within a reasonable time.~~
 - ~~(8) The official who made the decision shall be present at the hearing as a witness. The appellant shall not be limited at the hearing to matters stated in the notice of appeal. If any party or the city would be unduly prejudiced by the presentation of matters not presented in the notice of appeal, the board shall continue the hearing. The board of adjustment may reverse or affirm, wholly or partly, or may modify the decision appealed from and shall make any order, requirement, decision, or determination that ought to be made. The board shall have all the powers of the official who made the decision.~~
 - ~~(9) When hearing an appeal pursuant to G.S. 160A-400.9(e) or any other appeal in the nature of certiorari, the hearing shall be based on the record below and the scope of review shall be as provided in G.S. 160A-393(k).~~
 - ~~(10) The parties to an appeal that has been made under this subsection may agree to mediation or other forms of alternative dispute resolution. The ordinance may set standards and procedures to facilitate and manage such voluntary alternative dispute resolution.~~

(c) *Special and Conditional Use Permits.*³²⁹ The ordinance regulations may provide³³⁰ that the board of adjustment, planning board, or governing board ~~may issue~~ hear and decide special ~~and conditional~~ use permits in accordance with principles, conditions, safeguards, and procedures specified ~~therein in the regulations~~. Reasonable and appropriate conditions and safeguards may be imposed upon these permits. Where appropriate, such conditions may include requirements that street and utility rights-of-way be dedicated to the public and that provision be made ~~of~~ for recreational space and facilities. Conditions and safeguards imposed under this subsection shall not include requirements for which the local government does not have authority under statute to regulate nor requirements for which the courts have held to be unenforceable if imposed directly by the local government.³³¹

The regulation may provide that defined minor modifications³³² to special use permits that do not involve a change in uses permitted or the density of overall development permitted may be reviewed and approved administratively.³³³ Any other modification or revocation of a special use permit shall follow the same process for approval as is applicable to the approval of a special use permit. If multiple parcels of land are subject to a special use permit, the owners of individual parcels may apply for permit modification so long as the modification would not result in other properties failing to meet the terms of the special use permit or regulations. Any modifications

³²⁹ Relocated from G.S. 160A-381(c) and 153A-340(c1), and 160A-388 in order to consolidate provisions on special and conditional use permits in one location. Provisions modestly edited and reordered for improved clarity.

³³⁰ Continues current law that allows, but does not require, use of special use permits. Uses single term for these quasi-judicial approvals to reduce confusion.

³³¹ Provision added by S.L. 2015-286, Section 1.8 (H. 765).

³³² Allows each local government to specifically define “minor” modifications if it elects to use this option.

³³³ If the staff determines a modification does not qualify as a minor modification as defined by the ordinance, that determination can be appealed in the same manner as any other determination.

approved shall only be applicable to those properties whose owners apply for the modification.³³⁴
The regulation may require that special uses permits be recorded with the Register of Deeds.³³⁵

(d) *Variances.* When unnecessary hardships would result from carrying out the strict letter of a zoning regulation, ~~ordinance~~, the board of adjustment shall vary any of the provisions of the ~~ordinance~~ zoning regulation upon a showing of all of the following:

- (1) Unnecessary hardship would result from the strict application of the ~~ordinance~~ regulation. It shall not be necessary to demonstrate that, in the absence of the variance, no reasonable use can be made of the property.
- (2) The hardship results from conditions that are peculiar to the property, such as location, size, or topography. Hardships resulting from personal circumstances, as well as hardships resulting from conditions that are common to the neighborhood or the general public, may not be the basis for granting a variance. A variance may be granted when necessary and appropriate to make a reasonable accommodation under the Federal Fair Housing Act for a person with a disability.³³⁶
- (3) The hardship did not result from actions taken by the applicant or the property owner. The act of purchasing property with knowledge that circumstances exist that may justify the granting of a variance shall not be regarded as a self-created hardship.
- (4) The requested variance is consistent with the spirit, purpose, and intent of the regulation, ~~ordinance~~, such that public safety is secured, and substantial justice is achieved.

No change in permitted uses may be authorized by variance. Appropriate conditions may be imposed on any variance, provided that the conditions are reasonably related to the variance. Any other development regulation ~~ordinance~~ that regulates land use or development may provide for variances from the provisions of those ordinances³³⁷ consistent with the provisions of this subsection.

~~(e) *Voting.*~~³³⁸

- ~~(1) The concurring vote of four fifths of the board shall be necessary to grant a variance. A majority of the members shall be required to decide any other quasi-judicial matter~~

³³⁴ Explicitly authorizes modification of special use permits and requires major modifications to follow the quasi-judicial process used to originally decide the permit. If property subject to a special use permit has multiple parcels, modification requests can be made by some owners without participation of all owners, but the modifications will only apply to those properties whose owners participate in the request for modification.

³³⁵ Some local governments required recordation of special and conditional use permits to provide notice to subsequent purchasers of the terms and conditions of the permits. This provision expressly authorizes, but does not require, requirements to record these permits.

³³⁶ Since a variance runs with the land and is not a personal right of an individual applicant, the personal circumstances of a particular applicant are generally irrelevant. However, the Federal Fair Housing Act requires that local governments make reasonable accommodations for persons with a disability. While some zoning ordinances have specific sections authorizing that flexibility when needed, others rely on the variance power to adjust dimensional standards or otherwise make adjustments to regulations in this situation. This addition clarifies that the variance tool can be used to meet this need rather than requiring a separate ordinance authorization. As is consistent with housing laws, an accommodation is reasonable only if it does not require a fundamental alteration in the nature of the program or regulation. This later provision is consistent with the requirement that use variances are not allowed and the spirit, purpose and intent of the regulation be observed.

³³⁷ Clarification.

³³⁸ Relocated to G.S. 160D-4-6.

~~or to determine an appeal made in the nature of certiorari. For the purposes of this subsection, vacant positions on the board and members who are disqualified from voting on a quasi-judicial matter shall not be considered members of the board for calculation of the requisite majority if there are no qualified alternates available to take the place of such members.~~

- ~~(2) A member of any board exercising quasi-judicial functions pursuant to this Article shall not participate in or vote on any quasi-judicial matter in a manner that would violate affected persons' constitutional rights to an impartial decision-maker. Impermissible violations of due process include, but are not limited to, a member having a fixed opinion prior to hearing the matter that is not susceptible to change, undisclosed ex parte communications, a close familial, business, or other associational relationship with an affected person, or a financial interest in the outcome of the matter. If an objection is raised to a member's participation and that member does not recuse himself or herself, the remaining members shall by majority vote rule on the objection.~~

~~(e1) Recodified as subdivision (c)(2).~~

~~(e2) *Quasi-Judicial Decisions and Judicial Review.*~~ ³³⁹

- ~~(1) The board shall determine contested facts and make its decision within a reasonable time. Every quasi-judicial decision shall be based upon competent, material, and substantial evidence in the record. Each quasi-judicial decision shall be reduced to writing and reflect the board's determination of contested facts and their application to the applicable standards. The written decision shall be signed by the chair or other duly authorized member of the board. A quasi-judicial decision is effective upon filing the written decision with the clerk to the board or such other office or official as the ordinance specifies. The decision of the board shall be delivered by personal delivery, electronic mail, or by first-class mail to the applicant, property owner, and to any person who has submitted a written request for a copy, prior to the date the decision becomes effective. The person required to provide notice shall certify that proper notice has been made.~~

- ~~(2) ³⁴⁰ Every quasi-judicial decision shall be subject to review by the superior court by proceedings in the nature of certiorari pursuant to G.S. 160A-393. A petition for review shall be filed with the clerk of superior court by the later of 30 days after the decision is effective or after a written copy thereof is given in accordance with subdivision (1) of this subsection. When first-class mail is used to deliver notice, three days shall be added to the time to file the petition.~~

~~(f) *Oaths.*~~ ³⁴¹ ~~The chair of the board or any member acting as chair and the clerk to the board are authorized to administer oaths to witnesses in any matter coming before the board. Any person who, while under oath during a proceeding before the board of adjustment board determining a quasi-judicial matter, willfully swears falsely is guilty of a Class 1 misdemeanor.~~

³³⁹ Relocated to G.S. 160D-4-6.

³⁴⁰ Relocated to Article 14 on judicial review, G.S. 160D-14-4 to establish uniform time within which to seek judicial review for all quasi-judicial decisions made under this Chapter.

³⁴¹ Relocated to G.S. 160D-4-6.

~~(g) *Subpoenas.*~~³⁴² ~~The board of adjustment through the chair, or in the chair's absence anyone acting as chair, may subpoena witnesses and compel the production of evidence. To request issuance of a subpoena, persons with standing under G.S. 160A-393(d) may make a written request to the chair explaining why it is necessary for certain witnesses or evidence to be compelled. The chair shall issue requested subpoenas he or she determines to be relevant, reasonable in nature and scope, and not oppressive. The chair shall rule on any motion to quash or modify a subpoena. Decisions regarding subpoenas made by the chair may be appealed to the full board of adjustment. If a person fails or refuses to obey a subpoena issued pursuant to this subsection, the board of adjustment or the party seeking the subpoena may apply to the General Court of Justice for an order requiring that its subpoena be obeyed, and the court shall have jurisdiction to issue these orders after notice to all proper parties.~~

~~§ 160A-389. Remedies.~~³⁴³

~~If a building or structure is erected, constructed, reconstructed, altered, repaired, converted, or maintained, or any building, structure or land is used in violation of this Part or of any ordinance or other regulation made under authority conferred thereby, the city, in addition to other remedies, may institute any appropriate action or proceedings to prevent the unlawful erection, construction, reconstruction, alteration, repair, conversion, maintenance or use, to restrain, correct or abate the violation, to prevent occupancy of the building, structure or land, or to prevent any illegal act, conduct, business or use in or about the premises.~~

§ 160D-7-6. Zoning conflicts with other development standards.³⁴⁴ (a) When regulations made under authority of this ~~Part~~ Article require a greater width or size of yards or courts, or require a lower height of a building or fewer number of stories, or require a greater percentage of a lot to be left unoccupied, or impose other higher standards than are required in any other statute or local ordinance or regulation, the regulations made under authority of this ~~Part~~ Article shall govern. When the provisions of any other statute or local ordinance or regulation require a greater width or size of yards or courts, or require a lower height of a building or a fewer number of stories, or require a greater percentage of a lot to be left unoccupied, or impose other higher standards than are required by the regulations made under authority of this ~~Part~~ Article, the provisions of that statute or local ordinance or regulation shall govern.

(b)³⁴⁵ When adopting regulations under this Part, a local government may not use a definition of dwelling unit, bedroom, or sleeping unit that is more expansive than any definition of the same in another statute or in a rule adopted by a State agency.

~~§ 160D-7-7. Other statutes not repealed.~~³⁴⁶ ~~This Part Article shall not repeal any zoning act or city or county planning act, local or general, now in force, except those that are repugnant to or inconsistent herewith. This Part Article shall be construed to be an enlargement of the duties, powers, and authority contained in other laws authorizing the appointment and proper functioning~~

³⁴² Relocated to G.S. 160D-4-6.

³⁴³ Relocated to Article 4, G.S. 160D-4-4.

³⁴⁴ Relocated from G.S. 160A-390, 153A-346.

³⁴⁵ Provision added by S.L. 2015-246, Sec. 18 (H. 44).

³⁴⁶ Relocated from G.S. 160A-391.

~~of city planning commissions or zoning commissions by any city or town in the State of North Carolina local government.~~

ARTICLE 8. SUBDIVISION REGULATION

§ 160D-8-1. ~~Subdivision regulation Authority.~~³⁴⁷ A city local government may by ordinance regulate the subdivision of land within its territorial planning and development regulation jurisdiction. In addition to final plat approval, the regulation ordinance may include provisions for review and approval of sketch plans and preliminary plats. The regulation ordinance may provide for different review procedures for differing different classes of subdivisions. ~~The ordinance may be adopted as part of a unified development ordinance or as a separate subdivision ordinance.~~³⁴⁸ Decisions on approval or denial of preliminary or final plats may be made only on the basis of standards explicitly set forth in the subdivision or unified development ordinance.

§ 160D-8-2. ~~Definition Applicability.~~³⁴⁹

(a) For the purpose of this ~~Part Article~~, "subdivision" means subdivision regulations shall be applicable to all divisions of a tract or parcel of land into two or more lots, building sites, or other divisions when any one or more of those divisions is created for the purpose of sale or building development (whether immediate or future) and shall include all divisions of land involving the dedication of a new street or a change in existing streets; but the following shall not be included within this definition nor be subject to the regulations authorized by this ~~Part Article~~:

- (1) The combination or recombination of portions of previously subdivided and recorded lots where the total number of lots is not increased and the resultant lots are equal to or exceed the standards of the municipality local government as shown in its subdivision regulations.
- (2) The division of land into parcels greater than 10 acres where no street right-of-way dedication is involved.
- (3) The public acquisition by purchase of strips of land for the widening or opening of streets or for public transportation system corridors.
- (4) The division of a tract in single ownership whose entire area is no greater than two acres into not more than three lots, where no street right-of-way dedication is involved and where the resultant lots are equal to or exceed the standards of the municipality local government, as shown in its subdivision regulations.

(b) A city local government may provide for expedited review of specified classes of subdivisions.

§ 160D-8-3. ~~Ordinance to contain procedure for plat approval; approval prerequisite to plat recordation; statement by owner. Review process, filing, and recording of subdivision plats.~~³⁵⁰

(a) Any subdivision regulation ordinance adopted pursuant to this ~~Part Article~~ shall contain provisions setting forth the procedures and standards to be followed in granting or denying approval of a subdivision plat prior to its registration.

³⁴⁷ Relocated from G.S. 160A-371, 153A-330.

³⁴⁸ Redundant given G.S. 160D-1-3.

³⁴⁹ Relocated from G.S. 160A-376, 153A-335.

³⁵⁰ Relocated from G.S. 160A-373, 153A-332.

(b) ~~The A subdivision regulation ordinance~~³⁵¹ shall provide that the following agencies be given an opportunity to make recommendations concerning an individual subdivision plat before the plat is approved:

- (1) The district highway engineer as to proposed State streets, State highways, and related drainage systems;
- (2) The county health director or local public utility, as appropriate, as to proposed water or sewerage systems;
- (3) Any other agency or official designated by the governing board. ~~of commissioners.~~

(c) ~~The subdivision regulation ordinance~~ may provide that final decisions on preliminary plats and final plats are to be made by:

- (1) ~~The city council governing board,~~
- (2) ~~The city council governing board~~ on recommendation of a designated body, or
- (3) A designated planning board, technical review committee of local government staff members, or other designated body or staff person.

If the final decision on a subdivision plat is administrative, the decision may be assigned to a staff person or committee comprised entirely of staff persons and notice of the decision shall be as provided by G.S. 160D-4-3(b). If the final decision on a subdivision plat is quasi-judicial, the decision shall be assigned to the governing board, the planning board, the board of adjustment, or other board appointed pursuant to this Chapter, and the procedures set forth in G.S. 160D-4-6 shall apply.

(d) ~~From and~~ After the effective date ~~of that~~ a subdivision regulation ordinance that is adopted, ~~by the city,~~ no subdivision plat ~~of land within the city's~~ within a local government's planning and development regulation jurisdiction shall be filed or recorded until it shall have been submitted to and approved by the council governing board or appropriate agency body, as specified in the subdivision regulation ordinance, and until this approval shall have been entered on the face of the plat in writing by an authorized representative of the city local government. The Review Officer, pursuant to G.S. 47-30.2, shall not certify ~~a plat of a subdivision plat of land located within the territorial jurisdiction of a city~~ that has not been approved in accordance with these provisions nor shall the clerk of superior court order or direct the recording of a plat if the recording would be in conflict with this section.³⁵²

§ 160D-8-4. Contents and requirements of regulation ordinance.³⁵³

(a) Purposes. A subdivision ~~control ordinance~~ regulation may provide for the orderly growth and development of the city local government; for the coordination of transportation networks and utilities within proposed subdivisions with existing or planned streets and highways and with other public facilities; ~~for the dedication or reservation of recreation areas serving residents of the immediate neighborhood within the subdivision or, alternatively, for provision of funds to be used to acquire recreation areas serving residents of the development or subdivision or more than one subdivision or development within the immediate area, and rights of way or easements for street and utility purposes including the dedication of rights of way pursuant to G.S.~~

³⁵¹ This paragraph relocated from G.S. 153A-332.

³⁵² Simplify and clarify language.

³⁵³ Relocated from G.S. 160A-372, 153A-331.

~~136-66.10 or G.S. 136-66.11;~~³⁵⁴ and for the distribution of population and traffic in a manner that will avoid congestion and overcrowding and will create conditions that substantially promote public health, safety, and the general welfare.

(b) *Plats.* The ~~regulation ordinance~~ may require a plat be prepared, approved, and recorded pursuant to the provisions of the ~~regulation ordinance~~ whenever any subdivision of land takes place. The ~~regulation ordinance~~ may include requirements that plats show sufficient data to determine readily and reproduce accurately on the ground the location, bearing, and length of every street and alley line, lot line, easement boundary line, and other property boundaries, including the radius and other data for curved property lines, to an appropriate accuracy and in conformance with good surveying practice.

(c) *Transportation and utilities.*³⁵⁵ ~~The regulation may provide for the dedication of and~~ rights-of-way or easements for street and utility purposes, including the dedication of rights-of-way pursuant to G.S. 136-66.10 or G.S. 136-66.11

The ~~regulation ordinance~~ may provide that in lieu of required street construction, a developer ~~may~~³⁵⁶ be required to provide funds ~~that for~~ city³⁵⁷ ~~may use~~ for the construction of roads to serve the occupants, residents, or invitees of the subdivision or development and these funds may be used for roads which serve more than one subdivision or development within the area. All funds received by the city pursuant to this ~~paragraph subsection~~ shall be used only for development of roads, including design, land acquisition, and construction. However, a city may undertake these activities in conjunction with the Department of Transportation under an agreement between the city and the Department of Transportation. Any formula adopted to determine the amount of funds the developer is to pay in lieu of-required street construction shall be based on the trips generated from the subdivision or development. The ~~regulation ordinance~~ may require a combination of partial payment of funds and partial dedication of constructed streets when the governing ~~body board~~ of the city determines that a combination is in the best interests of the citizens of the area to be served.

(d) *Recreation areas and open space.* ~~The regulation may provide for the dedication or~~ reservation of recreation areas serving residents of the immediate neighborhood within the subdivision or, alternatively, for ~~provision payment~~ of funds to be used to acquire or ~~develop~~ recreation areas serving residents of the development or subdivision or more than one subdivision or development within the immediate area.

~~The ordinance may provide that a developer may provide funds to the city whereby the city may acquire recreational land or areas to serve the development or subdivision, including the purchase of land that may be used to serve more than one subdivision or development within the immediate area.~~³⁵⁸ All funds received by the city ~~local government~~ pursuant to this paragraph shall be used only for the acquisition or development of recreation, park, or open space sites. Any

³⁵⁴Relocated to later subsections of this section.

³⁵⁵ Consolidates existing provisions relative to transportation and utilities.

³⁵⁶ Clarify that subdivision regulations are not required to provide for fees in lieu of dedication of land or construction of facilities, but that if such provisions are allowed by the ordinance and are elected for use in a particular plat review, they are binding on the local government and the owner.

³⁵⁷ "City" rather than "local government" is used here since counties have no authority for a county streets or roads.

³⁵⁸Delete sentence as redundant, as it repeats prior sentence. Rest of subsection notes these funds can be used for land acquisition or development of recreation facilities.

formula enacted to determine the amount of funds that are to be provided under this paragraph shall be based on the value of the development or subdivision for property tax purposes. The regulation ordinance may allow a combination or partial payment of funds and partial dedication of land when the governing board body of the city determines that this combination is in the best interests of the citizens of the area to be served.

(e) Community service facilities. The regulation ordinance may provide for the more orderly development of subdivisions by requiring the construction of community service facilities in accordance with ~~municipal~~ local government plans, policies, and standards.

(f) School sites.

The regulation ordinance may provide for the reservation of school sites in accordance with ~~comprehensive land use~~ plans approved by the ~~council governing board or the planning board~~.³⁵⁹ In order for this authorization to become effective, before approving such plans the ~~council governing board or planning board~~ and the board of education with jurisdiction over the area shall jointly determine the ~~specific~~ location and size of any school sites to be reserved. ; ~~which information shall appear in the comprehensive land use plan~~. Whenever a subdivision is submitted for approval which includes part or all of a school site to be reserved under the plan, the ~~council governing board or planning board~~ shall immediately notify the board of education and the board of education shall promptly decide whether it still wishes the site to be reserved. If the board of education does not wish to reserve the site, it shall so notify the ~~council governing board or planning board~~ and no site shall be reserved. If the board of education does wish to reserve the site, the subdivision or site plan shall not be approved without such reservation. The board of education shall then have 18 months beginning on the date of final approval of the subdivision or site plan within which to acquire the site by purchase or by initiating condemnation proceedings. If the board of education has not purchased or begun proceedings to condemn the site within 18 months, the ~~subdivider~~ landowner may treat the land as freed of the reservation.

(d) Performance guarantees.³⁶⁰ To assure compliance with these and other development regulation ordinance requirements, the regulation ordinance may provide for performance guarantees to assure successful completion of required ~~improvements~~. ~~If a performance guarantee is required, the city local government shall provide a range of options of types of performance guarantees, including, but not limited to, surety bonds or letters of credit, from which the developer person required to give the performance guarantee may choose.~~ improvements at the time the plat is recorded as provided in subsection (b) of this section. For any specific development, the type of performance guarantee ~~from the range specified by the city~~ shall be at the election of the ~~developer person required to give the performance guarantee~~.³⁶¹

For purposes of this section, all of the following shall apply with respect to performance guarantees:

- (1) The term "performance guarantee" shall mean any of the following forms of guarantee:
 - a. Surety bond issued by any company authorized to do business in this State.
 - b. Letter of credit issued by any financial institution licensed to do business in this State.

³⁵⁹ Deleted for consistency with G.S. 160D-5-1(c), which requires plan adoption by the governing board.

³⁶⁰ Relocated from G.S. 160A-372(c), 153A-331(c).

³⁶¹ Subsection updated to reflect amendments made by S.L. 2015-187 (H. 721).

- c. Other form of guarantee that provides equivalent security to a surety bond or letter of credit.
- (2) The performance guarantee shall be returned or released, as appropriate, in a timely manner upon the acknowledgement by the local government that the improvements for which the performance guarantee is being required are complete. If the improvements are not complete and the current performance guarantee is expiring, the performance guarantee shall be extended, or a new performance guarantee issued, for an additional period until such required improvements are complete. A developer shall demonstrate reasonable, good faith progress toward completion of the required improvements that are the subject of the performance guarantee or any extension. The form of any extension shall remain at the election of the developer.
- (3) The amount of the performance guarantee shall not exceed one hundred twenty-five percent (125%) of the reasonably estimated cost of completion at the time the performance guarantee is issued. Any extension of the performance guarantee necessary to complete required improvements shall not exceed one hundred twenty-five percent (125%) of the reasonably estimated cost of completion of the remaining incomplete improvements still outstanding at the time the extension is obtained.
- (4) The performance guarantee shall only be used for completion of the required improvements and not for repairs or maintenance after completion.

§ 160D-8-5. Notice of new subdivision fees and fee increases; public comment period.³⁶²

(a) A ~~city~~ local government shall provide notice to interested parties of the imposition of or increase in fees or charges applicable solely to the construction of development subject to ~~the provisions of Part 2 of Article 19 of this Chapter~~ this Article at least seven days prior to the first meeting where the imposition of or increase in the fees or charges is on the agenda for consideration. The ~~city~~ local government shall employ at least two of the following means of communication in order to provide the notice required by this section:

- (1) Notice of the meeting in a prominent location on a web site managed or maintained by the ~~city~~ local government.
- (2) Notice of the meeting in a prominent physical location, including, but not limited to, any government building, library, or courthouse within the ~~city~~ planning and development regulation jurisdiction of the local government.
- (3) Notice of the meeting by electronic mail or other reasonable means ~~mail~~ to a list of interested parties that is created by the ~~city~~ local government for the purpose of notification as required by this section.

~~(4) Notice of the meeting by facsimile to a list of interested parties that is created by the city local government for the purpose of notification as required by this section.~~

~~(a1)~~ If a city does not maintain its own web site, it may employ the notice option provided by subdivision (1) of subsection (a) of this section by submitting a request to a county or counties in which the city is located to post such notice in a prominent location on a web site that is maintained by the county or counties. Any city that elects to provide such notice shall make its request to the county or counties at least 15 days prior to the date of the first meeting where the imposition of or increase in the fees or charges is on the agenda for consideration.

³⁶² Relocated from G.S. 160A-4.1, 153A-102.1.

(b) During the consideration of the imposition of or increase in fees or charges as provided in subsection (a) of this section, the governing ~~body~~ board of the ~~city~~ local government shall permit a period of public comment.

(c) This section shall not apply if the imposition of or increase in fees or charges is contained in a budget filed in accordance with the requirements of G.S. 159-12.

§ 160D-8-6. Effect of plat approval on dedications.³⁶³ The approval of a plat shall not be deemed to constitute or effect the acceptance by the ~~city~~ local government or public of the dedication of any street or other ground, public utility line, or other public facility shown on the plat. However, any ~~city council~~ governing board may by resolution accept any dedication made to the public of lands or facilities for streets, parks, public utility lines, or other public purposes, when the lands or facilities are located within its ~~subdivision-regulation~~ planning and development regulation jurisdiction. Acceptance of dedication of lands or facilities located within the ~~subdivision-regulation~~ planning and development regulation jurisdiction but outside the corporate limits of a city shall not place on the city any duty to open, operate, repair, or maintain any street, utility line, or other land or facility, and a city shall in no event be held to answer in any civil action or proceeding for failure to open, repair, or maintain any street located outside its corporate limits. Unless a city, county or other public entity operating a water system shall have agreed to begin operation and maintenance of the water system or water system facilities within one year of the time of issuance of a certificate of occupancy for the first unit of housing in the subdivision, a city or county shall not, as part of its subdivision regulation applied to facilities or land outside the corporate limits of a city, require dedication of water systems or facilities as a condition for subdivision approval.

§ 160D-8-7. Penalties for transferring lots in unapproved subdivisions.³⁶⁴

(a) If a ~~city~~ local government adopts a subdivision regulation, ~~an ordinance regulating the subdivision of land as authorized herein~~, any person who, being the owner or agent of the owner of any land located within the planning and development regulation jurisdiction of that ~~city~~ local government, thereafter subdivides his land in violation of the regulation ~~ordinance~~ or transfers or sells land by reference to, exhibition of, or any other use of a plat showing a subdivision of the land before the plat has been properly approved under such regulation ~~ordinance~~ and recorded in the office of the appropriate register of deeds, shall be guilty of a Class 1 misdemeanor. The description by metes and bounds in the instrument of transfer or other document used in the process of selling or transferring land shall not exempt the transaction from this penalty. The ~~city~~ local government may bring an action for injunction of any illegal subdivision, transfer, conveyance, or sale of land, and the court shall, upon appropriate findings, issue an injunction and order requiring the offending party to comply with the subdivision regulation. ~~ordinance~~. Building permits required pursuant to G.S. 160D-11-8 may be denied for lots that have been illegally subdivided. In addition to other remedies, a ~~city~~ local government may institute any appropriate action or proceedings to prevent the unlawful subdivision of land, to restrain, correct, or abate the violation, or to prevent any illegal act or conduct.

(b) The provisions of this section shall not prohibit any owner or its agent from entering into contracts to sell or lease by reference to an approved preliminary plat for which a final plat

³⁶³ Relocated from G.S. 160A-374, 153A-333.

³⁶⁴ Relocated from G.S. 160A-375, 153A-344.

has not yet been properly approved under the subdivision regulation ordinance or recorded with the register of deeds, provided the contract does all of the following:

- (1) Incorporates as an attachment a copy of the preliminary plat referenced in the contract and obligates the owner to deliver to the buyer a copy of the recorded plat prior to closing and conveyance.
- (2) Plainly and conspicuously notifies the prospective buyer or lessee that a final subdivision plat has not been approved or recorded at the time of the contract, that no governmental body will incur any obligation to the prospective buyer or lessee with respect to the approval of the final subdivision plat, that changes between the preliminary and final plats are possible, and that the contract or lease may be terminated without breach by the buyer or lessee if the final recorded plat differs in any material respect from the preliminary plat.
- (3) Provides that if the approved and recorded final plat does not differ in any material respect from the plat referred to in the contract, the buyer or lessee may not be required by the seller or lessor to close any earlier than five days after the delivery of a copy of the final recorded plat.
- (4) Provides that if the approved and recorded final plat differs in any material respect from the preliminary plat referred to in the contract, the buyer or lessee may not be required by the seller or lessor to close any earlier than 15 days after the delivery of the final recorded plat, during which 15-day period the buyer or lessee may terminate the contract without breach or any further obligation and may receive a refund of all earnest money or prepaid purchase price.

(c) The provisions of this section shall not prohibit any owner or its agent from entering into contracts to sell or lease land by reference to an approved preliminary plat for which a final plat has not been properly approved under the subdivision regulation ordinance or recorded with the register of deeds where the buyer or lessee is any person who has contracted to acquire or lease the land for the purpose of engaging in the business of construction of residential, commercial, or industrial buildings on the land, or for the purpose of resale or lease of the land to persons engaged in that kind of business, provided that no conveyance of that land may occur and no contract to lease it may become effective until after the final plat has been properly approved under the subdivision regulation ordinance and recorded with the register of deeds.

§ 160D-8-8. Appeals of decisions on subdivision plats.³⁶⁵ Appeals of subdivision decisions may be made pursuant to G.S. 160D-14-3.

~~(a) When a subdivision ordinance adopted under this Part provides that the decision whether to approve or deny a preliminary or final subdivision plat is to be made by a city council or a planning board, other than a planning board comprised solely of members of a city planning staff, and the ordinance authorizes the council or planning board to make a quasi-judicial decision in deciding whether to approve the subdivision plat, then that quasi-judicial decision of the council or planning board shall be subject to review by the superior court by proceedings in the nature of certiorari. The provisions of G.S. 160A-381(c), 160A-388(e2)(2), and 160A-393 shall apply to those appeals.~~

³⁶⁵ Relocated from G.S. 160A-377, 153A-336. Provisions regarding judicial review are relocated to Article 14 on judicial review.

~~(b) When a subdivision ordinance adopted under this Part provides that a city council, planning board, or staff member is authorized to make only an administrative or ministerial decision in deciding whether to approve a preliminary or final subdivision plat, then any party aggrieved by that administrative or ministerial decision may seek to have the decision reviewed by filing an action in superior court seeking appropriate declaratory or equitable relief. Such an action must be filed within the time frame specified in G.S. 160A 393 381(c) for petitions in the nature of certiorari.~~

~~(c) For purposes of this section, an ordinance shall be deemed to authorize a quasi-judicial decision if the city council or planning board is authorized to decide whether to approve or deny the plat based not only upon whether the application complies with the specific requirements set forth in the ordinance, but also on whether the application complies with one or more generally stated standards requiring a discretionary decision to be made by the city council or planning board.~~

~~§ 160A-378 to -380/153A-337 to -339. Reserved for future codification purposes.~~

ARTICLE 9. REGULATION OF PARTICULAR USES AND AREAS

PART 1. PARTICULAR LAND USES

§ 160D-9-1. Regulation of particular uses and areas.³⁶⁶ A local government may regulate the uses and areas set forth in this Article in zoning regulations pursuant to Article 7 of this Chapter, in development regulations adopted under this Article, or in regulations adopted under Article 8 of Chapter 160A or Article 6 of Chapter 153A.³⁶⁷ This shall not be deemed to expand, diminish, or alter the scope of authority granted pursuant to those Articles. In all instances, the substance of the local government regulation shall be consistent with the provisions in this Article. The provisions of this Chapter apply to any regulation adopted pursuant to this Article that substantially affects land use and development.

§ 160D-9-2. Adult businesses.³⁶⁸

(a) The General Assembly finds and determines that sexually oriented businesses can and do cause adverse secondary impacts on neighboring properties. Numerous studies ~~that are~~ relevant to North Carolina have found increases in crime rates and decreases in neighboring property values as a result of the location of sexually oriented businesses in inappropriate locations or from the operation of such businesses in an inappropriate manner. Reasonable local government regulation of sexually oriented businesses in order to prevent or ameliorate adverse secondary impacts is consistent with the federal constitutional protection afforded to nonobscene but sexually explicit speech.

(b) In addition to State laws on obscenity, indecent exposure, and adult establishments, local government regulation of the location and operation of sexually oriented businesses is necessary to prevent undue adverse secondary impacts that would otherwise result from these businesses.

(c) ~~A city or county~~ local government may regulate sexually oriented businesses through zoning regulations, licensing requirements, or other appropriate local ordinances. ~~The city or county~~ local government may require a fee for the initial license and any annual renewal. Such local regulations may include, but are not limited to:

- (1) Restrictions on location of sexually oriented businesses, such as limitation to specified zoning districts and minimum separation from sensitive land uses and other sexually oriented businesses;

³⁶⁶ New section. Consolidates provisions regarding regulation of particular land uses into a single Part for ease of user accesses. Recognizes that regulation of some specific uses or areas can be accomplished as a general police power regulation as well as a development regulation under this Article (which is commonly done in counties without zoning and in smaller cities). Allows use of either source of authority, but provides that the local regulation must be consistent with these provisions and limitations.

³⁶⁷ Preserves the option of cities and counties to adopt regulations under either this Chapter (development regulations) or Article 8 of Chapter 160A or Article 6 of Chapter 153A (general police power), but specifies that the substantive limitations imposed by this Article apply regardless of the source of authority being used by the local government.

³⁶⁸ Relocated from G.S. 160A-181.1, also applicable to counties.

- (2) Regulations on operation of sexually oriented businesses, such as limits on hours of operation, open booth requirements, limitations on exterior advertising and noise, age of patrons and employees, required separation of patrons and performers, clothing restrictions for masseuses, and clothing restrictions for servers of alcoholic beverages;
- (3) Clothing restrictions for entertainers; and
- (4) Registration and disclosure requirements for owners and employees with a criminal record other than minor traffic offenses, and restrictions on ownership by or employment of a person with a criminal record that includes offenses reasonably related to the legal operation of sexually oriented businesses.

(d) In order to preserve the status quo while appropriate studies are conducted and the scope of potential regulations is deliberated, ~~city or county~~ local governments may enact moratoria of reasonable duration on either the opening of any new businesses authorized to be regulated under this section or the expansion of any such existing business. Businesses existing at the time of the effective date of regulations adopted under this section may be required to come into compliance with newly adopted regulations within an appropriate and reasonable period of time.

(e) ~~Cities and counties~~ Local governments may enter into cooperative agreements regarding coordinated regulation of sexually oriented businesses, including provision of adequate alternative sites for the location of constitutionally protected speech within an interrelated geographic area.

(f) For the purpose of this section, "sexually oriented businesses" means any businesses or enterprises that ~~have~~ has as one of ~~their~~ its principal business purposes or as a significant portion of ~~their~~ its business an emphasis on matter and conduct depicting, describing, or related to anatomical areas and sexual activities specified in G.S. 14-202.10. Local governments may adopt detailed definitions of these and similar businesses in order to precisely define the scope of any local regulations.

§ 160D-9-3. Agricultural uses.³⁶⁹

(a) Bona fide farming exempt from county zoning. ~~These County zoning~~ regulations may affect property used for bona fide farm purposes only as provided in this section. ~~subdivision (3) of this subsection.~~ This ~~subsection~~ section does not limit zoning regulation ~~under this Part~~ with respect to the use of farm property for nonfarm purposes.

Except as provided in G.S. 106-743.4 for farms that are subject to a conservation agreement under G.S. 106-743.2, bona fide farm purposes include the production and activities relating or incidental to the production of crops, grains, fruits, vegetables, ornamental and flowering plants, dairy, livestock, poultry, and all other forms of agriculture, as defined in G.S. 106-581.1. For purposes of this ~~subdivision~~ section, "when performed on the farm" in G.S. 106-581.1(6) shall include the farm within the jurisdiction of the county and any other farm owned or leased to or from others by the bona fide farm operator, no matter where located. For purposes of this ~~subdivision~~ section, the production of a nonfarm product that the Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services recognizes as a "Goodness Grows in North Carolina" product that is produced on a farm subject to a conservation agreement under G.S. 106-743.2 is a bona fide farm purpose. For purposes of determining whether a property is being used for bona fide farm purposes, any of the following shall constitute sufficient evidence that the property is being used for bona fide farm purposes:

³⁶⁹ Relocated from G.S. 153A-340(b) and (j), 160A-360(k) and (l).

1. A farm sales tax exemption certificate issued by the Department of Revenue.
2. A copy of the property tax listing showing that the property is eligible for participation in the present use value program pursuant to G.S. 105-277.3.
3. A copy of the farm owner's or operator's Schedule F from the owner's or operator's most recent federal income tax return.
4. A forest management plan.
5. A Farm Identification Number issued by the United States Department of Agriculture Farm Service Agency.

The definitions set out in G.S. 106-802 apply to this ~~subdivision~~ section. A county may adopt zoning regulations governing swine farms served by animal waste management systems having a design capacity of 600,000 pounds steady state live weight (SSLW) or greater provided that the zoning regulations may not have the effect of excluding swine farms served by an animal waste management system having a design capacity of 600,000 pounds SSLW or greater from the entire zoning jurisdiction.

(b) County zoning of residential uses on large lots in agricultural districts. ~~An ordinance adopted pursuant to this section~~ A county zoning regulation shall not prohibit single-family detached residential uses constructed in accordance with the North Carolina State Building Code on lots greater than 10 acres in size in zoning districts where more than fifty percent (50%) of the land is in use for agricultural or silvicultural purposes, except that this restriction shall not apply to commercial or industrial districts where a broad variety of commercial or industrial uses are permissible. ~~An ordinance~~ A zoning regulation adopted pursuant to this section³⁷⁰ shall not require that a lot greater than 10 acres in size have frontage on a public road or county-approved private road, or be served by public water or sewer lines, in order to be developed for single-family residential purposes.

(c) Agricultural areas in municipal extraterritorial jurisdiction.³⁷¹ ~~As used in this subsection, "bona fide farm purposes" is as described in G.S. 153A-340.~~³⁷² Property that is located in the geographic area of³⁷³ a municipality's extraterritorial planning and development regulation jurisdiction and that is used for bona fide farm purposes is exempt from ~~exercise of the municipality's zoning regulation to the same extent bona fide farming activities are exempt from county zoning pursuant to this section.~~³⁷⁴ As used in this subsection, "property" means a single tract of property or an identifiable portion of a single tract. Property that ~~is located in the geographic area of a municipality's extraterritorial jurisdiction and that~~ ceases to be used for bona fide farm purposes shall become subject to exercise of the municipality's extraterritorial planning and development regulation jurisdiction under this ~~Article~~ Chapter. For purposes of complying

³⁷⁰ Superfluous.

³⁷¹ Portions of this subsection relocated from previous G.S. 160A-360((k) regarding farm uses in municipal extraterritorial areas.

³⁷² Unnecessary given consolidation of city and county provisions related to zoning and agricultural uses.

³⁷³ Simplify language.

³⁷⁴ Clarification that the same county zoning exemption for bona fide farming applies to city zoning within a city's extraterritorial jurisdiction. This provides the same zoning and other development regulation treatment for farm land in a municipal ETJ as would be provided if the property were in county jurisdiction.

with state or federal law, 44 C.F.R. Part 60, Subpart A,³⁷⁵ property that is exempt from the exercise of municipal extraterritorial planning and development regulation jurisdiction pursuant to this subsection shall be subject to the county's floodplain regulation ordinance or all floodplain regulation provisions of the county's unified development ordinance.³⁷⁶

~~to the extraterritorial jurisdiction under this Article property that is located in the geographic area of a municipality's extraterritorial jurisdiction and that (1) A municipality may provide in its zoning ordinance that an accessory building of a bona fide farm as defined by G.S. 153A-340(b) has the same exemption from the building code as it would have under county zoning, as provided by Part 3 of Article 18 of Chapter 153A of the General Statutes.~~³⁷⁷

~~This subsection applies only to the City of Raleigh and the Towns of Apex, Cary, Fuquay Varina, Garner, Holly Springs, Knightdale, Morrisville, Rolesville, Wake Forest, Wendell, and Zebulon.~~

(d) Accessory farm buildings. A municipality may provide in its zoning regulation ordinance that an accessory building of a "bona fide farm" as defined by G.S. 153A-340(b) has the same exemption from the building code as it would have under county zoning ~~as provided by Part 3 of Article 18 of Chapter 153A of the General Statutes.~~³⁷⁸

~~This subsection applies only to the City of Raleigh and the Towns of Apex, Cary, Fuquay Varina, Garner, Holly Springs, Knightdale, Morrisville, Rolesville, Wake Forest, Wendell, and Zebulon.~~³⁷⁹

(e) City regulations in voluntary agricultural districts.³⁸⁰ A city may amend the development regulations ordinances applicable within its planning and development regulation jurisdiction to provide flexibility to farming operations that are located within a city or county voluntary agricultural district or enhanced voluntary agricultural district adopted under Article 61 of Chapter 106 of the General Statutes. Amendments to applicable development regulations ordinances may include provisions regarding on-farm sales, pick-your-own operations, road signs, agritourism, and other activities incident to farming. ~~For purposes of this section, the term "farming" shall have the same meaning as set forth in G.S. 106-581.1.~~

§ 160D-9-4. Airport zoning.³⁸¹ Any city local government may enact and enforce airport zoning regulations pursuant to this Chapter or as authorized by Article 4 of Chapter 63 of the General Statutes. Airport zoning regulations for real property within six miles of any cargo airport complex

³⁷⁵ Reference to specific federal regulatory citation generalized to avoid potential as that reference may be modified in the future.

³⁷⁶ Sentence added to current statute in 2014.

³⁷⁷ Relocated to following subsection (merging duplicate provisions). The authorization regarding accessory buildings and the building code previously applied only in Wake County municipalities.

³⁷⁸ Unnecessary given consolidation of city and county provisions related to zoning and agricultural uses.

³⁷⁹ Deletion gives all cities the option of exempting accessory farm buildings from city building code review.

³⁸⁰ Relocated from G.S. 160A-383.2. Deleted provision unnecessary given consolidation of city and county provisions related to zoning and agricultural uses.

³⁸¹ Adds cross-reference to the 1941 Model Airport Zoning Act. Most cities and counties have now incorporated airport zoning provisions into their zoning ordinances, but several still have separate airport zoning provisions (particularly in unzoned portions of counties). Conforming amendments to that 1941 statute are in Section 4 of this bill.

site subject to regulation by the North Carolina Global TransPark Authority are governed by G.S. 63A-18.³⁸²

§ 160D-9-5. Reasonable accommodation of Amateur radio antennas.³⁸³ A city local government ordinance based on health, safety, or aesthetic considerations that regulates the placement, screening, or height of the antennas or support structures of amateur radio operators must reasonably accommodate amateur radio communications and must represent the minimum practicable regulation necessary to accomplish the purpose of the city local government. A city local government may not restrict antennas or antenna support structures of amateur radio operators to heights of 90 feet or lower unless the restriction is necessary to achieve a clearly defined health, safety, or aesthetic objective of the city local government.

§ 160D-9-6. Family care homes.³⁸⁴

(a) The General Assembly finds ~~has declared in Article 1 of this Chapter that~~ it is the public policy of this State to provide persons with disabilities with the opportunity to live in a normal residential environment.

(b) As used in this section ~~Article~~:

(1) "Family care home" means a home with support and supervisory personnel that provides room and board, personal care and habilitation services in a family environment for not more than six resident persons with disabilities.

(2) "Person with disabilities" means a person with a temporary or permanent physical, emotional, or mental disability including but not limited to mental retardation, cerebral palsy, epilepsy, autism, hearing and sight impairments, emotional disturbances and orthopedic impairments but not including mentally ill persons who are dangerous to others as defined in G.S. 122C-3(11)b.

(c) A family care home shall be deemed a residential use of property for zoning purposes and shall be a permissible use in all residential districts ~~of all political subdivisions~~. No ~~political subdivision~~ local government may require that a family care home, its owner, or operator obtain, because of the use, a ~~conditional use permit~~, a special use permit, ~~special exception~~ or variance from any such zoning regulation ~~ordinance or plan~~; provided, however, that a ~~political subdivision~~ local government may prohibit a family care home from being located within a one-half mile radius of an existing family care home.

(d) A family care home shall be deemed a residential use of property for the purposes of determining charges or assessments imposed by ~~political subdivisions~~ local governments or businesses for water, sewer, power, telephone service, cable television, garbage and trash collection, repairs or improvements to roads, streets, and sidewalks, and other services, utilities, and improvements.

³⁸² Preserves the current jurisdictional relationship between local zoning and zoning adopted by the Global Transpark Authority.

³⁸³ Relocated from G.S. 160A-383.3, 153A-341.2

³⁸⁴ Relocated from G.S. 168-20 to 168-22.

§ 160D-9-7. Fence Wraps.³⁸⁵ Fence wraps displaying signage when affixed to perimeter fencing at a construction site are exempt from zoning regulation pertaining to signage under this Article until the certificate of occupancy is issued for the final portion of any construction at that site or 24 months from the time the fence wrap was installed, whichever is shorter. If construction is not completed at the end of 24 months from the time the fence wrap was installed, the local government may regulate the signage but shall continue to allow fence wrapping materials to be affixed to the perimeter fencing. No fence wrap affixed pursuant to this section may display any advertising other than advertising sponsored by a person directly involved in the construction project and for which monetary compensation for the advertisement is not paid or required.

§ 160D-9-8. Fraternities and sororities.³⁸⁶ A zoning regulation or unified development ordinance may not differentiate in terms of the regulations applicable to fraternities or sororities between those fraternities or sororities that are approved or recognized by a college or university and those that are not.

§ 160D-9-9. ~~Zoning regulations for m~~ Manufactured homes.³⁸⁷

(a) The General Assembly finds ~~and declares~~ that manufactured housing offers affordable housing opportunities for low and moderate income residents of this State who could not otherwise afford to own their own home. The General Assembly further finds that some local governments have adopted zoning regulations which severely restrict the placement of manufactured homes. It is the intent of the General Assembly in enacting this section that ~~cities~~ local governments reexamine their land use practices to assure compliance with applicable statutes and case law, and consider allocating more residential land area for manufactured homes based upon local housing needs.

(b) For purposes of this section, the term "manufactured home" is defined as provided in G.S. 143-145(7).

(c) A ~~city~~ local government may not adopt or enforce zoning regulations or other provisions which have the effect of excluding manufactured homes from the entire zoning jurisdiction.

(d) A ~~city~~ local government may adopt and enforce appearance and dimensional criteria for manufactured homes. Such criteria shall be designed to protect property values, to preserve the character and integrity of the community or individual neighborhoods within the community, and to promote the health, safety and welfare of area residents. The criteria shall be adopted by ordinance.

(e) In accordance with the ~~city's~~ local government's comprehensive plan and based on local housing needs, a ~~city~~ local government may designate a manufactured home overlay district within a residential district. Such overlay district may not consist of an individual lot or scattered lots, but shall consist of a defined area within which additional requirements or standards are placed upon manufactured homes.

(f) Nothing in this section shall be construed to preempt or supersede valid restrictive covenants running with the land. The terms "mobile home" and "trailer" in any valid restrictive

³⁸⁵ Provision added as G.S. 160A-381(j) and 153A-340(n) by S.L. 2015-246, Section 4 (H. 44).

³⁸⁶ Relocated from G.S. 160A-382, 153A-340(k).

³⁸⁷ Relocated from G.S. 160A-383.1, 153A-341.1.

covenants running with the land shall include the term "manufactured home" as defined in this section.

§ 160D-9-10. Modular homes. Modular homes shall comply with the design and construction standards set forth in G.S. 143-139.1.

§ 160D-9-11. Outdoor advertising.³⁸⁸

(a) As used in this section, the term "off-premises outdoor advertising" includes off-premises outdoor advertising visible from the main-traveled way of any road.

(b) A city local government may require the removal of an off-premises outdoor advertising sign that is nonconforming under a local ordinance and may regulate the use of off-premises outdoor advertising within ~~the~~ its planning and development regulation jurisdiction of the city in accordance with the applicable provisions of this Chapter³⁸⁹ and in accordance with G.S. 136-131.1 and 136-131.2.³⁹⁰

(c) A city local government shall give written notice of its intent to require removal of off-premises outdoor advertising by sending a letter by certified mail to the last known address of the owner of the outdoor advertising and the owner of the property on which the outdoor advertising is located.

(d) No city local government may enact or amend an ordinance of general applicability to require the removal of any nonconforming, lawfully erected off-premises outdoor advertising sign without the payment of monetary compensation to the owners of the off-premises outdoor advertising, except as provided below. The payment of monetary compensation is not required if:

- (1) The city local government and the owner of the nonconforming off-premises outdoor advertising enter into a relocation agreement pursuant to subsection (g) of this section.
- (2) The city local government and the owner of the nonconforming off-premises outdoor advertising enter into an agreement pursuant to subsection (k) of this section.
- (3) The off-premises outdoor advertising is determined to be a public nuisance or detrimental to the health or safety of the populace.
- (4) The removal is required for opening, widening, extending or improving streets or sidewalks, or for establishing, extending, enlarging, or improving any of the public enterprises listed in G.S. 160A-311, and the city local government allows the off-premises outdoor advertising to be relocated to a comparable location.
- (5) The off-premises outdoor advertising is subject to removal pursuant to statutes, ordinances, or regulations generally applicable to the demolition or removal of damaged structures.

(e) Monetary compensation is the fair market value of the off-premises outdoor advertising in place immediately prior to its removal and without consideration of the effect of

³⁸⁸ Relocated from G.S. 160A-199, 153A-143.

³⁸⁹ These provisions on removal of nonconforming outdoor advertising were previously located within the general police power Articles of Chapters 153A and 160A. Relocation to this Chapter assures use of a uniform process for adoption and amendment of ordinances as with all development regulations, but does not alter the substantive provisions of the statute.

³⁹⁰ Clarification. Adds cross-reference to statutory provisions in the Outdoor Advertising Control Act regarding local government authority to require removal of signs and regulate sign modernization.

the ordinance or any diminution in value caused by the ordinance requiring its removal.

Monetary compensation shall be determined based on:

- (1) The factors listed in G.S. 105-317.1(a); and
- (2) The listed property tax value of the property and any documents regarding value submitted to the taxing authority.

(f) If the parties are unable to reach an agreement under subsection (e) of this section on monetary compensation to be paid by the ~~city~~ local government to the owner of the nonconforming off-premises outdoor advertising sign for its removal, and the ~~city~~ local government elects to proceed with the removal of the sign, the ~~city~~ local government may bring an action in superior court for a determination of the monetary compensation to be paid. In determining monetary compensation, the court shall consider the factors set forth in subsection (e) of this section. Upon payment of monetary compensation for the sign, the ~~city~~ local government shall own the sign.

(g) In lieu of paying monetary compensation, a ~~city~~ local government may enter into an agreement with the owner of a nonconforming off-premises outdoor advertising sign to relocate and reconstruct the sign. The agreement shall include the following:

- (1) Provision for relocation of the sign to a site reasonably comparable to or better than the existing location. In determining whether a location is comparable or better, the following factors shall be taken into consideration:
 - a. The size and format of the sign.
 - b. The characteristics of the proposed relocation site, including visibility, traffic count, area demographics, zoning, and any uncompensated differential in the sign owner's cost to lease the replacement site.
 - c. The timing of the relocation.
- (2) Provision for payment by the ~~city~~ local government of the reasonable costs of relocating and reconstructing the sign including:
 - a. The actual cost of removing the sign.
 - b. The actual cost of any necessary repairs to the real property for damages caused in the removal of the sign.
 - c. The actual cost of installing the sign at the new location.
 - d. An amount of money equivalent to the income received from the lease of the sign for a period of up to 30 days if income is lost during the relocation of the sign.

(h) For the purposes of relocating and reconstructing a nonconforming off-premises outdoor advertising sign pursuant to subsection (g) of this section, a ~~city~~ local government, consistent with the welfare and safety of the community as a whole, may adopt a resolution or adopt or modify its ordinances to provide for the issuance of a permit or other approval, including conditions as appropriate, or to provide for dimensional, spacing, setback, or use variances as it deems appropriate.

(i) If a ~~city~~ local government has offered to enter into an agreement to relocate a nonconforming off-premises outdoor advertising sign pursuant to subsection (g) of this section, and within 120 days after the initial notice by the ~~city~~ local government the parties have not been able to agree that the site or sites offered by the ~~city~~ local government for relocation of the sign are reasonably comparable to or better than the existing site, the parties shall enter into binding arbitration to resolve their disagreements. Unless a different method of arbitration is agreed upon by the parties, the arbitration shall be conducted by a panel of three arbitrators. Each party shall

select one arbitrator and the two arbitrators chosen by the parties shall select the third member of the panel. The American Arbitration Association rules shall apply to the arbitration unless the parties agree otherwise.

(j) If the arbitration results in a determination that the site or sites offered by the ~~city~~ local government for relocation of the nonconforming sign are not comparable to or better than the existing site, and the ~~city~~ local government elects to proceed with the removal of the sign, the parties shall determine the monetary compensation under subsection (e) of this section to be paid to the owner of the sign. If the parties are unable to reach an agreement regarding monetary compensation within 30 days of the receipt of the arbitrators' determination, and the ~~city~~ local government elects to proceed with the removal of the sign, then the ~~city~~ local government may bring an action in superior court for a determination of the monetary compensation to be paid by the ~~city~~ local government to the owner for the removal of the sign. In determining monetary compensation, the court shall consider the factors set forth in subsection (e) of this section. Upon payment of monetary compensation for the sign, the ~~city~~ local government shall own the sign.

(k) Notwithstanding the provisions of this section, a ~~city~~ local government and an off-premises outdoor advertising sign owner may enter into a voluntary agreement allowing for the removal of the sign after a set period of time in lieu of monetary compensation. A ~~city~~ local government may adopt an ordinance or resolution providing for a relocation, reconstruction, or removal agreement.

(l) A ~~city~~ local government has up to three years from the effective date of an ordinance enacted under this section to pay monetary compensation to the owner of the off-premises outdoor advertising provided the affected property remains in place until the compensation is paid.

(m) This section does not apply to any ordinance in effect on July 1, 2004.³⁹¹ ~~the effective date of this section.~~ A ~~city~~ local government may amend an ordinance in effect on July 1, 2004 ~~the effective date of this section~~ to extend application of the ordinance to off-premises outdoor advertising located in territory acquired by annexation or located in the extraterritorial jurisdiction of the city. A ~~city~~ local government may repeal or amend an ordinance in effect on July 1, 2004 ~~the effective date of this section~~ so long as the amendment to the existing ordinance does not reduce the period of amortization in effect on the effective date of this section.

(n) The provisions of this section shall not be used to interpret, construe, alter or otherwise modify the exercise of the power of eminent domain by an entity pursuant to Chapter 40A or Chapter 136 of the General Statutes.

(o) Nothing in this section shall limit a ~~city's~~ local government's authority to use amortization as a means of phasing out nonconforming uses other than off-premises outdoor advertising.

§ 160D-9-12. Public buildings.³⁹² ~~Part applicable to buildings constructed by State and its subdivisions; exception.~~

~~All of the provisions of this Part~~ local government zoning regulations ~~are hereby made~~ applicable to the erection, construction, and use of buildings by the State of North Carolina and its political subdivisions.

³⁹¹ Clarification, simplification. The effective date of this section was July 17, 2004.

³⁹² Relocated from G.S. 160A-392, 153A-347.

Notwithstanding the provisions of any general or local law or ordinance, except as provided in Article 9, Part 4 of this Chapter,³⁹³ no land owned by the State of North Carolina may be included within an overlay district, ~~or a special use or conditional use district, or a conditional zoning district~~ without approval of the Council of State or its delegate.³⁹⁴

§ 160D-9-13. Solar collectors.³⁹⁵

(a) Except as provided in subsection (c) of this section, no ~~city local government ordinance~~ development regulation shall prohibit, or have the effect of prohibiting, the installation of a solar collector that gathers solar radiation as a substitute for traditional energy for water heating, active space heating and cooling, passive heating, or generating electricity for a residential property, and no person shall be denied permission by a ~~city local government~~ to install a solar collector that gathers solar radiation as a substitute for traditional energy for water heating, active space heating and cooling, passive heating, or generating electricity for a residential property. As used in this section, the term "residential property" means property where the predominant use is for residential purposes.

(b) This section does not prohibit ~~an ordinance~~ a development regulation regulating the location or screening of solar collectors as described in subsection (a) of this section, provided the ~~ordinance~~ regulation does not have the effect of preventing the reasonable use of a solar collector for a residential property.

(c) This section does not prohibit ~~an ordinance~~ a development regulation that would prohibit the location of solar collectors as described in subsection (a) of this section that are visible by a person on the ground:

- (1) On the facade of a structure that faces areas open to common or public access;
 - (2) On a roof surface that slopes downward toward the same areas open to common or public access that the facade of the structure faces; or
 - (3) Within the area set off by a line running across the facade of the structure extending to the property boundaries on either side of the facade, and those areas of common or public access faced by the structure.
- (d) In any civil action arising under this section, the court may award costs and reasonable attorneys' fees to the prevailing party.

§ 160D-9-14. Temporary health care structures.³⁹⁶

(a) The following definitions apply in this section:

- (1) Activities of daily living. – Bathing, dressing, personal hygiene, ambulation or locomotion, transferring, toileting, and eating.
- (2) Caregiver. – An individual 18 years of age or older who (i) provides care for a mentally or physically impaired person and (ii) is a first or second degree relative of the mentally or physically impaired person for whom the individual is caring.

³⁹³ Preserves current provision in G.S. 160A-400.9(f), G.S. 160D- 9-47 in this bill, regarding public buildings in historic districts.

³⁹⁴ Makes terminology for districts consistent and allows the Council of State to delegate review and approval of these zoning decisions to staff in situations or categories deemed appropriate by the Council.

³⁹⁵ Relocated from G.S. 160A-201, 153A-144.

³⁹⁶ Relocated from G.S. 160A-383.5, 153A-341.3.

- (3) First or second degree relative. – A spouse, lineal ascendant, lineal descendant, sibling, uncle, aunt, nephew, or niece and includes half, step, and in-law relationships.
- (4) Mentally or physically impaired person. – A person who is a resident of this State and who requires assistance with two or more activities of daily living as certified in writing by a physician licensed to practice in this State.
- (5) Temporary family health care structure. – A transportable residential structure, providing an environment facilitating a caregiver's provision of care for a mentally or physically impaired person, that (i) is primarily assembled at a location other than its site of installation, (ii) is limited to one occupant who shall be the mentally or physically impaired person, (iii) has no more than 300 gross square feet, and (iv) complies with applicable provisions of the State Building Code and G.S. 143-139.1(b). Placing the temporary family health care structure on a permanent foundation shall not be required or permitted.

(b) A city local government shall consider a temporary family health care structure used by a caregiver in providing care for a mentally or physically impaired person on property owned or occupied by the caregiver as the caregiver's residence as a permitted accessory use in any single-family residential zoning district on lots zoned for single-family detached dwellings.

(c) A city local government shall consider a temporary family health care structure used by an individual who is the named legal guardian of the mentally or physically impaired person a permitted accessory use in any single-family residential zoning district on lots zoned for single-family detached dwellings in accordance with this section if the temporary family health care structure is placed on the property of the residence of the individual and is used to provide care for the mentally or physically impaired person.

(d) Only one temporary family health care structure shall be allowed on a lot or parcel of land. The temporary family health care structures under subsections (b) and (c) of this section shall not require a special use permit or be subjected to any other local zoning requirements beyond those imposed upon other authorized accessory use structures, except otherwise provided in this section. Such temporary family health care structures shall comply with all setback requirements that apply to the primary structure and with any maximum floor area ratio limitations that may apply to the primary structure.

(e) Any person proposing to install a temporary family health care structure shall first obtain a permit from the city local government. The city local government may charge a fee of up to one hundred dollars (\$100.00) for the initial permit and an annual renewal fee of up to fifty dollars (\$50.00). The city local government may not withhold a permit if the applicant provides sufficient proof of compliance with this section. The city local government may require that the applicant provide evidence of compliance with this section on an annual basis as long as the temporary family health care structure remains on the property. The evidence may involve the inspection by the city local government of the temporary family health care structure at reasonable times convenient to the caregiver, not limited to any annual compliance confirmation, and annual renewal of the doctor's certification.

(f) Notwithstanding subsection (i) of this section, any temporary family health care structure installed under this section may be required to connect to any water, sewer, and electric utilities serving the property and shall comply with all applicable State law, local ordinances, and other requirements, including ~~Part 5 of this Article~~ Article 11 of this Chapter, as if the temporary family health care structure were permanent real property.

(g) No signage advertising or otherwise promoting the existence of the temporary health care structure shall be permitted either on the exterior of the temporary family health care structure or elsewhere on the property.

(h) Any temporary family health care structure installed pursuant to this section shall be removed within 60 days in which the mentally or physically impaired person is no longer receiving or is no longer in need of the assistance provided for in this section. If the temporary family health care structure is needed for another mentally or physically impaired person, the temporary family health care structure may continue to be used, or may be reinstated on the property within 60 days of its removal, as applicable.

(i) The city local government may revoke the permit granted pursuant to subsection (e) of this section if the permit holder violates any provision of this section or G.S. 160A-202. The city local government may seek injunctive relief or other appropriate actions or proceedings to ensure compliance with this section or G.S. 160A-202.

(j) Temporary family health care structures shall be treated as tangible personal property for purposes of taxation.

§ 160D-9-15. ~~Designation of Streets and transportation.~~

(a) *Street setbacks and curb cut regulations.*³⁹⁷ Local governments may establish street setback and driveway connection regulations as a part of development regulations adopted pursuant to this Chapter or may do so pursuant to G.S. 160A-306 and 160A-307.

(b) *Transportation corridor official maps.*³⁹⁸ Any city local government may establish official transportation corridor ~~official~~ maps and may enact and enforce ordinances pursuant to Article 2E of Chapter 136 of the General Statutes.

§ 160D-9-16 to 9-19. Reserved

³⁹⁷ Continues the current statutory scheme of allowing street setback regulations to be adopted pursuant to the specific provisions contained in Article 15 of G.S. Chapter 160A (which G.S. 153A-326 previously extended to counties) or to incorporate such regulations as part of the development regulations authorized by this Chapter.

³⁹⁸ Relocated from G.S. 160A-458.4. Note the authority to adopt official maps is suspended from July 1, 2016 to July 1, 2017 as provided by G. S. 136.44.50(h), created by S.L. 2016-90.

PART 2. ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS

§ 160D-9-20. Local environmental regulations.³⁹⁹

(a) Local governments are authorized to exercise the powers conferred by Article 8 of Chapter 160A and Article 6 of Chapter 153A to adopt and enforce local ordinances pursuant to this Part to the extent necessary to comply with state and federal law, rules and regulations, or permits consistent with the interpretations and directions of the state or federal agency issuing the permit.⁴⁰⁰

(b) Local environmental regulations adopted pursuant to this Part are not subject to the variance provisions of G.S. 160D-7-5 unless that is specifically authorized by the local ordinance.⁴⁰¹

§ 160D-9-21. ~~Restriction of certain f~~ Forestry activities prohibited.⁴⁰²

(a) The following definitions apply to this section:

- (1) Development. - Any activity, including timber harvesting, that is associated with the conversion of forestland to nonforest use.
- (2) Forest management plan. - A document that defines a landowner's forest management objectives and describes specific measures to be taken to achieve those objectives. A forest management plan shall include silvicultural practices that both ensure optimal forest productivity and environmental protection of land by either commercially growing timber through the establishment of forest stands or by ensuring the proper regeneration of forest stands to commercial levels of production after the harvest of timber.
- (3) Forestland. - Land that is devoted to growing trees for the production of timber, wood, and other forest products.
- (4) Forestry. - The professional practice embracing the science, business, and art of creating, conserving, and managing forests and forestland for the sustained use and enjoyment of their resources, materials, or other forest products.
- (5) Forestry activity. - Any activity associated with the growing, managing, harvesting, and related transportation, reforestation, or protection of trees and timber, provided that such activities comply with existing State rules and regulations pertaining to forestry.

³⁹⁹ Environmental regulations previously included in Article 18 of Ch. 153A or Art. 19 of Ch. 160A are incorporated into this Part, as are other environmental regulations that require adoption of local development ordinances. Environmental regulations that only involve local administration of state regulatory programs, such as for CAMA minor development permits, are not incorporated and remain in their current statutory location. The provision in G.S. 160D-9-1 that this Article does not expand, diminish or alter the scope of authority granted in other Articles is applicable to this Part.

⁴⁰⁰ Some of the local regulations adopted under this Part are in part authorized and enforced under the powers granted in the general police power Articles of Chapters 160A and 153A and this cross-reference preserves that arrangement. Failure to explicitly cross-reference these authorities could lead to noncompliance with state and federal environmental requirements for local governments.

⁴⁰¹ Allowing variances under the standards in G.S. 160D-7-5 would be contrary to the state and federal regulatory requirements for some of these environmental programs.

⁴⁰² Relocated from G.S. 160A-458.5, 153A-452.

(b) A ~~city~~ local government shall not adopt or enforce any ordinance, rule, regulation, or resolution that regulates either:

- (1) Forestry activity on forestland that is taxed on the basis of its present-use value as forestland under Article 12 of Chapter 105 of the General Statutes.
- (2) Forestry activity that is conducted in accordance with a forest management plan that is prepared or approved by a forester registered in accordance with Chapter 89B of the General Statutes.

(c) This section shall not be construed to limit, expand, or otherwise alter the authority of a ~~city~~ local government to:

- (1) Regulate activity associated with development. A ~~city~~ local government may deny a building permit or refuse to approve a site or subdivision plan for either a period of up to:
 - a. Three years after the completion of a timber harvest if the harvest results in the removal of all or substantially all of the trees that were protected under ~~city~~ local government regulations governing development from the tract of land for which the permit or approval is sought.
 - b. Five years after the completion of a timber harvest if the harvest results in the removal of all or substantially all of the trees that were protected under ~~city~~ local government regulations governing development from the tract of land for which the permit or approval is sought and the harvest was a willful violation of the ~~city~~ local government regulations.
- (2) Regulate trees pursuant to any local act of the General Assembly.
- (3) Adopt ordinances that are necessary to comply with any federal or State law, regulation, or rule.
- (4) Exercise its planning or zoning authority under this ~~Article~~ Chapter.
- (5) Regulate and protect streets ~~under Article 15 of this Chapter~~.

§ 160D-9-22. Erosion and sedimentation control.⁴⁰³ Any ~~city~~ local government may enact and enforce erosion and sedimentation control regulations ~~ordinances~~ as authorized by Article 4 of Chapter 113A of the General Statutes and ~~in such enactment and enforcement~~ shall comply with all applicable provisions of ~~Article 4 that Article and with Article 6 of this~~ to the extent not inconsistent with that Article, with this Chapter.

§ 160D-9-23. Floodway Floodplain regulations.⁴⁰⁴ Any local government ~~city~~ may enact and enforce ~~floodway floodplain~~ regulation or flood damage prevention regulations⁴⁰⁵ ~~ordinances~~ as authorized by Part 6 of Article 21 of Chapter 143 of the General Statutes and ~~in such enactment and enforcement~~ shall comply with all applicable provisions of ~~Part 6 that Part and to the extent~~ not inconsistent with that Article, with this Chapter.

⁴⁰³ Relocated from G.S. 160A-458.

⁴⁰⁴ Relocated from G.S. 160A-458.1

⁴⁰⁵ Incorporate contemporary terminology.

§ 160D-9-24. Mountain ridge protection.⁴⁰⁶ ~~City~~ Any local government may enact and enforce a mountain ridge protection regulations ordinance pursuant to Article 14 of Chapter 113A of the General Statutes, ~~and in such enactment and enforcement~~ shall comply with all applicable provisions of ~~Article 14~~ that Article and to the extent not inconsistent with that Article, with this Chapter unless the ~~city~~ local government has removed itself from the coverage of Article 14 of Chapter 113A through the procedure provided by law.

§ 160D-9-25. Stormwater control.⁴⁰⁷ (a) A ~~city~~ local government may adopt and enforce a stormwater control regulation ordinance to protect water quality and control water quantity. A ~~city~~ local government may adopt a stormwater management regulation ordinance pursuant to this Chapter, its charter, other applicable laws, or any combination of these powers.

(b) A federal, State, or local government project shall comply with the requirements of a ~~city~~ local government stormwater control regulation ordinance unless the federal, State, or local government agency has a National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) stormwater permit that applies to the project. A ~~city~~ local government may take enforcement action to compel a State or local government agency to comply with a stormwater control regulation ordinance that implements the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) stormwater permit issued to the ~~city~~ local government. To the extent permitted by federal law, including Chapter 26 of Title 33 of the United States Code, a ~~city~~ local government may take enforcement action to compel a federal government agency to comply with a stormwater control regulation ordinance.

(c) A ~~city~~ local government may implement illicit discharge detection and elimination controls, construction site stormwater runoff controls, and post-construction runoff controls through an ordinance or other regulatory mechanism to the extent allowable under State law.

(d) A ~~city~~ local government that holds a National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit issued pursuant to G.S. 143-214.7 may adopt ~~an ordinance, a regulation,~~ applicable within its ~~corporate limits and its planning and development regulation~~ jurisdiction, to establish the stormwater control program necessary for the ~~city~~ local government to comply with the permit. A ~~city~~ local government may adopt ~~an ordinance a regulation~~ that bans illicit discharges within its ~~corporate limits and its planning and development regulation~~ jurisdiction. A ~~city~~ local government may adopt ~~an ordinance, a regulation,~~ applicable within its ~~corporate limits and its planning and development regulation~~ jurisdiction, that requires (i) deed restrictions and protective covenants to ensure that each project, including the stormwater management system, will be maintained so as to protect water quality and control water quantity and (ii) financial arrangements to ensure that adequate funds are available for the maintenance and replacement costs of the project.

(e) Unless the ~~city~~ local government requests the permit condition in its permit application, the Environmental Management Commission may not require as a condition of a National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) stormwater permit issued pursuant to G.S. 143-214.7 that a city implement the measure required by 40 Code of Federal Regulations § 122.34(b)(3)(1 July 2003 Edition) in its extraterritorial jurisdiction.

§ 160D-9-26 to 9-29. Reserved.

⁴⁰⁶ Relocated from G.S. 160A-458.2, G.S. 153A-448.

⁴⁰⁷ Relocated from G.G. 160A-459, G.S. 153A-454.

PART 3. WIRELESS TELECOMMUNICATION FACILITIES

§ 160D-9-30. Purpose and compliance with federal law.⁴⁰⁸

(a) The purpose of this section is to ensure the safe and efficient integration of facilities necessary for the provision of advanced mobile broadband and wireless telecommunications services throughout the community and to ensure the ready availability of reliable wireless service to the public, government agencies, and first responders, with the intention of furthering the public safety and general welfare.

(b) The deployment of wireless infrastructure is critical to ensuring first responders can provide for the health and safety of all residents of North Carolina and that, consistent with section 6409 of the ~~federal~~ Middle Class Tax Relief and Job Creation Act of 2012, 47 U.S.C. § 1455(a), which creates a national wireless emergency communications network for use by first responders that in large measure will be dependent on facilities placed on existing wireless communications support structures, it is the policy of this State to facilitate the placement of wireless communications support structures in all areas of North Carolina. The following standards shall apply to a ~~city's~~ local government's actions, as a regulatory body, in the regulation of the placement, construction, or modification of a wireless communications facility.

(c) The placement, construction, or modification of wireless communications facilities shall be in conformity with the Federal Communications Act, 47 U.S.C. § 332 as amended, section 6409 of the ~~federal~~ Middle Class Tax Relief and Job Creation Act of 2012, 47 U.S.C. § 1455(a), and in accordance with the rules promulgated by the Federal Communications Commission.

§ 160D-9-31. Definitions.⁴⁰⁹

The following definitions apply in this Part.

- (1) Antenna. - Communications equipment that transmits, receives, or transmits and receives electromagnetic radio signals used in the provision of all types of wireless communications services.
- (2) Application. - A formal request submitted to the ~~city~~ local government to construct or modify a wireless support structure or a wireless facility.
- (3) Base station. - A station at a specific site authorized to communicate with mobile stations, generally consisting of radio receivers, antennas, coaxial cables, power supplies, and other associated electronics.
- (4) Building permit. - An official administrative authorization issued by the ~~city~~ local government prior to beginning construction consistent with the provisions of G.S. 160D-11-8.
- (5) Collocation. - The placement or installation of wireless facilities on existing structures, including electrical transmission towers, water towers, buildings, and other structures capable of structurally supporting the attachment of wireless facilities in compliance with applicable codes.
- (6) Eligible facilities request. - A request for modification of an existing wireless tower or base station that involves collocation of new transmission equipment or replacement of transmission equipment but does not include a substantial modification.

⁴⁰⁸ Relocated from G.S. 160A-400.50, 153A-349.50.

⁴⁰⁹ Relocated from G.S. 160A-400.51, 153A-349.51.

- (7) Equipment compound. - An area surrounding or near the base of a wireless support structure within which a wireless facility is located.
- (8) Fall zone. - The area in which a wireless support structure may be expected to fall in the event of a structural failure, as measured by engineering standards.
- (9) Land development regulation. - Any ordinance enacted pursuant to this ~~Part~~ Chapter.
- (10) Search ring. - The area within which a wireless support facility or wireless facility must be located in order to meet service objectives of the wireless service provider using the wireless facility or wireless support structure.
- (11) Substantial modification. - The mounting of a proposed wireless facility on a wireless support structure that substantially changes the physical dimensions of the support structure. A mounting is presumed to be a substantial modification if it meets any one or more of the criteria listed below. The burden is on the local government to demonstrate that a mounting that does not meet the listed criteria constitutes a substantial change to the physical dimensions of the wireless support structure.
 - a. Increasing the existing vertical height of the structure by the greater of (i) more than ten percent (10%) or (ii) the height of one additional antenna array with separation from the nearest existing antenna not to exceed 20 feet.
 - b. Except where necessary to shelter the antenna from inclement weather or to connect the antenna to the tower via cable, adding an appurtenance to the body of a wireless support structure that protrudes horizontally from the edge of the wireless support structure the greater of (i) more than 20 feet or (ii) more than the width of the wireless support structure at the level of the appurtenance.
 - c. Increasing the square footage of the existing equipment compound by more than 2,500 square feet.
- (12) Utility pole. - A structure that is designed for and used to carry lines, cables, or wires for telephone, cable television, or electricity, or to provide lighting.
- (13) Water tower. - A water storage tank, a standpipe, or an elevated tank situated on a support structure originally constructed for use as a reservoir or facility to store or deliver water.
- (14) Wireless facility. - The set of equipment and network components, exclusive of the underlying wireless support structure or tower, including antennas, transmitters, receivers, base stations, power supplies, cabling, and associated equipment necessary to provide wireless data and wireless telecommunications services to a discrete geographic area.
- (15) Wireless support structure. - A new or existing structure, such as a monopole, lattice tower, or guyed tower that is designed to support or capable of supporting wireless facilities. A utility pole is not a wireless support structure.

§ 160D-9-32. Local authority.⁴¹⁰ A ~~city~~ local government may plan for and regulate the siting or modification of wireless support structures and wireless facilities in accordance with land development regulations and in conformity with this Part. Except as expressly stated, nothing in this Part shall limit a ~~city~~ local government from regulating applications to construct, modify, or maintain wireless support structures, or construct, modify, maintain, or collocate wireless facilities on a wireless support structure based on consideration of land use, public safety, and

⁴¹⁰ Relocated from G.S. 160A-400.51A, 153A-349.51A.

zoning considerations, including aesthetics, landscaping, structural design, setbacks, and fall zones, or State and local building code requirements, consistent with the provisions of federal law provided in G.S. 160D-9-30. For purposes of this Part, public safety includes, without limitation, federal, State, and local safety regulations but does not include requirements relating to radio frequency emissions of wireless facilities.

§ 160D-9-33. Construction of new wireless support structures or substantial modifications of wireless support structures.⁴¹¹

~~(a) Repealed.~~

(a) Any person that proposes to construct a new wireless support structure or substantially modify a wireless support structure within the planning and ~~land-use~~ development regulation jurisdiction of a ~~city~~ local government must do both of the following:

- (1) Submit a completed application with the necessary copies and attachments to the appropriate planning authority.
- (2) Comply with any local ordinances concerning land use and any applicable permitting processes.

(b) A ~~city's~~ local government's review of an application for the placement or construction of a new wireless support structure or substantial modification of a wireless support structure shall only address public safety, land development, or zoning issues. In reviewing an application, the ~~city~~ local government may not require information on or evaluate an applicant's business decisions about its designed service, customer demand for its service, or quality of its service to or from a particular area or site. A ~~city~~ local government may not require information that concerns the specific need for the wireless support structure, including if the service to be provided from the wireless support structure is to add additional wireless coverage or additional wireless capacity. A ~~city~~ local government may not require proprietary, confidential, or other business information to justify the need for the new wireless support structure, including propagation maps and telecommunication traffic studies. In reviewing an application, the ~~city~~ local government may review the following:

- (1) Applicable public safety, land use, or zoning issues addressed in its adopted regulations, including aesthetics, landscaping, land-use based location priorities, structural design, setbacks, and fall zones.
- (2) Information or materials directly related to an identified public safety, land development, or zoning issue including evidence that no existing or previously approved wireless support structure can reasonably be used for the wireless facility placement instead of the construction of a new wireless support structure; that residential, historic, and designated scenic areas cannot be served from outside the area; or that the proposed height of a new wireless support structure or initial wireless facility placement or a proposed height increase of a substantially modified wireless support structure, or replacement wireless support structure is necessary to provide the applicant's designed service.
- (3) A ~~city~~ local government may require applicants for new wireless facilities to evaluate the reasonable feasibility of collocating new antennas and equipment on an existing wireless support structure or structures within the applicant's search ring. Collocation on an existing wireless support structure is not reasonably feasible if collocation is

⁴¹¹ Relocated from G.S. 160A-400.52, 153A-349.52.

technically or commercially impractical or the owner of the existing wireless support structure is unwilling to enter into a contract for such use at fair market value. ~~Cities~~ Local governments may require information necessary to determine whether collocation on existing wireless support structures is reasonably feasible.

~~(d) Repealed.~~

(c) The ~~city~~ local government shall issue a written decision approving or denying an application under this section within a reasonable period of time consistent with the issuance of other ~~land-use permits~~ development approvals in the case of other applications, each as measured from the time the application is deemed complete.

(d) A ~~city~~ local government may fix and charge an application fee, consulting fee, or other fee associated with the submission, review, processing, and approval of an application to site new wireless support structures or to substantially modify wireless support structures or wireless facilities that is based on the costs of the services provided and does not exceed what is usual and customary for such services. Any charges or fees assessed by a ~~city~~ local government on account of an outside consultant shall be fixed in advance and incorporated into a permit or application fee and shall be based on the reasonable costs to be incurred by the ~~city~~ local government in connection with the regulatory review authorized under this section. The foregoing does not prohibit a ~~city~~ local government from imposing additional reasonable and cost-based fees for costs incurred should an applicant amend its application. On request, the amount of the consultant charges incorporated into the permit or application fee shall be separately identified and disclosed to the applicant. The fee imposed by a ~~city~~ local government for review of the application may not be used for either of the following:

- (1) Travel time or expenses, meals, or overnight accommodations incurred in the review of an application by a consultant or other third party.
- (2) Reimbursements for a consultant or other third party based on a contingent fee basis or a results-based arrangement.

(e) The ~~city~~ local government may condition approval of an application for a new wireless support structure on the provision of documentation prior to the issuance of a building permit establishing the existence of one or more parties, including the owner of the wireless support structure, who intend to locate wireless facilities on the wireless support structure. A ~~city~~ local government shall not deny an initial ~~land-use or zoning permit~~ development approval based on such documentation. A ~~city~~ local government may condition a ~~permit~~ development approval on a requirement to construct facilities within a reasonable period of time, which shall be no less than 24 months.

(f) The ~~city~~ local government may not require the placement of wireless support structures or wireless facilities on ~~city~~ local government owned or leased property, but may develop a process to encourage the placement of wireless support structures or facilities on ~~city~~ local government owned or leased property, including an expedited approval process.

(g) This section shall not be construed to limit the provisions or requirements of any historic district or landmark regulation adopted pursuant to ~~Part 3C~~ of this Article.

§ 160D-9-34. Collocation and eligible facilities requests of wireless support structures.⁴¹²

(a) Pursuant to section 6409 of the ~~federal~~ Middle Class Tax Relief and Job Creation Act of 2012, 47 U.S.C. § 1455(a), a ~~city~~ local government may not deny and shall approve any eligible

⁴¹² Relocated from G.S. 160A-400.53, 153A-349.53.

facilities request as provided in this section. Nothing in this Part requires an application and approval for routine maintenance or limits the performance of routine maintenance on wireless support structures and facilities, including in-kind replacement of wireless facilities. Routine maintenance includes activities associated with regular and general upkeep of transmission equipment, including the replacement of existing wireless facilities with facilities of the same size. A city local government may require an application for collocation or an eligible facilities request.

(b) A collocation or eligible facilities request application is deemed complete unless the city local government provides notice that the application is incomplete in writing to the applicant within 45 days of submission or within some other mutually agreed upon time frame. The notice shall identify the deficiencies in the application which, if cured, would make the application complete. A city local government may deem an application incomplete if there is insufficient evidence provided to show that the proposed collocation or eligible facilities request will comply with federal, State, and local safety requirements. A city local government may not deem an application incomplete for any issue not directly related to the actual content of the application and subject matter of the collocation or eligible facilities request. An application is deemed complete on resubmission if the additional materials cure the deficiencies indicated.

(c) The city local government shall issue a written decision approving an eligible facilities request application within 45 days of such application being deemed complete. For a collocation application that is not an eligible facilities request, the city local government shall issue its written decision to approve or deny the application within 45 days of the application being deemed complete.

(d) A city local government may impose a fee not to exceed one thousand dollars (\$1,000) for technical consultation and the review of a collocation or eligible facilities request application. The fee must be based on the actual, direct, and reasonable administrative costs incurred for the review, processing, and approval of a collocation application. A city local government may engage a third-party consultant for technical consultation and the review of a collocation application. The fee imposed by a city local government for the review of the application may not be used for either of the following:

- (1) Travel expenses incurred in a third-party's review of a collocation application.
- (2) Reimbursement for a consultant or other third party based on a contingent fee basis or results-based arrangement.

(b), (c) Repealed.

~~§ 160A-400.54. Reserved for future codification purposes.~~

~~§ 160A-400.55. Reserved for future codification purposes.~~

~~§ 160A-400.56. Reserved for future codification purposes.~~

~~§ 160A-400.57. Reserved for future codification purposes.~~

~~§ 160A-400.58. Reserved for future codification purposes.~~

§ 160D-9-35 to 9-39. Reserved.

PART 4. HISTORIC PRESERVATION

§ 160D-9-40. Legislative findings.⁴¹³ The ~~historical~~ heritage of our State is one of our most valued and important assets. The conservation and preservation of historic districts and landmarks stabilize and increase property values ~~in their areas~~ and strengthen the overall economy of the State.⁴¹⁴ This Part authorizes ~~cities and counties~~ local governments of the State within their respective ~~zoning planning and development regulation~~ jurisdictions and by means of listing, regulation, and acquisition:

- (1) To safeguard the heritage of the city or county by preserving any district or landmark therein that embodies important elements of its culture, history, architectural history, or prehistory; and
- (2) To promote the use and conservation of such district or landmark for the education, pleasure and enrichment of the residents of the city or county and the State as a whole.

§ 160A-400.2. Exercise of powers by counties as well as cities.⁴¹⁵

The term "municipality" or "municipal" as used in G.S. 160A-400.1 through 160A-400.14 shall be deemed to include the governing board or legislative board of a county, to the end that ~~counties may exercise the same powers as cities with respect to the establishment of historic districts and designation of landmarks.~~

§ 160D-9-41. Historic Preservation Commission.⁴¹⁶ Before it may designate one or more landmarks or historic districts, a ~~municipality~~ local government shall establish or designate a historic preservation commission in accordance with G.S. 160D-3-4.⁴¹⁷ ~~The municipal governing board shall determine the number of the members of the commission, which shall be at least three, and the length of their terms, which shall be no greater than four years. A majority of the members of such a commission shall have demonstrated special interest, experience, or education in history, architecture, archaeology, or related fields. All the members shall reside within the territorial jurisdiction of the municipality as established pursuant to G.S. 160A-360. The commission may appoint advisory bodies and committees as appropriate.~~

~~In lieu of establishing a historic preservation commission, a municipality may designate as its historic preservation commission, (i) a separate historic districts commission or a separate historic landmarks commission established pursuant to this Part to deal only with historic districts or landmarks respectively, (ii) a planning board established pursuant to this Article, or (iii) a community appearance commission established pursuant to Part 7 of this Article. In order for a commission or board other than the preservation commission to be designated, at least three of its members shall have demonstrated special interest, experience, or education in history, architecture, or related fields. At the discretion of the municipality the ordinance may also provide that the preservation commission may exercise within a historic district any or all of the powers of a planning board or a community appearance commission.~~

⁴¹³ Relocated from G.S. 160A-400.1, entire Part also applicable to counties pursuant to G.S. 160A-400.2.

⁴¹⁴ Streamline and simplify language.

⁴¹⁵ Deleted as unnecessary given merger of city and county provisions.

⁴¹⁶ Relocated from G.S. 160A-400.7.

⁴¹⁷ Remainder of section relocated to G.S. 160D-3-4.

~~A county and one or more cities in the county may establish or designate a joint preservation commission. If a joint commission is established or designated, the county and cities involved shall determine the residence requirements of members of the joint preservation commission.~~

§ 160D-9-42. Powers of the Historic Preservation Commission.⁴¹⁸

A preservation commission established pursuant to this ~~Part~~ Chapter may, within the ~~zoning planning and development regulation~~ jurisdiction of the ~~municipality~~ local government:

- (1) Undertake an inventory of properties of historical, prehistorical, architectural, and/or cultural significance;
- (2) Recommend to the ~~municipal~~ governing board areas to be designated by ordinance as "Historic Districts"; and individual structures, buildings, sites, areas, or objects to be designated by ordinance as "Landmarks";
- (3) Acquire by any lawful means the fee or any lesser included interest, including options to purchase, to properties within established districts or to any such properties designated as landmarks; to hold, manage, preserve, restore and improve ~~the same~~ such properties, and to exchange or dispose of the property by public or private sale, lease or otherwise, subject to covenants or other legally binding restrictions which will secure appropriate rights of public access and promote the preservation of the property;
- (4) Restore, preserve and operate historic properties;
- (5) Recommend to the governing board that designation of any area as a historic district or part thereof, or designation of any building, structure, site, area, or object as a landmark, be revoked or removed for cause;
- (6) Conduct an educational program ~~with respect to~~ regarding historic properties and districts within its jurisdiction;
- (7) Cooperate with the State, federal, and local governments in pursuance of the purposes of this Part. The governing board or the commission when authorized by the governing board may contract with the State, or the United States of America, or any agency of either, or with any other organization provided the terms are not inconsistent with State or federal law;
- (8) Enter, solely in performance of its official duties and only at reasonable times, upon private lands for examination or survey thereof. However, no member, employee or agent of the commission may enter any private building or structure without the express consent of the owner or occupant thereof;
- (9) Prepare and recommend the official adoption of a preservation element as part of the ~~municipality's~~ local government's comprehensive plan;
- (10) Review and act upon proposals for alterations, demolitions, or new construction within historic districts, or for the alteration or demolition of designated landmarks, pursuant to this Part; and
- (11) Negotiate at any time with the owner of a building, structure, site, area, or object for its acquisition or its preservation, when such action is reasonably necessary or appropriate.

⁴¹⁸ Relocated from G.S. 160A-400.8.

~~§ 160A-400.3. Character of historic district defined.~~⁴¹⁹

~~Historic districts established pursuant to this Part shall consist of areas which are deemed to be of special significance in terms of their history, prehistory, architecture, and/or culture, and to possess integrity of design, setting, materials, feeling, and association.~~

§ 160D-9-43. Appropriations.⁴²⁰ A ~~city or county~~ governing board is authorized to make appropriations to a historic preservation commission established pursuant to this ~~Part~~ Chapter in any amount ~~that it may~~ determine necessary for the expenses of the operation of the commission, and may make available any additional amounts necessary for the acquisition, restoration, preservation, operation, and management of historic buildings, structures, sites, areas or objects designated as historic landmarks or within designated historic districts, or of land on which such buildings or structures are located, or to which they may be removed.

§ 160D-9-44. Designation of historic districts.⁴²¹

(a) Any ~~municipal governing board~~ local government may, as part of a zoning ~~ordinance~~ regulation adopted pursuant to Article 7 or as a ~~or other ordinance~~ development regulation enacted or amended pursuant to ~~this~~ Article 6, designate and from time to time amend one or more historic districts within the area subject to the regulation. ~~ordinance~~. Historic districts established pursuant to this Part shall consist of areas which are deemed to be of special significance in terms of their history, prehistory, architecture, and/or culture, and to possess integrity of design, setting, materials, feeling, and association.⁴²²

Such ~~ordinance~~ development regulation may treat historic districts either as a separate use district classification or as districts which overlay other zoning districts. Where historic districts are designated as separate use districts, the zoning regulation ~~ordinance~~ may include as uses by right or as ~~conditional~~ special uses those uses found by the Preservation Commission to have existed during the period sought to be restored or preserved, or to be compatible with the restoration or preservation of the district.

(b) No historic district or districts shall be designated under subsection (a) of this section until:

- (1) An investigation and report describing the significance of the buildings, structures, features, sites or surroundings included in any such proposed district, and a description of the boundaries of such district has been prepared, and
- (2) The Department of Cultural Resources, acting through the State Historic Preservation Officer or his or her designee, shall have made an analysis of and recommendations concerning such report and description of proposed boundaries. Failure of the department to submit its written analysis and recommendations to the ~~municipal~~ governing board within 30 calendar days after a written request for such analysis has been received by the Department of Cultural Resources shall relieve the ~~municipality~~ governing board of any responsibility for awaiting such analysis, and ~~said~~ the

⁴¹⁹ Relocated to G.S. 160D-44(a).

⁴²⁰ Relocated from G.S. 160A-400.12.

⁴²¹ Relocated from G.S. 160A-400.4.

⁴²² Relocated from G.S. 160A-400.3.

governing board may at any time thereafter take any necessary action to adopt or amend its zoning regulation. ordinance.

(c) The ~~municipal~~ governing board may also, in its discretion, refer the report and proposed boundaries under subsection (b) of this section to any local preservation commission or other interested body for its recommendations prior to taking action to amend the zoning regulation ordinance. With respect to any changes in the boundaries of such district subsequent to its initial establishment, or the creation of additional districts within the jurisdiction, the investigative studies and reports required by subdivision (1) of subsection (b) of this section shall be prepared by the preservation commission, and shall be referred to the ~~local planning agency~~ planning board for its review and comment according to procedures set forth in the zoning regulation. ordinance. Changes in the boundaries of an initial district or proposal for additional districts shall also be submitted to the Department of Cultural Resources in accordance with the provisions of subdivision (2) of subsection (b) of this section.

On receipt of these reports and recommendations, the ~~municipality~~ local government may proceed in the same manner as would otherwise be required for the adoption or amendment of any appropriate zoning regulation. ordinance provisions.

(d) The provisions of G.S. 160D-9-10 apply to zoning or other ~~ordinances~~ development regulations pertaining to historic districts, and the authority under G.S. 160D-9-10(b) for the ordinance to regulate the location or screening of solar collectors may encompass requiring the use of plantings or other measures to ensure that the use of solar collectors is not incongruous with the special character of the district.

§ 160D-9-45. Designation of landmarks; ~~adoption of an ordinance; criteria for designation.~~⁴²³

Upon complying with G.S. 160D-9-46, the governing board may adopt and ~~from time to time~~ amend or repeal ~~an ordinance~~ a regulation designating one or more historic landmarks. No property shall be recommended for designation as a historic landmark unless it is deemed and found by the preservation commission to be of special significance in terms of its historical, prehistorical, architectural, or cultural importance, and to possess integrity of design, setting, workmanship, materials, feeling and/or association.

The regulation ordinance shall describe each property designated in the regulation, ordinance, the name or names of the owner or owners of the property, those elements of the property that are integral to its historical, architectural, or prehistorical value, including the land area of the property so designated, and any other information the governing board deems necessary. For each building, structure, site, area, or object so designated as a historic landmark, the regulation ordinance shall require that the waiting period set forth in this Part be observed prior to its demolition. For each designated landmark, the regulation ordinance may also provide for a suitable sign on the property indicating that the property has been so designated. If the owner consents, the sign shall be placed upon the property. If the owner objects, the sign shall be placed on a nearby public right-of-way.

§ 160D-9-46. Required landmark designation procedures.⁴²⁴

⁴²³ Relocated from G.S. 160A-400.5.

⁴²⁴ Relocated from G.S. 160A-400.6.

As a guide for the identification and evaluation of landmarks, the preservation commission shall undertake, at the earliest possible time and consistent with the resources available to it, an inventory of properties of historical, architectural, prehistorical, and cultural significance within its jurisdiction. Such inventories and any additions or revisions thereof shall be submitted as expeditiously as possible to the Office of Archives and History. No ~~ordinance~~ regulation designating a historic building, structure, site, area or object as a landmark nor any amendment thereto may be adopted, nor may any property be accepted or acquired by a preservation commission or the governing board ~~of a municipality~~, until all of the following procedural steps have been taken:

- (1) The preservation commission shall (i) prepare and adopt rules of procedure, and (ii) prepare and adopt principles and guidelines, not inconsistent with this Part, for altering, restoring, moving, or demolishing properties designated as landmarks.
- (2) The preservation commission shall make or cause to be made an investigation and report on the historic, architectural, prehistorical, educational or cultural significance of each building, structure, site, area or object proposed for designation or acquisition. Such investigation or report shall be forwarded to the Office of Archives and History, North Carolina Department of Cultural Resources.
- (3) The Department of Cultural Resources, acting through the State Historic Preservation Officer shall, ~~either~~ upon request of the department or at the initiative of the preservation commission, be given an opportunity to review and comment upon the substance and effect of the designation of any landmark pursuant to this Part. Any comments shall be provided in writing. If the Department does not submit its comments or recommendation in connection with any designation within 30 days following receipt by the Department of the investigation and report of the preservation commission, the commission and any ~~city or county~~ governing board shall be relieved of any responsibility to consider such comments.
- (4) The preservation commission and the governing board shall hold a joint ~~public legislative~~ hearing or separate ~~public legislative~~ hearings on the proposed regulation. ~~ordinance. Reasonable notice of the time and place thereof shall be given.~~ Notice of the hearing shall be made as provided by G.S. 160D-6-1.⁴²⁵ ~~All meetings of the commission shall be open to the public, in accordance with the North Carolina Open Meetings Law, Chapter 143, Article 33C.~~⁴²⁶
- (5) Following the ~~joint public hearing or separate public~~ hearings, the governing board may adopt the regulation ~~ordinance~~ as proposed, adopt the regulation ~~ordinance~~ with any amendments it deems necessary, or reject the proposed regulation. ~~ordinance.~~
- (6) Upon adoption of the regulation. ~~ordinance~~, the owners and occupants of each designated landmark shall be given written ~~notification~~ notice of such designation within a reasonable time. ~~insofar as reasonable diligence permits.~~ One copy of the regulation ~~ordinance~~ and all amendments thereto shall be filed by the preservation commission in the office of the register of deeds of the county in which the landmark or landmarks are located. In the case of any landmark property lying within the zoning planning and development regulation jurisdiction of a city, a second copy of the

⁴²⁵ Requires the same notice for the hearing as is required for hearings on adopting or amending a zoning ordinance. Provides uniform, consistent public hearing notice requirement.

⁴²⁶ Compliance with open meetings law required without need of specific reference.

~~regulation ordinance~~ and all amendments thereto shall be kept on file in the office of the city or town clerk and be made available for public inspection at any reasonable time. A third copy of the ~~regulation ordinance~~ and ~~all any~~ amendments ~~thereto~~ shall be given to the ~~city or county~~ local government building inspector. The fact that a building, structure, site, area or object has been designated a landmark shall be clearly indicated on all tax maps maintained by the ~~county or city~~ local government for such period as the designation remains in effect.

- (7) Upon the adoption of the landmarks ~~regulation ordinance~~ or any amendment thereto, it shall be the duty of the preservation commission to give notice thereof to the tax supervisor of the county in which the property is located. The designation and any recorded restrictions upon the property limiting its use for preservation purposes shall be considered by the tax supervisor in appraising it for tax purposes.

§ 160D-9-47. Certificate of appropriateness required.⁴²⁷

(a) Certificate required. From and after the designation of a landmark or a historic district, no exterior portion of any building or other structure (including masonry walls, fences, light fixtures, steps and pavement, or other appurtenant features), nor above-ground utility structure nor any type of outdoor advertising sign shall be erected, altered, restored, moved, or demolished on such landmark or within such district until after an application for a certificate of appropriateness as to exterior features has been submitted to and approved by the preservation commission. The ~~municipality~~ local government shall require such a certificate to be issued by the commission prior to the issuance of a building permit ~~or other permit~~⁴²⁸ granted for the purposes of constructing, altering, moving, or demolishing structures, which certificate may be issued subject to reasonable conditions necessary to carry out the purposes of this Part. A certificate of appropriateness shall be required whether or not a building or other permit is required.

For purposes of this Part, "exterior features" shall include the architectural style, general design, and general arrangement of the exterior of a building or other structure, including the kind and texture of the building material, the size and scale of the building, and the type and style of all windows, doors, light fixtures, signs, and other appurtenant fixtures. In the case of outdoor advertising signs, "exterior features" shall be construed to mean the style, material, size, and location of all such signs. Such "exterior features" may, in the discretion of the local governing board, include historic signs, color, and significant landscape, archaeological, and natural features of the area.

Except as provided in (b) below, the commission shall have no jurisdiction over interior arrangement. The commission ~~and~~ shall take no action under this section except to prevent the construction, reconstruction, alteration, restoration, moving, or demolition of buildings, structures, appurtenant fixtures, outdoor advertising signs, or other significant features in the district which would be incongruous with the special character of the landmark or district. In making decisions on certificates of appropriateness, the commission shall apply the rules and standards adopted pursuant to subsection (c) of this section.

(b) Interior spaces. Notwithstanding subsection (a) of this section, jurisdiction of the commission over interior spaces shall be limited to specific interior features of architectural,

⁴²⁷ Relocated from G.S. 160A-400.9.

⁴²⁸ Retains requirement that certificate of appropriateness be issued prior to issuance of building permit, but allows local government flexibility in order of other permits, such as a special use permit.

artistic or historical significance in publicly owned landmarks; and of privately owned historic landmarks for which consent for interior review has been given by the owner. Said consent of an owner for interior review shall bind future owners and/or successors in title, provided such consent has been filed in the office of the register of deeds of the county in which the property is located and indexed according to the name of the owner of the property in the grantee and grantor indexes. The landmark designation shall specify the interior features to be reviewed and the specific nature of the commission's jurisdiction over the interior.

(c) Rules and standards. Prior to any action to enforce a landmark or historic district ~~regulation, ordinance,~~ the commission shall (i) prepare and adopt rules of procedure, and (ii) prepare and adopt principles and ~~guidelines~~ standards⁴²⁹ not inconsistent with this Part to guide the commission in determining congruity with the special character of the landmark or district for new construction, alterations, additions, moving and demolition. The ~~landmark or historic district regulation ordinance~~ may provide, subject to prior adoption by the preservation commission of detailed standards, for ~~the staff~~ review and approval as an administrative decision by an administrative official of applications for a certificate of appropriateness ~~for or of minor works or activity as defined by the regulation; ordinance;~~ provided, however, that no application for a certificate of appropriateness may be denied without formal action by the preservation commission. Other than these administrative decisions on minor works, decisions on certificates of appropriateness are quasi-judicial and shall follow the procedures of G.S. 160D-4-6.⁴³⁰ ~~Prior to issuance or denial of a certificate of appropriateness the commission shall take such steps as may be reasonably required in the ordinance and/or rules of procedure to inform the owners of any property likely to be materially affected by the application, and shall give the applicant and such owners an opportunity to be heard. In cases where the commission deems it necessary, it may hold a public an evidentiary hearing concerning the application. All meetings of the commission shall be open to the public, in accordance with the North Carolina Open Meetings Law, Chapter 143, Article 33C.~~⁴³¹

(d) Time for review. All applications for certificates of appropriateness shall be reviewed and acted upon within a reasonable time, not to exceed 180 days from the date the application for a certificate of appropriateness is filed, as defined by the ~~regulation ordinance~~ or the commission's rules of procedure. As part of its review procedure, the commission may view the premises and seek the advice of the Division of Archives and History or such other expert advice as it may deem necessary under the circumstances.

(e) Appeals.

(i) Appeals of administrative decisions allowed by regulation may be made to the commission.

(ii) All decisions of the commission in granting or denying a certificate of appropriateness may, if so provided in the regulation, be appealed to the board of adjustment in the nature of certiorari within times prescribed for appeals of administrative decisions in

⁴²⁹ Clarification. These are binding standards for decisions on quasi-judicial certificate of appropriateness decisions. The term "guidelines" could imply the standards are advisory in nature rather than the necessary adequate guiding standards for the decision.

⁴³⁰ Provide clarity and uniformity by using the standard process for all quasi-judicial decisions under this Article rather than retaining similar, but different, procedures for this particular quasi-judicial decision.

⁴³¹ Compliance with open meetings law required without need of specific reference.

- G.S. 160D-4-5(c).⁴³² To the extent applicable, the provisions of G.S. 160D-14-2 shall apply to appeals in the nature of certiorari to the board of adjustment.
- (iii) Appeals from the board of adjustment may be made pursuant to G.S. 160D-14-2.
- (iv) If the regulation does not provide for an appeal to the board of adjustment, appeals of decisions on certificates of appropriateness may be made to superior court as provided in G.S. 160D-14-2. An appeal may be taken to the Board of Adjustment from the commission's action in granting or denying any certificate which appeals (i) may be taken by any aggrieved party,⁴³³ (ii)
- (v) Petitions for judicial review shall be taken within times prescribed for appeal of quasi-judicial decisions in G.S. 160D-14-4.⁴³⁴ ~~by the preservation commission by general rule, and (iii) shall be in the nature of certiorari.~~⁴³⁵ Any Appeals from the Board of Adjustment's decision in any such case shall be heard by the superior court of the county in which the ~~municipality~~ local government is located.
- (f) *Public buildings.* All of the provisions of this Part are hereby made applicable to construction, alteration, moving and demolition by the State of North Carolina, its political subdivisions, agencies and instrumentalities, provided however they shall not apply to interiors of buildings or structures owned by the State of North Carolina. The State and its agencies shall have a right of appeal to the North Carolina Historical Commission or any successor agency assuming its responsibilities under G.S. 121-12(a) from any decision of a local preservation commission. The North Carolina Historical Commission shall render its decision within 30 days from the date that the notice of appeal by the State is received by it. The current edition of the Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation and Guidelines for Rehabilitating Historic Buildings shall be the sole principles and guidelines used in reviewing applications of the State for certificates of appropriateness. The decision of the North Carolina Historical Commission shall be final and binding upon both the State and the preservation commission.

§ 160D-400.11. Remedies.⁴³⁶

~~In case any building, structure, site, area or object designated as a historic landmark or located within a historic district designated pursuant to this Part is about to be demolished whether as the result of deliberate neglect or otherwise, materially altered, remodeled, removed or destroyed, except in compliance with the ordinance or other provisions of this Part, the city or county, the historic preservation commission, or other party aggrieved by such action may institute any appropriate action or proceedings to prevent such unlawful demolition, destruction, material alteration, remodeling or removal, to restrain, correct or abate such violation, or to prevent any illegal act or conduct with respect to such building, structure, site, area or object. Such remedies~~

⁴³² Earlier drafts of this bill deleted the appeal to the board of adjustment and provided for direct appeal to superior court as with other quasi-judicial decisions. Some local governments preferred to retain board of adjustment review prior to judicial review. That option is retained if the local government incorporates that into their historic preservation regulations.

⁴³³ Deleted as unnecessary given uniform provisions on standing in G.S. 160D-14-1.

⁴³⁴ G.S. 160D-14-4 establishes a uniform time of 30 days within which to seek judicial review for all quasi-judicial decisions made under this Chapter.

⁴³⁵ Surplusage given cross-reference to G.S. 160D-15-1.

⁴³⁶ Relocated to G.S. 160D-4-4(c) as consolidation of enforcement provisions.

~~shall be in addition to any others authorized by this Chapter for violation of an municipal ordinance.~~

§ 160D-9-48. Certain changes not prohibited.⁴³⁷ Nothing in this Part shall be construed to prevent the ordinary maintenance or repair of any exterior architectural feature in a historic district or of a landmark which does not involve a change in design, material or appearance thereof, nor to prevent the construction, reconstruction, alteration, restoration, moving or demolition of any such feature which the building inspector or similar official shall certify is required by the public safety because of an unsafe or dangerous condition. Nothing in this Part shall be construed to prevent a property owner from making any use of his property that is not prohibited by other law. Nothing in this Part shall be construed to prevent a) the maintenance, or b) in the event of an emergency the immediate restoration, of any existing above-ground utility structure without approval by the preservation commission.

§ 160D-9-49. Delay in demolition of landmarks and buildings within historic district.⁴³⁸

(a) An application for a certificate of appropriateness authorizing the relocation, demolition or destruction of a designated landmark or a building, structure or site within the district may not be denied except as provided in subsection (c). However, the effective date of such a certificate may be delayed for a period of up to 365 days from the date of approval. The maximum period of delay authorized by this section shall be reduced by the preservation commission where it finds that the owner would suffer extreme hardship or be permanently deprived of all beneficial use of or return from such property by virtue of the delay. During such period the preservation commission shall negotiate with the owner and with any other parties in an effort to find a means of preserving the building or site. If the preservation commission finds that a building or site within a district has no special significance or value toward maintaining the character of the district, it shall waive all or part of such period and authorize earlier demolition, or removal.

If the preservation commission or planning board has voted to recommend designation of a property as a landmark or designation of an area as a district, and final designation has not been made by the ~~local~~ governing board, the demolition or destruction of any building, site, or structure located on the property of the proposed landmark or in the proposed district may be delayed by the preservation commission or planning board for a period of up to 180 days or until the ~~local~~ governing board takes final action on the designation, whichever occurs first.

(b) The governing board ~~of any municipality~~ may enact ~~an ordinance~~ a regulation to prevent the demolition by neglect of any designated landmark or any building or structure within an established historic district. Such regulation ~~ordinance~~ shall provide appropriate safeguards to protect property owners from undue economic hardship.

(c) An application for a certificate of appropriateness authorizing the demolition or destruction of a building, site, or structure determined by the State Historic Preservation Officer as having statewide significance as defined in the criteria of the National Register of Historic Places may be denied except where the preservation commission finds that the owner would suffer extreme hardship or be permanently deprived of all beneficial use or return by virtue of the denial.

⁴³⁷ Relocated from G.S. 160A-400.13.

⁴³⁸ Relocated from G.S. 160A-400.14.

§ 160D-9-50. Demolition by neglect to contributing structures outside local historic districts.⁴³⁹ Notwithstanding G.S. 160D-9-49 or any other provision of law, the governing board ~~of any municipality~~ may apply its demolition-by-neglect regulations ~~ordinances~~ to contributing structures located outside the local historic district within an adjacent central business district. The governing board may modify and revise its demolition by neglect regulations ~~ordinances~~ as necessary to implement this section and to further its intent. This section is applicable to any local government ~~municipality with a population in excess of 100,000,~~⁴⁴⁰ provided such ~~municipality~~ local government (i) has designated portions of the central business district and its adjacent historic district as an Urban Progress Zone as defined in G.S. 143B-437.09 and (ii) is recognized by the State Historic Preservation Office and the U.S. Department of the Interior as a Certified Local Government in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, as amended (16 U.S.C. § 470, et seq.), and the applicable federal regulations (36 C.F.R. Part 61), but is located in a county that has not received the same certification.

§ 160D-9-51. Conflict with other laws.⁴⁴¹ Whenever any regulation ~~ordinance~~ adopted pursuant to this Part requires a longer waiting period or imposes other higher standards with respect to a designated historic landmark or district than are established under any other statute, charter provision, or regulation, this Part shall govern. Whenever the provisions of any other statute, charter provision, ordinance or regulation require a longer waiting period or impose other higher standards than are established under this Part, such other statute, charter provision, ordinance or regulation shall govern.

~~§ 160A-400.16. Reserved for future codification purposes.~~

~~§ 160A-400.17. Reserved for future codification purposes.~~

~~§ 160A-400.18. Reserved for future codification purposes.~~

~~§ 160A-400.19. Reserved for future codification purposes.~~

§ 160D-9-52 to 9-59. Reserved.

⁴³⁹ Relocated from G.S. 160A-400.15.

⁴⁴⁰ Delete limitation making this applicable only to high population cities in order to establish greater uniformity.

⁴⁴¹ Relocated from G.S. 160A-400.10.

PART 5. COMMUNITY APPEARANCE COMMISSIONS

~~§ 160A-451. Membership and appointment of commission; joint commission.~~⁴⁴²

~~Each municipality and county in the State may create a special commission, to be known as the official appearance commission for the city or county. The commission shall consist of not less than seven nor more than 15 members, to be appointed by the governing body of the municipality or county for such terms, not to exceed four years, as the governing body may by ordinance provide. All members shall be residents of the municipality's or county's area of planning and zoning jurisdiction at the time of appointment. Where possible, appointments shall be made in such a manner as to maintain on the commission at all times a majority of members who have had special training or experience in a design field, such as architecture, landscape design, horticulture, city planning, or a closely related field. Members of the commission may be reimbursed for actual expenses incidental to the performance of their duties within the limits of any funds available to the commission, but shall serve without pay unless otherwise provided in the ordinance establishing the commission. Membership of the commission is declared to be an office that may be held concurrently with any other elective or appointive office pursuant to Article VI, Sec. 9, of the Constitution.~~

~~A county and one or more cities in the county may establish a joint appearance commission. If a joint commission is established, the county and the city or cities involved shall determine the residence requirements for members of the joint commission.~~

§ 160D-9-60. Powers and duties of commission.⁴⁴³

The A community appearance commission, ~~upon its appointment,~~⁴⁴⁴ shall make careful study of the visual problems and needs of the municipality or county local government within its area of zoning planning and development regulation jurisdiction, and shall make any plans and carry out any programs that will, in accordance with ~~the powers herein granted~~ the provisions of this Part, enhance and improve the visual quality and aesthetic characteristics of the municipality or county local government. To this end, the governing board may confer upon the appearance commission the following powers and duties:

- (1) To initiate, promote and assist in the implementation of programs of general community beautification in the municipality or county local government;
- (2) To ~~seek to~~ coordinate the activities of individuals, agencies and organizations, public and private, whose plans, activities and programs bear upon the appearance of the municipality or county local government;
- (3) To provide leadership and guidance in matters of area or community design and appearance to individuals, and to public and private organizations, and agencies;
- (4) To make studies of the visual characteristics and problems of the municipality or county local government, including surveys and inventories of an appropriate nature, and to recommend standards and policies of design for the entire area, any portion or neighborhood thereof, or any project to be undertaken;

⁴⁴² Relocated to G.S. 160D-3-5.

⁴⁴³ Relocated from G.S. 160A-452. Entire Part also applicable to counties pursuant to G.S. 160A-451.

⁴⁴⁴ Superfluous.

- (5) To prepare both general and specific plans for the improved appearance of the ~~municipality or county~~ local government. These plans may include the entire area or any part thereof, and may include private as well as public property. The plans shall set forth desirable standards and goals for the aesthetic enhancement of the ~~municipality or county~~ local government or any part thereof within its area of planning and ~~zoning~~ development regulation jurisdiction, including public ways and areas, open spaces, and public and private buildings and projects;
- (6) To participate, in any way deemed appropriate by the governing ~~body~~ board of the ~~municipality or county~~ local government and specified in the ordinance establishing the commission, in the implementation of its plans. To this end, the governing ~~body~~ board may include in the ordinance the following powers:
- a. To request from the proper officials of any public agency or body, including agencies of the State and its political subdivisions, its plans for public buildings, facilities, or projects to be located within the local government's ~~municipality or its area of~~ planning and ~~zoning~~ development regulation jurisdiction. ~~of the city or county.~~
 - b. To review these plans and to make recommendations regarding their aesthetic suitability to the appropriate agency, or to the ~~municipal or county~~ planning or governing board. All plans shall be reviewed by the commission in a prompt and expeditious manner, and all recommendations of the commission with regard to any public project shall be made in writing. Copies of the recommendations shall be transmitted promptly to the planning or governing board ~~body of the city or county~~, and to the appropriate agency.
 - c. To formulate and recommend to the appropriate ~~municipal~~ planning or governing board the adoption or amendment of ordinances (including ~~the zoning regulation, ordinance,~~ subdivision regulations, and other local development regulations ~~ordinances regulating the use of property~~) that will, in the opinion of the commission, serve to enhance the appearance of the ~~municipality~~ city or county and its surrounding areas.
 - d. To direct the attention of ~~city or county~~ local government officials to needed enforcement of any ordinance that may in any way affect the appearance of the city or county.
 - e. To seek voluntary adherence to the standards and policies of its plans.
 - f. To enter, in the performance of its official duties and at reasonable times, upon private lands and make examinations or surveys.
 - g. To promote public interest in and an understanding of its recommendations, studies, and plans, and to that end to prepare, publish and distribute to the public such studies and reports as will, in the opinion of the commission, advance the cause of improved ~~municipal or county~~ appearance.
 - h. To conduct public meetings and hearings, giving reasonable notice to the public thereof.

§ 160D-9-61. Staff services; advisory council.⁴⁴⁵ The commission may recommend to the ~~municipal or county~~ governing board suitable arrangements for the procurement or provision of staff or technical services for the commission, and the governing board may appropriate such amount as it deems necessary to carry out the purposes for which it was created. The commission may establish an advisory council or other committees.

§ 160D-9-62. Annual report.⁴⁴⁶ The commission shall, no later than April 15 of each year, submit to the ~~municipal or county~~ governing ~~body~~ board a written report of its activities, a statement of its expenditures to date for the current fiscal year, and its requested budget for the next fiscal year. All accounts and funds of the commission shall be administered substantially in accordance with the requirements of the Municipal Fiscal Control Act or the County Fiscal Control Act.

§ 160D-9-63. Receipt and expenditure of funds.⁴⁴⁷ The commission may receive contributions from private agencies, foundations, organizations, individuals, the State or federal government, or any other source, in addition to any sums appropriated for its use by the ~~city or county~~ governing ~~body~~ board. It may accept and disburse these funds for any purpose within the scope of its authority as herein specified. All sums appropriated by the ~~city or county~~ local government to further the work and purposes of the commission are deemed to be for a public purpose.

§ 160D-9-64 to 9-69. Reserved.

⁴⁴⁵ Relocated from G.S. 160A-453.

⁴⁴⁶ Relocated from G.S. 160A-454.

⁴⁴⁷ Relocated from G.S. 160A-455.

ARTICLE 10. DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENTS

§ 160D-10-1. Authorization for development agreements.⁴⁴⁸

(a) The General Assembly finds:

- (1) ~~Large-scale development~~ Development⁴⁴⁹ projects often occur in multiple phases ~~extending over a period of several~~ years, requiring a long-term commitment of both public and private resources.
- (2) Such ~~large-scale~~ developments often create ~~potential~~ community impacts and ~~potential~~ opportunities that are difficult ~~or impossible~~ to accommodate within traditional zoning processes.
- (3) Because of their scale and duration, such ~~large-scale~~ projects often require careful ~~integration between~~ coordination of public capital facilities planning, financing, and construction schedules and ~~the~~ phasing of the private development.
- (4) ~~Because of their scale and duration,~~ Such ~~large-scale~~ projects involve substantial commitments of private capital ~~by developers,~~ which developers are usually unwilling to risk without sufficient assurances that development standards will remain stable through the extended period of the development.
- (5) ~~Because of their size and duration,~~ Such developments often permit communities and developers to experiment with different or nontraditional types of development concepts and standards, while still managing impacts on the surrounding areas.
- (6) To better structure and manage development approvals for such ~~large-scale~~ developments and ensure their proper integration into local capital facilities programs, local governments need ~~the flexibility in negotiating to negotiate~~ such developments.

(b) Local governments ~~and agencies~~⁴⁵⁰ may enter into development agreements with developers, subject to the procedures ~~and requirements~~ of this ~~Part~~ Article. In entering into such agreements, a local government may not exercise any authority or make any commitment not authorized by general or local act and may not impose any tax or fee not authorized by otherwise applicable law.

(c) This ~~Part~~ Article is supplemental to the powers conferred upon local governments and does not preclude or supersede rights and obligations established pursuant to other law regarding development approvals, site-specific ~~development~~ vesting plans, phased ~~development~~ vesting plans, or other provisions of law. A development agreement ~~adopted pursuant to this Chapter~~ shall not exempt the property owner or developer from compliance with the State Building Code or State or local housing codes that are not part of the local government's ~~planning, zoning, or subdivision~~ development regulations.⁴⁵¹

(d) Development authorized by a development agreement shall comply with all applicable laws, including all ordinances, resolutions, regulations, comprehensive plans, and development

⁴⁴⁸ Relocated from G.S. 160A-400.20, 153A-349.1. Stylistic changes for simplification and clarity.

⁴⁴⁹ Reflects amendments to development agreement statutes in 2015 to remove size and duration limitations.

⁴⁵⁰ Clarification. Since only cities and counties have authority to adopt development regulations under this Article, only the city and county itself are authorized to enter into development agreements.

⁴⁵¹ Sentence relocated from G.S. 160A-400.32, 153A-349.1.

~~regulations, permits, policies, and rules~~ laws adopted by a local government affecting the development of property, ~~and includes including~~ laws governing permitted uses of the property, density, intensity, design, and improvements.⁴⁵²

§ 160D-10-2. Definitions.⁴⁵³

The following definitions apply in this ~~Article: Part:~~

~~(1) Comprehensive plan. — The comprehensive plan, land use plan, small area plans, neighborhood plans, transportation plan, capital improvement plan, official map, and any other plans regarding land use and development that have been officially adopted by the governing board.~~

~~(2) Developer. — A person, including a governmental agency or redevelopment authority, who intends to undertake any development and who has a legal or equitable interest in the property to be developed.~~

(1) Development. - The planning for or carrying out of a building activity, the making of a material change in the use or appearance of any structure or property, or the dividing of land into two or more parcels. "Development", as designated in a law or development permit, includes the planning for and all other activity customarily associated with it unless otherwise specified.⁴⁵⁴ When appropriate to the context, "development" refers to the planning for or the act of developing or to the result of development. Reference to a specific operation is not intended to mean that the operation or activity, when part of other operations or activities, is not development. Reference to particular operations is not intended to limit the generality of this item.

~~(4) Development permit. — A building permit, zoning permit, subdivision approval, special or conditional use permit, variance, or any other official action of local government having the effect of permitting the development of property.~~

~~(5) Governing body. — The city council of a municipality.~~⁴⁵⁵

~~(6) Land development regulations. — Ordinances and regulations enacted by the appropriate governing body for the regulation of any aspect of development and includes zoning, subdivision, or any other land development ordinances.~~

(7) Laws.⁴⁵⁶ — All ordinances, resolutions, regulations, comprehensive plans, land development regulations, policies, and rules adopted by a local government affecting the development of property, and includes laws governing permitted uses of the property, density, design, and improvements.

~~(8) Local government. — Any municipality that exercises regulatory authority over and grants development permits for land development or which provides public facilities.~~

~~(9) Local planning board. — Any planning board established pursuant to G.S. 160A-361.~~

⁴⁵² Relocated from definitions section in current law, G.S. 160A-400.21, 153A-349.2, and expressly includes limit in G.S. 160A-440.6 and 153A-349.7 (now G.S. 160D-10-7(a)), the regulations in effect and applicable at the time of execution of the development agreement apply.

⁴⁵³ Deleted provisions are relocated to G.S. 160D-1-2.

⁴⁵⁴ Redundant given preceding sentence.

⁴⁵⁵ Surplusage, covered in Article 1.

⁴⁵⁶ The provisions of this definition are incorporated into G.S. 160D-10-1(d).

~~(10) Person. — An individual, corporation, business or land trust, estate, trust, partnership, association, two or more persons having a joint or common interest, State agency, or any legal entity.~~

~~(11) Property. — All real property subject to land-use regulation by a local government and includes any improvements or structures customarily regarded as a part of real property.~~

(2) Public facilities. - Major capital improvements, including, but not limited to, transportation, sanitary sewer, solid waste, drainage, potable water, educational, parks and recreational, and health systems and facilities.

~~§ 160D-10-3. Local governments authorized to enter into development agreements; Approval of governing body board required.~~⁴⁵⁷

~~(a) A local government may establish procedures and requirements, as provided in this Part Article, to consider and enter into development agreements with developers. A development agreement must be approved by the governing body board of a local government by ordinance following the procedures specified in G.S. 160D-10-5.~~⁴⁵⁸

~~(b) The development agreement may, by ordinance, be incorporated, in whole or in part, into any planning, zoning, or subdivision ordinance development regulation adopted by the local government.~~⁴⁵⁹ A development agreement may be considered concurrently with a zoning map or text amendment affecting the property and development subject to the development agreement.⁴⁶⁰ A development agreement may be concurrently considered with and incorporate by reference a sketch plan or preliminary plat required under a subdivision regulation or a site plan or other development approval required under a zoning regulation.⁴⁶¹ If incorporated into a conditional district, the provisions of the development agreement shall be treated as any other a development regulation in the event of the developer's bankruptcy.

~~§ 160D-10-4. Developed property must contain certain number of acres; permissible durations of agreements~~ Size and duration.⁴⁶²

~~(a) A local government may enter into a development agreement with a developer for the development of property as provided in this Part Article for developable property of any size.~~⁴⁶³ ~~including property that is subject to an executed brownfields agreement pursuant to Part 5 of~~

⁴⁵⁷ Relocated from G.S. 160A-400.22, 153A-349.3.

⁴⁵⁸ Clarifies that decision on a proposed development agreement is a legislative decision. While a development agreement is not an ordinance, this provision mandates that the same notice, hearing, and planning board referral provisions of Article 6 relative to rezonings be followed, given that those site-specific legislative decisions are the most nearly comparable action to decisions on development agreements.

⁴⁵⁹ Amendment made by S.L. 2015-246, Sec. 19 (H. 44).

⁴⁶⁰ Explicitly authorizes the common practice of processing and considering a rezoning and development agreement regarding a proposed development concurrently. The same process must be followed for each and often a rezoning is necessary for the proposed development. It is efficient and realistic to consider the two concurrently.

⁴⁶¹ Facilitates coordinated exercise of related development approvals for a project subject to a development agreement.

⁴⁶² Relocated from G.S. 160A-400.23, 153A-349.4.

⁴⁶³ Amendment made by S.L. 2015-246, Sec. 19 (H. 44).

~~Article 9 of Chapter 130A of the General Statutes.~~⁴⁶⁴ Development agreements shall be of a reasonable term specified in the agreement.⁴⁶⁵

§ 160D-10-5. Public hearing.⁴⁶⁶ Before entering into a development agreement, a local government shall conduct a ~~public legislative~~⁴⁶⁷ hearing on the proposed agreement. ~~The notice provisions of G.S. 160D-6-2 applicable to zoning map amendments shall be followed for this hearing.~~⁴⁶⁸ ~~following the procedures set forth in G.S. 160A-364 regarding zoning ordinance adoption or amendment.~~ The notice for the public hearing must specify the location of the property subject to the development agreement, the development uses proposed on the property, and must specify a place where a copy of the proposed development agreement can be obtained. ~~In the event that the development agreement provides that the local government shall provide certain public facilities, the development agreement shall provide that the delivery date of such public facilities will be tied to successful performance by the developer in implementing the proposed development (such as meeting defined completion percentages or other performance standards).~~⁴⁶⁹

§ 160D-10-6. ~~What development agreement must provide; what it may provide; major Content and modification requires public notice and hearing.~~⁴⁷⁰

- (a) A development agreement shall, at a minimum, include all of the following:
 - (1) A ~~legal~~ description of the property subject to the agreement and the names of its legal and equitable property owners.
 - (2) The duration of the agreement. However, the parties are not precluded from entering into subsequent development agreements that may extend the original duration period.
 - (3) The development uses permitted on the property, including population densities and building types, intensities, placement on the site, and design.
 - (4) A description of public facilities that will ~~service~~ serve the development, including who provides the facilities, the date any new public facilities, if needed, will be constructed, and a schedule to assure public facilities are available concurrent with the impacts of the development. In the event that the development agreement provides that the local government shall provide certain public facilities, the development agreement shall provide that the delivery date of such public facilities will be tied to successful performance by the developer in implementing the proposed development (such as meeting defined completion percentages or other performance standards).⁴⁷¹

⁴⁶⁴ Superfluous given 2015 amendment to statute deleting minimum size requirement for land subject to a development agreement.

⁴⁶⁵ Amendment made by S.L. 2015-246, Sec. 19 (H. 44).

⁴⁶⁶ Relocated from G.S. 160A-400.24, 153A-349.5.

⁴⁶⁷ Specifies the type of hearing to be conducted.

⁴⁶⁸ Simplification of hearing notice requirements through use of cross-reference to notice requirements for hearings on proposed rezonings.

⁴⁶⁹ Relocated to next section, G.S. 160D-10-6(a)(4).

⁴⁷⁰ Relocated from G.S. 160A-400.25, 153A-349.6.

⁴⁷¹ Sentence relocated from G.S. 160A-400.24, 153A-349.5.

- (5) A description, where appropriate, of any reservation or dedication of land for public purposes and any provisions to protect agreed to by the developer that exceed existing laws related to protection of environmentally sensitive property.
- ~~(6)⁴⁷² A description of all local development permits approved or needed to be approved for the development of the property together with a statement indicating that the failure of the agreement to address a particular permit, condition, term, or restriction does not relieve the developer of the necessity of complying with the law governing their permitting requirements, conditions, terms, or restrictions.~~
- (6) A description, where appropriate, of any conditions, terms, restrictions, or other requirements ~~determined to be necessary by the local government~~⁴⁷³ for the protection of public health, safety, or welfare of its citizens.
- (7) A description, where appropriate, of any provisions for the preservation and restoration of historic structures.

(b) A development agreement may also provide that the entire development or any phase of it be commenced or completed within a specified period of time. If required by ordinance or in the agreement, the ~~The~~ development agreement ~~must~~ shall provide a development schedule, including commencement dates and interim completion dates at no greater than five-year intervals; provided, however, the failure to meet a commencement or completion date shall not, in and of itself, constitute a material breach of the development agreement pursuant to G.S. 160D-10-8 but must be judged based upon the totality of the circumstances. ~~The development agreement may include other defined performance standards to be met by the developer.~~⁴⁷⁴ The developer may request a modification in the dates as set forth in the agreement. ~~Consideration of a proposed major modification of the agreement shall follow the same procedures as required for initial approval of a development agreement.~~⁴⁷⁵

(c) If more than one local government is made party to an agreement, the agreement must specify which local government is responsible for the overall administration of the development agreement. A local or regional utility authority may also be made a party to the development agreement.⁴⁷⁶

⁴⁷² Deleted as unnecessary. The developer must secure all required state and local permits and this is explicitly required by G.S. 160D-10-1(d). However, listing all within the agreement adds little educational or other value to the agreement and creates ambiguity and uncertainty as to the legal implications if a particular permit is inadvertently omitted from such a list.

⁴⁷³ Surplusage.

⁴⁷⁴ Relocated to subsequent subsection of this section.

⁴⁷⁵ Relocated to subsequent subsection of this section.

⁴⁷⁶ Recognizes that agreements regarding provision of infrastructure are often a critical aspect of a development agreement. A utility or other “agency” cannot create a development agreement unilaterally, as clarified by deleting the term “agency” in G.S. 160D-10-1(b). A local government is an essential and necessary party to a development agreement. However, while the local government and the developer are the essential parties, the entity providing utility services may need to be made a party to the agreement in order to have binding agreements regarding utility services. When the entity providing utility services is not the local government itself, this explicitly allows utility authorities to be parties to the agreement.

(d) The development agreement also may cover any other matter, including defined performance standards,⁴⁷⁷ not inconsistent with this Part Chapter.⁴⁷⁸ The development agreement may include mutually acceptable terms regarding provision of public facilities and other amenities and the allocation of financial responsibility for their provision, provided any impact mitigation measures offered by the developer beyond those that could be required by the local government pursuant to G.S. 160D-8-4 shall be expressly enumerated within the agreement, and provided the agreement may not include a tax or impact fee not otherwise authorized by law.⁴⁷⁹

(e) Consideration of a proposed major modification of the agreement shall follow the same procedures as required for initial approval of a development agreement.⁴⁸⁰ What changes constitute a major modification may be determined by ordinance adopted pursuant to G.S. 160D-10.3 or as provided for in the development agreement.

(f) Any performance guarantees under the development agreement shall comply with G.S. 160D-8-4(d).⁴⁸¹

§ 160D-10-7. Vesting.⁴⁸² ~~Law in effect at time of agreement governs development; exceptions.~~

(a) Unless the development agreement specifically provides for the application of subsequently enacted laws, the laws applicable to development of the property subject to a development agreement are those in force at the time of execution of the agreement.

(b) Except for grounds specified in G.S. 160D-1-8(e), a local government may not apply subsequently adopted ordinances or development policies to a development that is subject to a development agreement.

(c) In the event State or federal law is changed after a development agreement has been entered into and the change prevents or precludes compliance with one or more provisions of the development agreement, the local government may modify the affected provisions, upon a finding that the change in State or federal law has a fundamental effect on the development agreement. ~~by ordinance after notice and a hearing.~~

(d) This section does not abrogate ~~any vested rights otherwise preserved by law.~~⁴⁸³ ~~by G.S. 160A-385 or G.S. 160A-385.1, or that may vest pursuant to common law or otherwise in the absence of a development agreement.~~

⁴⁷⁷ Relocated from earlier subsection of this section.

⁴⁷⁸ Update reference to reflect development agreements may address matters covered by entire Chapter on development regulation, not just this individual Article.

⁴⁷⁹ Clarifies that the applicant and local government can through negotiation agree to the provision and cost-sharing for public facilities and other amenities related to the development, but requires impact mitigation (see proposed G.S. 160D-8-4(c)) beyond those that could be required under Nollan v. California Coastal Commission, 483 U.S. 825 (1987) and Dolan v. City of Tigard, 512 U.S. 374 (1994), be expressly set out.

⁴⁸⁰ Relocated from earlier subsection of this section.

⁴⁸¹ Added by S.L. 2015-187 (H. 721).

⁴⁸² Relocated from G.S. 160A-400.26, 153A-349.7.

⁴⁸³ Simplification. Preserves all vested rights, which are now codified at G.S. 160D-1-8.

§ 160D-10-8. Breach and cure.⁴⁸⁴ ~~Periodic review to assess compliance with agreement; material breach by developer; notice of breach; cure of breach or modification or termination of agreement.~~

(a) Procedures established pursuant to G.S. 160D-10-3 ~~must~~ may include a provision for requiring periodic review by the zoning administrator or other appropriate officer of the local government ~~at least every 12 months,~~⁴⁸⁵ at which time the developer ~~must be required to~~ shall demonstrate good faith compliance with the terms of the development agreement.

(b) ~~If, as a result of a periodic review,~~ the local government finds and determines that the developer has committed a material breach of ~~the terms or conditions of~~ the agreement, the local government shall ~~serve notice in writing, within a reasonable time after the periodic review, upon~~ notify the developer in writing setting forth with reasonable particularity the nature of the breach and the evidence supporting the finding and determination, and providing the developer a reasonable time in which to cure the material breach.

(c) If the developer fails to cure the material breach within the time given, then the local government unilaterally may terminate or modify the development agreement; provided, the notice of termination or modification may be appealed to the board of adjustment in the manner provided by G.S. 160D-4-5.

(d) An ordinance adopted pursuant to G.S. 160D-10.3 or the development agreement may specify other penalties for breach in lieu of termination, including but not limited to, penalties allowed for violation of a development regulation. Nothing in this Article shall be construed to abrogate or impair the power of the local government to enforce applicable law.

(e) A development agreement shall be enforceable by any party to the agreement notwithstanding any changes in the development regulations made subsequent to the effective date of the development agreement. Any party to the agreement may file an action for injunctive relief to enforce the terms of a development agreement.⁴⁸⁶

§ 160D-10-9. Amendment or termination-cancellation.⁴⁸⁷ ~~of development agreement by mutual consent of parties or successors in interest.~~

Subject to the provisions of G.S. 160D-10.6(e), a development agreement may be amended or canceled terminated by mutual consent of the parties. ~~to the agreement or by their successors in interest.~~

§ 160D-10-10. ~~Validity and duration of agreement entered into prior to~~ Change of jurisdiction.; ~~subsequent modification or suspension.~~

(a) Except as otherwise provided by this ~~Part~~ Article, any development agreement entered into by a local government before the effective date of a change of jurisdiction shall be valid for the duration of the agreement, or eight years from the effective date of the change in jurisdiction, whichever is earlier. The parties to the development agreement and the local government assuming

⁴⁸⁴ Relocated from G.S. 160A-400.27, 153A-349.8.

⁴⁸⁵ Allows each local government to determine whether a periodic review is appropriate for a particular development agreement. Rather than specify a specific statutory time for review, increase flexibility by allowing each development agreement to specify an appropriate review period that can consider the nature of the development and local circumstances.

⁴⁸⁶ Explicitly acknowledges that parties to a development agreement take action to enforce it.

⁴⁸⁷ Relocated from G.S. 160A-400.28, 153A-349.9.

jurisdiction have the same rights and obligations with respect to each other regarding matters addressed in the development agreement as if the property had remained in the previous jurisdiction.

(b) A local government assuming jurisdiction may modify or suspend the provisions of the development agreement if the local government determines that the failure of the local government to do so would place the residents of the territory subject to the development agreement, or the residents of the local government, or both, in a condition dangerous to their health or safety, or both.

§ 160D-10-11. Recordation.⁴⁸⁸ ~~Developer to record agreement within 14 days; burdens and benefits inure to successors in interest. Within 14 days after a local government enters into a development agreement,~~ The developer shall record the agreement with the register of deeds in the county where the property is located within 14 days after the local government and developer execute an approved development agreement. No development approvals may be issued until the development agreement has been recorded. The burdens of the development agreement are binding upon, and the benefits of the agreement shall inure to, all successors in interest to the parties to the agreement.

§ 160D-10-12. Applicability to local government of constitutional and statutory of procedures for approval of to approve debt.⁴⁸⁹ In the event that any of the obligations of the local government in the development agreement constitute debt, the local government shall comply, at the time of the obligation to incur the debt and before the debt becomes enforceable against the local government, with any applicable constitutional and statutory procedures for the approval of this debt.

§ 160A-400.32. Relationship of agreement to building or housing code.⁴⁹⁰ ~~A development agreement adopted pursuant to this Chapter shall not exempt the property owner or developer from compliance with the State Building Code or State or local housing codes that are not part of the local government's planning, zoning, or subdivision regulations.~~

⁴⁸⁸ Relocated from G.S. 160A-400.29, 153A-349.10.

⁴⁸⁹ Relocated from G.S. 160A-400.30, 153A-349.12.

⁴⁹⁰ Formerly G.S. 160A-400.32, 153A-13. Relocated to G.S. 160D-10-1(c).

ARTICLE 11. BUILDING CODE ENFORCEMENT

§ 160D-11-1. Definitions. As used in this Article, the words:

- (a) "Building"⁴⁹¹ or "buildings" include other structures.
- (b) "Governing board" or "board of commissioners"⁴⁹² includes the Tribal Council of a federally recognized Indian Tribe.
- (c) "Local government"⁴⁹³ also means a federally recognized Indian Tribe, and as to such tribe includes lands held in trust for the tribe.
- (d) "Public officer"⁴⁹⁴ means the officer or officers who are authorized by regulations ~~ordinances~~ adopted hereunder to exercise the powers prescribed by the regulations ~~ordinances~~ and by this Article.

§ 160D-11-2. Building code administration ~~Inspection department~~.⁴⁹⁵

Every city in the State is hereby authorized to A local government may create an inspection department, and may appoint ~~one or more~~ inspectors who may be given ~~the appropriate~~ titles, such as building inspector, electrical inspector, plumbing inspector, housing inspector, zoning inspector, heating and air-conditioning inspector, fire prevention inspector, or deputy or assistant inspector, or such other titles as may be generally descriptive of the duties assigned. ~~The department may be headed by a superintendent or director of inspections.~~⁴⁹⁶ Every ~~city~~ local government shall perform the duties and responsibilities set forth in G.S. 160D-11-5 either by: (i) creating its own inspection department; (ii) creating a joint inspection department in cooperation with one or more other units of local government, pursuant to G.S. 160D-11-5 or Part 1 of Article 20 of ~~this~~ Chapter 160A; (iii) contracting with another unit of local government for the provision of inspection services pursuant to Part 1 of Article 20 of Chapter 160A; or (iv) arranging for the county in which ~~it~~ a city is located to perform inspection services within the city's jurisdiction as authorized by G.S. 160D-11-5 and G.S. 160D-2-2. ~~Such action shall be taken no later than the applicable date in the schedule below, according to the city's population as published in the 1970 United States Census:~~

~~Cities over 75,000 population — July 1, 1979~~

~~Cities between 50,001 and 75,000 — July 1, 1981~~

~~Cities between 25,001 and 50,000 — July 1, 1983~~

~~Cities 25,000 and under — July 1, 1985.~~⁴⁹⁷

In the event that any ~~city~~ local government ~~shall~~ fails to provide inspection services ~~by the date specified above~~ or shall cease to provide such services ~~at any time thereafter~~, the Commissioner of Insurance shall arrange for the provision of such services, either through

⁴⁹¹ Relocated from G.S. 153A-350.

⁴⁹² Relocated from G.S. 153A-350.1.

⁴⁹³ Relocated from G.S. 153A-350.1.

⁴⁹⁴ Relocated from G.S. 160A-442.

⁴⁹⁵ Relocated from 160A-411 and 153-351(a), (a1).

⁴⁹⁶ Simplification.

⁴⁹⁷ Delete dates for establishing building code inspections as obsolete, as all deadlines passed decades ago. Deletes comparable provisions in G.S. 153A-351(a1) for counties.

personnel employed by ~~his~~ the⁴⁹⁸ department or through an arrangement with other units of government. In either event, the Commissioner shall have and may exercise within the city's local government's planning and development regulation jurisdiction all powers made available to the ~~city council governing board~~ with respect to building inspection under this Article, and Part 1 of Article 20 of Chapter 160A. Whenever the Commissioner has intervened in this manner, the city local government may assume provision of inspection services only after giving the Commissioner two years' written notice of its intention to do so; provided, however, that the Commissioner may waive this requirement or permit assumption at an earlier date ~~if he finds~~ upon finding that such earlier assumption will not unduly interfere with arrangements ~~he has~~ made for the provision of those services.

§ 160D-11-3. Qualifications of inspectors.⁴⁹⁹ ~~On and after the applicable date set forth in the schedule in G.S. 160A-411, No city local government shall employ an inspector to enforce the State Building Code as a member of a city or joint inspection department who does not have one of the following types of certificates issued by the North Carolina Code Officials Qualification Board attesting to his the inspector's qualifications to hold such position: (i) a probationary certificate, valid for one year only;~~⁵⁰⁰ (ii) a standard certificate; or (iii) a limited certificate which shall be valid only as an authorization ~~for him~~ to continue in the position held on the date specified in G.S. 143-151.13(c) and which shall become invalid if ~~he~~ the inspector does not successfully complete in-service training specified by the Qualification Board within the period specified in G.S. 143-151.13(c). An inspector holding one of the above certificates can be promoted to a position requiring a higher level certificate only upon issuance by the Board of a standard certificate or probationary certificate appropriate for such new position.

§ 160D-11-4. Duties and responsibilities.⁵⁰¹

(a) The duties and responsibilities of an inspection department and of the inspectors ~~therein in~~ it shall be to enforce within their planning and development regulation ~~territorial~~ jurisdiction State and local laws ~~and local ordinances and regulations~~⁵⁰² relating to:

- (1) The construction of buildings and other structures;
- (2) The installation of such facilities as plumbing systems, electrical systems, heating systems, refrigeration systems, and air-conditioning systems;
- (3) The maintenance of buildings and other structures in a safe, sanitary, and healthful condition;
- (4) Other matters that may be specified by the ~~city council governing board~~.

(b) The duties and responsibilities set forth in subsection (a) of this section shall include the receipt of applications for permits and the issuance or denial of permits, the making of any

⁴⁹⁸ Gender neutral language.

⁴⁹⁹ Relocated from G.S. 160A-411.1 and 153A-351.1, deletes 153A-351(b) relative to electrical inspector qualifications as obsolete.

⁵⁰⁰ Retains the requirement for a valid certificate, without specifying a particular time limit. As the Code Qualifications Board may amend or regulate the time period for which probationary certificates are valid, there is no need to include a specific time period in this statute.

⁵⁰¹ Relocated from G.S. 160A-412 and 153A-352. Amendments made by S.L. 2015-145 (H. 255) incorporated.

⁵⁰² Uses terminology from county statute. No substantive change in law intended.

necessary inspections in a timely manner, the issuance or denial of certificates of compliance, the issuance of orders to correct violations, the bringing of judicial actions against actual or threatened violations, the keeping of adequate records, and any other actions that may be required in order adequately to enforce those laws. The city council shall have the authority to enact reasonable and appropriate provisions governing the enforcement of those laws.

(c) Except as provided in G.S. 160D-11-15 and G.S. 160D-12-7, a city local government may not adopt a local ordinance or resolution or any other policy that requires regular, routine inspections of buildings or structures constructed in compliance with the North Carolina Residential Code for One- and Two-Family Dwellings in addition to the specific inspections required by the North Carolina Building Code without first obtaining approval from the North Carolina Building Code Council. The North Carolina Building Code Council shall review all applications for additional inspections requested by a city local government and shall, in a reasonable manner, approve or disapprove the additional inspections. This subsection does not limit the authority of the city local government to require inspections upon unforeseen or unique circumstances that require immediate action. In performing the specific inspections required by the North Carolina Residential Building Code, the inspector shall conduct all inspections requested by the permit holder for each scheduled inspection visit. For each requested inspection, the inspector shall inform the permit holder of instances in which the work inspected is incomplete or otherwise fails to meet the requirements of the North Carolina Residential Code for One- and Two-Family Dwellings.⁵⁰³

(d)⁵⁰⁴ Notwithstanding the requirements of this Article, a local government shall accept and approve, without further responsibility to inspect, a design or other proposal for a component or element in the construction of buildings from a licensed architect or licensed engineer provided all of the following apply:

- (1) The submission is completed under valid seal of the licensed architect or licensed engineer;
- (2) Field inspection of the installation or completion of the construction component or element of the building is performed by that licensed architect or licensed engineer;
- (3) That licensed architect or licensed engineer provides the local government with a signed written document stating that the component or element of the building so inspected is in compliance with the North Carolina State Building Code for One- and Two-Family Dwellings.

(e)⁵⁰⁵ Upon the acceptance and approval of a signed written document by the local government as required under subsection (d) of this section, the local government, its inspection department, and the inspectors shall be discharged and released from any duties and responsibilities imposed by this Article with respect to the component or element in the construction of the building for which the signed written document was submitted.

§ 160D-11-5. Other arrangements for inspections.⁵⁰⁶

⁵⁰³ Amendment made by S.L. 2015-145 (H. 255) incorporated.

⁵⁰⁴ Amendments made by S.L. 2015-145 (H. 255) incorporated.

⁵⁰⁵ Amendments made by S.L. 2015-145 (H. 255) incorporated.

⁵⁰⁶ Relocated from G.S. 160A-413, 153A-353. Deleted provision is relocated to Article 4, Section 160D-4-2(c).

~~A city council may enter into and carry out contracts with another city, county, or combination thereof under which the parties agree to create and support a joint inspection department for the enforcement of State and local laws specified in the agreement. The governing boards of the contracting parties are authorized to make any necessary appropriations for this purpose.~~

~~In lieu of a joint inspection department, a city council may designate an inspector from any other city or county to serve as a member of its inspection department with the approval of the governing body of the other city or county. A city local government may also contract with an individual who is not a city or county local government employee but who holds one of the applicable certificates as provided in G.S. 160D-11-3 or with the employer of an individual who holds one of the applicable certificates as provided in G.S. 160D-11-3. The inspector, if designated from another city or county under this section, shall, while exercising the duties of the position, be considered a municipal employee. The city shall have the same potential liability, if any, for inspections conducted by an individual who is not an employee of the city as it does for an individual who is an employee of the city. The company or individual with whom the city contracts shall have errors and omissions and other insurance coverage acceptable to the city.~~

~~The city council of any city may request the board of county commissioners of the county in which the city is located to direct one or more county building inspectors to exercise their powers within part or all of the city's jurisdiction, and they shall thereupon be empowered to do so until the city council officially withdraws its request in the manner provided in G.S. 160A-360(g).~~

~~§ 160A-414/153A-354. Financial support.~~⁵⁰⁷

~~The city council may appropriate for the support of the inspection department any funds that it deems necessary. It may provide for paying inspectors fixed salaries or it may reimburse them for their services by paying over part or all of any fees collected. It shall have power to fix reasonable fees for issuance of permits, inspections, and other services of the inspection department.~~

§ 160D-11-6. Conflicts of interest.⁵⁰⁸

Staff members, agents or contractors responsible for building inspections shall comply with G.S. 160D-1-9(c). No member of an inspection department shall be financially interested or employed by a business that is financially interested in the furnishing of labor, material, or appliances for the construction, alteration, or maintenance of any building within the city's local government's planning and development regulation jurisdiction or any part or system thereof, or in the making of plans or specifications therefor, unless he is the owner of the building. No member of an inspection department or other individual or an employee of a company contracting with a city local government to conduct building inspections shall engage in any work that is inconsistent with his or her duties or with the interest of the city local government, as determined by the city local government. The city local government must find a conflict of interest if any of the following is the case:

- (1) If the individual, company, or employee of a company contracting to perform building inspections for the city local government has worked for the owner,

⁵⁰⁷ Relocated to Article 4, Section 160D-4-2(d). The provision regarding paying salaries from collected fees is deleted in the relocated material as an unnecessary level of detail.

⁵⁰⁸ Relocated from G.S. 160A-415, 153A-355. Deleted provisions relocated to G.S. 160D-1-9(c).

developer, contractor, or project manager of the project to be inspected within the last two years.

- (2) If the individual, company, or employee of a company contracting to perform building inspections for the city local government is closely related to the owner, developer, contractor, or project manager of the project to be inspected.
- (3) If the individual, company, or employee of a company contracting to perform building inspections for the city local government has a financial or business interest in the project to be inspected.

The provisions of this section do not apply to a firefighter whose primary duties are fire suppression and rescue, but who engages in some fire inspection activities as a secondary responsibility of the firefighter's employment as a firefighter, except no firefighter may inspect any work actually done, or materials or appliances supplied, by the firefighter or the firefighter's business within the preceding six years.

§ 160D-11-7. Failure to perform duties.⁵⁰⁹

(a) If any member of an inspection department shall willfully fail to perform the duties required ~~of him~~ by law, or willfully shall improperly issue a building permit, or shall give a certificate of compliance without first making the inspections required by law, or willfully shall improperly give a certificate of compliance, ~~he~~ the member shall be guilty of a Class 1 misdemeanor.

(b) A member of the inspection department shall not be in violation of this section when the local government, its inspection department, or one of the inspectors accepted a signed written document of compliance with the North Carolina State Building Code or the North Carolina Residential Code for One- and Two-Family Dwellings from a licensed architect or licensed engineer in accordance with G.S. 160D-11-4(d).

§ 160D-11-8. Building permits.⁵¹⁰

(a) Except as provided in subsection ~~(a2)~~ (c) of this section, no person shall commence or proceed with any of the following without first securing ~~from the inspection department with jurisdiction over the site of the work any and~~⁵¹¹ all permits required by the State Building Code and any other State or local laws applicable to the work:

- (1) The construction, reconstruction, alteration, repair, movement to another site, removal, or demolition of any building or structure.
- (2) The installation, extension, or general repair of any plumbing system except that in any one- or two-family dwelling unit a permit shall not be required for the connection of a water heater that is being replaced, provided that the work is performed by a person licensed under G.S. 87-21, who personally examines the work at completion and ensures that a leak test has been performed on the gas piping, and provided the energy use rate or thermal input is not greater than that of the water heater which is being replaced, there is no change in fuel, energy source, location, capacity, or routing or sizing of venting and piping, and the

⁵⁰⁹ Relocated from G.S. 160A-416, 153A-356. Amendments made by S.L. 2015-145 (H. 255) incorporated.

⁵¹⁰ Relocated from G.S. 160A-417, 153A-357.

⁵¹¹ Simplification.

replacement is installed in accordance with the current edition of the State Building Code.

- (3) The installation, extension, alteration, or general repair of any heating or cooling equipment system.
- (4) The installation, extension, alteration, or general repair of any electrical wiring, devices, appliances, or equipment except that in any one- or two-family dwelling unit a permit shall not be required for repair or replacement of electrical lighting fixtures or devices, such as receptacles and lighting switches, or for the connection of an existing branch circuit to an electric water heater that is being replaced, provided that all of the following requirements are met:
 - a. With respect to electric water heaters, the replacement water heater is placed in the same location and is of the same or less capacity and electrical rating as the original.
 - b. With respect to electrical lighting fixtures and devices, the replacement is with a fixture or device having the same voltage and the same or less amperage.
 - c. The work is performed by a person licensed under G.S. 87-43.
 - d. The repair or replacement installation meets the current edition of the State Building Code, including the State Electrical Code.

However, a building permit is not required for the installation, maintenance, or replacement of any load control device or equipment by an electric power supplier, as defined in G.S. 62-133.8, or an electrical contractor contracted by the electric power supplier, so long as the work is subject to supervision by an electrical contractor licensed under Article 4 of Chapter 87 of the General Statutes. The electric power supplier shall provide such installation, maintenance, or replacement in accordance with (i) an activity or program ordered, authorized, or approved by the North Carolina Utilities Commission pursuant to G.S. 62-133.8 or G.S. 62-133.9 or (ii) a similar program undertaken by a municipal electric service provider, whether the installation, modification, or replacement is made before or after the point of delivery of electric service to the customer. The exemption under this subdivision applies to all existing installations.

~~(a1)~~ (b) A building permit shall be in writing and shall contain a provision that the work done shall comply with the State Building Code and all other applicable State and local laws. Nothing in this section shall require a city local government to review and approve residential building plans submitted to the city local government pursuant to the North Carolina Residential Code, Section 106 of the Administration Code and Policies R-110 of Volume VII of the North Carolina State Building Code,⁵¹² provided that the city local government may review and approve such residential building plans as it deems necessary. No building permits shall be issued unless the plans and specifications are identified by the name and address of the author thereof, and if the General Statutes of North Carolina require that plans for certain types of work be prepared only by a licensed⁵¹³ architect or licensed engineer, no building permit shall be issued unless the plans and specifications bear the North Carolina seal of a licensed architect or of a licensed engineer. When any provision of the General Statutes of North Carolina or of any ordinance requires that work be done by a licensed specialty contractor of any kind, no building permit for the work shall be issued unless the work is to be performed by such a duly licensed contractor.

⁵¹² Updated citation.

⁵¹³ Amendments made by S.L. 2015-145 (H. 255) incorporated.

(c) No permit issued under Articles 9 or 9C of Chapter 143 shall be required for any construction, installation, repair, replacement, or alteration performed in accordance with the current edition of the North Carolina State Building Code⁵¹⁴ costing fifteen thousand dollars (\$15,000)⁵¹⁵ or less in any single family residence or farm building unless the work involves any of the following:

- (1) The addition, repair or replacement of load bearing structures. However, no permit is required or replacement of windows, doors, exterior siding, or the pickets, railings, stair treads, and decking of porches and exterior decks.
- (2) The addition or change in the design of plumbing. However, no permit is required for replacements otherwise meeting the requirements of this subsection that do not change size or capacity.
- (3) The addition, replacement, or change in the design of heating, air conditioning, or electrical wiring, devices, appliances, or equipment, other than like-kind replacement of electrical devices and lighting fixtures.
- (4) The use of materials not permitted by the North Carolina Residential Code for One- and Two-Family Dwellings.
- (5) The addition (excluding replacement) of roofing.

~~(a2)~~ (d) A ~~city~~ local government shall not require more than one building permit for the complete installation or replacement of any natural gas, propane gas, or electrical appliance on an existing structure when the installation or replacement is performed by a person licensed under G.S. 87-21 or G.S. 87-43. The cost of the building permit for such work shall not exceed the cost of any one individual trade permit issued by that ~~city~~ local government, nor shall the ~~city~~ local government increase the costs of any fees to offset the loss of revenue caused by this provision.

~~(b)~~ (e) No building permit shall be issued pursuant to subsection (a) for any land-disturbing activity, as defined in G.S. 113A-52(6), or for any activity covered by G.S. 113A-57, unless an erosion and sedimentation control plan ~~has been approved by the Sedimentation Pollution Control Commission pursuant to G.S. 113A-54(d)(4) or by a local government pursuant to G.S. 113A-61~~ for the site of the activity or a tract of land including the site of the activity has been approved under the Sedimentation Pollution Control Act.

~~(c)~~ (f) No building permit shall be issued pursuant to subsection (a) of this section for any land-disturbing activity that is subject to, but does not comply with, the requirements of G.S. 113A-71.

~~(d)~~ (g) No building permit shall be issued pursuant to subdivision (1) of subsection (a) of this section where the cost of the work is thirty thousand dollars (\$30,000) or more, other than for improvements to an existing single-family residential dwelling unit as defined in G.S. 87-15.5(7) that the owner occupies as a residence, or for the addition of an accessory building or accessory structure as defined in the North Carolina Uniform Residential Building Code, the use of which is incidental to that residential dwelling unit, unless the name, physical and mailing address, telephone number, facsimile number, and electronic mail address of the lien agent designated by the owner pursuant to G.S. 44A-11.1(a) is conspicuously set forth in the permit or in an attachment thereto. The building permit may contain the lien agent's electronic mail address. The lien agent information for each permit issued pursuant to this subsection shall be maintained by the inspection

⁵¹⁴ Amendments to this section made by S.L.2016-113 (S. 770) incorporated.

⁵¹⁵ Amendment made by S.L. 2015-145 (H. 255) incorporated.

department in the same manner and in the same location in which it maintains its record of building permits issued.

(h) No local government may withhold a building permit or certificate of occupancy that otherwise would be eligible to be issued under this section to compel, with respect to another property or parcel, completion of work for a separate permit or compliance with land use regulations under this Chapter unless otherwise authorized by law or unless the local government reasonably determines the existence of a public safety issue directly related to the issuance of a building permit or certificate of occupancy.⁵¹⁶

(i) Violation of this section constitutes a Class 1 misdemeanor.

§ 160D-11-9. Expiration of building ~~Time limitations on validity of permits.~~⁵¹⁷

A building permit issued pursuant to ~~G.S. 160A-417/153A-357~~ this Article shall expire by limitation six months, or any lesser time fixed by ordinance of the city council, after the date of issuance if the work authorized by the permit has not been commenced. If after commencement the work is discontinued for a period of 12 months, the permit therefor shall immediately expire. No work authorized by any building permit that has expired shall thereafter be performed until a new permit has been secured.

§ 160D-11-10. Changes in work.⁵¹⁸ After a building permit has been issued, no changes or deviations from the terms of the application, plans and specifications, or the permit, except where changes or deviations are clearly permissible under the State Building Code, shall be made until specific written approval of proposed changes or deviations has been obtained from the inspection department.

§ 160D-11-11. Inspections of work in progress.⁵¹⁹ Subject to the limitation imposed by G.S. 160D-11-4(b), as the work pursuant to a building permit progresses, local inspectors shall make as many inspections thereof as may be necessary to satisfy them that the work is being done according to the provisions of any applicable State and local laws and of the terms of the permit. In exercising this power, members of the inspection department shall have a right to enter on any premises within the jurisdiction of the department at all reasonable hours for the purposes of inspection or other enforcement action, upon presentation of proper credentials. If a building permit has been obtained by an owner exempt from licensure under G.S. 87-1(b)(2), no inspection shall be conducted without the owner being ~~personally~~ present, unless the plans for the building were drawn and sealed by an architect licensed pursuant to Chapter 83A of the General Statutes.

§ 160D-11-12. Appeals of stop orders.⁵²⁰

~~(a) Whenever any building or structure or part thereof is being demolished, constructed, reconstructed, altered, or repaired in a hazardous manner, or in substantial violation of any State or local building law, or in a manner that endangers life or property, the appropriate inspector may~~

⁵¹⁶ Added by S.L. 2015-187 (H. 721).

⁵¹⁷ Relocated from G.S. 160A-418, 153A-358.

⁵¹⁸ Relocated from G.S. 160A-419, 153A-359.

⁵¹⁹ Relocated from G.S. 160A-420, 153A-360. Amendments made by S.L. 2015-145 (H. 255) incorporated.

⁵²⁰ Relocated from G.S. 160A-421, 153A-361. Issuance of stop work orders are address in G.S. 160D-4-4(b).

~~order the specific part of the work that is in violation or presents such a hazard to be immediately stopped. The stop order shall be in writing, directed to the person doing the work, and shall state the specific work to be stopped, the specific reasons therefor, and the conditions under which the work may be resumed.~~⁵²¹

(a) ~~(b)~~ The owner or builder may appeal from a stop order involving alleged violation of the State Building Code or any approved local modification thereof to the North Carolina Commissioner of Insurance or his designee within a period of five days after the order is issued. Notice of appeal shall be given in writing to the Commissioner of Insurance or his designee, with a copy to the local inspector. The Commissioner of Insurance or his designee shall promptly conduct an investigation and the appellant and the inspector shall be permitted to submit relevant evidence. The Commissioner of Insurance or his designee shall as expeditiously as possible provide a written statement of the decision setting forth the facts found, the decision reached, and the reasons for the decision. Pending the ruling by the Commissioner of Insurance or his designee on an appeal no further work shall take place in violation of a stop order. In the event of dissatisfaction with the decision, the person affected shall have the options of:

(1) Appealing to the Building Code Council, or

(2) Appealing to the Superior Court as provided in G.S. 143-141.

(b) ~~(c)~~ The owner or builder may appeal from a stop order involving alleged violation of a local ~~zoning ordinance~~ development regulation as provided in G.S. 160D-4-5. ~~by giving notice of appeal in writing to the board of adjustment. The appeal shall be heard and decided within the period established by the ordinance, or if none is specified, within a reasonable time. No further work shall take place in violation of a stop order pending a ruling.~~⁵²²

~~(d) Violation of a stop order shall constitute a Class 1 misdemeanor.~~⁵²³

§ 160D-11-13. Revocation of building permits.⁵²⁴ The appropriate inspector may revoke and require the return of any building permit by notifying the permit holder in writing stating the reason for the revocation. Building permits shall be revoked for any substantial departure from the approved application, plans, or specifications; for refusal or failure to comply with the requirements of any applicable State or local laws; or for false statements or misrepresentations made in securing the permit. Any building permit mistakenly issued in violation of an applicable State or local law may also be revoked.

§ 160D-11-14. Certificates of compliance.⁵²⁵ At the conclusion of all work done under a building permit, the appropriate inspector shall make a final inspection, and if ~~he~~ the inspector finds that the completed work complies with all applicable State and local laws and with the terms of the permit, ~~he~~ the inspector shall issue a certificate of compliance. No new building or part thereof may be occupied, and no addition or enlargement of an existing building may be occupied, and no existing building that has been altered or moved may be occupied, until the inspection department

⁵²¹ Relocated to Article 4, Section 160D-4-4(b).

⁵²² Relocated to Article 4, Section 160D-4-4(b).

⁵²³ Relocated to Article 4, Section 160D-4-4(b).

⁵²⁴ Relocated from G.S. 160A-422, 153A-363. A more general provision for revocation of other development permits is in Article 4 at section 160D-4-4(f).

⁵²⁵ Relocated from G.S. 160A-423, 153A-363. Deleted provisions relocated to Article 4, Section 160D-4-3(g).

has issued a certificate of compliance. A temporary certificate of occupancy or compliance may be issued permitting occupancy for a stated period of time of either the entire building or property or of specified portions of the building if the inspector finds that such building or property may safely be occupied prior to its final completion. ~~of the entire building.~~ Violation of this section shall constitute a Class 1 misdemeanor. A local government may require the applicant for a temporary certificate of occupancy to post suitable security to ensure code compliance.

§ 160D-11-15. Periodic inspections.⁵²⁶

(a) ~~The inspection department may make periodic inspections, subject to the council's governing board's directions, for unsafe, unsanitary, or otherwise hazardous and unlawful conditions in buildings or structures within its territorial planning and development regulation jurisdiction. Except as provided in subsection (b) of this section, the inspection department may make periodic inspections only when there is reasonable cause to believe that unsafe, unsanitary, or otherwise hazardous or unlawful conditions may exist in a residential building or structure. For purposes of this section, the term "reasonable cause" means any of the following: (i) the landlord or owner has a history of more than two verified violations of the housing ordinances or codes within a 12 month period; (ii) there has been a complaint that substandard conditions exist within the building or there has been a request that the building be inspected; (iii) the inspection department has actual knowledge of an unsafe condition within the building; or (iv) violations of the local ordinances or codes are visible from the outside of the property. In conducting inspections authorized under this section, the inspection department shall not discriminate between single-family and multifamily buildings. In exercising this power, members of the department shall have a right to enter on any premises within the jurisdiction of the department at all reasonable hours for the purposes of inspection or other enforcement action, upon presentation of proper credentials. Inspections of dwellings shall follow the provisions of G.S. 160D-12-7. Nothing in this section shall be construed to prohibit periodic inspections in accordance with State fire prevention code or as otherwise required by State law.~~

~~(b) A city local government may require periodic inspections as part of a targeted effort within a geographic area that has been designated by the city council governing board. The municipality local government shall not discriminate in its selection of areas or housing types to be targeted and shall (i) provide notice to all owners and residents of properties in the affected area about the periodic inspections plan and information regarding a public hearing regarding the plan; (ii) hold a public hearing regarding the plan; and (iii) establish a plan to address the ability of low-income residential property owners to comply with minimum housing code standards.~~

~~(c) In no event may a city local government do any of the following: (i) adopt or enforce any ordinance that would require any owner or manager of rental property to obtain any permit or permission under Article 11 or Article 12 of this Chapter⁵²⁷ from the city local government to lease or rent residential real property, except for those properties that have more than three verified~~

⁵²⁶ Relocated from G.S. 160A-424, 153A-364. The deleted provisions, which relate to inspections of existing residential buildings rather than inspections of new construction, were added to this section by S.S. 2011-281 and are relocated to Article 12, Section 160D-12-6. Note that the provisions in Article 11 beginning with this section through the end of the Article do not deal with building permits for new construction but are older statutes related to the safety of existing buildings and apply to all buildings, not just residential structures, so their continued location in Article 11 is appropriate.

⁵²⁷ Clarify that this limitation is intended to apply to the housing code and building code provisions of this Chapter.

violations in a 12-month period or upon the property being identified within the top 10% of properties with crime or disorder problems as set forth in a local ordinance; (ii) require that an owner or manager of residential rental property enroll or participate in any governmental program as a condition of obtaining a certificate of occupancy; or (iii) except as provided in subsection (d) of this section, levy a special fee or tax on residential rental property that is not also levied against other commercial and residential properties.

(d) A city ~~local government~~ may levy a fee for residential rental property registration under subsection (c) of this section for those rental units which have been found with more than two verified violations of local ordinances within the previous 12 months or upon the property being identified within the top 10% of properties with crime or disorder problems as set forth in a local ordinance. The fee shall be an amount that covers the cost of operating a residential registration program and shall not be used to supplant revenue in other areas. ~~Cities Local governments~~ using registration programs that charge registration fees for all residential rental properties as of June 1, 2011, may continue levying a fee on all residential rental properties as follows:

- (1) For properties with 20 or more residential rental units, the fee shall be no more than fifty dollars (\$50.00) per year.
- (2) For properties with fewer than 20 but more than three residential rental units, the fee shall be no more than twenty-five dollars (\$25.00) per year.
- (3) For properties with three or fewer residential rental units, the fee shall be no more than fifteen dollars (\$15.00) per year.

§ 160D-11-16. Defects in buildings to be corrected.⁵²⁸ When a local inspector finds any defects in a building, or finds that the building has not been constructed in accordance with the applicable State and local laws, or that a building because of its condition is dangerous or contains fire hazardous conditions, it shall be ~~his~~ the inspector's⁵²⁹ duty to notify the owner or occupant of the building of its defects, hazardous conditions, or failure to comply with law. The owner or occupant shall each immediately remedy the defects, hazardous conditions, or violations of law in the property ~~he owns~~.

§ 160A-425.1: Repealed.

§ 160D-11-17. Unsafe buildings condemned in localities.⁵³⁰

(a) *Designation of Unsafe Buildings.* Every building that shall appear to the inspector to be especially dangerous to life because of its liability to fire or because of bad condition of walls, overloaded floors, defective construction, decay, unsafe wiring or heating system, inadequate means of egress, or other causes, shall be held to be unsafe, and the inspector shall affix a notice of the dangerous character of the structure to a conspicuous place on the exterior wall of the building.

(b) *Nonresidential Building or Structure.* In addition to the authority granted in subsection (a) of this section, an inspector may declare a nonresidential building or structure within a community development target area to be unsafe if it meets both of the following conditions:

⁵²⁸ Relocated from G.S. 160A-425, 153A-365.

⁵²⁹ Gender neutral language.

⁵³⁰ Relocated from G.S. 160A-426, 153A-366. Subsections (b) to (d) previously only applicable to cities, expanded for uniformity, but still applicable only with community development target areas.

- (1) It appears to the inspector to be vacant or abandoned.
- (2) It appears to the inspector to be in such dilapidated condition as to cause or contribute to blight, disease, vagrancy, fire or safety hazard, to be a danger to children, or to tend to attract persons intent on criminal activities or other activities that would constitute a public nuisance.

(c) Notice posted on structure. If an inspector declares a nonresidential building or structure to be unsafe under subsection (b) of this section, the inspector must affix a notice of the unsafe character of the structure to a conspicuous place on the exterior wall of the building. For the purposes of this section, the term "community development target area" means an area that has characteristics of an urban progress zone under G.S. 143B-437.09, a "nonresidential redevelopment area" under G.S. 160A-503(10), or an area with similar characteristics designated by the ~~city council~~ governing board as being in special need of revitalization for the benefit and welfare of its citizens.

(d) Applicability to residential structures. A ~~municipality~~ local government may expand subsections (b) and (c) of this section to apply to residential buildings by adopting an ordinance. Before adopting such an ordinance, a ~~municipality~~ local government shall hold a public legislative hearing with published notice as provided by G.S. 160D-6-1. ~~and shall provide notice of the hearing at least 10 days in advance of the hearing.~~⁵³¹

§ 160D-11-18. Removing notice from condemned building.⁵³² If any person shall remove any notice that has been affixed to any building or structure by a local inspector of any ~~municipality~~ local government and that states the dangerous character of the building or structure, ~~he~~ that person⁵³³ shall be guilty of a Class 1 misdemeanor.

§ 160D-11-19. Action in event of failure to take corrective action.⁵³⁴ If the owner of a building or structure that has been condemned as unsafe pursuant to G.S. 160D-11-17 shall fail to take prompt corrective action, the local inspector shall give ~~him~~ written notice, by certified ~~or registered~~ mail to ~~his~~ the owner's last known address or by personal service:

- (1) That the building or structure is in a condition that appears to meet one or more of the following conditions:
 - a. Constitutes a fire or safety hazard.
 - b. Is dangerous to life, health, or other property.
 - c. Is likely to cause or contribute to blight, disease, vagrancy, or danger to children.
 - d. Has a tendency to attract persons intent on criminal activities or other activities which would constitute a public nuisance.
- (2) That an administrative hearing will be held before the inspector at a designated place and time, not later than 10 days after the date of the notice, at which time the owner shall be entitled to be heard in person or by counsel and to present arguments and evidence pertaining to the matter; and

⁵³¹ Provide uniform provisions for public hearings and notice for all legislative decisions.

⁵³² Relocated from G.S. 160A-427, 153A-367.

⁵³³ Gender neutral language.

⁵³⁴ Relocated from G.S. 160A-428, 153A-368.

- (3) That following the hearing, the inspector may issue such order to repair, close, vacate, or demolish the building or structure as appears appropriate.

If the name or whereabouts of the owner cannot after due diligence be discovered, the notice shall be considered properly and adequately served if a copy ~~thereof~~ is posted on the outside of the building or structure in question at least 10 days prior to the hearing and a notice of the hearing is published in a newspaper having general circulation in the city local government's area of jurisdiction at least once not later than one week prior to the hearing.

§ 160D-11-20. Order to take corrective action.⁵³⁵ If, upon a hearing held pursuant to the notice prescribed in G.S. 160D-11-19, the inspector shall find that the building or structure is in a condition that constitutes a fire or safety hazard or renders it dangerous to life, health, or other property, ~~he the inspector~~ shall make an order in writing, directed to the owner of such building or structure, requiring the owner to remedy the defective conditions by repairing, closing, vacating, or demolishing the building or structure or taking other necessary steps, within such period, not less than 60 days, as the inspector may prescribe; provided, that where the inspector finds that there is imminent danger to life or other property, ~~he the inspector~~ may order that corrective action be taken in such lesser period as may be feasible.

§ 160D-11-21. Appeal; finality of order if not appealed.⁵³⁶ Any owner who has received an order under G.S. 160D-11-20 may appeal from the order to the city council governing board by giving notice of appeal in writing to the inspector and to the city local government clerk within 10 days following issuance of the order. In the absence of an appeal, the order of the inspector shall be final. The city council governing board shall hear in accordance with G.S. 160D-4-6 and render a decision in an appeal within a reasonable time. The city council governing board may affirm, modify and affirm, or revoke the order.

§ 160D-11-22. Failure to comply with order.⁵³⁷ If the owner of a building or structure fails to comply with an order issued pursuant to G.S. 160D-11-20 from which no appeal has been taken, or fails to comply with an order of the city council governing board following an appeal, ~~he the~~ owner shall be guilty of a Class 1 misdemeanor.

§ 160D-11-23. Enforcement.⁵³⁸

(a) *Action Authorized.* Whenever any violation is denominated a misdemeanor under the provisions of this ~~Part~~ Article, the city local government, either in addition to or in lieu of other remedies, may initiate any appropriate action or proceedings to prevent, restrain, correct, or abate the violation or to prevent the occupancy of the building or structure involved.

~~(a1) Repealed by Session Laws 2009-263, s. 1, effective October 1, 2009.~~

(b) *Removal of Building.* In the case of a building or structure declared unsafe under G.S. 160D-11-17 or an ordinance adopted pursuant to G.S. 160D-11-17, a city local government may,

⁵³⁵ Relocated from G.S. 160A-429, 153A-369.

⁵³⁶ Relocated from G.S. 160A-430, 153A-370.

⁵³⁷ Relocated from G.S. 160A-431, 153A-371.

⁵³⁸ Relocated from G.S. 160A-432, 153A-372. Subsections (b) to (d) currently only applicable to cities, extended to counties for uniformity.

in lieu of taking action under subsection (a), cause the building or structure to be removed or demolished. The amounts incurred by the city local government in connection with the removal or demolition shall be a lien against the real property upon which the cost was incurred. The lien shall be filed, have the same priority, and be collected in the same manner as liens for special assessments provided in Article 10 of ~~this~~ Chapter 160A of the General Statutes. If the building or structure is removed or demolished by the city local government, the city local government shall sell the usable materials of the building and any personal property, fixtures, or appurtenances found in or attached to the building. The city local government shall credit the proceeds of the sale against the cost of the removal or demolition. Any balance remaining from the sale shall be deposited with the clerk of superior court of the county where the property is located and shall be disbursed by the court to the person found to be entitled thereto by final order or decree of the court.

~~(b1)~~ (c) *Additional Lien.* The amounts incurred by ~~the~~ a city local government in connection with the removal or demolition shall also be a lien against any other real property owned by the owner of the building or structure and located within the city limits local government's planning and development regulation jurisdiction (and for municipalities without extraterritorial planning and development jurisdiction, within one mile of the city limits), except for the owner's primary residence. The provisions of subsection (b) of this section apply to this additional lien, except that this additional lien is inferior to all prior liens and shall be collected as a money judgment.

~~(e)~~ (d) *Nonexclusive Remedy.* Nothing in this section shall be construed to impair or limit the power of the city local government to define and declare nuisances and to cause their removal or abatement by summary proceedings, or otherwise.

§ 160D-11-24. Records and reports.⁵³⁹ The inspection department shall keep complete and accurate records in convenient form of all applications received, permits issued, inspections and reinspections made, defects found, certificates of compliance or occupancy granted, and all other work and activities of the department. These records shall be kept in the manner and for the periods prescribed by the North Carolina Department of Cultural Resources. Periodic reports shall be submitted to the city council governing board and to the Commissioner of Insurance as they shall by ordinance, rule, or regulation require.

§ 160D-11-25. Appeals in general.⁵⁴⁰ Unless otherwise provided by law, appeals from any order, decision, or determination by a member of a local inspection department pertaining to the State Building Code or other State building laws shall be taken to the Commissioner of Insurance or ~~his~~ the Commissioner's designee or other official specified in G.S. 143-139, by filing a written notice with ~~him~~ the Commissioner and with the inspection department within a period of 10 days after the order, decision, or determination. Further appeals may be taken to the State Building Code Council or to the courts as provided by law.

§ 160D-11-26. Fire limits.

⁵³⁹ Relocated from G.S. 160A-433, 153A-373.

⁵⁴⁰ Relocated from G.S. 160A-434, 153A-374.

- (a) *County fire limits.*⁵⁴¹ A county may by ordinance establish and define fire limits in any area within the county and not within a city. The limits may include only business and industrial areas. Within any fire limits, no frame or wooden building or addition thereto may be erected, altered, repaired, or moved (either into the fire limits or from one place to another within the limits) except upon the permit of the inspection department and approval of the Commissioner of Insurance. The ~~board of commissioners~~ governing board may make additional regulations necessary for the prevention, extinguishment, or mitigation of fires within the fire limits.
- (b) *Municipal fire limits.*⁵⁴² The ~~city council~~ governing board of every incorporated city⁵⁴³ shall pass one or more ordinances establishing and defining fire limits, which shall include the principal business portions of the city and which shall be known as primary fire limits. In addition, the ~~council~~ governing board may, in its discretion, establish and define one or more separate areas within the city as secondary fire limits.
- (c) *Restrictions within municipal primary fire limits.*⁵⁴⁴ Within the primary fire limits of any city, as established and defined by ordinance, no frame or wooden building or structure or addition thereto shall hereafter be erected, altered, repaired, or moved (either into the limits or from one place to another within the limits), except upon the permit of the local inspection department approved by the ~~city council~~ governing board and by the Commissioner of Insurance or his designee. The ~~city council~~ governing board may make additional regulations for the prevention, extinguishment, or mitigation of fires within the primary fire limits.
- (d) *Restriction within municipal secondary fire limits.*⁵⁴⁵ Within any secondary fire limits of any city or town, as established and defined by ordinance, no frame or wooden building or structure or addition thereto shall be erected, altered, repaired, or moved except in accordance with any rules and regulations established by ordinance of the areas.
- (e) *Failure to establish municipal primary fire limits.*⁵⁴⁶ If the ~~council~~ governing board of any city shall fail or refuse to establish and define the primary fire limits of the city as required by law, after having such failure or refusal called to their attention in writing by the State Commissioner of Insurance, the Commissioner shall have the power to establish the limits upon making a determination that they are necessary and in the public interest.

§ 160D-11-27. Regulation ~~Ordinance~~ authorized as to repair, closing, and demolition of nonresidential buildings or structures; order of public officer.⁵⁴⁷

(a) *Authority.* The governing ~~body~~ board of the ~~city~~ local government may adopt and enforce ~~ordinances~~ regulations relating to nonresidential buildings or structures that fail to meet minimum standards of maintenance, sanitation, and safety established by the governing ~~body~~

⁵⁴¹ Relocated from G.S. 153A-375.

⁵⁴² Relocated from G.S. 160A-435.

⁵⁴³ Intentionally left as applicable only to cities, not to counties. County provision is in subsection (b).

⁵⁴⁴ Relocated from G.S. 160A-436.

⁵⁴⁵ Relocated from G.S. 160A-437.

⁵⁴⁶ Relocated from G.S. 160A-438.

⁵⁴⁷ Relocated from G.S. 160A-439, applicable to counties under G.S. 153A-372.1.

board. The minimum standards shall address only conditions that are dangerous and injurious to public health, safety, and welfare and identify circumstances under which a public necessity exists for the repair, closing, or demolition of such buildings or structures. The ~~ordinance~~ regulation shall provide for designation or appointment of a public officer to exercise the powers prescribed by the ~~ordinance~~, regulation, in accordance with the procedures specified in this section. Such ~~ordinance~~ regulation shall ~~only~~ be applicable within the ~~corporate limits of the city~~ local government's entire planning and development regulation jurisdiction, or, limited to one or more designated zoning districts or municipal service districts.⁵⁴⁸

(b) *Investigation.* Whenever it appears to the public officer that any nonresidential building or structure has not been properly maintained so that the safety or health of its occupants or members of the general public are jeopardized for failure of the property to meet the minimum standards established by the governing ~~body~~ board, the public officer shall undertake a preliminary investigation. If entry upon the premises for purposes of investigation is necessary, such entry shall be made pursuant to a duly issued administrative search warrant in accordance with G.S. 15-27.2 or with permission of the owner, the owner's agent, a tenant, or other person legally in possession of the premises.

(c) *Complaint and Hearing.* If the preliminary investigation discloses evidence of a violation of the minimum standards, the public officer shall issue and cause to be served upon the owner of and parties in interest in the nonresidential building or structure a complaint. The complaint shall state the charges and contain a notice that an administrative hearing will be held before the public officer (or his or her designated agent) at a place within the county scheduled not less than 10 days nor more than 30 days after the serving of the complaint; that the owner and parties in interest shall be given the right to answer the complaint and to appear in person, or otherwise, and give testimony at the place and time fixed in the complaint; and that the rules of evidence prevailing in courts of law or equity shall not be controlling in hearings before the public officer.

(d) *Order.* If, after notice and hearing, the public officer determines that the nonresidential building or structure has not been properly maintained so that the safety or health of its occupants or members of the general public is jeopardized for failure of the property to meet the minimum standards established by the governing ~~body~~ board, the public officer shall state in writing findings of fact in support of that determination and shall issue and cause to be served upon the owner thereof an order. The order may require the owner to take remedial action, within a reasonable time specified, subject to the procedures and limitations herein.

(e) *Limitations on Orders.*

- (1) An order may require the owner to repair, alter, or improve the nonresidential building or structure in order to bring it into compliance with the minimum standards established by the governing ~~body~~ board or to vacate and close the nonresidential building or structure for any use.
- (2) An order may require the owner to remove or demolish the nonresidential building or structure if the cost of repair, alteration, or improvement of the building or structure would exceed fifty percent (50%) of its then current value. Notwithstanding any other provision of law, if the nonresidential building or structure is designated as a local historic landmark, listed in the National

⁵⁴⁸ Provides uniformity by making jurisdiction for this authority consistent with jurisdiction for other planning and development regulations.

Register of Historic Places, or located in a locally designated historic district or in a historic district listed in the National Register of Historic Places and the governing ~~body~~ board determines, after a public hearing as provided by ordinance, that the nonresidential building or structure is of individual significance or contributes to maintaining the character of the district, and the nonresidential building or structure has not been condemned as unsafe, the order may require that the nonresidential building or structure be vacated and closed until it is brought into compliance with the minimum standards established by the governing ~~body~~ board.

- (3) An order may not require repairs, alterations, or improvements to be made to vacant manufacturing facilities or vacant industrial warehouse facilities to preserve the original use. The order may require such building or structure to be vacated and closed, but repairs may be required only when necessary to maintain structural integrity or to abate a health or safety hazard that cannot be remedied by ordering the building or structure closed for any use.
- (f) *Action by Governing Board Upon Failure to Comply With Order.*
- (1) If the owner fails to comply with an order to repair, alter, or improve or to vacate and close the nonresidential building or structure, the governing ~~body~~ board may adopt an ordinance ordering the public officer to proceed to effectuate the purpose of this section with respect to the particular property or properties that the public officer found to be jeopardizing the health or safety of its occupants or members of the general public. The property or properties shall be described in the ordinance. The ordinance shall be recorded in the office of the register of deeds and shall be indexed in the name of the property owner or owners in the grantor index. Following adoption of an ordinance, the public officer may cause the building or structure to be repaired, altered, or improved or to be vacated and closed. The public officer may cause to be posted on the main entrance of any nonresidential building or structure so closed a placard with the following words: "This building is unfit for any use; the use or occupation of this building for any purpose is prohibited and unlawful." Any person who occupies or knowingly allows the occupancy of a building or structure so posted shall be guilty of a Class 3 misdemeanor.
 - (2) If the owner fails to comply with an order to remove or demolish the nonresidential building or structure, the governing ~~body~~ board may adopt an ordinance ordering the public officer to proceed to effectuate the purpose of this section with respect to the particular property or properties that the public officer found to be jeopardizing the health or safety of its occupants or members of the general public. No ordinance shall be adopted to require demolition of a nonresidential building or structure until the owner has first been given a reasonable opportunity to bring it into conformity with the minimum standards established by the governing ~~body~~ board. The property or properties shall be described in the ordinance. The ordinance shall be recorded in the office of the register of deeds and shall be indexed in the name of the property owner or owners in the grantor index. Following adoption of an ordinance, the public officer may cause the building or structure to be removed or demolished.

(g) *Action by Governing Board Upon Abandonment of Intent to Repair.* If the governing ~~body board~~ has adopted an ordinance or the public officer has issued an order requiring the building or structure to be repaired or vacated and closed and the building or structure has been vacated and closed for a period of two years pursuant to the ordinance or order, the governing ~~body board~~ may make findings that the owner has abandoned the intent and purpose to repair, alter, or improve the building or structure and that the continuation of the building or structure in its vacated and closed status would be inimical to the health, safety, and welfare of the ~~municipality~~ local government in that it would continue to deteriorate, would create a fire or safety hazard, would be a threat to children and vagrants, would attract persons intent on criminal activities, or would cause or contribute to blight and the deterioration of property values in the area. Upon such findings, the governing ~~body board~~ may, after the expiration of the two-year period, enact an ordinance and serve such ordinance on the owner, setting forth the following:

- (1) If the cost to repair the nonresidential building or structure to bring it into compliance with the minimum standards is less than or equal to fifty percent (50%) of its then current value, the ordinance shall require that the owner either repair or demolish and remove the building or structure within 90 days; or
- (2) If the cost to repair the nonresidential building or structure to bring it into compliance with the minimum standards exceeds fifty percent (50%) of its then current value, the ordinance shall require the owner to demolish and remove the building or structure within 90 days.

In the case of vacant manufacturing facilities or vacant industrial warehouse facilities, the building or structure must have been vacated and closed pursuant to an order or ordinance for a period of five years before the governing ~~body board~~ may take action under this subsection. The ordinance shall be recorded in the office of the register of deeds in the county wherein the property or properties are located and shall be indexed in the name of the property owner in the grantor index. If the owner fails to comply with the ordinance, the public officer shall effectuate the purpose of the ordinance.

(h) *Service of Complaints and Orders.* Complaints or orders issued by a public officer pursuant to an ordinance adopted under this section shall be served upon persons either personally or by ~~registered or~~ certified mail so long as the means used are reasonably designed to achieve actual notice. When service is made by ~~registered or~~ certified mail, a copy of the complaint or order may also be sent by regular mail. Service shall be deemed sufficient if the ~~registered or~~ certified mail is refused, but the regular mail is not returned by the post office within 10 days after the mailing. If regular mail is used, a notice of the pending proceedings shall be posted in a conspicuous place on the premises affected. If the identities of any owners or the whereabouts of persons are unknown and cannot be ascertained by the public officer in the exercise of reasonable diligence, and the public officer makes an affidavit to that effect, the serving of the complaint or order upon the owners or other persons may be made by publication in a newspaper having general circulation in the ~~city~~ local government at least once no later than the time that personal service would be required under this section. When service is made by publication, a notice of the pending proceedings shall be posted in a conspicuous place on the premises affected.

(i) *Liens.*

- (1) The amount of the cost of repairs, alterations, or improvements, or vacating and closing, or removal or demolition by the public officer shall be a lien against the real property upon which the cost was incurred, which lien shall be filed,

have the same priority, and be collected as the lien for special assessment provided in Article 10 of Chapter 160A of the General Statutes.

- (2) If the real property upon which the cost was incurred is located in an incorporated city, the amount of the costs is also a lien on any other real property of the owner located within the city limits except for the owner's primary residence. The additional lien provided in this subdivision is inferior to all prior liens and shall be collected as a money judgment.
- (3) If the nonresidential building or structure is removed or demolished by the public officer, he or she shall offer for sale the recoverable materials of the building or structure and any personal property, fixtures, or appurtenances found in or attached to the building or structure and shall credit the proceeds of the sale, if any, against the cost of the removal or demolition, and any balance remaining shall be deposited in the superior court by the public officer, shall be secured in a manner directed by the court, and shall be disbursed by the court to the persons found to be entitled thereto by final order or decree of the court. Nothing in this section shall be construed to impair or limit in any way the power of the governing ~~body~~ board to define and declare nuisances and to cause their removal or abatement by summary proceedings or otherwise.

(j) *Ejectment.* If any occupant fails to comply with an order to vacate a nonresidential building or structure, the public officer may file a civil action in the name of the ~~city~~ local government to remove the occupant. The action to vacate shall be in the nature of summary ejectment and shall be commenced by filing a complaint naming as parties-defendant any person occupying the nonresidential building or structure. The clerk of superior court shall issue a summons requiring the defendant to appear before a magistrate at a certain time, date, and place not to exceed 10 days from the issuance of the summons to answer the complaint. The summons and complaint shall be served as provided in G.S. 42-29. The summons shall be returned according to its tenor, and if on its return it appears to have been duly served and if at the hearing the public officer produces a certified copy of an ordinance adopted by the governing ~~body~~ board pursuant to subsection (f) of this section to vacate the occupied nonresidential building or structure, the magistrate shall enter judgment ordering that the premises be vacated and all persons be removed. The judgment ordering that the nonresidential building or structure be vacated shall be enforced in the same manner as the judgment for summary ejectment entered under G.S. 42-30. An appeal from any judgment entered under this subsection by the magistrate may be taken as provided in G.S. 7A-228, and the execution of the judgment may be stayed as provided in G.S. 7A-227. An action to remove an occupant of a nonresidential building or structure who is a tenant of the owner may not be in the nature of a summary ejectment proceeding pursuant to this subsection unless the occupant was served with notice, at least 30 days before the filing of the summary ejectment proceeding, that the governing ~~body~~ board has ordered the public officer to proceed to exercise his duties under subsection (f) of this section to vacate and close or remove and demolish the nonresidential building or structure.

(k) *Civil Penalty.* The governing ~~body~~ board may impose civil penalties against any person or entity that fails to comply with an order entered pursuant to this section. However, the imposition of civil penalties shall not limit the use of any other lawful remedies available to the governing ~~body~~ board for the enforcement of any ordinances adopted pursuant to this section.

(l) *Supplemental Powers.* The powers conferred by this section are supplemental to the powers conferred by any other law. An ordinance adopted by the governing ~~body~~ board may

authorize the public officer to exercise any powers necessary or convenient to carry out and effectuate the purpose and provisions of this section, including the following powers in addition to others herein granted:

- (1) To investigate nonresidential buildings and structures in the ~~city~~ local government's planning and development regulation jurisdiction to determine whether they have been properly maintained in compliance with the minimum standards so that the safety or health of the occupants or members of the general public are not jeopardized.
 - (2) To administer oaths, affirmations, examine witnesses, and receive evidence.
 - (3) To enter upon premises pursuant to subsection (b) of this section for the purpose of making examinations in a manner that will do the least possible inconvenience to the persons in possession.
 - (4) To appoint and fix the duties of officers, agents, and employees necessary to carry out the purposes of the ordinances adopted by the governing ~~body~~ board.
 - (5) To delegate any of his or her functions and powers under the ordinance to other officers and agents.
- (m) *Appeals.* The governing ~~body~~ board may provide that appeals may be taken from any decision or order of the public officer to the ~~city's local government's~~ housing appeals board or ~~zoning~~ board of adjustment. Any person aggrieved by a decision or order of the public officer shall have the remedies provided in G.S. 160D-12-8.
- (n) *Funding.* The governing ~~body~~ board is authorized to make appropriations from its revenues necessary to carry out the purposes of this section and may accept and apply grants or donations to assist in carrying out the provisions of the ordinances adopted by the governing ~~body~~ board.
- (o) *No Effect on Just Compensation for Taking by Eminent Domain.* Nothing in this section shall be construed as preventing the owner or owners of any property from receiving just compensation for the taking of property by the power of eminent domain under the laws of this State, nor as permitting any property to be condemned or destroyed except in accordance with the police power of the State.
- (p) *Definitions. As used in this section:*
- (1) "Parties in interest" means all individuals, associations, and corporations who have interests of record in a nonresidential building or structure and any who are in possession thereof.
 - (2) "Vacant industrial warehouse" means any building or structure designed for the storage of goods or equipment in connection with manufacturing processes, which has not been used for that purpose for at least one year and has not been converted to another use.
 - (3) "Vacant manufacturing facility" means any building or structure previously used for the lawful production or manufacturing of goods, which has not been used for that purpose for at least one year and has not been converted to another use.

~~§160A-440. Reserved for future codification purposes.~~

ARTICLE 12. MINIMUM HOUSING CODES**§ 160D-12-1. Authorization Exercise of police power authorized.**⁵⁴⁹

(a) Occupied dwellings. ~~It is hereby found and declared that~~ The existence and occupation of dwellings ~~in this State~~ that are unfit for human habitation are inimical to the welfare and dangerous and injurious to the health and safety⁵⁵⁰ of the people of this State., ~~and that A public necessity exists for the repair, closing or demolition of such dwellings. Whenever any city or county local government of this State finds that there exists in the city or county planning and development regulation jurisdiction dwellings that are unfit for human habitation due to dilapidation, defects increasing the hazards of fire, accidents or other calamities, lack of ventilation, light or sanitary facilities, or due to other conditions rendering the dwellings unsafe or unsanitary, or dangerous or detrimental to the health, safety, morals, or otherwise inimical to the welfare of the residents of the city or county local government, power is hereby conferred upon the city or county local government to exercise its police powers to repair, close or demolish the dwellings consistent with the provisions of this Article. in the manner herein provided. No ordinance enacted by the governing body of a county pursuant to this Part shall be applicable within the corporate limits of any city unless the city council of the city has by resolution expressly given its approval thereto.~~⁵⁵¹

(b) Abandoned structures. ~~In addition, to the exercise of police power authorized herein, Any city local government~~⁵⁵² may by ordinance provide for the repair, closing or demolition of any abandoned structure which the ~~city council~~ governing board finds to be a health or safety hazard as a result of the attraction of insects or rodents, conditions creating a fire hazard, dangerous conditions constituting a threat to children or frequent use by vagrants as living quarters in the absence of sanitary facilities. ~~Such The ordinance, if adopted,~~ may provide for the repair, closing or demolition of such structure pursuant to the same provisions and procedures as are prescribed ~~herein by this Article~~⁵⁵³ for the repair, closing or demolition of dwellings found to be unfit for human habitation.

§ 160A-12-2. Definitions.⁵⁵⁴

The following terms shall have the meanings whenever used or referred to as indicated when used in this Part unless a different meaning clearly appears from the context:

- (1) "City" ~~means any incorporated city or any county.~~
- (2) "Dwelling" ~~means any building, structure, manufactured home or mobile home, or part thereof, used and occupied for human habitation or intended to be so used, and includes any outhouses and appurtenances belonging thereto or usually~~

⁵⁴⁹ Relocated from G.S. 160A-441. Entire Article also applicable to counties pursuant to G.S. 160A-442.

⁵⁵⁰ Delete antiquated language.

⁵⁵¹ Simplification. Delete as redundant of provisions in Article 2 Sections 2-1 and 2-2(f), regarding city-county jurisdiction.

⁵⁵² Provide for consistent and uniform authority regarding abandoned structures by setting consistent authority for cities and counties.

⁵⁵³ Clarification.

⁵⁵⁴ Relocated from G.S. 160A-442. Consolidated with definitions in Article 1.

~~enjoyed therewith, except that it does not include any manufactured home or mobile home, which is used solely for a seasonal vacation purpose.~~

(3) ~~"Governing body" means the council, board of commissioners, or other legislative body, charged with governing a city or county.~~

(3a) ~~"Manufactured home" or "mobile home" means a structure as defined in G.S. 143-145(7).~~

(1) "Owner" means the holder of the title in fee simple and every mortgagee of record.

(2) "Parties in interest" means all individuals, associations and corporations who have interests of record in a dwelling and any who are in possession thereof.

(3) "Public authority" means any housing authority or any officer who is in charge of any department or branch of the government of the city, county, or State relating to health, fire, building regulations, or other activities concerning dwellings in the city.

(4) "Public officer" means the officer or officers who are authorized by ordinances adopted hereunder to exercise the powers prescribed by the ordinances and by this ~~Part~~ Article.

§ 160D-12-3. Ordinance authorized as to repair, closing, and demolition; order of public officer.⁵⁵⁵

Upon the adoption of an ordinance finding that dwelling conditions of the character described in G.S. 160D-12-1 exist ~~within a city~~, the ~~governing body of the city governing board~~ is ~~hereby~~ authorized to adopt and enforce ordinances relating to dwellings within the ~~city's territorial planning and development regulation~~ jurisdiction that are unfit for human habitation. These ordinances shall include the following provisions:

(1) Designation of enforcement officer. ~~That public officer~~ One or more public officers shall be designated ~~or appointed~~ to exercise the powers prescribed by the ordinance.

(2) Investigation, complaint, hearing. ~~That w~~ Whenever a petition is filed with the public officer by a public authority or by at least five residents of the city jurisdiction charging that any dwelling is unfit for human habitation or ~~Whenever when~~ when it appears to the public officer ~~(on his own motion)~~⁵⁵⁶ that any dwelling is unfit for human habitation, the public officer shall, if ~~his~~ a preliminary investigation discloses a basis for such charges, issue and cause to be served upon the owner of and parties in interest in such dwellings a complaint stating the charges in that respect and containing a notice that ~~a~~ an administrative hearing will be held before the public officer (or ~~his~~ the officer's designated agent) at a place within the county in which the property is located. The hearing shall be fixed not less than 10 days nor more than 30 days after the serving of the complaint.; ~~that~~ The owner and parties in interest shall be given the right to file an answer to the complaint and to appear in person, or otherwise, and give testimony at the place and time fixed in the complaint.; ~~and that~~ The rules of evidence prevailing in courts of law ~~or equity~~ shall not be controlling in administrative hearings before the public officer.

⁵⁵⁵ Relocated from G.S. 160A-443.

⁵⁵⁶ Surplusage and non-gender neutral language deleted.

- (3) Orders. ~~That~~ If, after notice and hearing, the public officer determines that the dwelling under consideration is unfit for human habitation, ~~he~~ the officer⁵⁵⁷ shall state in writing ~~his~~ findings of fact in support of that determination and shall issue and cause to be served upon the owner thereof an order, one of the two following orders, whichever is appropriate:
- a. If the repair, alteration or improvement of the dwelling can be made at a reasonable cost in relation to the value of the dwelling, ~~(the ordinance of the city may fix a certain percentage of this value as being reasonable),~~⁵⁵⁸ requiring the owner, within the time specified, to repair, alter or improve the dwelling in order to render it fit for human habitation. The ordinance may fix a certain percentage of this value as being reasonable. The order may require that the property be vacated and closed only if continued occupancy during the time allowed for repair will present a significant threat of bodily harm, taking into account the nature of the necessary repairs, alterations, or improvements; the current state of the property; and any additional risks due to the presence and capacity of minors under the age of 18 or occupants with physical or mental disabilities. The order shall state that the failure to make timely repairs as directed in the order shall make the dwelling subject to the issuance of an unfit order under subdivision (4) of this section; or
 - b. If the repair, alteration or improvement of the dwelling cannot be made at a reasonable cost in relation to the value of the dwelling, ~~(the ordinance of the city may fix a certain percentage of this value as being reasonable),~~⁵⁵⁹ requiring the owner, within the time specified in the order, to remove or demolish such dwelling. The ordinance may fix a certain percentage of this value as being reasonable. However, notwithstanding any other provision of law, if the dwelling is located in a historic district ~~of the city~~ and the Historic District Commission determines, after a public hearing as provided by ordinance, that the dwelling is of particular significance or value toward maintaining the character of the district, and the dwelling has not been condemned as unsafe, the order may require that the dwelling be vacated and closed consistent with G.S. 160D-9-49.
- (4) Repair, closing, and posting. ~~That~~ If the owner fails to comply with an order to repair, alter or improve or to vacate and close the dwelling, the public officer may cause the dwelling to be repaired, altered or improved or to be vacated and closed; that the public officer may cause to be posted on the main entrance of any dwelling so closed, a placard with the following words: "This building is unfit for human habitation; the use or occupation of this building for human habitation is prohibited and unlawful." Occupation of a building so posted shall

⁵⁵⁷ Gender neutral language.

⁵⁵⁸ Relocated within the subsection for clarity.

⁵⁵⁹ Relocated within the subsection for clarity.

constitute a Class 1 misdemeanor. The duties of the public officer set forth in this subdivision shall not be exercised until the governing ~~body~~ board shall have by ordinance ordered the public officer to proceed to effectuate the purpose of this Article with respect to the particular property or properties which the public officer shall have found to be unfit for human habitation and which property or properties shall be described in the ordinance. This ordinance shall be recorded in the office of the register of deeds in the county wherein the property or properties are located and shall be indexed in the name of the property owner in the grantor index.

- (5) Demolition. ~~That,~~ If the owner fails to comply with an order to remove or demolish the dwelling, the public officer may cause such dwelling to be removed or demolished. The duties of the public officer set forth in this subdivision shall not be exercised until the governing ~~body~~ board shall have by ordinance ordered the public officer to proceed to effectuate the purpose of this Article with respect to the particular property or properties which the public officer shall have found to be unfit for human habitation and which property or properties shall be described in the ordinance. No such ordinance shall be adopted to require demolition of a dwelling until the owner has first been given a reasonable opportunity to bring it into conformity with the housing code. This ordinance shall be recorded in the office of the register of deeds in the county wherein the property or properties are located and shall be indexed in the name of the property owner in the grantor index.
- (6) *Abandonment of intent to repair in high population jurisdictions.*⁵⁶⁰ If the governing ~~body~~ board shall have adopted an ordinance as provided in subdivision (4) of this section, or the public officer shall have:
- ~~a. In a municipality located in counties which have a population in excess of 71,000 by the last federal census (including the entirety of any municipality located in more than one county at least one county of which has a population in excess of 71,000), other than municipalities with a population in excess of 190,000 by the last federal census, issued an order, ordering a dwelling to be repaired or vacated and closed, as provided in subdivision (3)a, and if the dwelling has been vacated and closed for a period of one year pursuant to the ordinance or order;~~
- ~~b. In a municipality with a population in excess of 190,000 by the last federal census,~~
- (1) issued an order or commenced proceedings under the substandard housing regulations regarding a dwelling to be repaired or vacated and closed, as provided in subdivision (3)a., and
- (2) if the dwelling has been vacated and closed for a period of one year pursuant to the ordinance or after such proceedings have commenced,
- then if the governing ~~body~~ board shall find that the owner has abandoned the intent and purpose to repair, alter or improve the dwelling in order to render it fit for human habitation and that the continuation of the dwelling in its vacated and closed status would be inimical to the health, safety, ~~morals~~ and

⁵⁶⁰ Revised to provide a uniform provision for all jurisdictions rather than the multiple procedures in the current statute that are based on the population of the jurisdiction or the specification of multiple jurisdictions in the statute.

welfare of the ~~municipality~~ local government in that the dwelling would continue to deteriorate, would create a fire and safety hazard, would be a threat to children and vagrants, would attract persons intent on criminal activities, would cause or contribute to blight and the deterioration of property values in the area, and would render unavailable property and a dwelling which might otherwise have been made available to ease the persistent shortage of decent and affordable housing in this State, then in such circumstances, the governing ~~body~~ board may, after the expiration of such one year period, enact an ordinance and serve such ordinance on the owner, setting forth the following:

- a. If it is determined that the repair of the dwelling to render it fit for human habitation can be made at a cost not exceeding fifty percent (50%) of the then current value of the dwelling, the ordinance shall require that the owner either repair or demolish and remove the dwelling within 90 days; or
- b. If it is determined that the repair of the dwelling to render it fit for human habitation cannot be made at a cost not exceeding fifty percent (50%) of the then current value of the dwelling, the ordinance shall require the owner to demolish and remove the dwelling within 90 days.

This ordinance shall be recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds in the county wherein the property or properties are located and shall be indexed in the name of the property owner in the grantor index. If the owner fails to comply with this ordinance, the public officer shall effectuate the purpose of the ordinance.

~~This subdivision only applies to municipalities located in counties which have a population in excess of 71,000 by the last federal census (including the entirety of any municipality located in more than one county at least one county of which has a population in excess of 71,000).~~

~~This subdivision does not apply to the local government units listed in subdivision (5b) of this section.~~

~~(5b) *Abandonment of intent to repair in specified jurisdictions.* ⁵⁶¹ If the governing body ~~board~~ shall have adopted an ordinance as provided in subdivision (4) of this section, or the public officer shall have:~~

- ~~a. In a municipality other than municipalities with a population in excess of 190,000 by the last federal census, issued an order, ordering a dwelling to be repaired or vacated and closed, as provided in subdivision (3)a, and if the dwelling has been vacated and closed for a period of one year pursuant to the ordinance or order;~~
- ~~b. In a municipality with a population in excess of 190,000 by the last federal census, commenced proceedings under the substandard housing regulations regarding a dwelling to be repaired or vacated and closed, as provided in subdivision (3)a, and if the dwelling has been vacated and closed for a period of one year pursuant to the ordinance or after such proceedings have commenced, then if the governing body ~~board~~ shall find that the owner has abandoned the intent and purpose to repair, alter or improve the dwelling in order to render it fit for~~

⁵⁶¹ Replaced by the uniform provisions for all jurisdictions in the previous subsection.

~~human habitation and that the continuation of the dwelling in its vacated and closed status would be inimical to the health, safety, morals and welfare of the municipality in that the dwelling would continue to deteriorate, would create a fire and safety hazard, would be a threat to children and vagrants, would attract persons intent on criminal activities, would cause or contribute to blight and the deterioration of property values in the area, and would render unavailable property and a dwelling which might otherwise have been made available to ease the persistent shortage of decent and affordable housing in this State, then in such circumstances, the governing body may, after the expiration of such one year period, enact an ordinance and serve such ordinance on the owner, setting forth the following:~~

- ~~a. If it is determined that the repair of the dwelling to render it fit for human habitation can be made at a cost not exceeding fifty percent (50%) of the then current value of the dwelling, the ordinance shall require that the owner either repair or demolish and remove the dwelling within 90 days; or~~
- ~~b. If it is determined that the repair of the dwelling to render it fit for human habitation cannot be made at a cost not exceeding fifty percent (50%) of the then current value of the dwelling, the ordinance shall require the owner to demolish and remove the dwelling within 90 days.~~

~~This ordinance shall be recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds in the county wherein the property or properties are located and shall be indexed in the name of the property owner in the grantor index. If the owner fails to comply with this ordinance, the public officer shall effectuate the purpose of the ordinance.~~

~~This subdivision applies to the Cities of Eden, Lumberton, Roanoke Rapids, and Whiteville, to the municipalities in Lee County, and the Towns of Bethel, Farmville, Newport, and Waynesville only.~~

(7) *Liens.*

- a. That the amount of the cost of repairs, alterations or improvements, or vacating and closing, or removal or demolition by the public officer shall be a lien against the real property upon which the cost was incurred, which lien shall be filed, have the same priority, and be collected as the lien for special assessment provided in Article 10 of this Chapter 160A of the General Statutes.
- b. If the real property upon which the cost was incurred is located in an incorporated city, then the amount of the cost is also a lien on any other real property of the owner located within the city limits or within one mile thereof except for the owner's primary residence. The additional lien provided in this sub-subdivision is inferior to all prior liens and shall be collected as a money judgment.
- c. If the dwelling is removed or demolished by the public officer, ~~he~~ the local government⁵⁶² shall sell the materials of the dwelling, and any personal property, fixtures or appurtenances found in or attached to the dwelling,

⁵⁶² Gender neutral language.

and shall credit the proceeds of the sale against the cost of the removal or demolition and any balance remaining shall be deposited in the superior court by the public officer, shall be secured in a manner directed by the court, and shall be disbursed by the court to the persons found to be entitled thereto by final order or decree of the court. Nothing in this section shall be construed to impair or limit in any way the power of the city local government to define and declare nuisances and to cause their removal or abatement by summary proceedings, or otherwise.

- (8) Civil action. If any occupant fails to comply with an order to vacate a dwelling, the public officer may file a civil action in the name of the city local government to remove such occupant. The action to vacate the dwelling shall be in the nature of summary ejectment and shall be commenced by filing a complaint naming as ~~parties~~ defendant any person occupying such dwelling. The clerk of superior court shall issue a summons requiring the defendant to appear before a magistrate at a certain time, date and place not to exceed 10 days from the issuance of the summons to answer the complaint. The summons and complaint shall be served as provided in G.S. 42-29. ~~The summons shall be returned according to its tenor, and if on its return it~~ If the summons appears to have been duly served, and if at the hearing the public officer produces a certified copy of an ordinance adopted by the governing ~~body~~ board pursuant to subdivision (5) authorizing the officer to proceed to vacate the occupied dwelling, the magistrate shall enter judgment ordering that the premises be vacated and that all persons be removed. The judgment ordering that the dwelling be vacated shall be enforced in the same manner as the judgment for summary ejectment entered under G.S. 42-30. An appeal from any judgment entered hereunder by the magistrate may be taken as provided in G.S. 7A-228, and the execution of such judgment may be stayed as provided in G.S. 7A-227. An action to remove an occupant of a dwelling who is a tenant of the owner may not be in the nature of a summary ejectment proceeding pursuant to this paragraph unless such occupant was served with notice at least 30 days before the filing of the summary ejectment proceeding that the governing ~~body~~ board has ordered the public officer to proceed to exercise his duties under subdivisions (4) and (5) of this section to vacate and close or remove and demolish the dwelling.
- (9) Additional notices to affordable housing organizations. ~~That~~ Whenever a determination is made pursuant to subdivision (3) of this section that a dwelling must be vacated and closed, or removed or demolished, under the provisions of this section, notice of the order shall be given by first-class mail to any organization involved in providing or restoring dwellings for affordable housing that has filed a written request for such notices. A minimum period of 45 days from the mailing of such notice shall be given before removal or demolition by action of the public officer, to allow the opportunity for any organization to negotiate with the owner to make repairs, lease, or purchase the property for the purpose of providing affordable housing. The public officer or clerk shall certify the mailing of the notices, and the certification shall be conclusive in the absence of fraud. Only an organization that has filed a written request for such notices may raise the issue of failure to mail such notices, and

the sole remedy shall be an order requiring the public officer to wait 45 days before causing removal or demolition.

§ 160D-12-4. Heat source required.⁵⁶³

(a) A ~~city~~ local government shall, by ordinance, require that ~~by January 1, 2000,~~⁵⁶⁴ every dwelling unit leased as rental property within the city shall have, at a minimum, a central or electric heating system or sufficient chimneys, flues, or gas vents, with heating appliances connected, so as to heat at least one habitable room, excluding the kitchen, to a minimum temperature of 68 degrees Fahrenheit measured three feet above the floor with an outside temperature of 20 degrees Fahrenheit.

(b) If a dwelling unit contains a heating system or heating appliances that meet the requirements of subsection (a) of this section, the owner of the dwelling unit shall not be required to install a new heating system or heating appliances, but the owner shall be required to maintain the existing heating system or heating appliances in a good and safe working condition. Otherwise, the owner of the dwelling unit shall install a heating system or heating appliances that meet the requirements of subsection (a) of this section and shall maintain the heating system or heating appliances in a good and safe working condition.

(c) Portable kerosene heaters are not acceptable as a permanent source of heat as required by subsection (a) of this section but may be used as a supplementary source in single family dwellings and duplex units. An owner who has complied with subsection (a) shall not be held in violation of this section where an occupant of a dwelling unit uses a kerosene heater as a primary source of heat.

(d)⁵⁶⁵ This section applies only to ~~cities~~ local governments with a population of 200,000 or over within their planning and development regulation jurisdiction, according to the most recent decennial federal census.

(e) Nothing in this section shall be construed as:

- (1) Diminishing the rights of or remedies available to any tenant under a lease agreement, statute, or at common law; or
- (2) Prohibiting a city from adopting an ordinance with more stringent heating requirements than provided for by this section.

§ 160D-12-5. Standards.⁵⁶⁶ An ordinance adopted ~~by a city~~ under this ~~Part~~ Article shall provide that the public officer may determine that a dwelling is unfit for human habitation if ~~he~~ the officer⁵⁶⁷ finds that conditions exist in the dwelling that render it dangerous or injurious to the health, safety, or welfare ~~or morals~~ of the occupants of the dwelling, the occupants of neighboring dwellings, or ~~other residents of the city jurisdiction~~. Defective conditions may include the following (without limiting the generality of the foregoing): defects therein increasing the hazards

⁵⁶³ Relocated from G.S. 160A-443.1. Currently only applicable to cities and not to counties and that distinction retained.

⁵⁶⁴ The required date passed over a decade ago and is no longer needed in the statute.

⁵⁶⁵ Earlier editions established a uniform rule for all jurisdictions by eliminating provision limiting application to large population jurisdictions; current edition maintains status quo by retaining current limit.

⁵⁶⁶ Relocated from G.S. 160A-444.

⁵⁶⁷ Gender neutral language.

of fire, accident, or other calamities; lack of adequate ventilation, light, or sanitary facilities; dilapidation; disrepair; structural defects; uncleanness. The ordinances may provide additional standards to guide the public officers, ~~or his agents~~, in determining the fitness of a dwelling for human habitation.

§ 160D-12-6. Service of complaints and orders.⁵⁶⁸

(a) Complaints or orders issued by a public officer pursuant to an ordinance adopted under this ~~Part~~ Article shall be served upon persons either personally or by ~~registered or~~ certified mail. When service is made by ~~registered or~~ certified mail, a copy of the complaint or order may also be sent by regular mail. Service shall be deemed sufficient if the ~~registered or~~ certified mail is unclaimed or refused, but the regular mail is not returned by the post office within 10 days after the mailing. If regular mail is used, a notice of the pending proceedings shall be posted in a conspicuous place on the premises affected.

(b) If the identities of any owners or the whereabouts of persons are unknown and cannot be ascertained by the public officer in the exercise of reasonable diligence, or, if the owners are known but have refused to accept service by ~~registered or~~ certified mail, and the public officer makes an affidavit to that effect, then the serving of the complaint or order upon the owners or other persons may be made by publication in a newspaper having general circulation in the city jurisdiction at least once no later than the time at which personal service would be required under the provisions of this ~~Part~~ Article. When service is made by publication, a notice of the pending proceedings shall be posted in a conspicuous place on the premises thereby affected.

~~(b) Repealed.~~

§ 160D-12-7. Periodic inspections.⁵⁶⁹

(a) Except as provided in subsection (b) of this section, the inspection department may make periodic inspections only when there is reasonable cause to believe that unsafe, unsanitary, or otherwise hazardous or unlawful conditions may exist in a residential building or structure. However, when the inspection department determines that a safety hazard exists in one of the dwelling units within a multifamily building, which in the opinion of the inspector poses an immediate threat to the occupant, the inspection department may inspect, in the absence of a specific complaint and actual knowledge of the unsafe condition, additional dwelling units in the multifamily building to determine if that same safety hazard exists.⁵⁷⁰ For purposes of this section, the term "reasonable cause" means any of the following: (i) the landlord or owner has a history of more than two verified violations of the housing ordinances or codes within a 12-month period; (ii) there has been a complaint that substandard conditions exist within the building or there has been a request that the building be inspected; (iii) the inspection department has actual knowledge of an unsafe condition within the building; or (iv) violations of the local ordinances or codes are visible from the outside of the property. In conducting inspections authorized under this section, the inspection department shall not discriminate between single-

⁵⁶⁸ Relocated from G.S. 160A-445.

⁵⁶⁹ Relocated from G.S. 160A-424, 153A-364. Since these provisions are applicable to inspection of existing residential buildings rather than inspections of new construction, location within the housing code Article is more appropriate than the prior location within the building code Article.

⁵⁷⁰ Provision added by S.L. 2016-122 (S. 326).

family and multifamily buildings or between owner-occupied and tenant-occupied buildings.⁵⁷¹ In exercising this power, members of the department shall have a right to enter on any premises within the jurisdiction of the department at all reasonable hours for the purposes of inspection or other enforcement action, upon presentation of proper credentials. Nothing in this section shall be construed to prohibit periodic inspections in accordance with State fire prevention code or as otherwise required by State law.

(b) A city local government may require periodic inspections as part of a targeted effort to respond to blighted or potentially blighted conditions⁵⁷² within a geographic area that has been designated by the city council governing board. However, the total aggregate of targeted areas in the county local government jurisdiction at any one time shall not be greater than one square mile or five percent (5%) of the area within the county local government jurisdiction, whichever is greater. A targeted area designated by the county local government shall reflect the local government's county's stated neighborhood revitalization strategy and shall consist of property that meets the definition of a "blighted area" or "blighted parcel" as those terms are defined in G.S. 160A-503(2) and G.S. 160A-503(2a), respectively, except that for purposes of this subsection the planning commission board is not required to make a determination as to the property.⁵⁷³ The municipality local government shall not discriminate in its selection of areas or housing types to be targeted and shall (i) provide notice to all owners and residents of properties in the affected area about the periodic inspections plan and information regarding a public hearing regarding the plan; (ii) hold a public hearing regarding the plan; and (iii) establish a plan to address the ability of low-income residential property owners to comply with minimum housing code standards.

(c)⁵⁷⁴ In no event may a city local government do any of the following: (i) adopt or enforce any ordinance that would require any owner or manager of rental property to obtain any permit or permission under Article 11 or Article 12 of this Chapter⁵⁷⁵ from the city local government to lease or rent residential real property or to register rental property with the county local government, except for those individual properties that have more than four verified violations in a rolling 12-month period or two or more verified violations in a rolling 30-day period, or upon the property being identified within the top ten percent (10%) of properties with crime or disorder problems as set forth in a local ordinance; (ii) require that an owner or manager of residential rental property enroll or participate in any governmental program as a condition of obtaining a certificate of occupancy; (iii) levy a special fee or tax on residential rental property that is not also levied against other commercial and residential properties, unless expressly authorized by general law or applicable only to an individual rental unit or property described in clause (i) of this subsection and the fee does not exceed five hundred dollars (\$500.00) in any 12-month period in which the unit or property is found to have verified violations; (iv) provide that any violation of a rental registration ordinance is punishable as a criminal offense; or (v) require any owner or manager of rental property to submit to an inspection before receiving any utility

⁵⁷¹ Provision added by S.L. 2016-122 (S. 326).

⁵⁷² Provision added by S.L. 2016-122 (S. 326).

⁵⁷³ Provision added by S.L. 2016-122 (S. 326).

⁵⁷⁴ Amendments to this subsection made by S.L. 2016-122 (S. 326) incorporated. Subsection (d) also deleted by this statute.

⁵⁷⁵ Clarify that this limitation is intended to apply to the housing code and building code provisions of this Chapter.

service provided by the ~~city~~ local government. For purposes of this section, the term "verified violation" means all of the following:

(1) The aggregate of all violations of housing ordinances or codes found in an individual rental unit of residential real property during a 72-hour period.

(2) Any violations that have not been corrected by the owner or manager within 21 days of receipt of written notice from the ~~county~~ local government of the violations.

Should the same violation occur more than two times in a 12-month period, the owner or manager may not have the option of correcting the violation. If the housing ~~ordinance or~~ code provides that any form of prohibited tenant behavior constitutes a violation by the owner or manager of the rental property, it shall be deemed a correction of the tenant-related violation if the owner or manager, within 30 days of receipt of written notice of the tenant-related violation, brings a summary ejectment action to have the tenant evicted.

~~(e)~~⁵⁷⁶ (d) If a property is identified by the ~~county~~ local government as being in the top ten percent (10%) of properties with crime or disorder problems, the ~~county~~ local government shall notify the landlord of any crimes, disorders, or other violations that will be counted against the property to allow the landlord an opportunity to attempt to correct the problems. In addition, the ~~county~~ local government and the county sheriff's office or city's police department shall assist the landlord in addressing any criminal activity, which may include testifying in court in a summary ejectment action or other matter to aid in evicting a tenant who has been charged with a crime. If the ~~county~~ local government or the county sheriff's office or city's police department does not cooperate in evicting a tenant, the tenant's behavior or activity at issue shall not be counted as a crime or disorder problem as set forth in the local ordinance, and the property may not be included in the top ten percent (10%) of properties as a result of that tenant's behavior or activity.

~~(f)~~ (e) If the ~~county~~ local government takes action against an individual rental unit under this section, the owner of the individual rental unit may appeal the decision to the housing appeals board or the zoning board of adjustment, if operating, or the planning board if created under G.S. 153A-321 160D-3-1, or if neither is created, the governing board. The board shall fix a reasonable time for hearing appeals, shall give due notice to the owner of the individual rental unit, and shall render a decision within a reasonable time. The owner may appear in person or by agent or attorney. The board may reverse or affirm the action, wholly or partly, or may modify the action appealed from, and may make any decision and order that in the opinion of the board ought to be made in the matter.

§ 160D-12-8. Remedies.⁵⁷⁷

~~(a)~~⁵⁷⁸ ~~The governing body may provide for the creation and organization of a housing appeals board to which appeals may be taken from any decision or order of the public officer, or may provide for such appeals to be heard and determined by its zoning board of adjustment.~~

~~(b) The housing appeals board, if created, shall consist of five members to serve for three-year staggered terms. It shall have the power to elect its own officers, to fix the times and places~~

⁵⁷⁶ Prior subsection (d) deleted by S.L. 2016-122 (S. 326).

⁵⁷⁷ Relocated from G.S. 160A-446.

⁵⁷⁸ Relocated to G.S. 160D-3-6.

for its meetings, to adopt necessary rules of procedure, and to adopt other rules and regulations for the proper discharge of its duties. It shall keep an accurate record of all its proceedings.

(a) An ordinance adopted pursuant to this Article may provide for a housing appeals board as provided by G.S. 160D-3-6. An appeal from any decision or order of the public officer is a quasi-judicial matter and may be taken by any person aggrieved thereby or by any officer, board or commission of the city local government. Any appeal from the public officer shall be taken within 10 days from the rendering of the decision or service of the order by filing with the public officer and with the housing appeals board a notice of appeal which shall specify the grounds upon which the appeal is based. Upon the filing of any notice of appeal, the public officer shall forthwith transmit to the board all the papers constituting the record upon which the decision appealed from was made. When an appeal is from a decision of the public officer refusing to allow the person aggrieved thereby to do any act, ~~his~~ the decision shall remain in force until modified or reversed. When any appeal is from a decision of the public officer requiring the person aggrieved to do any act, the appeal shall have the effect of suspending the requirement until the hearing by the board, unless the public officer certifies to the board, after the notice of appeal is filed with ~~him~~ the officer, that because of facts stated in the certificate (a copy of which shall be furnished the appellant), a suspension of ~~his~~ the requirement would cause imminent peril to life or property. In that case the requirement shall not be suspended except by a restraining order, which may be granted for due cause shown upon not less than one day's written notice to the public officer, by the board, or by a court of record upon petition made pursuant to subsection (f) of this section.

(b) The housing appeals board shall fix a reasonable time for hearing appeals, shall give due notice to the parties, and shall render its decision within a reasonable time. Any party may appear in person or by agent or attorney. The board may reverse or affirm, wholly or partly, or may modify the decision or order appealed from, and may make any decision and order that in its opinion ought to be made in the matter, and to that end it shall have all the powers of the public officer, but the concurring vote of four members of the board shall be necessary to reverse or modify any decision or order of the public officer. The board shall have power also in passing upon appeals, when ~~practical difficulties or~~⁵⁷⁹ unnecessary hardships would result from carrying out the strict letter of the ordinance, to adapt the application of the ordinance to the necessities of the case to the end that the spirit of the ordinance shall be observed, public safety and welfare secured, and substantial justice done.

(c) Every decision of the housing appeals board shall be subject to review by proceedings in the nature of certiorari instituted within 15 days of the decision of the board, but not otherwise.

(d) Any person aggrieved by an order issued by the public officer or a decision rendered by the housing appeals board may petition the superior court for an injunction restraining the public officer from carrying out the order or decision and the court may, upon such petition, issue a temporary injunction restraining the public officer pending a final disposition of the cause. The petition shall be filed within 30 days after issuance of the order or rendering of the decision. Hearings shall be had by the court on a petition within 20 days, and shall be given preference over other matters on the court's calendar. The court shall hear and determine the issues raised and shall enter such final order or decree as law and justice may require. It shall not be necessary to file bond in any amount before obtaining a temporary injunction under this subsection.

(e) If any dwelling is erected, constructed, altered, repaired, converted, maintained, or used in violation of this ~~Part~~ Article or of any ordinance or code adopted under authority of this Article

⁵⁷⁹ Align with updated zoning variance language.

or any valid order or decision of the public officer or board made pursuant to any ordinance or code adopted under authority of this ~~Part~~ Article, the public officer or board may institute any appropriate action or proceedings to prevent the unlawful erection, construction, reconstruction, alteration or use, to restrain, correct or abate the violation, to prevent the occupancy of the dwelling, or to prevent any illegal act, conduct or use in or about the premises of the dwelling.

§ 160D-12-9. Compensation to owners of condemned property.⁵⁸⁰ Nothing in this ~~Part~~ Article shall be construed as preventing the owner or owners of any property from receiving just compensation for the taking of property by the power of eminent domain under the laws of this State, nor as permitting any property to be condemned or destroyed except in accordance with the police power of the State.

§ 160D-12-10. Additional powers of public officer.⁵⁸¹

An ordinance adopted by the governing ~~body of the city board~~ may authorize the public officer to exercise any powers necessary or convenient to carry out and effectuate the purpose and provisions of this ~~Part~~ Article, including the following powers in addition to others herein granted:

- (1) To investigate the dwelling conditions in the ~~city~~ local government's planning and development regulation jurisdiction in order to determine which dwellings therein are unfit for human habitations;
- (2) To administer oaths, affirmations, examine witnesses and receive evidence;
- (3) To enter upon premises for the purpose of making examinations in a manner that will do the least possible inconvenience to the persons in possession;
- (4) To appoint and fix the duties of officers, agents and employees necessary to carry out the purposes of the ordinances; and
- (5) To delegate any of his functions and powers under the ordinance to other officers and other agents.

§ 160D-12-11. Administration of ordinance.⁵⁸² ~~The governing body of any city~~ A local government adopting an ordinance under this ~~Part~~ Article shall, as soon as possible thereafter, prepare an estimate of the annual expenses or costs to provide the equipment, personnel and supplies necessary for periodic examinations and investigations of the dwellings ~~in the city~~ for the purpose of determining the fitness of dwellings for human habitation, and for the enforcement and administration of its ordinances adopted under this ~~Part~~ Article. The ~~city~~ local government is authorized to make appropriations from its revenues necessary for this purpose and may accept and apply grants or donations to assist it in carrying out the provisions of the ordinances.

§ 160D-12-12. Supplemental nature of Article.⁵⁸³ Nothing in this ~~Part~~ Article shall be construed to abrogate or impair the powers of the courts or of any department of any ~~city~~ local government to enforce any provisions of its charter or its ordinances or regulations, nor to prevent or punish

⁵⁸⁰ Relocated from G.S. 160A-447.

⁵⁸¹ Relocated from G.S. 160A-448.

⁵⁸² Relocated from G.S. 160A-449.

⁵⁸³ Relocated from G.S. 160A-450.

violations thereof. ~~and~~ The powers conferred by this ~~Part~~ Article shall be ~~in addition and~~ supplemental to the powers conferred by any other law.

ARTICLE 13. ADDITIONAL AUTHORITY

PART 1. OPEN SPACE ACQUISITION

§ 160D-13-1. Legislative intent.⁵⁸⁴ It is the intent of the General Assembly ~~in enacting this Part~~⁵⁸⁵ to provide a means whereby any ~~county or city in the State~~ local government may acquire, by purchase, gift, grant, devise, lease, or otherwise, and through the expenditure of public funds, the fee or any lesser interest or right in real property in order to preserve, through limitation of their future use, open spaces and areas for public use and enjoyment.

§ 160D-13-2. Finding of necessity.

The General Assembly finds that the rapid growth and spread of urban development in the State is encroaching upon, or eliminating, many open areas and spaces of varied size and character, including many having significant scenic or aesthetic values, which areas and spaces if preserved and maintained in their present open state would constitute important physical, social, esthetic, or economic assets to existing and impending urban development. The General Assembly declares that it is necessary for sound and proper urban development and in the public interest of the people of this State for any ~~county or city in the State~~ local government to expend or advance public funds for, or to accept by purchase, gift, grant, devise, lease, or otherwise, the fee or any lesser interest or right in real property so as to acquire, maintain, improve, protect, limit the future use of, or otherwise conserve open spaces and areas within their respective jurisdictions as defined by this Article.

The General Assembly declares that the acquisition of interests or rights in real property for the preservation of open spaces and areas constitutes a public purpose for which public funds may be expended or advanced.

§ 160D-13-3. ~~Counties or cities~~ Local governments authorized to acquire and reconvey real property. Any ~~county or city in the State~~ local government may acquire by purchase, gift, grant, devise, lease, or otherwise, the fee or any lesser interest, development right, easement, covenant, or other contractual right of or to real property within its respective jurisdiction, when it finds that the acquisition is necessary to achieve the purposes of this Part. Any ~~county or city in the State~~ local government may also acquire the fee to any property for the purpose of conveying or leasing the property back to its original owner or other person under covenants or other contractual arrangements that will limit the future use of the property in accordance with the purposes of this Part, but when this is done, the property may be conveyed back to its original owner but to no other person by private sale.

§ 160D-13-4. Joint action by governing bodies. ~~Any county or city in the State~~ A local government may enter into any agreement with any other ~~county or city in the State~~ local government for the purpose of jointly exercising the authority granted by this Part.

⁵⁸⁴ This Part relocated from G.S. 160A-401 to 160A-410. These sections are also applicable to counties.

⁵⁸⁵ Simplification.

§ 160D-13-5. Powers of governing bodies. ~~Any county or city in the State~~ A local government, in order to exercise the authority granted by this Part, may:

- (1) Enter into and carry out contracts with the State or federal government or any agencies thereof under which grants or other assistance are made to the ~~county or city in the State~~ local government ;
- (2) Accept any assistance or funds that may be granted by the State or federal government with or without a contract;
- (3) Agree to and comply with any reasonable conditions imposed upon grants;
- (4) Make expenditures from any funds so granted.

§ 160D-13-6. Appropriations authorized. For the purposes set forth in this Part, a ~~county or city in the State~~ local government may appropriate funds not otherwise limited as to use by law.

§ 160D-13-7. Definitions.⁵⁸⁶

(a) For the purpose of this Part an "open space" or "open area" is any space or area (i) characterized by great natural scenic beauty or (ii) whose existing openness, natural condition, or present state of use, if retained, would enhance the present or potential value of abutting or surrounding urban development, or would maintain or enhance the conservation of natural or scenic resources.

(b) For the purposes of this Part "open space" or "open area" and the "public use and enjoyment" of interests or rights in real property shall also include open space land and open space uses. The term "open space land" means any undeveloped or predominantly undeveloped land in an urban area that has value for one or more of the following purposes: (i) park and recreational purposes, (ii) conservation of land and other natural resources, or (iii) historic or scenic purposes. The term "open space uses" means any use of open space land for (i) park and recreational purposes, (ii) conservation of land and other natural resources, or (iii) historic or scenic purposes.

~~§§ 160A-408 through 160A-410. Reserved for future codification purposes.~~

§ 160D-13-8 to 13-10. Reserved.

⁵⁸⁶ As these definitions are particular to this Part and the terms can have less precise or different definitions in ordinances and elsewhere in the statutes, these definitions are left in the Part rather than being incorporated in the general provisions applicable to the entire Chapter.

PART 2. COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT AND REDEVELOPMENT

§ 160D-13-11. Community development programs and activities.⁵⁸⁷

(a) ~~Any city local government~~ is authorized to engage in, to accept federal and State grants and loans for, and to appropriate and expend funds for community development programs and activities. In undertaking community development programs and activities, in addition to other authority granted by law, a city local government may engage in the following activities:

- (1) Programs of assistance and financing of rehabilitation of private buildings principally for the benefit of low and moderate income persons, or for the restoration or preservation of older neighborhoods or properties, including direct repair, the making of grants or loans, the subsidization of interest payments on loans, and the guaranty of loans;
- (2) Programs concerned with employment, economic development, crime prevention, child care, health, drug abuse, education, and welfare needs of persons of low and moderate income.

(b) ~~Any city council governing board~~ may exercise directly those powers granted by law to ~~municipal local government~~ redevelopment commissions and those powers granted by law to ~~municipal local government~~ housing authorities, and may do so whether or not a redevelopment commission or housing authority is in existence in such city local government. Any ~~city council governing board~~ desiring to do so may delegate to any redevelopment commission or to any housing authority the responsibility of undertaking or carrying out any specified community development activities. Any ~~city council governing board~~ may by agreement undertake or carry out for each other any specified community development activities. Any ~~city council governing board~~ may contract with any person, association, or corporation in undertaking any specified community development activities. Any county or city board of health, county board of social services, or county or city board of education, may by agreement undertake or carry out for any ~~city council governing board~~ any specified community development activities.

(c) ~~Any city council local government~~ undertaking community development programs or activities may create one or more advisory committees to advise it and to make recommendations concerning such programs or activities.

(d) ~~Any city council governing board~~ proposing to undertake any loan guaranty or similar program for rehabilitation of private buildings is authorized to submit to its voters the question whether such program shall be undertaken, such referendum to be conducted pursuant to the general and local laws applicable to special elections in such city local government. No state or local taxes shall be appropriated or expended by a county pursuant to this section for any purpose not expressly authorized by G.S. 153A-149, unless the same is first submitted to a vote of the people as therein provided.⁵⁸⁸

~~(d1)~~(e) ~~Any city local government~~ may receive and dispense funds from the Community Development Block Grant Section 108 Loan Guarantee program, Subpart M, 24 CFR 570.700 et seq., either through application to the North Carolina Department of Commerce or directly from the federal government, in accordance with State and federal laws governing these funds. Any city local government that receives these funds directly from the federal government may pledge

⁵⁸⁷ Relocated from G.S. 160A-456, 153A-376.

⁵⁸⁸ Sentence relocated from G.S. 153A-376(c), which is only applicable to counties.

current and future CDBG funds for use as loan guarantees in accordance with State and federal laws governing these funds. A city local government may implement the receipt, dispensing, and pledging of CDBG funds under this subsection by borrowing CDBG funds and lending all or a portion of those funds to a third party in accordance with applicable laws governing the CDBG program.

~~Any city local government~~ that has pledged current or future CDBG funds for use as loan guarantees prior to the enactment of this subsection is authorized to have taken such action. A pledge of future CDBG funds under this subsection is not a debt or liability of the State or any political subdivision of the State or a pledge of the faith and credit of the State or any political subdivision of the State. The pledging of future CDBG funds under this subsection does not directly, indirectly, or contingently obligate the State or any political subdivision of the State to levy or to pledge any taxes.

~~(e) Repealed by Session Laws 1985, c. 665, s. 5.~~

~~(e)~~(f) All program income from Economic Development Grants from the Small Cities Community Development Block Grant Program may be retained by recipient cities and counties in "economically distressed counties", as defined in G.S. 143B-437.01, for the purposes of creating local economic development revolving loan funds. Such program income derived through the use by cities of Small Cities Community Development Block Grant money includes but is not limited to: (i) payment of principal and interest on loans made by the county using Community Development Block Grant Funds; (ii) proceeds from the lease or disposition of real property acquired with Community Development Block Grant Funds; and (iii) any late fees associated with loan or lease payments in (i) and (ii) above. The local economic development revolving loan fund set up by the city shall fund only those activities eligible under Title I of the federal Housing and Community Development Act of 1974, as amended (P.L. 93-383), and shall meet at least one of the three national objectives of the Housing and Community Development Act. Any expiration of G.S. 143B-437.01 or G.S. 105-129.3 shall not affect this subsection as to designations of economically distressed counties made prior to its expiration.

§ 160D-13-12. Acquisition and disposition of property for redevelopment.⁵⁸⁹

~~In addition to the powers granted by G.S. 160A-456, any city⁵⁹⁰~~ Any local government is authorized, either as a part of a community development program or independently thereof, and without the necessity of compliance with the Urban Redevelopment Law, to exercise the following powers:

- (1) To acquire, by voluntary purchase from the owner or owners, real property which is either:
 - a. Blighted, deteriorated, deteriorating, undeveloped, or inappropriately developed from the standpoint of sound community development and growth;
 - b. Appropriate for rehabilitation or conservation activities;
 - c. Appropriate for housing construction or the economic development of the community; or
 - d. Appropriate for the preservation or restoration of historic sites, the beautification of urban land, the conservation of open space, natural

⁵⁸⁹ Relocated from G.S. 160A-457, 153A-377.

⁵⁹⁰ Simplification.

resources, and scenic areas, the provision of recreational opportunities, or the guidance of urban development;

- (2) To clear, demolish, remove, or rehabilitate buildings and improvements on land so acquired; and
- (3) To retain property so acquired for public purposes, or to dispose, through sale, lease, or otherwise, of any property so acquired to any person, firm, corporation, or governmental unit; provided, the disposition of such property shall be undertaken in accordance with the procedures of Article 12 of this Chapter 160A of the General Statutes, or the procedures of G.S. 160A-514, or any applicable local act or charter provision modifying such procedures; or subsection (4) of this section.
- (4) To sell, exchange, or otherwise transfer real property or any interest therein in a community development project area to any redeveloper at private sale for residential, recreational, commercial, industrial or other uses or for public use in accordance with the community development plan, subject to such covenants, conditions and restrictions as may be deemed to be in the public interest or to carry out the purposes of this Article; provided that such sale, exchange or other transfer, and any agreement relating thereto, may be made only after approval of the ~~municipal~~ governing ~~body~~ board and after a public hearing; a notice of the public hearing shall be given once a week for two successive weeks in a newspaper having general circulation in the ~~municipality~~ local government's planning and development jurisdiction area, and the notice shall be published the first time not less than 10 days nor more than 25 days preceding the public hearing; and the notice shall disclose the terms of the sale, exchange or transfer. At the public hearing the appraised value of the property to be sold, exchanged or transferred shall be disclosed; and the consideration for the conveyance shall not be less than the appraised value.

§ 160D-13-13. Urban Development Action Grants.⁵⁹¹

~~In addition to the powers granted by G.S. 160A-456 and G.S. 160A-457, any city~~ Any local government is authorized, either as a part of a community development program or independently thereof, to enter into contracts or agreements with any person, association, or corporation to undertake and carry out specified activities in furtherance of the purposes of Urban Development Action Grants authorized by the Housing and Community Development Act of 1977 (P.L. 95-128) or any amendment thereto which is a continuation of such grant programs by whatever designation, including the authority to enter into and carry out contracts or agreements to extend loans, loan subsidies, or grants to persons, associations, or corporations and to dispose of real or personal property by private sale in furtherance of such contracts or agreements.

Any enabling legislation contained in local acts which refers to "Urban Development Action Grants" or the Housing and Community Development Act of 1977 (P.L. 95-128) shall be construed also to refer to any continuation of such grant programs by whatever designation.

§ 160D-13-14. Urban homesteading programs.⁵⁹²

⁵⁹¹ Relocated from G.S. 160A-457.1.

⁵⁹² Relocated from G.S. 160A-457.2.

A ~~city~~ local government may establish a program of urban homesteading, in which residential property of little or no value is conveyed to persons who agree to rehabilitate the property and use it, for a minimum number of years, as their principal place of residence. Residential property is considered of little or no value if the cost of bringing the property into compliance with the ~~city's~~ local government's housing code exceeds sixty percent (60%) of the property's appraised value on the county tax records. In undertaking such a program a ~~city~~ local government may:

- (1) Acquire by purchase, gift or otherwise, but not eminent domain, residential property specifically for the purpose of reconveyance in the urban homesteading program or may transfer to the program residential property acquired for other purposes, including property purchased at a tax foreclosure sale.
- (2) Under procedures and standards established by the ~~city~~ local government, convey residential property by private sale under G.S. 160A-267 and for nominal monetary consideration to persons who qualify as grantees.
- (3) Convey property subject to conditions that:
 - a. Require the grantee to use the property as his or her principal place of residence for a minimum number of years,
 - b. Require the grantee to rehabilitate the property so that it meets or exceeds minimum housing code standards,
 - c. Require the grantee to maintain insurance on the property,
 - d. Set out any other specific conditions (including, but not limited to, design standards) or actions that the ~~city~~ local government may require, and
 - e. Provide for the termination of the grantee's interest in the property and its reversion to the ~~city~~ local government upon the grantee's failure to meet any condition so established.
- (4) Subordinate the ~~city's~~ local government's interest in the property to any security interest granted by the grantee to a lender of funds to purchase or rehabilitate the property.

§ 160D-13-15. Downtown development projects.⁵⁹³

(a) Definition. In this section, "downtown development project" means a capital project, in ~~the city's~~ a central business district, as that district is defined by the ~~city council governing board~~, comprising one or more buildings and including both public and private facilities. By way of illustration but not limitation, such a project might include a single building comprising a publicly owned parking structure and publicly owned convention center and a privately owned hotel or office building.

(b) Authorization. If the ~~city council governing board~~ finds that it is likely to have a significant effect on the revitalization of the jurisdiction, central business district, the ~~city~~ local government may acquire, construct, own, and operate or participate in the acquisition, construction, ownership, and operation of a ~~downtown~~ joint development project or of specific facilities within such a project. The ~~city~~ local government may enter into binding contracts with

⁵⁹³ Relocated from G.S. 160A-458.3. An earlier draft of the bill generalized this by removing the application to a central business district, but it was subsequently deemed appropriate to leave the current scope of application unchanged.

one or more private developers with respect to acquiring, constructing, owning, or operating such a project. Such a contract may, among other provisions, specify the following:

- (1) The property interests of both the city local government and the developer or developers in the project, provided that the property interests of the city local government shall be limited to facilities for a public purpose;
- (2) The responsibilities of the city local government and the developer or developers for construction of the project;
- (3) The responsibilities of the city local government and the developer or developers with respect to financing the project.

Such a contract may be entered into before the acquisition of any real property necessary to the project.

(c) Eligible property. A ~~downtown joint~~ development project may be constructed on property acquired by the developer or developers, on property directly acquired by the city local government, or on property acquired by the city local government while exercising the powers, duties, and responsibilities of a redevelopment commission pursuant to G.S. 160A-505 or G.S.160D-13-11.

(d) Conveyance of property rights. In connection with a ~~downtown joint~~ development project, the city local government may convey interests in property owned by it, including air rights over public facilities, as follows:

- (1) If the property was acquired while the city local government was exercising the powers, duties, and responsibilities of a redevelopment commission, the city local government may convey property interests pursuant to the "Urban Redevelopment Law" or any local modification thereof.
- (2) If the property was acquired by the city local government directly, the city local government may convey property interests pursuant to G.S. 160D-13-12, and Article 12 of Chapter 160A of the General Statutes does not apply to such dispositions.
- (3) In lieu of conveying the fee interest in air rights, the city local government may convey a leasehold interest for a period not to exceed 99 years, using the procedures of subparagraphs (1) or (2) of this subsection, as applicable.

(e) Construction. The contract between the city local government and the developer or developers may provide that the developer or developers shall be responsible for construction of the entire ~~downtown joint~~ development project. If so, the contract shall include such provisions as the ~~city council governing board~~ deems sufficient to assure that the public facility or facilities included in the project meet the needs of the city local government and are constructed at a reasonable price. A project constructed pursuant to this paragraph is not subject to Article 8 of Chapter 143 of the General Statutes, provided that city local government funds constitute no more than fifty percent (50%) of the total costs of the ~~downtown joint~~ development project. Federal funds available for loan to private developers in connection with a ~~downtown joint~~ development project shall not be considered city local government funds for purposes of this subsection.

(f) Operation. The city local government may contract for the operation of any public facility or facilities included in a ~~downtown joint~~ redevelopment project by a person, partnership, firm or corporation, public or private. Such a contract shall include provisions sufficient to assure that any such facility or facilities are operated for the benefit of the citizens of the city local government.

(g) Grant funds. To assist in the financing of its share of a ~~downtown joint~~ development project, the ~~city~~ local government may apply for, accept and expend grant funds from the federal or State governments.

§ 160D-13-16. Low-and moderate-income housing programs.⁵⁹⁴

~~In addition to the powers, granted by G.S. 153A-376 and G.S. 153A-377, any county~~ Any local government is authorized to exercise the following powers:

(1) To engage in and to appropriate and expend funds for residential housing construction, new or rehabilitated, for sale or rental to persons and families of low and moderate income. Any ~~board of commissioners governing board~~ may contract with any person, association, or corporation to implement the provisions of this subdivision.

(2) To acquire real property by voluntary purchase from the owners to be developed by the ~~county~~ local government or to be used by the ~~county~~ local government to provide affordable housing to persons of low and moderate income.

(3) ~~Under procedures and standards established by the county,~~⁵⁹⁵ To convey property by private sale to any public or private entity that provides affordable housing to persons of low or moderate income under procedures and standards established by the local government. The ~~county local government~~ shall include as part of any such conveyance covenants or conditions that assure the property will be developed by the entity for sale or lease to persons of low or moderate income.

(4) ~~Under procedures and standards established by the county,~~ To convey residential property by private sale to persons of low or moderate income, in accordance with procedures and standards established by the local government, with G.S. 160A-267, and with any terms and conditions that the ~~board of commissioners governing board~~ may determine.

§ 160D-13-17 to 13-19. Reserved.

⁵⁹⁴ Relocated from G.S. 153A-378.

⁵⁹⁵ Relocated to end of sentence for consistent structure with other subsections of this section.

PART 3. MISCELLANEOUS

§ 160D-13-20. Program to finance energy improvements.⁵⁹⁶

(a) Purpose. The General Assembly finds it is in the best interest of the citizens of North Carolina to promote and encourage renewable energy and energy efficiency within the State in order to conserve energy, promote economic competitiveness, and expand employment in the State. The General Assembly also finds that a city local government has an integral role in furthering this purpose by promoting and encouraging renewable energy and energy efficiency within the city's local government's territorial jurisdiction. In furtherance of this purpose, a city local government may establish a program to finance the purchase and installation of distributed generation renewable energy sources or energy efficiency improvements that are permanently affixed to residential, commercial, or other real property.

(b) Financing Assistance. A city local government may establish a revolving loan fund and a loan loss reserve fund for the purpose of financing or assisting in the financing of the purchase and installation of distributed generation renewable energy sources or energy efficiency improvements that are permanently fixed to residential, commercial, or other real property. A city local government may establish other local government energy efficiency and distributed generation renewable energy source finance programs funded through federal grants. A city local government may use State and federal grants and loans and its general revenue for this financing. The annual interest rate charged for the use of funds from the revolving fund may not exceed eight percent (8%) per annum, excluding other fees for loan application review and origination. The term of any loan originated under this section may not be greater than 20 years.

(c) Definition. As used in this Article, "renewable energy source" has the same meaning as "renewable energy resource" in G.S. 62-133.8.

⁵⁹⁶ Relocated from G.S. 160A-459.1, 153A-455.

ARTICLE 14. JUDICIAL REVIEW

§ 160D-14-1. Declaratory judgments.⁵⁹⁷ Challenges of legislative decisions of governing boards, including the construction or validity of development regulations adopted pursuant to this Chapter, and actions authorized by GS 160D-4-5(b) may be brought pursuant to Article 26 of Chapter 1 of the General Statutes.⁵⁹⁸ The governmental unit making the challenged legislative decision shall be named a party to the action.

§ 160D-14-2. Appeals in the nature of certiorari.⁵⁹⁹

(a) *Applicability.* This section applies to appeals of quasi-judicial decisions of decision-making boards when that appeal is ~~to superior court and~~⁶⁰⁰ in the nature of certiorari as required by this ~~Article~~ Chapter.

(b) *Filing the Petition.* An appeal in the nature of certiorari shall be initiated by filing ~~with the superior court~~ a petition for writ of certiorari with the superior court. The petition shall:

- (1) State the facts that demonstrate that the petitioner has standing to seek review.
- (2) Set forth allegations sufficient to give the court and parties notice of the grounds upon which the petitioner contends that an error was made.
- (3) Set forth with particularity the allegations and facts, if any, in support of allegations that, as the result of an impermissible conflict as described in G.S. 160D-1-9, or locally adopted conflict rules, the decision-making body was not sufficiently impartial to comply with due process principles.
- (4) Set forth the relief the petitioner seeks.

(d) *Standing.* A petition may be filed under this section only by a petitioner who has standing to challenge the decision being appealed. The following persons shall have standing to file a petition under this section:

- (1) Any person ~~meeting~~ possessing any of the following criteria:
 - a. ~~Has~~ An ownership interest in the property that is the subject of the decision being appealed, a leasehold interest in the property that is the subject of the decision being appealed, or an interest created by easement, restriction, or covenant in the property that is the subject of the decision being appealed.
 - b. ~~Has~~ An option or contract to purchase the property that is the subject of the decision being appealed.
 - c. ~~Was~~ An applicant before the decision-making board whose decision is being appealed.
- (2) Any other person who will suffer special damages as the result of the decision being appealed.

⁵⁹⁷ Adds provision for judicial review of legislative decisions to parallel previous section on judicial review of quasi-judicial decisions. No change in current law.

⁵⁹⁸ The citation is to the Uniform Declaratory Judgment Act.

⁵⁹⁹ Relocated from G.S. 160A-393, 153A-349.

⁶⁰⁰ Superfluous given provision of G.S. 160D-4-6(k), which sends all appeals of quasi-judicial decisions under this Chapter to superior court.

- (3) An incorporated or unincorporated association to which owners or lessees of property in a designated area belong by virtue of their owning or leasing property in that area, or an association otherwise organized to protect and foster the interest of the particular neighborhood or local area, so long as at least one of the members of the association would have standing as an individual to challenge the decision being appealed, and the association was not created in response to the particular development or issue that is the subject of the appeal.
- (4) A city local government whose decision-making board has made a decision that the council governing board believes improperly grants a variance from or is otherwise inconsistent with the proper interpretation of ~~an ordinance~~ a development regulation adopted by that ~~council~~ governing board.

(e) *Respondent.* The respondent named in the petition shall be the city local government whose decision-making board made the decision that is being appealed, except that if the petitioner is a city local government that has filed a petition pursuant to subdivision (4) of subsection (d) of this section, then the respondent shall be the decision-making board. If the petitioner is not the applicant before the decision-making board whose decision is being appealed, the petitioner shall also name that applicant as a respondent. Any petitioner may name as a respondent any person with an ownership or leasehold interest in the property that is the subject of the decision being appealed who participated in the hearing, or was an applicant, before the decision-making board.

(f) *Writ of Certiorari.* Upon filing the petition, the petitioner shall present the petition and a proposed writ of certiorari to the clerk of superior court of the county in which the matter arose. The writ shall direct the respondent city local government, or the respondent decision-making board if the petitioner is a city local government that has filed a petition pursuant to subdivision (4) of subsection (d) of this section, to prepare and certify to the court the record of proceedings below within a specified date. The writ shall also direct that the petitioner shall serve the petition and the writ upon each respondent named therein in the manner provided for service of a complaint under Rule 4(j) of the Rules of Civil Procedure, except that, if the respondent is a decision-making board, the petition and the writ shall be served upon the chair of that decision-making board. Rule 4(j)(5)d. of the Rules of Civil Procedure shall apply in the event the chair of a decision-making board cannot be found. No summons shall be issued. The clerk shall issue the writ without notice to the respondent or respondents if the petition has been properly filed and the writ is in proper form. A copy of the executed writ shall be filed with the court.

Upon the filing of a petition for writ of certiorari, a party may request a stay of the execution or enforcement of the decision of the quasi-judicial board pending superior court review.⁶⁰¹ The court may grant a stay in its discretion, and on such conditions which properly provide for the security of the adverse party. A stay granted in favor of a city or county shall not require a bond or other security.

(g) *Answer-Response⁶⁰² to the Petition.* The respondent may, but need not, file ~~an answer~~ a response to the petition, except that, if the respondent contends for the first time that any petitioner lacks standing to bring the appeal, that contention must be set forth in ~~an answer~~ a response served on all petitioners at least 30 days prior to the hearing on the petition. If it is not

⁶⁰¹ Absent seeking and securing a stay, an applicant who has obtained a development approval may proceed at their own risk with the development pending an appeal, as is made explicit by proposed subsection (m)(1) of this section.

⁶⁰² Adjust nomenclature to reflect “petitions” for review and “responses” to petitions for judicial review in the nature of certiorari, as opposed to “complaints” and “answers.”

served within that time period, the matter may be continued to allow the petitioners time to respond pursuant to subparagraph (j) of this section.

(h) *Intervention.* Rule 24 of the Rules of Civil Procedure shall govern motions to intervene as a petitioner or respondent in an action initiated under this section with the following exceptions:

- (1) Any person described in subdivision (1) of subsection (d) of this section shall have standing to intervene and shall be allowed to intervene as a matter of right.
- (2) Any person, other than one described in subdivision (1) of subsection (d) of this section, who seeks to intervene as a petitioner must demonstrate that the person would have had standing to challenge the decision being appealed in accordance with subdivisions (2) through (4) of subsection (d) of this section.
- (3) Any person, other than one described in subdivision (d)(1) of this section, who seeks to intervene as a respondent must demonstrate that the person would have had standing to file a petition in accordance with subdivisions (2) through (4) of subsection (d) of this section if the decision-making board had made a decision that is consistent with the relief sought by the petitioner.

(i) *The Record.* The record shall consist of the decision and⁶⁰³ all documents and exhibits submitted to the decision-making board whose decision is being appealed, together with the minutes of the meeting or meetings at which the decision being appealed was considered. Upon request of any party, the record shall also contain an audio or videotape of the meeting or meetings at which the decision being appealed was considered if such a recording was made. Any party may also include in the record a transcript of the proceedings, which shall be prepared at the cost of the party choosing to include it. The parties may agree, ~~or the court may direct,~~ that matters unnecessary to the court's decision be deleted from the record or that matters other than those specified herein be included. The record shall be bound and paginated or otherwise organized for the convenience of the parties and the court. A copy of the record shall be served by the ~~municipal~~ local government respondent, or the respondent decision-making board, upon all petitioners within three days after it is filed with the court.

(j) *Hearing on the Record.* The court shall hear and decide all issues raised by the petition by reviewing the record submitted in accordance with subsection ~~(h)~~ (i)⁶⁰⁴ of this section. ~~Except that~~ The court may, in its discretion, allow the record to be supplemented with affidavits, testimony of witnesses, or documentary or other evidence if, and to the extent that, the record is not adequate to allow an appropriate determination of the following issues:

- (1) Whether a petitioner or intervenor has standing.
- (2) Whether, as a result of impermissible conflict as described in G.S. 160D-1-9 or locally adopted conflict rules, the decision-making body was not sufficiently impartial to comply with due process principles.
- (3) Whether the decision-making body erred for the reasons set forth in subdivisions (k)(1)(a) and (b) ~~of subdivision (1) of subsection (k)~~ of this section.⁶⁰⁵

⁶⁰³ Clarification that the decision being appealed is itself a part of the record.

⁶⁰⁴ Corrects typographical error in cross-reference.

⁶⁰⁵ An earlier draft added evidence on vested rights to this list. The codification of common law vested rights is no longer include in the bill. Section 160D-1-8(b)(1) provides for appeals of determinations regarding common law vested rights. Under G.S. 160D-1-8(b)(1) the zoning administrator makes an initial determination on claimed common law vested rights, with appeal to the board of adjustment and courts if that determination is disputed.

(k) *Scope of Review.*

- (1) When reviewing the decision of ~~a decision-making board~~ under the provisions of this section, the court shall ensure that the rights of petitioners have not been prejudiced because the decision-making body's findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions were:
 - a. In violation of constitutional provisions, including those protecting procedural due process rights.
 - b. In excess of the statutory authority conferred upon the ~~city~~ local government or the authority conferred upon the decision-making board by ordinance.
 - c. Inconsistent with applicable procedures specified by statute or ordinance.
 - d. Affected by other error of law.
 - e. Unsupported by ~~substantial competent~~ competent, material and substantial⁶⁰⁶ evidence in view of the entire record.
 - f. Arbitrary or capricious.
- (2) When the issue before the court is whether the decision-making board erred in interpreting an ordinance, the court shall review that issue de novo. The court shall consider the interpretation of the decision-making board, but is not bound by that interpretation, and may freely substitute its judgment as appropriate.
- (3) The term "competent evidence," as used in this subsection, shall not preclude reliance by the decision-making board on evidence that would not be admissible under the rules of evidence as applied in the trial division of the General Court of Justice if (i) the evidence was admitted without objection⁶⁰⁷ or (ii) the evidence appears to be sufficiently trustworthy and was admitted under such circumstances that it was reasonable for the decision-making board to rely upon it. The term "competent evidence," as used in this subsection, shall not be deemed to include the opinion testimony of lay witnesses as to any of the following:
 - a. The use of property in a particular way ~~would~~ affects the value of other property.
 - b. The increase in vehicular traffic resulting from a proposed development ~~would~~ poses a danger to the public safety.
 - c. Matters about which only expert testimony would generally be admissible under the rules of evidence.

(l) *Decision of the Court.* Following its review of the decision-making board in accordance with subsection (k) of this section, the court may affirm the decision, reverse the decision and remand the case with appropriate instructions, or remand the case for further proceedings. If the court does not affirm the decision below in its entirety, then the court shall ~~be guided by the following in determining~~ determine what relief should be granted to the petitioners:

- (1) If the court concludes that the error committed by the decision-making board is procedural only, the court may remand the case for further proceedings to correct the procedural error.
- (2) If the court concludes that the decision-making board has erred by failing to make findings of fact such that the court cannot properly perform its function, then the court may remand the case with appropriate instructions so long as the record contains

⁶⁰⁶ Align phraseology with the terminology used in case law.

⁶⁰⁷ An earlier draft of the bill proposed deleting this provision, but it was determined that the statute should remain in its current form.

- substantial competent evidence that could support the decision below with appropriate findings of fact. However, findings of fact are not necessary when the record sufficiently reveals the basis for the decision below or when the material facts are undisputed and the case presents only an issue of law.
- (3) If the court concludes that the decision by the decision-making board is not supported by ~~substantial competent~~ competent, material and substantial evidence in the record or is based upon an error of law, then the court may remand the case with an order that directs the decision-making board to take whatever action should have been taken had the error not been committed or to take such other action as is necessary to correct the error. Specifically:
- a. If the court concludes that a permit was wrongfully denied because the denial was not based on ~~substantial competent~~ competent, material and substantial evidence or was otherwise based on an error of law, the court may remand with instructions that the permit be issued, subject to reasonable and appropriate conditions.
 - b. If the court concludes that a permit was wrongfully issued because the issuance was not based on ~~substantial competent~~ competent, material and substantial evidence or was otherwise based on an error of law, the court may remand with instructions that the permit be revoked.

(m) *Effect of Appeal and Ancillary Injunctive Relief.*

(1) If a development approval is appealed, the applicant shall have the right to commence work while the appeal is pending. However, if the development approval is reversed by a final decision of any court of competent jurisdiction, the applicant shall not be deemed to have gained any vested rights on the basis of actions taken prior to or during the pendency of the appeal and must proceed as if no development approval had been granted. If work is commenced prior to or during the pendency of an appeal, the time periods for the duration of the development approval are not tolled during the pendency of the appeal.⁶⁰⁸

(2) Upon motion of a party to a proceeding under this section, and under appropriate circumstances, the court may issue an injunctive order requiring any other party to that proceeding to take certain action or refrain from taking action that is consistent with the court's decision on the merits of the appeal.

(n) *Joinder.* A declaratory judgment brought under G.S. 160D-14-1 or other civil action relating to the decision at issue may be joined with the petition for writ of certiorari and decided in the same proceeding.⁶⁰⁹

§ 160D-14-3. Appeals of decisions on subdivision plats.⁶¹⁰

(a) When a subdivision ~~regulation ordinance~~ adopted under this ~~Part~~ Chapter provides that the decision whether to approve or deny a preliminary or final subdivision plat is quasi-judicial,⁶¹¹

⁶⁰⁸ Provision is consistent with current law and practice. Allows permittee to proceed at their own risk while an appeal is pending unless a stay is requested and granted under subsection (f) of this section.

⁶⁰⁹ Allows efficient judicial review in those cases that raise some issues properly addressed by a declaratory judgment and other issues properly addressed by appeals in the nature of certiorari. Appropriate claims would need to be filed for both actions, but the court is allowed to join the actions and consider both concurrently.

⁶¹⁰ Relocated from G.S. 160A-377, 153A-336.

⁶¹¹ Proposed G.S. 160D-8-3 defines which entities can make quasi-judicial and administrative plat review decisions.

to be made by a city council ~~the governing board~~ or a planning board, other than a planning board comprised solely of members of a city ~~local government~~ planning staff, and the ordinance authorizes the council ~~governing board~~ or planning board to make a quasi-judicial decision in deciding whether to approve the subdivision plat, then that quasi-judicial decision of the council ~~or planning~~ board shall be subject to review by the superior court by proceedings in the nature of certiorari. The provisions of ~~G.S. 160A 381(e), 160A 388(e)(2), and 160A 393~~ G.S. 160D-4-6 and this section shall apply to those appeals.

(b) When a subdivision ~~regulation ordinance~~ adopted under this ~~Part~~ Chapter provides that the decision whether to approve or deny a preliminary or final subdivision plat is administrative, then that decision of the board shall be subject to review by ~~and for all decisions made by the governing board, or ministerial, a city council governing board, planning board, or staff member is authorized to make only an administrative or ministerial decision in deciding whether to approve a preliminary or final subdivision plat, then any party aggrieved by that administrative or ministerial decision may seek to have the decision reviewed by filing an action in superior court seeking appropriate declaratory or equitable relief within 30 days from receipt of the written notice of the decision, which shall be made as provided in G.S. 160D-4-3(b).~~ Such an action must be filed within the time frame specified in G.S. 160A 381(e) for petitions in the nature of certiorari.

(c) For purposes of this section, ~~an ordinance a subdivision regulation~~ shall be deemed to authorize a quasi-judicial decision if the ~~city council or planning board~~ decision-making entity under G.S. 160D-8-3(c) is authorized to decide whether to approve or deny the plat based not only upon whether the application complies with the specific requirements set forth in the regulation, ordinance, but also on whether the application complies with one or more generally stated standards requiring a discretionary decision to be made, ~~by the city council governing board or planning board.~~

§ 160D-14-4. Other civil actions. Except as expressly stated, this Article does not limit the availability of civil actions otherwise authorized by law or alter the times in which they may be brought.

§ 160D-14-5. Statutes of limitations.⁶¹²

(a) Zoning map adoption or amendments. A cause of action as to the validity of any ~~regulation ordinance~~ adopting or amending a zoning map ~~or approving a special use, conditional use, or conditional zoning district request~~⁶¹³ adopted under this ~~Article~~ Chapter or other applicable law ~~or a development agreement adopted under Article 10 of this Chapter~~⁶¹⁴ shall accrue upon adoption of such ordinance and shall be brought within ~~two months~~ sixty days⁶¹⁵ as provided in G.S. 1-54.1.

(b) Text adoption or amendment. Except as otherwise provided in subsection (a) of this section, an action challenging the validity of any development regulation zoning or unified development ordinance or any provision thereof adopted under this ~~Article~~ Chapter or other

⁶¹² Relocated from G.S. 160A-364.1, 153A-348.

⁶¹³ Delete as surplusage.

⁶¹⁴ Specifies a time period to challenge a development agreement. As these are most similar to rezoning decisions, the same statute of limitations is used.

⁶¹⁵ Given that the length of months varies, “60 days” is substantially similar to but a more consistent and precise period than “two months.”

applicable law shall be brought within one year of the accrual of such action. Such an action accrues when the party bringing such action first has standing to challenge the ordinance. A challenge to an ordinance on the basis of an alleged defect in the adoption process shall be brought within three years after the adoption of the ordinance.

(c) *Enforcement defense.* Nothing in this section or in G.S. 1-54(10) or G.S. 1-54.1 shall bar a party in an action involving the enforcement of a development regulation ~~zoning or unified development ordinance~~ from raising as a defense to such enforcement action the invalidity of the ordinance. Nothing in this section or in G.S. 1-54(10) or G.S. 1-54.1 shall bar a party who files a timely appeal from an order, requirement, decision, or determination made by an administrative official contending that such party is in violation of a zoning or unified development ordinance from raising in the judicial appeal the invalidity of such ordinance as a defense to such order, requirement, decision, or determination. A party in an enforcement action or appeal may not assert the invalidity of the ordinance on the basis of an alleged defect in the adoption process unless the defense is formally raised within three years of the adoption of the challenged ordinance.

(d) *Quasi-judicial decisions.*⁶¹⁶ Unless specifically provided otherwise, a petition for review of a quasi-judicial decision shall be filed with the clerk of superior court by the later of 30 days after the decision is effective or after a written copy thereof is given in accordance with G.S. 160D-4-6(j). ~~subdivision (1) of this subsection.~~ When first-class mail is used to deliver notice, three days shall be added to the time to file the petition.

(e) *Others.* Except as provided by this section, the statutes of limitations shall be as provided in Subchapter II of Article 2 of Chapter 1 of the General Statutes.”

⁶¹⁶ Relocated from G.S. 160A-388(e2).

SECTION 4.1. G.S. § 1-54 is amended to read as follows:**“§ 1-54. One year.**

Within one year an action or proceeding –

- (1) Repealed by Session Laws 1975, c. 252, s. 5.
- (2) Upon a statute, for a penalty or forfeiture, where the action is given to the State alone, or in whole or in part to the party aggrieved, or to a common informer, except where the statute imposing it prescribes a different limitation.
- (3) For libel and slander.
- (4) Against a public officer, for the escape of a prisoner arrested or imprisoned on civil process.
- (5) For the year's allowance of a surviving spouse or children.
- (6) For a deficiency judgment on any debt, promissory note, bond or other evidence of indebtedness after the foreclosure of a mortgage or deed of trust on real estate securing such debt, promissory note, bond or other evidence of indebtedness, which period of limitation above prescribed commences with the date of the delivery of the deed pursuant to the foreclosure sale: Provided, however, that if an action on the debt, note, bond or other evidence of indebtedness secured would be earlier barred by the expiration of the remainder of any other period of limitation prescribed by this subchapter, that limitation shall govern.
- (7) Repealed by Session Laws 1971, c. 939, s. 2.
- (7a) For recovery of damages under Article 1A of Chapter 18B of the General Statutes.
- (8) As provided in G.S. 105-377, to contest the validity of title to real property acquired in any tax foreclosure action or to reopen or set aside the judgment in any tax foreclosure action.
- (9) As provided in Article 14 of Chapter 126 of the General Statutes, entitled "Protection for Reporting Improper Government Activities".
- (10) Actions contesting the validity of any zoning or unified development ordinance or any provision thereof adopted under ~~Part 3 of Article 18 of Chapter 153A or Part 3 of Article 19 of Chapter 160A Chapter 160D~~ of the General Statutes or other applicable law, other than an ordinance adopting or amending a zoning map. ~~or approving a special use, conditional use, or conditional zoning district rezoning request.~~⁶¹⁷ Such an action accrues when the party bringing such action first has standing to challenge the ordinance; provided that, a challenge to an ordinance on the basis of an alleged defect in the adoption process shall be brought within three years after the adoption of the ordinance.

SECTION 4.2. G.S. § 1-54.1 is amended to read as follows:**“§ 1-54.1. Two months.**

Within two months an action contesting the validity of any ordinance adopting or amending a zoning map. ~~or approving a special use, conditional use, or conditional zoning district rezoning request under Part 3 of Article 18 of Chapter 153A of the General Statutes or Part 3 of Article 19~~

⁶¹⁷ Delete as surplusage. Creation or amendment of these site-specific districts is only accomplished through a zoning map adoption or amendment.

of Chapter 160A ~~Article 7 of Chapter 160D~~ of the General Statutes or other applicable law.⁶¹⁸ Such an action accrues upon adoption of such ordinance or amendment. As used herein, the term “two months” shall be calculated as sixty days.

SECTION 4.3. G.S. § 63-31(a) is amended to read as follows:

“G.S. § 63-31. Adoption of airport zoning regulations.

(a) Every political subdivision may adopt, administer, and enforce, under the police power ~~or as a land development regulation under Chapter 160D of the General Statutes, and in the manner and upon the conditions hereinafter prescribed,~~ airport zoning regulations, which regulations shall divide the area surrounding any airport within the jurisdiction of said political subdivision into zones, and, within such zones, specify the land uses permitted, and regulate and restrict the height to which structures and trees may be erected or allowed to grow. In adopting or revising any such zoning regulations, the political subdivision shall consider, among other things, the character of the flying operations expected to be conducted at the airport, the nature of the terrain, the height of existing structures and trees above the level of the airport, the possibility of lowering or removing existing obstructions, and the views of the agency of the federal government charged with the fostering of civil aeronautics, as to the aerial approaches necessary to safe flying operations at the airport.”

SECTION 4.4. G.S. § 63-32(b) is amended to read as follows:

“§ 63-32. Permits, new structures, etc., and variances.

(b) Variances. - Any person desiring to erect any structures, or increase the height of any structure, or permit the growth of any tree, or otherwise use his property, in violation of airport zoning regulations adopted under this Article, may apply to the board of appeals, as provided in G.S. 63-33, subsection (c), for a variance from the zoning regulations in question. Such variances shall be considered pursuant to G.S. 160D-7-5(d) and be allowed where a literal application or enforcement of the regulations would result in practical difficulty or unnecessary hardship and the relief granted would not be contrary to the public interest but do substantial justice and be in accordance with the spirit of the regulations and this Article.”

SECTION 4.5. G.S. § 63-33 is amended to read as follows:

“§ 63-33. Procedure.

(a) Adoption of Zoning Regulations. - No airport zoning regulations shall be adopted, amended, or changed under this Article except by action of the legislative body of the political subdivision in question, or the joint board provided for in G.S. 63-31, subsection (c), following the procedures set for adoption of development regulations in Article 6 of Chapter 160D of the General Statutes. after a public hearing in relation thereto, at which parties in interest and citizens shall have an opportunity to be heard. At least 10 days' notice of the hearing shall be published in an official paper, or a paper of general circulation, in the political subdivision or subdivisions in which the airport is located.

(b) Administration of Zoning Regulations - Administrative Agency. - The legislative body of any political subdivision adopting airport zoning regulations under this Article may delegate the duty of administering and enforcing such regulations to any administrative agency under its

⁶¹⁸ Delete as surplusage. Creation or amendment of these site-specific districts is only accomplished through a zoning map adoption or amendment.

jurisdiction, or may create a new administrative agency to perform such duty, but such administrative agency shall not be or include any member of the board of appeals. The duties of such administrative agency shall include that of hearing and deciding all permits under G.S. 63-32, subsection (a), but such agency shall not have or exercise any of the powers delegated to the board of appeals.

(c) Administration of Airport Zoning Regulations - Board of Appeals. - Airport zoning regulations adopted under this Article shall provide for a board of appeals to have and exercise the following powers:

(1) To hear and decide appeals from any order, requirement, decision, or determination made by the administrative agency in the enforcement of this Article ~~or of any ordinance adopted pursuant thereto~~;

(2) To hear and decide special use permits ~~special exceptions to the terms of the ordinance~~ upon which such board may be required to pass under such ordinance;

(3) To hear and decide specific variances ~~under G.S. 63-32, subsection (b)~~.

~~A zoning board of appeals or adjustment already exists~~, may be appointed as the board of appeals. Otherwise, the board of appeals shall consist of five members, each to be appointed for a term of three years and to be removable for cause by the appointing authority upon written charges and after public hearing.

G.S. 160D-4-5 and 160D-4-6 shall be applicable to appeals, special use permits, and variance petitions made pursuant to this section. ~~The board shall adopt rules in accordance with the provisions of any ordinance adopted under this Article. Meetings of the board shall be held at the call of the chairman and at such other times as the board may determine. The chairman, or in his absence the acting chairman, may administer oaths and compel the attendance of witnesses. All meetings of the board shall be public. The board shall keep minutes of its proceedings, showing the vote of each member upon each question, or, if absent or failing to vote, indicating such fact, and shall keep records of its examinations and other official actions, all of which shall immediately be filed in the office of the board and shall be a public record.~~

~~Appeals to the board may be taken by any person aggrieved, or by any officer, department, board, or bureau of the political subdivision affected, by any decision of the administrative agency. An appeal must be taken within a reasonable time, as provided by the rules of the board, by filing with the agency from which the appeal is taken and with the board, a notice of appeal specifying the grounds thereof. The agency from which the appeal is taken shall forthwith transmit to the board all the papers constituting the record upon which the action appealed from was taken.~~

~~An appeal shall stay all proceedings in furtherance of the action appealed from, unless the agency from which the appeal is taken certifies to the board, after the notice of appeal has been filed with it, that by reason of the facts stated in the certificate a stay would, in its opinion, cause imminent peril to life or property. In such case proceedings shall not be stayed otherwise than by a restraining order which may be granted by the board or by a court of record on application on notice to the agency from which the appeal is taken and on due cause shown.~~

~~The board shall fix a reasonable time for the hearing of the appeal, give public notice and due notice to the parties in interest, and decide the same within a reasonable time. Upon the hearing any party may appear in person or by agent or by attorney.~~

~~The board may, in conformity with the provisions of this Article, reverse or affirm, wholly or partly, or modify, the order, requirement, decision or determination appealed from and may make such order, requirement, decision or determination as ought to be made, and to that end shall have all the powers of the administrative agency from which the appeal is taken.~~

~~The concurring vote of a majority of the members of the board shall be sufficient to reverse any order, requirement, decision, or determination of the administrative agency, or to decide in favor of the applicant on any matter upon which it is required to pass under any such ordinance, or to effect any variation in such ordinance.”~~

SECTION 4.6. G.S. § 63-34 is amended to read as follows:

“§ 63-34. Judicial review.

G.S. 160D-14-1 shall be applicable to judicial review of administrative and quasi-judicial decisions made pursuant to this Article.

~~(a) Any person aggrieved by any decision of the board of appeals, or any taxpayer, or any officer, department, board, or bureau of the political subdivision, may present to the superior court a verified petition setting forth that the decision is illegal, in whole or in part, and specifying the grounds of the illegality. Such petition shall be presented to the court within 30 days after the decision is filed in the office of the board. Such petition shall comply with the provisions of G.S. 160A-393.~~

~~(b) The allowance of the writ shall not stay proceedings upon the decision appealed from, but the court may, on application, on notice to the board and on due cause shown, grant a restraining order.~~

~~(c) The board of appeals shall not be required to return the original papers acted upon by it, but it shall be sufficient to return certified or sworn copies thereof or of such portions thereof as may be called for by the writ. The return shall concisely set forth such other facts as may be pertinent and material to show the grounds of the decision appealed from and shall be verified.~~

~~(d) Repealed by Session Laws 2009-421, s. 3, effective January 1, 2010.~~

~~(e) Costs shall not be allowed against the board of appeals unless it appears to the court that it acted with gross negligence, in bad faith, or with malice, in making the decision appealed from.”~~

SECTION 4.7. G.S. § 63-35 is amended to read as follows:

“§ 63-35. Enforcement and remedies.

G.S. 160D-4-4 shall be applicable to ordinances adopted pursuant to this Article. Each violation of this Article or of any regulations, order, or ruling promulgated or made pursuant to this Article, shall constitute a Class 3 misdemeanor, and each day a violation continues to exist shall constitute a separate offense. In addition, the political subdivision within which the property is located may institute in any court of competent jurisdiction, an action to prevent, restrain, correct or abate any violation of this Article, or of airport zoning regulations adopted under this Article, or of any order or ruling made in connection with their administration or enforcement, and the court shall adjudge to the plaintiff such relief, by way of injunction (which may be mandatory) or otherwise, as may be proper under all the facts and circumstances of the case, in order fully to effectuate the purposes of this Article and of the regulations adopted and orders and rulings made pursuant thereto.”

SECTION 4.8. G.S. § 143-215.57 is amended to read as follows:

“§ 143-215.57. Procedures in issuing permits.

(a) A local government may establish application forms and require maps, plans, and other information necessary for the issuance of permits in a manner consonant with the objectives of this Part. For this purpose a local government may take into account anticipated development in the

foreseeable future that may be adversely affected by the obstruction, as well as existing development. They shall consider the effects of a proposed artificial obstruction in a stream in creating danger to life and property by:

- (1) Water that may be backed up or diverted by the obstruction.
- (2) The danger that the obstruction will be swept downstream to the injury of others.
- (3) The injury or damage at the site of the obstruction itself.

(b) In prescribing standards and requirements for the issuance of permits under this Part and in issuing permits, local governments shall proceed as in the case of an ordinance for the better government of the county or city as the case may be. Local government jurisdiction for these ordinances shall be as specified in Article 2 of Chapter 160D.⁶¹⁹ ~~A city may exercise the powers granted in this Part not only within its corporate boundaries but also within the area of its extraterritorial zoning jurisdiction. A county may exercise the powers granted in this Part at any place within the county that is outside the zoning jurisdiction of a city in the county. If a city does not exercise the powers granted in this Part in the city's extraterritorial zoning jurisdiction, the county may exercise the powers granted in this Part in the city's extraterritorial zoning jurisdiction. The county may regulate territory within the zoning jurisdiction of any city whose governing body, by resolution, agrees to the regulation. The governing body of a city may, upon one year's written notice, withdraw its approval of the county regulations, and those regulations shall have no further effect within the city's jurisdiction.~~

~~(e) Article 4 of Chapter 160D shall be applicable to the administration, enforcement, and appeals regarding these ordinances. The local governing body is hereby empowered to adopt regulations it may deem necessary concerning the form, time, and manner of submission of applications for permits under this Part. These regulations may provide for the issuance of permits under this Part by the local governing body or by an agency designated by the local governing body, as prescribed by the governing body. Every final decision granting or denying a permit under this Part shall be subject to review by the superior court of the county, with the right of jury trial at the election of the party seeking review. The time and manner of election of a jury trial shall be governed by G.S. 1A-1, Rule 38(b) of the Rules of Civil Procedure. Pending the final disposition of an appeal, no action shall be taken that would be unlawful in the absence of a permit issued under this Part.~~

SECTION 4.9. G.S. § 143-215.58 is amended to read as follows:

“§ 143-215.58. Violations and penalties.

(a) Any willful violation of this Part or of any ordinance adopted (or of the provisions of any permit issued) under the authority of this Part shall constitute a Class 1 misdemeanor.

(a1) A local government may use all of the remedies available for the enforcement of ordinances under Chapters 153A, 160A, and 160D of the General Statutes to enforce an ordinance adopted pursuant to this Part.

(b) Failure to remove any artificial obstruction or enlargement or replacement thereof, that violates this Part or any ordinance adopted (or the provision of any permit issued) under the authority of this Part, shall constitute a separate violation of this Part for each day that the failure continues after written notice from the county board of commissioners or governing ~~body~~ board of a city.

⁶¹⁹ Simplification. Use standard statutory provisions for planning and development regulation jurisdiction applicable to other local development regulations.

(c) In addition to or in lieu of other remedies, the county board of commissioners or governing ~~body~~ board of a city may institute any appropriate action or proceeding to restrain or prevent any violation of this Part or of any ordinance adopted (or of the provisions of any permit issued) under the authority of this Part, or to require any person, firm or corporation that has committed a violation to remove a violating obstruction or restore the conditions existing before the placement of the obstruction.”

SECTION 4.10. G.S. § 130A-55(17) is amended to read as follows:

§ 130A-55. Corporate powers.

“(17) For the purpose of promoting and protecting the public health, safety and the general welfare of the State, a sanitary district board is authorized to establish as zoning units any portions of the sanitary district not under the control of the United States or this State or any agency or instrumentality of either, in accordance with the following:

a. No sanitary district board shall designate an area a zoning area until a petition signed by two-thirds of the qualified voters in the area, as shown by the registration books used in the last general election, and with a petition signed by two-thirds of the owners of real property in the area, as shown by the records in the office of the register of deeds for the county, is filed with the sanitary district board. The petition must be accompanied by a map of the proposed zoning area. The board shall hold a public hearing to obtain comment on the proposed creation of the zoning area. A notice of public hearing must be published in a newspaper of general circulation in the county at least two times, and a copy of the notice shall be posted at the county courthouse and in three other public places in the sanitary district.

b. When a zoning area is established within a sanitary district, the sanitary district board as to the zoning area shall have all rights, privileges, powers and duties granted to local governments under Article 7, Chapter 160D ~~municipal corporations under Part 3, Article 19, Chapter 160A~~ of the General Statutes. However, the sanitary district board shall not be required to appoint any zoning commission or board of adjustment. If neither a zoning commission nor board of adjustment is appointed, the sanitary district board shall have all rights.

c. A sanitary district board may enter into an agreement with any city, town or sanitary district for the establishment of a joint zoning commission.

d. A sanitary district board is authorized to use the income of the district and levy and collect taxes upon the taxable property within the district necessary to carry out and enforce the rules and provisions of this subsection.

e. This subsection shall apply only to sanitary districts which adjoin and are contiguous to an incorporated city or town and are located within three miles or less of the boundaries of two other cities or towns.

SECTION 4.11. G.S. § 143-214.5(d) is amended to read as follows:

§ 143-214.5. Water supply watershed protection.

“(d) *Mandatory Local Programs.* - The Department shall assist local governments to develop water supply watershed protection programs that comply with this section. Local government compliance programs shall include an implementing local ordinance and shall provide for maintenance, inspection, and enforcement procedures. As part of its assistance to local governments, the Commission shall approve and make available a model local water supply watershed management and protection ordinance. The model management and protection ordinance adopted by the Commission shall, at a minimum, include as options (i) controlling

development density, (ii) providing for performance-based alternatives to development density controls that are based on sound engineering principles, and (iii) a combination of both (i) and (ii). Local governments shall administer and enforce the minimum management requirements. Every local government that has within its jurisdiction all or a portion of a water supply watershed shall submit a local water supply watershed management and protection ordinance to the Commission for approval. Local governments may adopt such ordinances pursuant to their general police power, power to regulate the subdivision of land, zoning power, or any combination of such powers. In adopting a local ordinance that imposes water supply watershed management requirements that are more stringent than those adopted by the Commission, a local government must comply with Article 6, Chapter 160D of the General Statutes. ~~county must comply with the notice provisions of G.S. 153A-343 and a municipality must comply with the notice provisions of G.S. 160A-384.~~ This section shall not be construed to affect the validity of any local ordinance adopted for the protection of water supply watersheds prior to completion of the review of the ordinance by the Commission or prior to the assumption by the Commission of responsibility for a local water supply watershed protection program. Local governments may create or designate agencies to administer and enforce such programs. The Commission shall approve a local program only if it determines that the requirements of the program equal or exceed the minimum statewide water supply watershed management requirements adopted pursuant to this section.”

SECTION 4.12. G.S. § 113A-208 is amended to read as follows:

“§ 113A-208. Regulation of mountain ridge construction by counties and cities.

(a) Any county or city may adopt, effective not later than January 1, 1984, and may enforce an ordinance that regulates the construction of tall buildings or structures on protected mountain ridges by any person. The ordinance may provide for the issuance of permits to construct tall buildings on protected mountain ridges, the conditioning of such permits, and the denial of permits for such construction. Any ordinance adopted hereunder shall be based upon studies of the mountain ridges within the county, a statement of objectives to be sought by the ordinance, and plans for achieving these objectives. Any such county ordinance shall apply countywide except as otherwise provided in ~~G.S. 160A-360~~ Article 2 of Chapter 160D of the General Statutes, and any such city ordinance shall apply citywide, to construction of tall buildings on protected mountain ridges within the city or county, as the case may be.

A city with a population of 50,000 or more may adopt, prior to January 1, 1986, an ordinance eliminating the requirement for an elevation of 3,000 feet, as permitted by G.S. 113A-206(6).

(b) Under the ordinance, permits shall be denied if a permit application (and shall be revoked if a project) fails to provide for:

- (1) Sewering that meets the requirements of a public wastewater disposal system that it discharges into, or that is part of a separate system that meets applicable State and federal standards;
- (2) A water supply system that is adequate for fire protection, drinking water and other projected system needs; that meets the requirements of any public water supply system that it interconnects with; and that meets any applicable State standards, requirements and approvals;
- (3) Compliance with applicable State and local sedimentation control regulations and requirements; and

(4) Adequate consideration to protecting the natural beauty of the mountains, as determined by the local governing ~~body~~ board.

(c) Permits may be conditioned to insure proper operation, to avoid or mitigate any of the problems or hazards recited in the findings of G.S. 113A-207, to protect natural areas or the public health, and to prevent badly designed, unsafe or inappropriate construction.

(d) An ordinance adopted under the authority of this section applies to all protected mountain ridges as defined in G.S. 113A-206. A county or city may apply the ordinance to other mountain ridges within its jurisdiction if it finds that this application is reasonably necessary to protect against some or all of the hazards or problems set forth in G.S. 113A-207. Additionally, a city with a population of 50,000 or more may apply the ordinance to other mountain ridges within its extraterritorial planning jurisdiction if it finds that this application is reasonably necessary to protect against some or all of the hazards or problems set forth in G.S. 113A-207.

(e) Determinations by the county or city governing board of heights or elevations under this Article shall be conclusive in the absence of fraud. Any county or city that adopts a ridge ordinance under the authority of this section or other authority shall send a copy of the ordinance to the Secretary of Environment and Natural Resources.

(f) Any county or city that adopts an ordinance pursuant to this section shall follow the procedures of Article 6 of Chapter 160D of the General Statutes. ~~must hold a public hearing before adopting the ordinance upon the question of adopting the ordinance or of allowing the construction of tall buildings on protected mountain ridges to be governed by G.S. 113A-209. The public hearing required by this section shall be held upon at least 10 days' notice in a newspaper of general circulation in the unit adopting the ordinance. Testimony at the hearing shall be recorded and any and all exhibits shall be preserved within the custody of the governing body. The testimony and evidence shall be made available for inspection and scrutiny by any person.~~

(g) Any resident of a county or city that adopted an ordinance pursuant to this section, or of an adjoining county, may bring a civil action against the ordinance-adopting unit, contesting the ordinance as not meeting the requirements of this section. If the ordinance is found not to meet all of the requirements of this section, the county or city shall be enjoined from enforcing the ordinance and the provisions of G.S. 113A-209 shall apply. Nothing in this Article authorizes the State of North Carolina or any of its agencies to bring a civil action to contest an ordinance, or for a violation of this Article or of an ordinance adopted pursuant to this Article.”

SECTION 4.13. G.S. § 113A-211(a) is amended to read as follows:

“§ 113A-211. **Enforcement and penalties.**

(a) Violations of this Article shall be subject to the same criminal sanctions, civil penalties and equitable remedies as provided by G.S. 160D-4-4. ~~violations of county ordinances under G.S. 153A-123.~~”

SECTION 4.14. G.S. § 160A-75⁶²⁰ is amended to read as follows:

§ 160A-75. Voting.

No member shall be excused from voting except upon matters involving the consideration of the member's own financial interest or official conduct or on matters on which the member is prohibited from voting under G.S. 14-234 or 160D-1-9, 160A-381(d), 160A-388(e)(2). In all other cases, except votes taken under ~~G.S. 160A-385~~ G.S. 160D-6-1, a failure to vote by a member who

⁶²⁰ Incorporates amendments made by S.L. 2015-160 (H. 201) and updates cross-references to Ch. 160D.

is physically present in the council chamber, or who has withdrawn without being excused by a majority vote of the remaining members present, shall be recorded as an affirmative vote. The question of the compensation and allowances of members of the council is not a matter involving a member's own financial interest or official conduct.

An affirmative vote equal to a majority of all the members of the council not excused from voting on the question in issue, including the mayor's vote in case of an equal division, shall be required to adopt an ordinance, take any action having the effect of an ordinance, authorize or commit the expenditure of public funds, or make, ratify, or authorize any contract on behalf of the city. In addition, no ordinance nor any action having the effect of any ordinance may be finally adopted on the date on which it is introduced except by an affirmative vote equal to or greater than two thirds of all the actual membership of the council, excluding vacant seats and not including the mayor unless the mayor has the right to vote on all questions before the council. For purposes of this section, an ordinance shall be deemed to have been introduced on the date the subject matter is first voted on by the council.

SECTION 5.1. G.S. 153A-102.1 is repealed.⁶²¹

SECTION 5.2. G.S. 160A-4.1 is repealed.⁶²²

SECTION 5.3. G.S. 160A-181.1 is repealed.⁶²³

SECTION 5.4. G.S. 153A-143 is repealed.⁶²⁴

SECTION 5.5. G.S. 160A-199 is repealed.⁶²⁵

SECTION 5.6. G.S. 153A-144 is repealed.⁶²⁶

SECTION 5.7. G.S. 160A-201 is repealed.⁶²⁷

SECTION 5.8. G.S. 153A-452 is repealed.⁶²⁸

SECTION 5.9. G.S. 153A-455 is repealed.⁶²⁹

⁶²¹ Relocated to G.S. 160D-8-5.

⁶²² Relocated to G.S. 160D-8-5.

⁶²³ Relocated to G.S. 160D-9-2.

⁶²⁴ Relocated to G.S. 160D-9-9.

⁶²⁵ Relocated to G.S. 160D-9-9.

⁶²⁶ Relocated to G.S. 160D-9-12.

⁶²⁷ Relocated to G.S. 160D-9-12.

⁶²⁸ Relocated to G.S. 160D-9-20.

⁶²⁹ Relocated to G.S. 160D-13-20.

SECTION 6. Article 23 of Chapter 153A of the General Statutes is amended by adding the following new sections to read:

“153A- 457. Submission of statement concerning improvements.”⁶³⁰ A county may by ordinance require that when a property owner improves property at a cost of more than twenty-five hundred dollars (\$2,500) but less than five thousand dollars (\$5,000), the property owner must, within 14 days after the completion of the work, submit to the county assessor a statement setting forth the nature of the improvement and the total cost thereof.”

“§ 153A-458. Authorization to provide grants.”⁶³¹

(a) A county may provide grants to unaffiliated qualified private providers of highspeed Internet access service, as that term is defined in G.S. 160A-340(4), for the purpose of expanding service in unserved areas for economic development in the county. The grants shall be awarded on a technology neutral basis, shall be open to qualified applicants, and may require matching funds by the private provider. A county shall seek and consider request for proposals from qualified private providers within the county prior to awarding a broadband grant and shall use reasonable means to ensure that potential applicants are made aware of the grant, including, at a minimum, compliance with the notice procedures set forth in G.S. 160A-340.6(c). The county shall use only unrestricted general fund revenue for the grants. For the purposes of this section, a qualified private provider is a private provider of high-speed Internet access service in the State prior to the issuance of the grant proposal. Nothing in this section authorizes a county to provide highspeed Internet broadband service.”

SECTION 7. If any provision of this act or its application is held invalid, the invalidity does not affect other provisions or applications of this act that can be given effect without the invalid provisions or application, and to this end the provisions of this act are severable.

SECTION 8.1. Any otherwise valid permit or development approval made prior to January 1, 2019 shall not be invalid based on inconsistency with the provisions of this Act. The validity of any plan adopted prior to January 1, 2019 is not affected by a failure to comply the procedural requirements of G.S. 160D-5-1(b).

SECTION 8.2. Any special use district or conditional use district zoning district that is valid and in effect as of January 1, 2019 shall be deemed a conditional zoning district consistent with the terms of this Act and the special or conditional use permits issued concurrently with establishment of those districts shall be valid as specified in Section 8.1. Any valid “conditional use permit” issued prior to January 1, 2019 shall be deemed a “special use permit” consistent with the provisions of this Act.

SECTION 8.3. Any local government that has adopted zoning regulations but that has not adopted a comprehensive plan shall adopt such a plan no later than December 31, 2019 in order to retain the authority to adopt and apply zoning regulations.

SECTION 9.1. This act becomes effective January 1, 2019 and applies to local government development regulation decisions made on or after that date. This act clarifies and

⁶³⁰ Relocated from G.S. 153A-325, previously within repealed Art. 18, Ch. 153A.

⁶³¹ Relocated from G.S. 153A-349.60, previously within repealed Art. 18, Ch. 153A

restates the intent of existing law and applies to ordinances adopted before, on, and after the effective date.⁶³²

⁶³² From S.L. 2015-86 (S. 25).